
 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

County of Herefordshire District Council, PO Box 239, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZU 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

Chief Executive’s Office 
Chief Executive:  N.M. Pringle 

To:  All Members of Cabinet: 
 RJ Phillips (Leader)
 LO Barnett
 PJ Edwards
 JP French
 J.C. Mayson
 D.W. Rule MBE (Deputy Leader)
 RV Stockton
 DB Wilcox
 R.M. Wilson  

Your Ref:  

Our Ref: 

Please ask for: 

Direct Line/Extension: 

Fax: 

E-mail: 

 

NMP/SAHC 

Mr. N.M. Pringle 

(01432) 260044 

(01432) 340189 

npringle@herefordshire.gov.uk 

3rd January, 2008 

 

Dear Councillor, 
 
MEETING OF CABINET 
THURSDAY, 18TH JANUARY, 2007 AT 2.00 P.M. 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD 
 

AGENDA (07/01) 
 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL - NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 15 OF THE LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS((ACCESS TO INFORMATION) REGULATIONS 

2000 (AS AMENDED) 
 

Notice is hereby given that the following reports contain key decisions.  When the decisions have 
been made, Members of the relevant Scrutiny Committee will be sent a copy of the decision notices 
and given the opportunity to call-in the decisions. 
 
Item 
No 

Title Portfolio 
Responsibility 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Included in the 
Forward Plan 

Yes/No 

13 Potential Edgar Street Grid 
Compulsory Purchase Orders 

Corporate 
Strategy and 
Finance 

Strategic 
Monitoring 
Committee 

No 

14 Edgar Street Grid Corporate 
Strategy and 
Finance 

Strategic 
Monitoring 
Committee 

No 

 
 

 

  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

. 



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

County of Herefordshire District Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

  
 To receive any apologies for absence.   
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 To receive any declarations of interest by members in respect of items on this agenda.   
  
3. MANAGING PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT   
  
 To obtain the Cabinet’s views on the draft action plan attached at Appendix 1.  This is being 

developed as the Council’s response to the recommendations of the recent audit of 
performance management.  When finalised, this action plan will be sent to the Audit 
Commission.  (Pages 1 - 24) 

  
4. FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE   
  
 To note the update to the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) and any 

comments from the Strategic Monitoring Committee on 15th January 2007.  (Pages 25 - 48) 
  
5. DRAFT ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN 2007-08   
  
 To seek Cabinet’s views on the draft Annual Operating Plan 2007-08, so that they can be 

taken into account in finalising the Plan.  (Pages 49 - 92) 
  
6. INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT   
  
 To report performance to the end of November 2006 against the Annual Operating Plan 

2006-07, together with performance against revenue and capital budgets and corporate risks, 
and remedial action to address areas of under-performance.  The report also covers the 
progress being made against the Council’s Overall Improvement Programme.  (Pages 93 - 
166) 

  
7. ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN: OVERVIEW ISSUES REPORT   
  
 To endorse the Asset Management Plan 2006/07, approve revised Asset Management 

arrangements and to inform Cabinet of the key issues and actions relating to the 
implementation of the Council’s Asset Management Plan 2006/07.  (Pages 167 - 176) 

  
8. PAY AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2005-08   
  
 To provide an update on progress on the Council’s Pay and Workforce Development 

Strategy, following the report to Cabinet on 13th July, 2006.  (Pages 177 - 182) 
  
9. CARE MATTERS: TRANSFORMING THE LIVES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN 

CARE   
  
 To inform Cabinet of the Government Green Paper Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of 



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

County of Herefordshire District Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

Children and Young People in Care and to seek approval for the proposed response from 
Herefordshire Council to the Consultation Exercise ending on Monday, 15th January, 2007.  
(Pages 183 - 238) 

  
10. HOMELESSNESS UPDATE   
  
 To update Cabinet on progress made in relation to homelessness prevention in 

Herefordshire.  (Pages 239 - 240) 
  
11. HEREFORDSHIRE UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (UDP)   
  
 To consider representations to the Proposed Modifications and Statement of Decisions and 

Reasons and recommend that the UDP proceed to adoption. 
  (Pages 241 - 298) 

  
12. SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY   
  
 To approve the Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan as the Council’s contribution towards 

the commitment to sustainability set out in the Community Strategy for Herefordshire. 

  (Pages 299 - 320) 
  
13. POTENTIAL EDGAR STREET GRID COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS   
  
 To update Cabinet on the potential need to make Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) for the 

acquisition of interests and rights in a site known as the Edgar Street Grid (the “ESG”) which 
is required to facilitate the implementation of proposals for the regeneration of 100 acres of 
central Hereford (the “Edgar Street Grid Proposals”).  A plan of the ESG is attached to this 
report as Appendix 1.  (Pages 321 - 328) 

  
CALL IN OF DECISION TO RELOCATE HEREFORD LIVESTOCK MARKET 
 
Urgent Item:  This meeting of Cabinet is the final opportunity available to consider the issue 
before the meeting of Council on 9th February, 2007. 
 
 
To consider the recommendations made by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee in relation 
to the call in of the Key Decision to relocate Hereford Livestock Market.   
 
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
In the opinion of the Proper Officer, the next items will not be, or are likely not to be, open to 
the public and press at the time they are considered. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 
12(A) of the Act as indicated below. 



 

 
Putting People First Providing for our Communities Preserving our Heritage Promoting the County Protecting our Future  

County of Herefordshire District Council, PO Box 240, HEREFORD, HR1 1ZT 

Main Switchboard (01432) 260000 - www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
$$Agenda0.doc 

 

 

  
14. EDGAR STREET GRID   
  
 To seek approval for the marketing of Council assets within the Retail Quarter of the Edgar 

Street Grid.  (Pages 329 - 338) 
  
15. THE COUNCIL'S INVESTMENT IN THE MAYLORDS SHOPPING CENTRE   
  
 To approve commencement of negotiations to restructure the headlease with Prudential 

Property Investment Managers (PruPim) in order to revitalise Maylords as a shopping centre 
and as good financial return in the long term to achieve.  (Pages 339 - 344) 

  
  
 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
N.M. PRINGLE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
 
Copies to: Chairman of the Council 

Chairman of Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Vice-Chairman of Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Chairmen of Scrutiny Committees 
Group Leaders 
Directors 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

 



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\1\5\AI00010514\PUBLINFcabinetcdbus750.doc03/01/08 

The Public's Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO:- 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings 

unless the business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or 
‘exempt' information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of 
the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees 
and written statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet Members for up to six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a 
period of up to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the 
background papers to a report is given at the end of each report).  A 
background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing 
the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of the Cabinet, of all 
Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to 
items to be considered in public) made available to the public attending 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have 
delegated decision making to their officers identifying the officers 
concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of 
access, subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a 
maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50, for postage).   

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to 
inspect and copy documents. 



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\1\5\AI00010514\PUBLINFcabinetcdbus750.doc03/01/08 

 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made 
available in large print or on tape.  Please contact 
the officer named below in advance of the meeting 
who will be pleased to deal with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for visitors 
in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 

Public Transport links 

• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service that 
runs approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the 
Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool 
Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its 
junction with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same 
bus stop. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions about this Agenda, how the Council works or would 
like more information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information 
described above, you may do so either by telephoning Mrs Sally Cole on 
01432 260249 or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 
p.m. Monday - Thursday and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council 
Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford. 

 

 

Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-
Consumer waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening 
agents (OBA). Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production 
and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



FIREBROCK0.doc 21.05.97 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 
 

 
In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through 
the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located 
at the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be 
undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have 
vacated the building following which further instructions will be 
given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or 
returning to collect coats or other personal belongings. 





 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Tony Geeson on 01432 261855 

DISABILITY\SCHEME\06-09\MngPerfMng20.doc  

MANAGING PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE STRATEGY AND FINANCE  

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

All wards. 

Purpose 

To obtain the Cabinet’s views on the draft action plan attached at Appendix 1.  This is being 
developed as the Council’s response to the recommendations of the recent audit of 
performance management.  When finalised, this action plan will be sent to the Audit 
Commission. 

Key Decision  

This not a key decision. 

Recommendations 

THAT Cabinet accepts the audit recommendations, considers the draft action plan 
and, subject to the inclusion of any changes, recommends it to the Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committee. 

Reasons 

1. The Audit Commission re-examined the Council’s performance management processes, 
systems and procedures last September. The Cabinet discussed the audit report itself in 
December and agreed that it should consider the draft action plan before it is sent to the 
Commission.   

2. The draft action plan is attached at Appendix 1 and covers the fourteen audit 
recommendations. These recommendations have already been considered by those 
directly involved in the audit, directorate improvement staff, policy and performance, 
communications, human resources, the senior management team and corporate 
management board. The recommendations are all accepted by officers. The Strategic 
Monitoring Committee discussed the action plan at their meeting on 15th January. Their 
comments will be reported to this meeting. Subject to any changes Cabinet may wish to 
make, a final action & communications plan will be discussed by the Audit & Corporate 
Governance Committee on 19th January 2007. A formal response will then be prepared 
for the Audit Commission.  

3. The audit clearly expects the Council to maintain its current focus on: 
 

o  streamlined, fit for purpose, processes; and, crucially, 
o  establishing a culture of continuous improvement shared by members and officers 

 
in order to achieve fundamental service improvement.  Delivering the action plan is key  
to the Council demonstrating this continuing focus.  The adequacy of the Council’s 

AGENDA ITEM 3

1



  

performance management arrangements will continue to be scrutinised by the Audit 
Commission and other inspectorates over the next 12 months.  The ways in which this 
will be done are not yet clear but completion of the action plan will be an important 
aspect of any future work. 

Considerations 

4. The draft action plan is not a simple list of tasks to be completed, although it does 
contain a considerable number of these. Like the Overall Improvement Plan developed 
as a response to the 2005 CPA / JAR, a more comprehensive view of the Councils 
activities and future challenges is required. Amongst these challenges are the recently 
published local government White Paper Strong and prosperous communities, the 
Herefordshire Connects change programme and the creation of a Public Service Trust. 
The challenge of the audit is just as fundamental and far-reaching, so the Council’s 
response cannot be seen in isolation. As such, the response signals a programme of 
concerted action that brings together a wide range of activities that will change the way 
the Council and its partners behave. It is not sufficient to respond to the words of the 
recommendations, many of which appear very simple to complete. They are, however, 
linked in a variety of complex ways and the action plan reflects this. 

5. Two recommendations are of fundamental strategic importance, so they need to be 
considered first.  They are: 

 

• Recommendation 5: Decide on the extent to which the Council will integrate its own 
service planning, priorities and performance management arrangements with those 
of its key partners in the Herefordshire Partnership  

 

• Recommendation 1: Construct and communicate a high-level model that clearly and 
simply identifies how the Council intends to assess and measure its level of 
performance and rate of improvement 

 
 Recommendation 5 is of the most importance over the medium to long-term, since the 
view we take about it will provide the context within which all the other recommendations, 
including Recommendation 1, will need to be developed. 
 

6. Recommendation 5 is critical because the recent local government White Paper, Strong 
and prosperous communities, expects local authorities to lead partnerships, as first 
among equals, to improve their communities and quality of life.  The current 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment of local authorities will be replaced with a 
new Comprehensive Area Assessment, buttressed by the new duty to co-operate that 
will be placed on most partners.  There will also be increasing pressure to achieve large-
scale efficiency savings through partnership. The action plan is the start of our 
preparations for this new system   

 
7. All this points to the need for the fullest possible integration of the Council’s planning, 

priorities and performance management with its key partners in the Herefordshire 
Partnership. This model is already operating in one part of the Council: Children and 
Young People’s Services.  The strong improvements over the past year in the 
Herefordshire Partnership’s performance management arrangements provide a good 
platform; but the White Paper requires us to go a good deal further. 

 
8. The intention to create a Public Service Trust with the PCT in the coming months 

provides an immediate challenge and opportunity in this respect.  
 
9. Working with partners to develop well-integrated planning and performance 

2



  

arrangements will take time and patient negotiation; but, with the White Paper changes 
beginning to take effect from 2008, it would seem prudent to aim for them to be in place 
by April of that year. The action plan includes this assumption 

 
10. However, rapid improvement in the Council’s performance cannot wait until then.  That 

means that, in parallel with developing the longer-term arrangements with partners, we 
must put in place our own improved arrangements in the coming months, with a view to 
their operating from 1 April 2007. These include the recommendations of the recently 
completed, annual, internal audit report on performance management. These 
arrangements would then be further developed into the longer-term partnership model.    

 
11. The other recommendations are also important and tackling them will help the Council to 

improve.  But all of them need to be taken forward in the context of what is agreed in 
respect of recommendations 5 and 1.  That’s why the draft action plan starts with these 
two recommendations. Then follow the most significant of the recommendations that are 
directly related to the implementation of 5 and 1, these are recommendations 6 and 8. 
After this the action plan deals with the remaining recommendations in as close to 
numerical order as is possible. The internal audit recommendations have been 
incorporated into the action plan, where appropriate. 

 
12. It will be possible to add more actions and milestones to the action plan in future, once 

some of the key decisions have been taken and areas of uncertainty resolved.  

Risk Management 

The audit is a fundamental part of the CPA ‘harder test’. The findings, and in particular the 
council’s response, will have a significant bearing on future audits and inspections as well as 
the authority’s wider reputation. They require us to work in an integrated way with our 
partners across the whole range of current change programmes and prepare for a 
comprehensive area assessment in two years time. 

Alternative Options 

None, the Council has to respond to the audit recommendations. 

Consultees 

Staff who contributed to the audit, directorate improvement managers, policy, human 
resources and communications staff, senior management team and the corporate 
management board. 

Appendix 

Draft action plan. 

Background Papers 

Managing performance management 2006/07 – Audit Commission, September 2006 
Local Government White Paper – strong and prosperous communities – October 2006 

 

3



4



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 1

 

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 5

 

D
e

c
id

e
 o

n
 t

h
e

 e
xt

e
n

t 
to

 w
h

ic
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

w
ill

 i
n

te
g
ra

te
 i
ts

 o
w

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 p
la

n
n

in
g
, 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 
w

it
h

 t
h

o
s
e

 o
f 

it
s
 k

e
y 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 i
n

 t
h

e
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

a
) 

T
h

e
 f

u
lle

s
t 

p
o

s
s
ib

le
 i
n

te
g
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
p

la
n

n
in

g
, 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

w
it
h

 k
e

y 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 i
s
 c

ru
c
ia

l 
fo

r 
s
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 S

tr
o

n
g

 a
n

d
 P

ro
s
p

e
ro

u
s
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
 L

o
c
a

l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
W

h
it
e

 P
a

p
e

r 

b
) 

Im
m

e
d

ia
te

ly
, 

th
e

 h
ig

h
e

s
t 

p
ri
o

ri
ty

 i
s
 i
n

te
g
ra

ti
o

n
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 P
C

T
, 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 c
re

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 T

ru
s
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

D
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 C
h

ie
f 

E
xe

c
u

ti
ve

s
’ 
G

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
G

ro
u

p
, 

th
e

n
 t

h
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 B
o

a
rd

, 
le

a
d

in
g
 t

o
 t

h
e

 p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
a

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 

D
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 b
y 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 b
y 

D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
7

, 
w

it
h

 a
 v

ie
w

 
to

 t
h

e
 n

e
w

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 f

ro
m

 1
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

8
 

J
J
, 

T
G

, 
J
W

 

b
) 

In
c
lu

s
io

n
 i
n

 t
h

e
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 f
o

r 
th

e
 

c
re

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

C
T

 
In

te
g
ra

te
d

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 t
o

 b
e

 o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 t

im
e

 t
h

e
 

P
S

T
 i
s
 o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
  

 N
P

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

A
lr
e

a
d

y 
in

 p
la

c
e

 r
e

. 
c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

, 
w

it
h

 a
 s

in
g
le

 C
&

Y
P

 t
h

re
e

-y
e

a
r 

p
la

n
 a

n
d

 u
n

d
e

rp
in

n
in

g
 j
o

in
t 

F
o

rw
a

rd
 D

e
liv

e
ry

 P
la

n
, 

in
te

g
ra

te
d

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 C

&
Y

P
 D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

’s
 P

la
n

 

T
h

e
 n

e
w

 H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 B
o

a
rd

 m
e

t 
in

 D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
6

 a
n

d
 a

g
re

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

it
 n

e
e

d
s
 t

o
 g

iv
e

 e
a

rl
y 

a
n

d
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 a
tt

e
n

ti
o

n
 t

o
 

d
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 L

o
c
a

l 
A

re
a

 A
g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

im
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 L
o

c
a

l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
W

h
it
e

 P
a

p
e

r 
  

 

5



 

2
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

 

C
o

n
s
tr

u
c
t 

a
n

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
te

 a
 h

ig
h

-l
e

ve
l 
m

o
d

e
l 
th

a
t 

c
le

a
rl
y 

a
n

d
 s

im
p

ly
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

s
 h

o
w

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

in
te

n
d

s
 t

o
 a

s
s
e

s
s
 a

n
d

 m
e

a
s
u

re
 i
ts

 l
e

ve
l 

o
f 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 a
n

d
 r

a
te

 o
f 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
h

e
 i
n

it
ia

l 
b

a
s
is

 f
o

r 
th

e
 h

ig
h

-l
e

ve
l 
m

o
d

e
l 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

n
a

ly
s
is

 o
f 

w
h

a
t 

is
 n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
 t

o
 r

a
is

e
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 B

V
P

I 
a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

k
e

y 
P

I 
s
c
o

re
s
, 

a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 i
ts

 C
P

A
 s

c
o

re
s
 -

 i
n

 a
ll 

c
a

s
e

s
 r

e
la

te
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 a

c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 e

xi
s
ti
n

g
 s

tr
a

te
g
ic

 p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
. 

T
h

e
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e

d
 f

u
lly

 b
y 

S
M

T
, 
th

e
n

 C
M

B
, 
C

a
b

in
e

t,
 S

M
C

 a
n

d
 t
h

e
 in

d
iv

id
u

a
l s

u
b

je
c
t 
s
c
ru

ti
n

y 
c
o

m
m

it
te

e
s
, 
le

a
d

in
g
 t
o

 t
h

e
 d

e
s
ig

n
 

a
n

d
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 h

ig
h

-l
e

ve
l 
m

o
d

e
l.
 

T
h

e
 r

e
s
u

lt
in

g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
a

c
ti
o

n
 w

ill
 b

e
 t

a
k
e

n
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 o
ve

ra
ll 

T
ra

n
s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d

 l
e

d
 b

y 
th

e
 r

e
le

va
n

t 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
tr

a
n

s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 b

o
a

rd
s
, 

w
it
h

 o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l 
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 a

c
c
o

u
n

ta
b

ili
ty

 v
e

s
te

d
 i
n

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
h

e
a

d
s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
. 

  
It

s
 r

o
ll-

o
u

t 
w

ill
 

b
e

 a
n

 i
n

te
g
ra

l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
c
yc

le
, 

w
h

ic
h

 r
e

la
te

s
 i
n

ve
s
tm

e
n

t 
to

 t
h

e
 a

c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 
o

u
tp

u
ts

 a
n

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

T
h

e
 m

o
d

e
l’s

 s
u

b
s
e

q
u

e
n

t 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 w

ill
 b

e
 t
a

k
e

n
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
o

 in
te

g
ra

te
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 
k
e

y 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 (

s
e

e
 R

e
c
c
. 

5
 a

b
o

ve
) 

R
e

fl
e

c
t 

th
e

 a
b

o
ve

 i
n

 r
e

vi
s
e

d
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 I
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 

A
ll 

th
e

 a
b

o
ve

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 b

e
lo

w
 t

o
 b

e
 u

n
d

e
rp

in
n

e
d

 b
y 

a
 c

o
m

p
re

h
e

n
s
iv

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 p

la
n

. 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

T
h

e
 a

n
a

ly
s
is

 t
o

 b
e

 d
is

c
u

s
s
e

d
 b

y 
S

M
T

 a
n

d
 C

M
B

 
 3

0
 J

a
n

u
a

ry
 2

0
0

7
 

b
) 

T
h

e
n

 b
y 

C
a

b
in

e
t 

a
n

d
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
 2

2
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
0

7
 

c
) 

In
 p

a
ra

lle
l,
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 p
o

te
n

ti
a

l 
m

o
d

e
ls

 f
ro

m
 h

ig
h

-
p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 l
o

c
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ri
ti
e

s
  

E
n

d
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

 

6



 

3
 -

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

d
) 

R
e

s
u

lt
in

g
 i
n

it
ia

l 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

m
o

d
e

l 
to

 b
e

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 b
y 

C
M

B
 

a
n

d
 C

a
b

in
e

t,
 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 u

s
e

r-
fr

ie
n

d
ly

 t
e

m
p

la
te

 t
h

a
t 

id
e

n
ti
fi
e

s
 a

n
d

 r
a

te
s
 t

h
e

 k
e

y 
m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

  

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

 
J
J
, 

T
G

 

e
) 

T
h

e
 i
n

it
ia

l 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

m
o

d
e

l 
to

 b
e

 o
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 i
ts

 
c
ri
ti
c
a

l 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

F
ro

m
 1

 A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

T
G

, 
S

R
, 

D
P

, 
tr

a
n

s
fo

rm
a

tio
n
 

b
o

a
rd

 c
h

a
ir
s
, 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

f)
 

C
a

b
in

e
t 

a
p

p
ro

va
l 
o

f 
in

it
ia

l 
re

vi
s
e

d
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 
A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

g
) 

C
a

b
in

e
t 

a
n

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

p
p

ro
va

l 
o

f 
th

e
 j
o

in
t 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 I
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 a
n

d
 

m
o

d
e

l 

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

 2
0

0
8

 
J
J
, 

T
G

, 
J
W

 

h
) 

D
e

ve
lo

p
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 p

la
n

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 
fo

r 
p

u
b

lic
is

in
g
 t

h
e

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 t

e
m

p
la

te
 r

e
g
u

la
rl
y 

to
 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

, 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

s
ta

k
e

-h
o

ld
e

rs
  

 

E
n

d
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
0

7
 

i)
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 p

la
n

 
A

s
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

o
u

t 
in

 t
h

e
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 p

la
n

 

J
J
, 

R
B

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

 S
c
ru

ti
n

y 
vi

s
it
s
 t

o
 S

h
ro

p
s
h

ir
e

 a
n

d
 E

a
s
t 

R
id

in
g
 o

f 
Y

o
rk

s
h

ir
e

 c
o

u
n

c
ils

 s
c
h

e
d

u
le

d
 f

o
r 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 a
n

d
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
. 

T
h

e
s
e

 w
ill

 b
e

 u
s
e

d
 t

o
 e

xa
m

in
e

 
th

e
ir
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

m
o

d
e

l 
g
e

n
e

ra
lly

. 

  

7



 

4
 -

 

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 6

 

D
e

ve
lo

p
 a

 s
im

p
le

r,
 c

le
a

re
r 

s
e

t 
o

f 
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 –

 e
a

c
h

 w
it
h

 a
 b

a
s
k
e

t 
o

f 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
 a

n
d

 m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
e

d
 t

o
 p

ro
vi

d
e

 a
 h

ig
h

-l
e

ve
l 
p

ic
tu

re
 o

f 
p

ro
g
re

s
s
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
o

 b
e

 d
e

te
rm

in
e

d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
R

e
c
c
s
 5

 a
n

d
 1

 a
b

o
ve

 -
 s

o
 e

n
s
u

ri
n

g
 e

a
s
ily

 u
n

d
e

rs
to

o
d

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

c
y 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 t
h

e
 

C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 t
h

o
s
e

 o
f 

th
e

 H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

; 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
 f

o
r 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
; 

a
 b

a
s
k
e

t 
o

f 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

fo
r 

e
a

c
h

 p
ri
o

ri
ty

; 
a

n
d

 g
o

o
d

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
a

ll 
th

is
 t

o
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
, 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

s
ta

k
e

h
o

ld
e

rs
  

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

A
s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
. 

1
 e

a
rl
ie

r 
A

s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
. 

1
 e

a
rl
ie

r 

b
) 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 p
u

b
lic

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

] 

c
) 

D
e

c
is

io
n

s
 o

n
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 b

y 
th

e
 n

e
w

ly
 e

le
c
te

d
 C

o
u

n
c
il:

 

i.
 

C
a

b
in

e
t 

a
p

p
ro

ve
s
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
8

-1
1

 
ii.

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

a
p

p
ro

ve
s
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
8

-1
1

 

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
2

0
0

7
 

N
o

ve
m

b
e

r 
2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

A
c
ti
o

n
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
ta

k
e

n
 t

o
 s

im
p

lif
y 

th
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
in

g
 o

f 
p

e
rc

e
p

ti
o

n
 P

Is
 a

n
d

 i
n

 h
a

n
d

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 a

d
e

q
u

a
te

 a
c
ti
o

n
s
/m

ile
s
to

n
e

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 u

n
d

e
rl
yi

n
g
 

fe
e

d
e

r 
P

is
 

C
X

 w
ill

 b
e

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
in

g
 t

h
e

 G
ro

u
p

 L
e

a
d

e
rs

 s
h

o
rt

ly
 o

n
 t

h
e

 t
im

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 s

tr
a

te
g
ic

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
. 

 

8



 

5
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 8

 

P
ro

d
u

c
e

 r
e

g
u

la
r 

h
ig

h
-l
e

ve
l 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 t
re

n
d

s
, 

id
e

n
ti
fy

in
g
, 

w
h

e
re

 r
e

le
va

n
t,

 b
a

rr
ie

rs
 a

n
d

 l
e

ve
rs

 t
o

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
h

e
 R

e
c
c
. 

1
 m

o
d

e
l 
to

 b
e

 t
h

e
 i
n

it
ia

l 
b

a
s
is

 f
o

r 
fu

tu
re

 i
n

te
g
ra

te
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
s
 (

IP
R

s
).

  
W

ill
 b

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

in
 t

h
e

 l
ig

h
t 

o
f 

th
e

 
a

g
re

e
d

 l
o

n
g
e

r-
te

rm
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 i
n

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 t
o

 R
e

c
c
. 

5
. 

T
h

e
re

 w
ill

 b
e

 p
e

ri
o

d
ic

 o
ve

ra
ll 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
(f

re
q
u

e
n

c
y 

to
 b

e
 d

e
c
id

e
d

 -
 w

h
ile

 r
e

g
u

la
r,

 t
h

e
s
e

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

b
e

 f
re

q
u

e
n

t 
o

r 
th

e
y 

w
o

u
ld

 
n

o
t 

b
e

 s
tr

a
te

g
ic

).
  

B
u

t 
IP

R
s
 w

ill
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 k
e

y 
in

te
lli

g
e

n
c
e

 i
m

m
e

d
ia

te
ly

 i
t 

b
e

c
o

m
e

s
 a

va
ila

b
le

, 
e

.g
. 

A
P

A
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

in
s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
. 

A
ls

o
 t

o
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
 a

  
C

o
u

n
c
il-

w
id

e
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
 t

o
 c

o
lle

c
t 

c
u

s
to

m
e

r 
fe

e
d

b
a

c
k
 m

o
re

 c
o

n
s
is

te
n

tl
y.

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

D
e

s
ig

n
 r

e
vi

s
e

d
 f

o
rm

a
t 

fo
r 

IP
R

s
 a

n
d

 g
a

in
 C

M
B

 a
n

d
 C

a
b

in
e

t 
a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
(w

it
h

 i
n

p
u

t 
fr

o
m

 S
M

T
 a

n
d

 S
M

C
) 

A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

b
) 

O
p

e
ra

te
 t

h
e

 r
e

vi
s
e

d
 f

o
rm

a
t 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

9



 

6
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 2

 

D
e

ve
lo

p
 a

n
d

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 

a
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 e
m

b
e

d
d

in
g
 a

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

c
u

lt
u

re
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

a
) 

T
o

 b
e

 d
o

n
e

 s
o

 a
s
 a

n
 i
n

te
g
ra

l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

5
 a

n
d

 1
 -

 d
ra

w
in

g
 o

n
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
p

ra
c
ti
c
e

 i
n

 o
th

e
r 

L
A

s
; 

th
e

 I
P

C
 w

o
rk

 i
n

 
C

h
ild

re
n

’s
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
, 

th
e

 P
W

C
 w

o
rk

 i
n

 A
d

u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
g
o

o
d

 p
ra

c
ti
c
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il;

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o

f 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 a

n
d

 
C

u
s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o

f 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 w

o
rk

in
g
 t

o
g
e

th
e

r 
to

 c
h

a
m

p
io

n
 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t,

 p
a

rt
ic

u
la

rl
y 

th
ro

u
g
h

 a
n

 e
ve

n
 m

o
re

 r
ig

o
ro

u
s
 a

n
d

 d
e

m
a

n
d

in
g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
c
yc

le
; 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 i
n

c
lu

s
io

n
 o

f 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
 t

h
a

t 
tr

a
c
k
 c

u
lt
u

ra
l 

c
h

a
n

g
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 h

ig
h

-l
e

ve
l 
m

o
d

e
l 
  

b
) 

M
o

m
e

n
tu

m
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 t
o

 d
e

liv
e

r 
a

n
d

 g
a

in
 m

a
xi

m
u

m
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

fr
o

m
 m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
in

 h
a

n
d

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

L
e

a
d

e
rs

h
ip

 P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d

 d
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 i
n

it
ia

ti
ve

s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 t

h
e

 a
d

u
lt
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a

re
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 c
lin

ic
s
. 

  
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
d

e
ta

ile
d

 a
c
ti
o

n
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 f
o

r 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

5
 a

n
d

 1
 (

e
m

b
e

d
d

in
g
 t

o
 b

e
 a

c
h

ie
ve

d
 

th
ro

u
g
h

 t
h

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
c
yc

le
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s
 p

la
n

) 

O
p

e
ra

ti
n

g
 f

ro
m

 1
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

b
) 

i.
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
m

a
n

a
g
e

rs
 

A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

T
G

 

 
ii.

 
C

u
rr

e
n

tl
y 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d

 S
R

D
 a

n
d

 r
is

k
 m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t 

tr
a

in
in

g
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 t
o

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

 
D

J
, 

T
G

, 
D

P
 

 
iii

. 
D

e
ve

lo
p

 t
a

rg
e

te
d

 m
a

n
d

a
to

ry
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
tr

a
in

in
g
 a

n
d

 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
, 

in
it
ia

lly
 f

o
r 

2
0

0
7

-0
8

 
O

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
a

l 
fr

o
m

 A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

D
J
, 

T
G

 

 

10



 

7
 -

 

 
A

C
T

IO
N

 
T

IM
E

S
C

A
L

E
 

L
E

A
D

 

 
iv

. 
D

is
s
e

m
in

a
te

 t
h

e
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 o

f 
th

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t 

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
ts

 i
n

 C
&

Y
P

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 (

fr
o

m
 

IP
C

) 
a

n
d

 A
d

u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 (
fr

o
m

 P
W

C
) 

a
n

d
 o

th
e

r 
g
o

o
d

 p
ra

c
ti
c
e

, 
c
o

n
s
id

e
ri
n

g
 t

h
e

ir
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
 m

o
re

 
g
e

n
e

ra
lly

  
(p

a
rt

ic
u

la
rl
y 

th
ro

u
g
h

 S
M

T
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
s
u

b
-g

ro
u

p
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
n

e
tw

o
rk

) 

F
ro

m
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

T
G

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

11



 

8
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 3

 

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 r

e
s
p

e
c
ti
ve

 r
o

le
s
 &

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 t

e
a

m
 &

 t
h

e
 d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

o
ff

ic
e

rs
 

a
re

 c
le

a
r 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

a
) 

S
e

c
u

re
 c

le
a

r 
u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 o
w

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

m
o

n
g
s
t 

d
ir
e

c
to

rs
 a

n
d

 h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

b
) 

K
e

e
p

 g
u

id
a

n
c
e

 u
n

d
e

r 
re

vi
e

w
 i
n

 t
h

e
 l
ig

h
t 

o
f 

e
xp

e
ri
e

n
c
e

 a
n

d
 c

h
a

n
g
in

g
 r

e
q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 

c
) 

a
n

d
 d

) 
re

g
u

la
r 

fo
ra

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 g

o
o

d
 c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
ti
o

n
, 

m
u

tu
a

l 
u

n
d

e
rs

ta
n

d
in

g
 a

n
d

 o
w

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

e
) 

 E
q
u

a
lly

 i
m

p
o

rt
a

n
t 

to
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

 c
le

a
r 

u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
s
p

e
c
ti
ve

 r
o

le
s
 a

n
d

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 o

f 
P

IM
s
 a

n
d

 c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 
P

o
lic

y 
a

n
d

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 s
ta

ff
, 

s
o

 t
h

a
t 

o
ve

ra
ll 

c
a

p
a

c
it
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y 

a
n

d
 e

ff
e

c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s
 a

re
 m

a
xi

m
is

e
d

. 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

D
is

c
u

s
s
 w

it
h

 d
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

te
a

m
s
 

B
e

fo
re

 e
n

d
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

7
 

b
) 

Id
e

n
ti
fy

 t
h

e
 k

e
y 

m
e

e
ti
n

g
s
 i
n

 D
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
 b

e
lo

w
 D

M
T

 l
e

ve
l 

w
h

e
re

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
s
 d

e
b

a
te

d
 a

n
d

 d
e

c
is

io
n

s
 t

a
k
e

n
  

 
B

e
fo

re
 e

n
d

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

 

c
) 

R
e

vi
e

w
, 

d
e

ve
lo

p
 &

 r
e

fr
e

s
h

 t
h

e
 g

u
id

a
n

c
e

/p
ro

to
c
o

ls
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e

c
t 

th
e

 a
c
ti
vi

ti
e

s
 &

 t
a

s
k
s
 t

h
a

t 
n

e
e

d
 t

o
 b

e
 c

a
rr

ie
d

 o
u

t 
u

n
d

e
r 

th
e

 
a

g
re

e
d

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 w
it
h

 k
e

y 
p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 i
n

 p
u

rs
u

it
 o

f 
R

e
c
c
. 

5
  

 

D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
7

 

d
) 

R
e

g
u

la
r 

m
e

e
ti
n

g
s
 o

f 
 t

h
e

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
n

e
tw

o
rk

 
A

t 
le

a
s
t 

m
o

n
th

ly
 

T
G

 

 

12



 

9
 -

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

e
) 

R
e

vi
e

w
 t

h
e

 e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
n

e
tw

o
rk

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 S
M

T
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
s
u

b
-g

ro
u

p
, 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
in

g
 c

h
a

n
g
e

s
 w

h
e

re
 n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
 

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
7

 

f)
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
o

lic
y 

a
n

d
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 r
o

le
s
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
vi

e
w

e
d

 a
n

d
 

p
o

s
ts

 r
e

- 
e

va
lu

a
te

d
 

J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

 

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

b
) 

H
a

ve
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
–

 i
n

 N
o

ve
m

b
e

r 
2

0
0

6
 -

 c
la

ri
fi
e

d
 a

n
d

 r
e

is
s
u

e
d

 d
e

s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
ro

le
s
 a

n
d

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 f

o
r 

p
la

n
s
 a

n
d

 P
Is

. 

c
) 

H
a

ve
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
m

a
n

a
g
e

rs
 (

P
IM

s
) 

n
e

tw
o

rk
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 s

e
n

io
r 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 o
f 

th
e

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 
S

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

e
a

m
 i
n

 t
h

e
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
h

ip
 (

d
it
to

 P
o

lic
y 

a
n

d
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 s
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 R

is
k
 M

a
n

a
g
e

r 
).

 P
ro

vi
d

e
s
 r

e
g
u

la
r 

fo
ru

m
 f

o
r 

d
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
 

a
n

d
 r

e
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
 o

f 
a

n
y 

re
m

a
in

in
g
 u

n
c
e

rt
a

in
ti
e

s
. 

A
ls

o
 S

M
T

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
s
u

b
-g

ro
u

p
. 

  

13



 

1
0
 -

 

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 4

 

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
, 

b
o

th
 a

t 
c
a

b
in

e
t 

a
n

d
 o

ve
rv

ie
w

 a
n

d
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
le

ve
l a

re
 f

u
lly

 in
vo

lv
e

d
 in

, 
a

n
d

 in
te

g
ra

te
d

 in
to

, 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

a
) 

T
o

 b
e

 a
c
h

ie
ve

d
 a

s
 a

n
 i
n

te
g
ra

l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

5
, 

1
, 

6
, 

8
 a

n
d

 2
 -

 i
n

vo
lv

in
g
 e

xt
e

n
s
iv

e
 i
n

fo
rm

a
l 
a

n
d

 f
o

rm
a

l 
d

is
c
u

s
s
io

n
 w

it
h

 
b

o
th

 e
xe

c
u

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 n

o
n

-e
xe

c
u

ti
ve

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

; 
lin

k
e

d
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 c

o
n

s
ti
tu

ti
o

n
a

l 
a

n
d

 l
o

c
a

l 
d

e
m

o
c
ra

c
y 

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 r

e
q
u

ir
e

d
 t

o
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 

th
e

 
L

o
c
a

l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
W

h
it
e

 P
a

p
e

r 

b
) 

a
n

d
 c

) 
T

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e

 r
e

fl
e

c
te

d
 i
n

 a
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
’ 
g
u

id
e

 t
o

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

 

c
) 

M
a

in
ta

in
 m

o
m

e
n

tu
m

 w
it
h

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 e

xi
s
ti
n

g
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

A
s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
s
. 

5
, 

1
, 

6
, 

8
 a

n
d

 2
 

A
s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
s
. 

5
, 

1
, 

6
, 

8
 a

n
d

 2
 

b
) 

C
ir
c
u

la
te

 I
D

e
A

 g
u

id
e

 t
o

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 
J
a

n
u

a
ry

 2
0

0
7

 

c
) 

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 r
e

fe
re

n
c
e

 g
ro

u
p

 t
o

 a
d

vi
s
e

 u
p

o
n

/ 
ro

a
d

- 
te

s
t 

d
ra

ft
s
 o

f 
a

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 g
u

id
e

 
J
a

n
u

a
ry

 2
0

0
7

 

d
) 

In
it
ia

l 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
’ 
g
u

id
e

 
A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

e
) 

T
h

e
 i
n

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e

 M
a

y 
2

0
0

7
 e

le
c
ti
o

n
 

w
ill

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 s
e

s
s
io

n
s
 o

n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
B

e
g
in

n
in

g
 M

a
y 

2
0

0
7

 

f)
 

M
e

m
b

e
rs

’ 
g
u

id
e

 r
e

fl
e

c
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 l
o

n
g
e

r-
te

rm
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 
a

g
re

e
d

 w
it
h

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 
F

e
b

ru
a

ry
 2

0
0

8
 

g
) 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

e
le

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 

th
e

 e
xi

s
ti
n

g
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
: 

- 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
’ 
a

n
n

u
a

l 
p

re
s
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
c
o

m
m

it
te

e
s
  

- 
R

e
g
u

la
r,

 i
m

p
ro

ve
d

 I
P

R
 r

e
p

o
rt

s
 t

o
 S

M
C

, 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 

re
fe

r 
m

a
tt

e
rs

 t
o

 s
c
ru

ti
n

y 
c
o

m
m

it
te

e
s
, 

a
s
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
  

- 
R

e
g
u

la
r 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

s
 o

n
 d

e
ta

ile
d

  
  

  
  

im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t 

p
la

n
s
 f

o
r 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 a

re
a

s
 

- 
A

n
n

u
a

l 
re

vi
e

w
 o

f 
th

e
 o

p
e

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
  

  
  

  
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

fr
a

m
e

w
o

rk
  

- 
V

is
it
s
 t

o
 L

A
s
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
fu

lly
 u

s
in

g
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
to

 d
ri
ve

  
  

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
- 

S
c
ru

ti
n

y 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

s
 “

c
ri
ti
c
a

l 
fr

ie
n

d
s
” 

fo
r 

s
p

e
c
if
ic

  
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
  

 
  

  
  

c
yc

le
 

  J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

 
 C

o
n

ti
n

u
e

s
 

  C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 

 O
c
to

b
e

r 
2

0
0

7
 

 C
o

n
ti
n

u
e

s
 

 F
ro

m
 M

a
y 

2
0

0
7

 

J
J
, 

A
M

c
, 

T
G

 

14



 

1
1
 -

 

   P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

T
h

e
 m

o
n

th
ly

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 C

a
b

in
e

t 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

n
d

 d
ir
e

c
to

rs
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 r

e
vi

e
w

e
d

  

T
h

e
 S

c
ru

ti
n

y 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 i
s
 o

n
 t

ra
c
k
 f

o
r 

c
o

m
p

le
ti
o

n
 a

s
 p

la
n

n
e

d
. 

 S
c
ru

ti
n

y 
vi

s
it
s
 t
o

 S
h

ro
p

s
h

ir
e

 a
n

d
 E

a
s
t 
R

id
in

g
 o

f 
Y

o
rk

s
h

ir
e

 c
o

u
n

c
ils

 
s
c
h

e
d

u
le

d
 f

o
r 

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 a
n

d
 F

e
b

ru
a

ry
. 

15



 

1
2
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 7

 

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 r

o
le

, 
p

u
rp

o
s
e

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

te
n

t 
o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 p

la
n

s
 c

le
a

rl
y 

lin
k
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

 h
ig

h
-l
e

ve
l 
s
e

t 
o

f 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
 a

n
d

 m
e

a
s
u

re
s
, 

a
n

d
 r

e
fl
e

c
t 

th
e

 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

h
a

s
 d

e
c
id

e
d

 t
o

 a
d

o
p

t 
in

 l
in

k
in

g
 w

it
h

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
o

 b
e

 a
c
h

ie
ve

d
 a

s
 a

n
 i
n

te
g
ra

l 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

5
, 

1
, 

6
, 

8
 a

n
d

 2
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 s

u
c
h

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

g
u

id
a

n
c
e

 a
s
 i
s
 n

e
e

d
e

d
 o

n
 d

e
ve

lo
p

in
g
 

lo
c
a

l 
in

d
ic

a
to

rs
, 

s
e

tt
in

g
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 e

n
s
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
a

t 
ri
s
k
s
 a

re
 d

e
a

lt
 w

it
h

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 a
n

d
 p

a
rc

e
l 
o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

R
e

fl
e

c
t 

in
 r

e
vi

s
e

d
 r

e
q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 f
o

r 
d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 p
la

n
s
 

2
0

0
8

-1
1

  
  

S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
7

 
T

G
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

16



 

1
3
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 9

 

D
e

ve
lo

p
 t

h
e

 c
u

rr
e

n
t 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
in

g
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
 t

o
 p

ro
vi

d
e

 b
o

th
 a

 m
o

re
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 t
o

 r
e

p
o

rt
in

g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 w
it
h

in
 

d
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
, 

a
n

d
 a

 c
le

a
re

r,
 h

ig
h

e
r-

le
ve

l 
re

p
o

rt
 o

f 
p

ro
g
re

s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

p
ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

a
) 

M
a

k
e

 i
n

it
ia

l 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 o

n
 t

h
e

 b
a

s
is

 o
f 

th
e

 a
c
ti
o

n
s
 i
n

 r
e

s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 

R
e

c
c
. 

1
 a

b
o

ve
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 i
n

 t
h

e
 I

P
R

 a
n

d
 d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 r
e

p
o

rt
s
 c

le
a

r 
m

e
s
s
a

g
e

s
 a

b
o

u
t 

g
o

o
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 a
n

d
 a

re
a

s
 o

f 
c
o

n
c
e

rn
, 

s
u

m
m

a
ri
e

s
 o

f 
p

ro
g
re

s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

re
m

e
d

ia
l 
a

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 p
re

vi
o

u
s
 r

e
p

o
rt

s
 a

n
d

 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

n
 c

o
m

p
lim

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
; 

d
e

c
id

in
g
 h

o
w

 o
ft

e
n

 r
e

p
o

rt
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 m

a
d

e
 o

n
 in

d
iv

id
u

a
l i

te
m

s
; 
a

n
d

 p
u

tt
in

g
 in

 p
la

c
e

 e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

 
a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 t
o

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
 t

h
e

 h
e

a
d

lin
e

s
 t

o
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ff
  

 

b
) 

M
a

k
e

 l
o

n
g
e

r-
te

rm
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
R

e
c
c
. 

5
 

c
) 

P
a

rt
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
 1

 a
n

d
 6

 a
b

o
ve

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

M
a

p
 a

n
d

 r
e

vi
e

w
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
p

ro
c
e

d
u

re
s
 a

n
d

 e
xp

e
ri
e

n
c
e

 o
f 

re
p

o
rt

s
 t

o
 l
e

a
d

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 C
X

’s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
re

vi
e

w
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
 o

f 
C

M
B

; 
a

p
p

ly
 t

h
e

 
b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t

o
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
R

e
c
c
. 

1
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
a

t 
fr

o
m

 h
ig

h
-p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 L

A
s
; 

is
s
u

e
 f

re
s
h

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

m
e

n
ts

/t
e

m
p

la
te

s
; 

in
s
ti
tu

te
 a

rr
a

n
g
e

m
e

n
ts

 
to

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
 t

h
e

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 h
e

a
d

lin
e

s
 t
o

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 a
n

d
 

s
ta

ff
  

T
o

 b
e

 i
n

 o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 1
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

b
) 

B
ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 l
o

n
g
e

r-
te

rm
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 i
n

to
 e

ff
e

c
t 

 
1

 A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

8
 

T
G

, 
R

B
, 

d
ir
e

c
to

rs
, 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

c
) 

A
s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
s
. 

1
 a

n
d

 6
 a

b
o

ve
 

A
s
 f

o
r 

R
e

c
c
s
. 

1
 a

n
d

 6
 a

b
o

ve
 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

 

17



 

1
4
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

0
 

Im
p

ro
ve

 t
h

e
 w

a
y 

in
 w

h
ic

h
 r

e
m

e
d

ia
l 
a

c
ti
o

n
 t

o
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 p

o
o

r 
o

r 
u

n
d

e
r-

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
s
 b

o
th

 p
re

s
e

n
te

d
 a

n
d

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 

it
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 a
t 

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 l
e

ve
l 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

ly
: 

P
a

rt
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

8
 a

n
d

 9
 a

b
o

ve
, 

e
m

b
e

d
d

in
g
 i
t 

th
ro

u
g
h

 m
a

k
in

g
 c

h
a

lle
n

g
e

 e
ve

n
 m

o
re

 s
ys

te
m

a
ti
c
 a

n
d

 r
ig

o
ro

u
s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
c
yc

le
. 

W
it
h

in
 d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
: 

P
a

rt
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
. 

9
 a

b
o

ve
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

D
e

s
ig

n
 r

e
vi

s
e

d
 f

o
rm

a
t 

fo
r 

IP
R

s
 a

n
d

 g
a

in
 C

M
B

 a
n

d
 C

a
b

in
e

t 
a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
(w

it
h

 i
n

p
u

t 
fr

o
m

 S
M

T
 a

n
d

 S
M

C
) 

 
A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

b
) 

O
p

e
ra

te
 t

h
e

 r
e

vi
s
e

d
 I

P
R

 f
o

rm
a

t 
J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

 

J
J
, 

T
G

 

c
) 

In
tr

o
d

u
c
e

 c
h

a
lle

n
g
e

 b
o

a
rd

 u
n

d
e

r 
th

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
c
yc

le
, 
re

la
ti
n

g
 p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 o

u
tp

u
ts

 a
n

d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

to
 b

u
d

g
e

t 
p

la
n

n
in

g
 

J
u

ly
 2

0
0

7
 

J
J
, 

S
R

 

d
) 

M
a

k
e

 i
n

it
ia

l 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 o

n
 t

h
e

 b
a

s
is

 o
f 

th
e

 a
c
ti
o

n
s
 i
n

 
re

s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 

R
e

c
c
. 

1
 a

b
o

ve
 

1
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

e
) 

M
a

k
e

 l
o

n
g
e

r-
te

rm
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

ts
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
R

e
c
c
. 

5
 

1
 A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

8
 

J
J
, 

T
G

, 
d

ir
e

c
to

rs
, 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

18



 

1
5
 -

 

B
o

th
 t

h
e

 W
e

s
t 

M
e

rc
ia

 P
o

lic
e

 o
ve

ra
ll 

a
n

d
 d

iv
is

io
n

a
l 
m

o
d

e
ls

 f
o

r 
c
h

a
lle

n
g
e

 b
o

a
rd

s
 a

re
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
b

e
in

g
 i
n

ve
s
ti
g
a

te
d

. 
C

o
n

ta
c
ts

 h
a

ve
 a

lr
e

a
d

y 
b

e
e

n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 w

it
h

 W
o

rc
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

 E
a

s
t 

R
id

in
g
 o

f 
Y

o
rk

s
h

ir
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il.

  
 

 

19



 

1
6
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

1
 

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

 b
e

tt
e

r 
c
o

n
s
is

te
n

c
y 

a
n

d
 p

u
rp

o
s
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 t
o

 e
xe

c
u

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 n

o
n

-e
xe

c
u

ti
ve

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

P
a

rt
 o

f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ti
n

g
 R

e
c
c
s
. 
9

 a
n

d
 1

0
 a

b
o

ve
, 
m

a
k
in

g
 c

le
a

r 
th

e
 s

p
e

c
if
ic

 r
o

le
s
 o

f 
s
c
ru

ti
n

y 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
 in

 r
e

s
p

e
c
t 
o

f 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

is
s
u

e
s
; 

a
n

d
 e

n
s
u

ri
n

g
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 w
e

ll-
u

n
d

e
rs

to
o

d
 l
in

k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y 
c
o

m
m

it
te

e
s
, 

s
ta

ff
 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

e
le

va
n

t 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 r
e

s
e

a
rc

h
 a

n
d

 
o

th
e

r 
fo

rm
s
 o

f 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
o

r 
s
c
ru

ti
n

y.
 T

h
e

 L
o

c
a

l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
W

h
it
e

 P
a

p
e

r’
s
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

ls
 f

o
r 

fr
o

n
tl
in

e
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

re
 r

e
le

va
n

t 
h

e
re

  
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

S
e

e
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

9
 a

n
d

 1
0

 e
a

rl
ie

r 
S

e
e

 R
e

c
c
s
. 

9
 a

n
d

 1
0

 e
a

rl
ie

r 
J
J
, 

T
G

, 
d

ir
e

c
to

rs
, 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

20



 

1
7
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

2
 

Im
p

ro
ve

 t
h

e
 q

u
a

lit
y 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 S

R
D

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 t

o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t

h
a

t,
 a

m
o

n
g
 o

th
e

r 
th

in
g
s
, 

in
d

iv
id

u
a

l 
ta

rg
e

ts
 a

re
 l
in

k
e

d
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 a
n

d
 

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 t
a

rg
e

ts
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

Q
A

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 i
n

it
ia

te
d

 a
n

d
 n

o
w

 n
e

e
d

s
 t

o
 b

e
 r

o
lle

d
 o

u
t 

c
o

n
s
is

te
n

tl
y 

a
n

d
 e

m
b

e
d

d
e

d
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

C
a

s
c
a

d
e

 o
f 

Q
A

 t
o

 b
e

 i
n

it
ia

te
d

 b
y 

H
R

 w
it
h

 d
ir
e

c
to

rs
 a

n
d

 
ro

lle
d

 o
u

t 
fo

r 
th

e
 c

o
m

in
g
 r

o
u

n
d

 o
f 

S
R

D
s
 

  
  

 G
u

id
a

n
c
e

 t
o

 b
e

 r
e

-i
s
s
u

e
d

 b
y 

H
R

 
  

  
 C

a
s
c
a

d
e

 t
o

 b
e

 d
o

c
u

m
e

n
te

d
 

D
ir
e

c
to

rs
 a

n
d

 H
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 b
y 

M
a

rc
h

, 
o

th
e

r 
ti
e

rs
 b

e
fo

re
 

th
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
 M

a
y 

2
0

0
7

 
D

J
, 

d
ir
e

c
to

rs
 

a
n

d
 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

b
) 

In
te

rn
a

l 
a

u
d

it
 t

o
 t

e
s
t 

e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

a
s
c
a

d
e

 
[T

o
 b

e
 a

g
re

e
d

 w
it
h

 I
n

te
rn

a
l 
A

u
d

it
 –

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
7

?
] 

T
F

 

c
) 

R
o

u
ti
n

e
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
to

ry
 a

n
d

 t
im

e
ly

 c
o

m
p

le
ti
o

n
 o

f 
S

R
D

s
 b

y 
d

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
ta

l H
R

 o
ff

ic
e

rs
, 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 t
o

 S
M

T
, 

C
M

B
 a

n
d

 C
a

b
in

e
t 

M
a

y 
2

0
0

7
 a

n
d

 a
n

n
u

a
lly

 t
h

e
re

a
ft

e
r 

D
J
 

d
) 

F
ir
s
t 

p
h

a
s
e

 o
f 

n
e

w
 S

R
D

 t
ra

in
in

g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 t

o
 b

e
 

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

 

e
) 

S
u

b
s
e

q
u

e
n

t 
p

h
a

s
e

s
 o

f 
S

R
D

 t
ra

in
in

g
 t

o
 b

e
 d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 
o

f 
th

e
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 m

a
n

d
a

to
ry

 a
n

n
u

a
l 
tr

a
in

in
g
 a

n
d

 d
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 

A
p

ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

D
J
, 

T
G

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

21



 

1
8
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

3
 

E
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 c
le

a
r 

lin
k
s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 t

h
e

 a
c
ti
o

n
 p

o
in

ts
 i
n

 t
h

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

rs
’ 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

vi
e

w
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 d

is
c
u

s
s
e

d
 a

t 
D

M
T

s
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 t

e
a

m
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

 d
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
o

 b
e

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
s
id

e
 R

e
c
c
s
. 

3
 [

ro
a

d
 m

a
p

 o
f 

k
e

y 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
s
],

 9
 a

n
d

 1
0

 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

Id
e

n
ti
fy

 a
n

d
 d

is
s
e

m
in

a
te

 b
e

s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

7
 

T
G

 

b
) 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

 
A

p
ri
l 
2

0
0

7
 

D
ir
e

c
to

rs
 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 
H

e
a

d
 o

f 
H

R
 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 T
B

A
 

F
o

llo
w

in
g
 t

h
e

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

 c
yc

le
 o

f 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 C

h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u

ti
ve

, 
D

ir
e

c
to

rs
 w

ill
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 t
h

e
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 i
te

m
s
 o

n
 t

h
e

ir
 D

M
T

 a
g
e

n
d

a
s
 

 

22



 

1
9
 -

 

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
 1

4
 

P
la

c
e

 m
o

re
 e

m
p

h
a

s
is

 o
n

 t
h

e
 c

e
le

b
ra

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 r
e

w
a

rd
in

g
 o

f 
s
u

c
c
e

s
s
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
E

 

T
o

 f
e

a
tu

re
 i
n

 a
ll 

a
s
p

e
c
ts

 o
f 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 w

id
e

r 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 t
o

 d
e

ve
lo

p
in

g
 r

e
w

a
rd

s
 a

n
d

 r
e

c
o

g
n

it
io

n
. 

T
o

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 t
h

e
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 r

e
s
u

lt
s
 o

f 
c
u

s
to

m
e

r 
fe

e
d

b
a

c
k
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

T
IM

E
S

C
A

L
E

 
L

E
A

D
 

a
) 

F
e

a
tu

re
 h

ig
h

lig
h

ts
 o

f 
g
o

o
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
n

 t
h

e
 I

P
R

 a
n

d
 i
n

 a
ll 

o
th

e
r 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
s
, 

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

ly
 a

n
d

 i
n

 d
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
 

Im
m

e
d

ia
te

ly
 

T
G

, 
d

ir
e

c
to

rs
, 

h
e

a
d

s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 

b
) 

D
e

ve
lo

p
 f

u
ll 

re
w

a
rd

s
 a

n
d

 r
e

c
o

g
n

it
io

n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 

[T
o

 b
e

 d
is

c
u

s
s
e

d
 w

it
h

 D
J
 a

n
d

 R
B

 –
 l
in

k
 t

o
 d

ri
v
e

 t
o

 g
a

in
 

a
w

a
rd

s
] 

D
J
, 

R
B

 

P
R

O
G

R
E

S
S

 

  

23



24



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

David Powell on 01432 383173 

FINANCIALSTRATEGYUPDATE0.doc  

FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE STRATEGY AND FINANCE 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2006 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To note the update to the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) and any 
comments from the Strategic Monitoring Committee on 15th January 2007. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision. 

Recommendation 

THAT the attached Financial Strategy update along with any comments from Strategic 
Monitoring Committee be noted. 

Reasons 

The Cabinet approved the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy on 26th October 
2006.  The report updates the position presented at that time with particular reference to 
emerging areas of pressure for the 2007/08 budget. 

Considerations 

1. The Medium Term Financial Management Strategy was the subject of widescale 
consultation before it was approved by Cabinet on 26th October.  At the same Cabinet 
meeting the Directors Three-Year service proposals were also considered; the 
MTFMS played a key role in setting the context for these proposals. 

2. The MTFMS places emphasis on affordability and sustainability.  It is for this reason 
that it is necessary to keep Cabinet informed of emerging pressures as well as 
remedies to meet these risks in the run up to setting the 2007/08 budget.  This will 
ensure a balanced budget is set by the Council on 9th March. 

3. The report draws Cabinet’s attention to a key risk around the timing of savings to be 
made by the Herefordshire Connects programme.  The MTFMS assumes £5.8m 
savings in 2007/08 to meet the Council’s ambitious programme of change to improve 
services and deliver the financial capacity needed to release investment for key 
priorities.  The attached report outlines remedies to ensure this area of risk is 
addressed if the savings contained in the MTFMS are delayed. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

25



4. The report also covers Directorate Base Budgets for 2007/08 and confirms the 
financial planning assumptions arrived at in order to maintain the Council’s finances on 
a secure footing.  These guidelines are tight as they reflect a bleak outlook for local 
government finance arising out of the forthcoming announcement of Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR 07). Corporate Management Board has confirmed 
Directorates will operate within these guidelines. 

5. The report sets out already approved Invest to Save and Invest to Mitigate proposals.  
These were covered in the Three Year Proposals to Cabinet on 26th October. 

6. The capital proposals contained in the attached report are those seeking consideration 
for funding unsupported Prudential Borrowing. 

Risk Management 

The MTFMS includes reference to corporate risks and the management action to mitigate 
them. 

Consultees 

The MTFMS was the subject of widespread consultation and the attached report was 
presented to Strategic Monitoring Committee on 15th January. 

Background Papers 

Medium Term Financial Management Strategy. 

26



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 15TH JANUARY 2007 

Further information on this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services 01432 383173 

 FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE 

Report By: DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES  

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To update Strategic Monitoring Committee on the Medium-Term Financial 
Management Strategy (MTFMS), with particular reference to emerging areas of 
pressure for the 2007/08 budget. The report also outlines remedies to meet these 
areas of risk.  The report sets out already approved Invest to Save and Invest to 
Mitigate proposals, Directorate base budgets and capital investment proposals. It 
therefore provides the context for the draft Annual Operating Plan 2007/08, which is 
to be discussed elsewhere on the agenda. 

2. The report covers four separate but linked areas: 

Section 1 – Update of the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy  

Section 2 – Directorate Base Budgets for 2007/08 
 
Section 3 – Invest to Save/Invest to Mitigate Proposals  
 
Section 4 – Capital Spending Proposals 

Financial Implications 

3. These are covered in the report and flow from the parameters of the MTFMS. 

Background 

4. The Medium-Term Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) provides the financial 
framework for making sure cash resources follow corporate priorities.  On 16th 
October 2006 Strategic Monitoring Committee (SMC) received the draft Corporate 
Plan for 2007/10 and associated strategic budget proposals.  The Cabinet approved 
these documents on 26th October 2006. 

5. Herefordshire’s financial position is shaped by national policy.  This context leads to 
the inevitable conclusion that local government’s proportion of public spending will 
contract as the Government’s priorities are in areas, such as health, that lie outside 
of its remit.  In addition, any resources to honour a commitment to increase 
Education funding will be passported to schools via the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).   

6.   The Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 will cover the national 
three-year spending plans to take effect from 2008/09.  The outlook continues to look 

27



          
 

 

bleak, with a nil growth forecast for local government.  This will be coupled with 
continued tight control on Council Tax increases, and an expectation that growth in 
priority services will be secured through greater efficiency, including that to be 
secured by closer joint working and service provision with other public bodies.   
Indications are that Government will be looking to secure at least 3% efficiency 
savings from local government. 

7. The financial guidelines used to develop the proposals reviewed by SMC and 
Cabinet in October reflected the available evidence about future national funding.  
They have therefore enabled us to integrate our three-year corporate, service and 
financial planning, and to align them with the Government’s move to three-year 
financial settlements.  As a result, the guidelines were tough but manageable, 
especially given a context that has seen the Council deliver overall underspends on 
the revenue account in recent years.  They led to undertakings from the executive to 
deliver significantly increased outputs and outcomes within base budgets.  Moreover, 
they made it possible to concentrate discretionary additional investment on spend-to-
save and spend-to-mitigate proposals that will enable the Council to deliver greatly 
improved and more efficient services to vulnerable children and young people as well 
as to older people and adults with learning disabilities. 

8. A key element of Herefordshire’s new approach to financial management is ensuring 
clarity and transparency around all financial policy and resources, including the use 
of general and specific reserves.  This approach ensures known financial risks not 
allowed for in base budget are covered.  In addition the Council has a number of key 
policies being delivered to support service redesign and enhancement.  It is 
appropriate that our financial management ensures these can still be delivered even 
if the timing of delivery changes. 

9. The likely financial position for 2007/08 was already outlined by central Government 
because this is the second year of a two-year settlement.  Even so, the recent 
provisional announcement produces a very tight set of financial circumstances for the 
Council. The overall position for Formula Grant for Herefordshire based on a year on 
year assessment is a cash increase of only 2.4%.  This must fund all inflation, service 
development and increased demand across the Council.   

10. In view of the medium-term financial outlook described above, it is essential that 
decisions in respect of 2007/08 are sustainable in subsequent years. 

Section 1 – Update of the Medium Term Financial 
Management Strategy 

Herefordshire Connects 

11. As already indicated, the new approach to financial management places even greater 
 emphasis on risk management when planning the Council’s finances.  The MTFMS 
 agreed by Cabinet on 26th October 2006, outlined the Council’s ambitious 
 programme of change to improve services and deliver the financial capacity needed 
 to release investment for key priorities in the future. 

12. As the Council’s strategic transformation programme, Herefordshire Connects is key 
 to ensuring resources are released.  The procurement process is underway and the 
 programme will address service improvements, whilst recognising future financial 
 constraints.  It requires substantial investment in staff and support systems but will 
 deliver net overall savings for reinvestment.  The outline financial appraisal promised 

28



          
 

 

 the likelihood of significant financial savings from 2007/08 onwards.  The delivery of 
 Herefordshire Connects assumes even greater importance as it closely aligns with 
 the tight, 3 year settlement starting from 2008/09 that is expected as part of the 
 Comprehensive Spending Review 2007. 

13. The summary financial position for Herefordshire Connects contained within the 
 MTFMS is as follows: 

 2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2010/11 
£000 

Revenue Costs  1,866 (506) (280) 

Revenue Savings (5,800) (4,800) (800) (350) 

Capital Financings Costs 1,336 1,086 (82) (82) 

 

14. The above indicates the key role that savings produced by Herefordshire Connects 
 will make to the Council’s overall financial position.  Over the four financial years 
 from 2007/08 revenue savings total £11.75m but the profile is not even, with the 
 majority of savings being made in the first two years.  Within those two years the key 
 year is 2007/08, with an estimated £5.8m to be saved.  To help meet any possible 
 delays  the Council has already set aside £1.5m in the MTFMS approved on 26th 
 October 2006.   The level of importance attached to this project means that it is 
 prudent to produce financial plans that include alternative options for the £5.8m 
 savings in 2007/08. By doing so, the Council can still deliver a balanced budget and 
 meet policy commitments even if the projects suffers slippage.  It is anticipated the 
 £1.5m  already set aside will help bridge the gap. 

15. The capital financing costs for Herefordshire Connects are outlined in the above 
 table but, for project delivery purposes, it is appropriate that these are not adjusted.  
 The project’s scale and timing means that capital commitments are assumed to be 
 needed in the years outlined in the MTFMS approved by Cabinet on 26th October 
 2006. 

Other Potential Financial “Hotspots” 

16. The MTFMS is the financial context for ensuring we can deliver service improvement 
 within a stable environment.  As a framework document the MTFMS needs to be 
 flexible so that it can adapt to changes in the local government financial environment. 
 It also needs to indicate potential remedies to ensure our aspirations and policies 
 remain both affordable and sustainable in the event that unavoidable additional 
 pressures require funding. 

17. Since the MTFMS was agreed by Cabinet, some areas affecting our finances need to 
 be reflected in our updated financial plans.  One such area is the proposed Council 
 Tax base for 2007/08.  The number of dwellings used to generate Council Tax for the 
 forthcoming year is based on known housing developments.  It now appears that 
 these  have not progressed as quickly as expected, meaning that the MTFMS 
 requires adjustment.  Historically, Herefordshire has seen an in-year surplus of 
 Council Tax,  which has been used to help offset the subsequent year’s Tax 
 requirement.  It is also prudent to reduce future surpluses until it is evident that the 

29



          
 

 

 overall surplus returns to its previous level.  The Unitary Development Plan confirms 
 new housing will be required but the timing of any developments affects levels of 
 Council Tax income. 

18. The Accommodation Strategy is included in the current MTFMS with a capital 
 financing cost requirement of £146k in 2007/08.  The requirement increases to £254k 
 and £492k for 2008/09 and 2009/10 respectively before realising a saving of £133k in 
 2010/11.  The recent developments around the strategy (with a requirement to revisit 
 the current proposals) means that the project will slip.  As a result the £146k will now 
 become a requirement in 2008/09 with a consequent one-year movement of 
 expenditure for these  years included in the current MTFMS.  As a result £146k can 
 make a one-off contribution to meeting other adjustments in 2007/08. 

19. The Council has developed an ambitious improvement plan for the next 3-year period 
as outlined in the draft Corporate Plan for 2007-2010. Three parts of the organisation 
have been identified as requiring additional capacity:  Corporate and Customer 
Services Directorate; Resources Directorate and Human Resources.  This is 
estimated to cost £400k and covers such areas as strategic asset management. 

20. Another area requiring adjustment is around the Customer Services Strategy. This 
 sets out very clearly the Council’s aspirations for customer contact and handling. The 
 document is a key part for the delivery of the improvement agenda and sets out the 
 areas where the Council is failing to meet its aspirations. It also covers the role of 
 customer satisfaction (an increasingly important part in the post CPA inspection 
 regime) and the technology and process changes required to fulfil customer 
 expectations.  As a result the fundamental principles on which the Customer Service 
 Division was established are as follows: 

• That the question should be “what can be delivered through the front line, not 
what cannot”; and 

• At the point of delivery staff are designated as customer services advisors, not 
attached to any particular service area. 

21. In terms of the staffing complement required, the only resource available for this is to 
 transfer staff and related budgets from existing service areas into the Customer 
 Service Division.  Over the next two years services will, therefore, progressively 
 transfer into the Customer Service Division.  However, it is evident it will be 
 necessary to resource at a level close to its final staffing complement as soon as 
 possible. Experience from other authorities in the West Midlands suggests that 
 significant additional demand will be stimulated by the new customer-facing services 
 and contact centre.  For example, Coventry, anticipated increased demand of 30%, 
 but it was in fact 78%. 

22. There is therefore both a short-term and a medium-term resourcing issue.  The short-
 term relates to the period between now and the end of the current financial year; 
 work undertaken by Resources and Corporate & Customer Services indicates that 
 this can be absorbed.   

23. The overall medium-term funding shortfall, which will exist during 2007/08 and 
 2008/09 is £1.06m with £500k of the total required in 2007/08.  In the longer term 
 savings from the new services will eliminate this but these are currently being 
 confirmed. 

30



          
 

 

24. In addition the position around ICT has been the subject of review by Resources and 
 Corporate and Customer Services.  In 2006/07 a possible trading account income 
 shortfall may  be offset by emerging underspends in other ICT budgets.  The 
 position will be confirmed over the coming weeks. 

Financial Resources to Meet Potential “Hotspots” 

25. The above indicates that, should the Herefordshire Connects project suffer slippage, 
 there may be a need to cover up to £5.8m currently identified as revenue savings 
 from the project in 2007/08.  In addition, the other changes to the MTFMS identified 
 since October 2006 total £1.4m.  The following outlines possible remedies to meet 
 this potential shortfall: 

i) The MTFMS already includes a £1.5m reserve to meet any Herefordshire 
Connects slippage.   

ii) The MTFMS includes an additional £1.7m for the Social Care contingency 
fund.  This is a one-off being funded from reserves to meet the possible 
£3.4m overspend outlined in July 2006.  The revised position, (including the 
estimated Children’s and Young People Directorate’s projected overspend) is 
projected overspending of £1.7m in 2006/07.  This total can be met from a 
combination of the existing 2006/07 contingency of £1.3m and some of the 
£1.7m additional amount already identified as an increase in specific 
reserves.  This means that, out of the £3.0m total Social Care contingency 
fund, the balance of £1.3m can be used to support any slippage in 
Herefordshire Connects. 

iii) The Local Authority Business Growth Incentives (LABGI) Scheme rewards 
authorities that continue to encourage business growth, with the grant based 
upon the authority’s increase in rateable value over the previous calendar 
year.  The three-year scheme is now in its second year.  Predictions of grant 
increase are difficult because increases in rateable value are not consistent.  
The national allocation is £1bn over three years, with Herefordshire receiving 
£621k in 2005/06.  The Government remains committed to spending £1bn 
over the three years but recently announced “… that should business growth 
be significantly above or below forecast, payments might have to be scaled 
up or down accordingly”.  The outcome is that 2006/07 LABGI grants are 
likely to be scaled to a total spend of no more than £400m.  For Herefordshire 
this means a 20% reduction may occur in allocation.  The Government will 
announce details of reductions and indications of likely grant amounts in 
February 2007, but it is reasonable to estimate at this stage that 
approximately £1m will be received for both 2006 and 2007 giving a total 
contribution of £2m to the funding shortfall.  A note of caution exists around 
the LAGBI grant because Government made 3 attempts to get the 2005/06 
distribution right and may change it again if some councils are successful in 
lobbying for changes in their allocations. 

iv) The Council has an income budget of £720k for “cash transactions”. This 
represents interest on the significant amount of cash it holds and invests for 
varying periods of time.  The amount of cash we hold can go up and down 
depending on the timing of payments and receipts; it is significantly affected 
by the capital programme.  If projects are delayed, financial benefit is gained 
from holding on to funding longer.  The past performance of this budget 
indicates that the income target can be increased by £500k to help fund any 

31



          
 

 

savings “gap” because of any slippage delays in the Herefordshire Connects 
project. 

v) The Medium Term Financial Management Strategy created a budget 
management specific Reserve of £1.1m.  This sets aside money in 2006/07 to 
fund Directorate budgets (excluding Schools and Social Care) that are 1% 
over spent at outturn compared to their base budget.  As the 2006/07 
financial year closes there is a reduced probability that this funding will be 
needed and so can make a £1.1m contribution to the funding of any shortfall. 

vi) The preliminary work undertaken on procurement and efficiency issues 
indicates that savings are available to help meet a balanced budget position.  
The precise scale is not yet known, but it is clear that a minimum level of 
£300k should be available in 2007/08.  This covers areas such as more 
effective use of existing suppliers and looking for alternative cost saving 
options in areas such as car leasing. 

vii) The Council’s balance sheet reflects its relationship with the outside world 
and in particular its assets and liabilities.  Discussions with our investment 
advisors indicate that some adjustments can be made to provide additional 
income and savings around “cash transactions”.  This is not about ensuring 
we more accurately budget for investment income. It is reasonable to 
anticipate that this process will provide an additional £300k per annum and 
possibly significantly more. 

viii) The overall position of possible funding sources to meet any slippage in the 
Herefordshire Connects programme and consequent reduced savings in 
2007/08 is as follows: 

                                                                                                 £m 

a. Use of existing Herefordshire Connects reserve  1.5 

b. Transfer of part of Social Care Contingency reserve 1.3 

c. LABGI grant increase 2006 and 2007   2.0  

d. Increased cash transactions income   0.5 

e. Transfer of budget management reserve  1.1 

f. Procurement and efficiency    0.25 

g. Balance sheet review     0.3 

h. Accommodation capital financing cost   0.15 

TOTAL           £7.1m 

The above will provide “cover” of £7.1m against any possibility that the 
savings of £5.8m assumed from Herefordshire Connects slip into the 
following year.  It also helps bridge the gap as a result of the other revenue 
changes, totalling £1.4m, previously outlined. 

32



          
 

 

ix) The overall position on emerging pressures as well as coverage for 
Herefordshire Connects in 2007/08 is as follows; 

£m 

a. Cover for Herefordshire Connects savings in current MTFMS 5.8 

b. Reduced level of Council Tax Income compared  
to estimate       0.5 

c. Customer Service Division shortfall    0.5 
 
d. Corporate Capacity      0.4 

      TOTAL          £7.2m 

Section 2 – Directorate Base Budgets for 2007/08 

26. The MTFMS includes clear financial planning assumptions to help maintain the 
 Council’s finances on a secure footing.  These budget assumptions include the 
 following increases for 2007/08: 

Employees 2.0% 

Employer’s pension contributions (additional on basic pay) 0.6% 

Other Expenditure 0.0% 

Income (excluding Planning, Car Parking and Investment 
Property) 

2.5% 

 

27. The implication of the approach is that Directorates will have to meet inflationary 
 commitments through greater efficiency and strong budget management.   

28. The total for pay inflation allowed for in the MTFMS is £1.196m.  Income inflation is 
 £797k, giving a net increase of £399k.  This, along with the application of the other 
 budget assumptions outlined above, gives the following inflated base budgets: 

 Base Budget 
2006/07 

£ 

Inflated Base 
2007/08 

£ 

Financing Transactions 8,529,990 8,529,990 

Social Care Contingency  1,302,000 1,302,000 

Corporate & Customer Services 7,545,769 7,627,530 

Environment 24,361,460 24,427,430 

HR 1,379,140 1,401,360 

33



          
 

 

Resources 5,711,992 5,817,090 

Central Services 3,020,505 3,040,720 

Children Services – Education 11,311,800 11,311,800 

Children Services - Social Care 10,717,892 10,814,360 

Adult & Community Services 44,404,452 44,459,620 

TOTAL 118,285,000 118,731,900 

 

29. In addition to the inflated base budget, there are a number of more minor base 
 budget issues that need addressing if strategic priorities are to be achieved.  The 
 MTFMS outlined the issues and how they would be tackled 

• Queenswood Park – restore £25k base budget reduction in anticipation of a 
Cabinet decision to reverse its policy to introduce charges for parking: the 
shortfall will be met from balances in 2006/07 but will be included in the Medium-
Term Financial Resource Model from 2007/08 onwards (reducing the General 
Fund balance for the year by a corresponding amount). 

• Procurement & Efficiency Review – increase the staffing budget by £55k a 
year, starting from 2007/08, to reflect the full-year cost of the new Key Manager 
post: the shortfall in 2006/07 will be met from balances. 

• Herefordshire Matters – correct base budget omission by adding £50k to base 
budget from 2007/08 onwards to support future publications: the shortfall in 
2006/07 will be met from balances. 

• Chief Executive’s Development Fund – add £150k to base budget from 
2007/08 onwards: the shortfall in 2006/07 will be met from balances. 

• Housing Benefit & Council Tax Benefit (HB/CTB) Administration Subsidy – 
reduce anticipated grant income by £150k a year, starting in 2007/08, to reflect 
the 5% real terms reduction announced by the Department of Work and 
Pensions. 

• Service Level Agreements – set aside £100k from 2007/08 onwards for 
allocation in the event that budget pressures are identified by the proposed 
review of support services to ensure we have sufficient capacity in key priority 
areas, such as performance management, and to improve recharging 
mechanisms. Any pressure in 2006/07 will be met from balances. 

• Whitecross PFI Scheme – shortfall on amount included in Financial Resource 
Model for 2006/07 of £380k to be met from balances; and 

• Edgar Street Grid (Herefordshire) Ltd – increase base budget provision by 
£225k a year from 2007/08 for 3 years to take total up to £350k, so funding is in 
place for Herefordshire to contribute 50% of the running costs to support the 
approved business plan. 

34



          
 

 

30. In summary, the proposals above are as follows: 

 £000s 

Queenswood Park 25 

Procurement & Efficient Review Manager 55 

Herefordshire Matters 50 

Chief Executive’s Development Fund 150 

HB/CTB Administration Subsidy 150 

Service Level Agreements (up to) 100 

Whitecross PFI Scheme 380 

ESG (Herefordshire) Ltd 225 

TOTAL BASE BUDGET CHANGES 1,135 

31. The Three Year Proposals report to Cabinet on 26th October included a series of 
 spending pressures faced by Directorates.  The current financial framework is clear 
 that Directorates must fund pressures within their budget allocation but it is clear that 
 some significant issues have been highlighted. 

Section 3 – Invest to Save/Invest to Mitigate Proposals 

32. Cabinet on 26th October 2006 received a report on three-year strategic investment 
 proposals to support the draft Corporate Plan 2007-10.  The Corporate Plan was 
 approved in draft to provide the basis for the initial preparation of directorate and 
 service plans for 2007-10 and the Annual Operating Plan 2007/08. 

33. The report confirmed that the 2007/08 budget would be framed within the context of 
 these three-year strategic decisions, whilst having regard to the final financial 
 settlement from Government.  The report confirmed that the MTFMS had capacity for 
 increased spending over the years of the Corporate Plan as follows: 

2007/08  £3.6m 

2008/09  £3.9m 

2009/10  £4.6m 

34. It should be noted that the 2007/08 figure of £3.6m is after allowing for £1.5m to 
 provide additional financial capacity in 2008/09 and a further £1.5m to cover delays in 
 the Herefordshire Connects benefits realisation programme.  Any additional growth 
 will have to be managed within the overall resources available.  There will also be a 
 £1m Invest to Save fund available.  It is important to confirm that whilst there is a 
 total of £3m available for Invest to Save initiatives, £1.928m has already been 
 earmarked for the Herefordshire Connects programme. 

 

35



          
 

 

35. The Council’s financial management strategy indicates that the balance of £1.072m 
 available for Invest to Save initiatives will be allocated to projects that support the 
 Council’s corporate priorities and complement projects within the business 
 transformation programme.  The type of investment covered by Invest to Save can 
 either reduce future expenditure (spend to save), or mitigate the costs of inescapable 
 future demands (spend to mitigate).  Any spend to mitigate proposal must 
 demonstrate how existing performance standards will be at least maintained or even 
 improved. 

36. The proposals that were brought forward for consideration were assessed against 
 the Council’s priorities.  The report to Cabinet on 26th October 2006 said “On the 
 basis of earlier decisions by Cabinet and Council, as reflected in the draft Corporate 
 Plan, it is suggested that the Council’s uppermost priorities are: 

• to ensure that its arrangements for safeguarding children continue to be at least 
adequate; 

• to maximise the independence, well-being and choice of vulnerable adults, in 
particular through meeting the growing need for social care with more efficient 
and effective services; 

• to deliver major improvements in the infrastructure necessary for a successful 
and sustainable economy; and 

• to deliver improved and more efficient services to customers more generally 
through the Herefordshire Connects programme and good performance 
management across the Council.” 

37. Although these are the Council’s top priorities, there is also a requirement to maintain 
or, in some cases, improve a range of other services. This can arise from statute, 
from minimum thresholds for some services laid down by Government or the 
inspectorates, or from binding existing contracts. 

38. The proposals that came forward (and were agreed in principle) are outlined in 
Appendix 1.  The total expenditure requirement has been calculated in two ways.  
The first is on the basis that current charging policies for Social Care remain and the 
other calculation assumes a revised policy is implemented that increases level of 
charges to those who can afford to pay.  The overall total of expenditure requirement 
for proposals using the different assumptions is as follows:  

Proposed investment in 
Invest to Save/Invest to 

Mitigate initiatives 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

Using Current Charging 
Policies 

3,447 2,915 2,565 

Using New Charging Policies 2,464 325 2,246 

 

39. The table excludes any of the cashable savings that may occur.  These will be 
assessed to ensure that they are not double-counted as part of the Herefordshire 
Connects benefits realisation programme already included in the MTFMS. 

36



          
 

 

 

Section 4 – Capital Spending Proposals 

40. The capital proposals are linked directly to the Council’s priorities as expressed in the 
 approved Corporate Plan 2007-10 and further explained in the report to Cabinet on 
 26th October.  The majority of proposals appear to meet the priority agreed for 
 investment in  essential infrastructure for a successful economy. 

41. In order to fund capital projects the Council is increasingly dependent upon 
 unsupported Prudential Borrowing.  Whilst other sources of funding include grant, 
 capital  receipts, and DRF supported capital expenditure (revenue), Prudential 
 Borrowing is now the major source of funding.  

42. The funding position for capital expenditure in 2007/08 is very tight.  The position was 
 outlined in the MTFMS, which confirmed that the Council only has £4.1m of 
 unallocated useable capital receipts.  This is one of the smallest balances in recent 
 years.  For 2007/08 the potential capacity in the revenue account to absorb revenue 
 implications of further borrowing is also limited as outlined earlier in this report, 
 leaving a diminished capacity for new projects, unless efficiency savings can match 
 the additional borrowing costs.  The continuing work around asset disposals may 
 give further capacity in the future especially given recent successes and possible 
 future  sales.   However, it is not prudent to commit such funds to capital proposals 
 before  they are actually received. 

43. As part of the annual capital strategy new project proposals were requested.  This 
 two stage process sees high level proposals assessed in the first stage with 
 successful proposals going to the second more detailed stage.  Appendix 1 indicates 
 the proposals that were brought forward at Stage 1.  In summary 7 of these 
 potential schemes have been grouped together as requesting Prudential Borrowing 
 funding with one other (Smallholdings capital expenditure) seeking funding from 
 other  sources.  It should be noted that the Rotherwas Access Road is not included
 because funding from developers contributions will be sufficient to bridge the funding 
 gap on the project.  However the Council will incur financing costs as the developer 
 contributions will be received after the Rotherwas Access Road is complete. 
 
 44. The proposals currently do not fully reflect emerging work around capital projects in 
 market towns and Hereford City.  In Ledbury a number of complicating factors has 
 led to a piece of work being commissioned around a possible library development.  A 
 similar issue faces Hereford City and a £35k proposal has been made to progress 
 options on service provision affected by the Edgar Street Grid development. 

45. Appendix 3 gives more detail including phasing of indicative costs on the following 
 potential capital schemes: 

• Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill Site (2 projects). 

• Strangford Closed Landfill Site. 

• Leominster Closed Landfill Site (2008/09). 

• Ross Info and Library. 

• Herefordshire CCTV. 

37



          
 

 

• Hereford Centre (including Library). 

46. In addition the following is viewed as an additional bid because it seeks funding from 
 specific capital receipts: 

• Smallholdings Capital Works. 

47. The revised capital programme budget monitoring forecast for 2006/07 indicates that 
 there is significant slippage.  The revised forecast outturn as at 30th November totals 
 £51.8m, representing a decrease of £8m from the September forecast.  The main 
 reason for this decrease is a slippage in spending on corporate accommodation 
 (£3.5m) and Herefordshire Connects (£4.5m).  As a result, the expected use of 
 Prudential Borrowing in 2006/07 has decreased by £7.9m and will decrease 
 capital  financing costs to be funded from the revenue budget.  However, the position 
 on funding other projects is not improved because resource is not being released. 

 Alternative options 

48. The Three Year Proposals report asked Directorates to identify options for Invest to 
 Save.  Cabinet on 26th October, following consideration by Strategic Monitoring 
 Committee, took the strategic decisions about future proposals and the 2007-10 
 Corporate Plan.  Therefore this report covers the final adjustments.  No further 
 alternative options are identified but emerging issues and remedies have been 
 covered.  

 Risk Management 

49. The MTFMS includes references to corporate risks (business and financial) and the 
 management actions in place to mitigate them. 

 Consultees 

50. As the report is heavily influenced by the MTFMS, it is appropriate to confirm that the 
 initial draft document was subject to consultation with: 

• Corporate Management Board. 

• Senior Management Team. 

• Leadership Forum. 

• Strategic Monitoring Committee. 

• Strategic Partnership Board. 

• Community Forum meetings in October; and 

• Unison. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT  Strategic Monitoring Committee comments on the contents of the 
report prior to its consideration by Cabinet 

38



          
 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• Medium Term Financial Management Strategy 

• Three Year Proposals and Corporate Plan 2007/10 approved by Cabinet on 26 October 
2006 

• The draft Annual Operating Plan 2007/08  

 

39



 

 

APPENDIX 1 

i)  Spend to Save Proposals 

 Proposals under this section are those that require non-recurrent budget provision.  
 Proposals that came forward aim to improve services for vulnerable children and 
 older people. 

• Safeguarding and assessment – commissioning professional foster support 
for children. 

 To purchase professional foster care within Herefordshire to halve the number of 
 children, from 14 to 17, in 2008/09 who will be placed in independent foster care 
 outside the county. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

135 100 50 Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
682 

Cashable 
200 

Non cash 
426 

Cashable 
200 

Non cash 
0 

 

• Community Development Workers for adult social care [This was to be 
subsumed in the overall programme of improvements to adult social care – 
and now should be, since those were approved by Cabinet in December] 

 Population projections indicate an increase in numbers and in the proportion of older 
 people in the population as a whole.  A needs analysis carried out in 2006, indicates 
 that, by 2011, there will be a 42.9% increase in the number of people aged 85 and 
 over in Herefordshire.  These significant demographic changes will place increasing 
 pressure on health and social care to develop new models of care.  The Community 
 Development Workers will work within the community with local organisations to 
 develop and promote and range of low-level support services.  The workers will 
 explore opportunities for the use of community facilities such as libraries, clubs, pubs, 
 leisure  facilities.  These services would reduce the need for admission to hospital 
 and residential care and intensive domiciliary packages. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/9 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

45 46 47 109 127 182 

 

• Independent Living Fund (ILF) worker (Adult Social Care) 

 The ILF is a Government funded charity, which provides funding to severely disabled 
 people to enable them to live independently.  Individuals have to be in receipt of high 
 rate Disability Living Allowance and receive care services from the LA of a weekly 
 value of over £210.  Any amount provided by ILF reduces the LA financial 
 commitment by the equivalent amount.  The maximum provided by ILF is £475 per 

40



          
 

 

 week.  Currently not all eligible service users are accessing ILF and alterations in 
 care arrangements are not routinely reported to ILF.  Employment of a specialist 
 worker would maximise income against ILF by: 

• increasing the number of people applying for and receiving ILF 
contribution; 

• ensuring that any increases in care packages are shared by ILF; 

• ensuring notification to ILF of decreases in care packages is timely. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

25 25 25 35 35 35 

 

ii) Spend to Mitigate Proposals 

 Proposals under this section will need recurrent budget provision.  As with the 
 previous proposals these are to improve services for vulnerable children and older 
 people.  The most significant and largest programme to ensure the Council can meet 
 unavoidable future demand from older people and adults with learning difficulties. 

• Modernised, high performing social care and community services for older 
people 

 Following a major review of older people’s future social care needs in Herefordshire it 
 has been confirmed that needs are increasing because of year-on-year increases in 
 numbers of older people.  Without changes being made it would cost nearly twice as 
 much extra a year to provide relatively poor services than it would to provide high-
 quality, more efficient  services to the larger number of people who will need them.  
 The proposal also identifies  the need for parallel investment to increase voluntary 
 sector led community services.  The  investment in the overall proposal will 
 substantially reduce the level of increased funding  required if current patterns of 
 service delivery continue.  The proposal is also linked to a  review leading to 
 increased charges for those who can afford to pay. The following  indicates two 
 levels of investment required, one has an increase in charges and the other 
 (higher) one assumes current charging policies remain. 

 Expenditure Required 

 

Cost to the Council: 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

Additional costs if no increases in 
charges 

2,040 1,894 1,894 

Cumulative position 2,040 3,934 5,828 

Additional costs with increase in 
charges 

1,189 (245) 1,769 

Cumulative position 1,189 944 2,713 

41



          
 

 

Cumulative net cost of not increasing 
charges 

851 2,990 3,115 

 

• Modernised, high performing social care and community services for adults 
with learning difficulties (AWLD) 

A major review of AWLD’s future social care needs has been undertaken.  With 
increasing life expectancy there has been an effect on the level of needs to be met.  
If no changes are made to the current approach and levels of charges to those who 
can afford to pay it would cost over five times as much extra a year to provide 
relatively poor services than it would to provide high-quality, more efficient services.  
As with the previous proposal a parallel investment is needed, but this time in general 
community services. The following information indicates two levels of investment 
required, one has an increase in charges and the other (higher) one assumes current 
charging policies remain. 

 Expenditure Required 

 

Cost to the Council: 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

Additional costs if no increases in 
charges 

601 576 576 

Cumulative position 601 1,177 1,753 

Additional costs with increase in 
charges 

469 125 562 

Cumulative position 469 594 1,156 

Cumulative net cost of not increasing 
charges 

132 583 597 

 

• Integrated services and inclusion for young people 

 This proposal intends to enable better outcomes for young people with disabilities 
 who are leaving school and require ongoing support.  The JAR said that present 
 arrangements were deficient: this is therefore part of the JAR Improvement Plan.  It 
 provides for co-coordinating resources and creates more options for those young 
 people thus reducing their support needs.  The proposal requires the following 
 investment and produces some non cashable benefits: 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

18 20 20 Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
15 

Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
10 

Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
5 

42



          
 

 

• Commissioning and Improvement in services for Children and Young People 

 This investment is required to establish a Data & Performance Unit within the 
 directorate, as a prerequisite to gaining improved service and higher standards, 
 including through more effective scrutiny. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

100 0 0 Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
0 

Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
1,190 

Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
238 

 

• Safeguarding and Assessment for children 

  To fund additional social workers to bring provision in line with recommended  
  standards, thereby ensuring improvements in quality of provision and reducing  
  reputational risk.  Number of assessments to be increased from 220 per 10,000 to 
  350 per 10,000 leading to a reduction of children on looked after register.  Cashable 
  saving from reduced need to use agency staff to carry out assessments. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

300 300 0 Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
408 

Cashable 
375 

Non cash 
408 

Cashable 
185 

Non cash 
0 

 

• Integrated services and inclusion – increasing family support 

 Increased family support to address issues at an early stage before they escalate 
 into crises which require expensive intervention.  10% reduction in number of 
 children having to be looked after.  Additionally, proposal would help looked after 
 children to lose fewer  days’ schooling, as well as achieving a 2% increase in the 
 proportion of those gaining 1 or more GCSEs. 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

228 0 0 Cashable 
0 

Non cash 
187 

Cashable 
117.5 

Non cash 
277 

Cashable 
59 

Non cash 
0 

43



          
 

 

 

        

        

44



 

 

APPENDIX 2 

FINANCIAL PROFILE OF SPEND TO SAVE AND SPEND TO MITIGATE PROPOSALS 

Expenditure Required Expected Income/Benefits 

 2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

2007/08 
£000 

2008/09 
£000 

2009/10 
£000 

i)  Spend to Save  
 
Safeguarding and assessment – 
commissioning professional foster support 
for children. 

135 100 50 0 200 200 

Independent Living Fund (ILF) worker 25 25 25 25 25 25 
ii) Spend to Mitigate 

Modernised, high performing Social Care 
and Community Services for older people  

• Additional costs if no 
increases in charges 

• Additional costs with 
increases in charges 

 
 
 

2,040 
 

1,189 

 
 
 

1,894 
 

(245) 

 
 
 

1,894 
 

1,769 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

Modernised, high performing social care 
and community services for adults with 
learning difficulties 

• Additional costs if no 
increases in charges 

• Additional costs with 
increases in charges 

 
 
 

601 
 

469 

 
 
 

576 
 

125 

 
 
 

576 
 

562 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

 
 
 

- 
 

- 

Integrated Services and inclusion for 
young people  

18 20 20 0 0 0 

Commissioning and Improvement in 
services for Children and Young People 

100 0 0 0 0 0 

Safeguarding and Assessment for children  300 300 0 0 375 185 
Integrated services and inclusion – 228 0 0 0 117.5 59 

4
5



 

 

increasing family support  
Total without increases in charges 3,447 2,915 2,565    
Total with increases in charges 2,464 325 2,426    
Total Income    35 727.5 479 

 

4
6



 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 3 
2007/8 POTENTIAL CAPITAL SCHEMES 

 Bid Indicative Costs (£’000)    Estimated Capital financing costs (£) 

 
 

 2007-8   2008-9   2009-10  
 Future 
Years  

 Total   
 Life 

(Years)  
  2007-8   2008-9   2009-10  

 Future 
Years  

   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000      £   £   £   £  

 
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill Site - Replacing gas wells & pipe work of 
gas extraction system. 

          70            40            40            40          190             10          3,150      11,635      16,940      22,065  

 
Strangford Closed Landfill Site - Installation of leachate wells & gas 
monitoring boreholes to detect and monitor any adverse env effects 

          18               18             10             810        2,529        2,448        2,367  

 

Leominster Closed Landfill Site - Additional to original restoration bid as a 
requirement under the Waste Management Licence. The detailed scheme is 
to be developed. There would be expected annual revenue costs of around 
£100,000. 

      1,600         1,600             25                -       72,000    133,120    130,240  

 
Stretton Sugwas Closed Landfill Site - New gas flare needed to replace 
poorly designed current flare. This bid has specific legal and environmental 
requirements. 

          70               70             10          3,150        9,835        9,520        9,205  

 

Ross Info & Library - Extension & Refurbishment. This bid involves the 
relocation from rented property to a single owned accommodation site. Costs 
are currently estimated and subject to a more detailed bid to be based on 
current service requirements. 

        800             800             25        36,000      66,560      65,120      63,680  

 
Herefordshire CCTV - New links to ensure images are of highest standard to 
reduce crime and disorder. Possibility of funding from West Mercia 
Constabulary. 

          90            50            140             10          4,050      14,895      19,265      18,635  

 
Hereford Centre (including Library) - Consultancy on service provision, 
financial appraisal with funding opportunities. Feasibility work. 

          35               35             25          1,575        2,912        2,849        2,786  

       1,083       1,690            40            40       2,853          48,735    180,366    249,262    248,978  

              

              

 Smallholdings Capital Works – To be funded through capital receipts 947    947        

 

 

 

4
7



48



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research Manager, on (01432) 261877 

   

AOP0708Cabinetreportdraft0.doc  

DRAFT ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN 2007-08 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER 
SERVICES AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To seek Cabinet’s views on the draft Annual Operating Plan 2007-08, so that they can be 
taken into account in finalising the Plan. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision. 

Recommendation 

THAT the draft Annual Operating Plan 2007-08 should be considered, together with 
any comments on it from the Strategic Monitoring Committee, and Cabinet’s views 
taken into account in preparing the proposed final version for formal approval. 

Reasons 

Cabinet has agreed that, as part of the Performance Improvement Cycle, the Council should 
have an Annual Operating Plan (AOP): to give effect to the first year of its latest Corporate 
Plan and to serve as the basis for in-year integrated performance reports.  

Considerations 

1. In October 2006, Cabinet approved a draft of the Corporate Plan 2007-10 and gave in          
principle approval to associated three-year investment proposals.  

2. This draft of the AOP (Appendix 1) sets out what the Council would intend to do and 
achieve in year one of the new Corporate Plan to begin to deliver it. It has been 
developed in the light of the subsequent changes in the MTFMS reported earlier at this 
meeting and the associated budget implications, together with detailed work in 
directorates and services.   

3. The AOP will be finalised together with the Budget for 2007-08.  It will be presented to 
Cabinet in late February alongside the final version of the Corporate Plan and the 
proposed Budget, so that they can all be recommended to Council for formal approval 
in March.     

AGENDA ITEM 5

49



4. Cabinet may wish to give particular attention to the crucial issues identified on page 4 
of the draft AOP. 

5. A significant number of targets and other details have still to be completed. These are 
indicated on the text.  Some of the most important cannot be settled until negotiations 
have been concluded with GOWM on the reviewed and refreshed Local Area 
Agreement and approved by the Government Minister. This should happen in early 
February.  Others are subject to continuing detailed consideration. In particular, the 
final AOP will need to include any changes that result from an urgent review that is 
being carried out of the Council’s performance against BVPI and other indicators that 
would need to be improved to raise the Council’s Comprehensive Performance 
Assessment score and Direction of Travel Assessment.    

6. Strategic Monitoring Committee is considering this draft of the AOP at its meeting on 
15th January.  Its comments will be reported at the Cabinet meeting.  

Financial Implications 

The AOP has been designed to be affordable within the terms of the agreed Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFMS).  This consideration will continue to govern the content of the 
Plan as detailed budgets are set for 2007-08 and the AOP is finalised.  

Risk Management 

Having an AOP to give effect to the Corporate Plan that framed within the context of the 
MTFMS, is related directly to the Budget, and is clear about targets and key milestones, so 
providing a sound basis for in-year performance management, is one of the key means by 
which the Council manages its most important risks.    

Alternative Options 

The final, agreed Plan will reflect the Council’s chosen options for service and related 
expenditure priorities.  

Consultees 

There has been extensive consultation with directorates and services and the Herefordshire 
Partnership Support Team.  

Appendices 

Appendix 1: the draft Annual Operating Plan 2007-08 

Background Papers 

The draft Corporate Plan 2007-10 

The Medium-Term Financial Management Strategy, as updated by the paper Financial Strategy 
Update being considered at this meeting.  

50



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE 
COUNCIL 
 
OPERATING PLAN 
2007 – 08 
 
 

Action for a better 
Herefordshire 
“ A place where people, business and an outstanding 
natural environment will together bring about sustainable 
prosperity and well-being for all”. 
 
…Putting people first 

…Promoting our county 

…Providing for our communities 

…Protecting our future 

Quality life in a quality county 

 

 

51



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Contents 

Chief Executive’s foreword 

Introduction 

The Corporate Planning Process 

The Council’s Priorities 

Challenges and responses: the action plan for 2007-08 

 Part one – Making a reality of the Herefordshire Community 
Strategy 

Maximising the health, safety, economic well-being, 
achievements and contribution of every child 
 
Enabling vulnerable adults to live independently, and many 
more older people to continue to live in their own homes 
 
Securing the essential infrastructure for a successful economy 
 
Sustaining thriving communities, providing more efficient, 
effective and customer-focused services, clean streets, tackling 
homelessness and effective emergency planning 
 
Protecting the environment, producing much less waste, 
recycling much more of what remains and significantly reducing 
carbon emissions 
 
Improving transport and the safety of roads 
 
Promoting diversity and community harmony, and striving for 
equal opportunities 

 
Giving effective community leadership  
 

Part two – Organisational improvement 
 
Securing significant efficiency savings 
 
Ensuring that the Council’s essential assets are in the right 
condition for the long-term cost-effective delivery of services 
and ensuring business continuity 
 
Understanding the needs and preferences of service users and 
Council Tax-payers 
 
Recruiting, retaining and motivating high quality staff 
 
Embedding corporate planning, performance management and 
project management systems 
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 –   Revenue budget in 2007-08 by programme area 

Appendix 2 – Capital  programme 2007-08 

Appendix 3 – Glossary 

 

Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Foreword 
 

[To be added for the final version] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Neil Pringle           
 
Chief Executive 

 
Introduction 
 

53



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

This Plan set our what the Council intends to do between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 
2008.  The crucial issues are: 
 

ü raising our performance significantly across a range of national performance 
indicators so that we are judged to be improving well, instead of only 
adequately 

 
ü to the same end, striving to reach the harder standard for the Use of 

Resources Assessment, with the aim of reaching the highest level (4) during 
the period of the Corporate Plan 2009-10  

 
ü     delivering the first phase of our comprehensive Transformation Programme, 

particularly through Herefordshire Connects, so that we both improve 
customer services and can make the multi-million pounds of efficiency savings 
needed to deliver the Council’s priorities    

 
ü establishing a strong, effective and efficient Public Service Trust that unites, in 

one organisation, the executive functions of the Council and the 
commissioning arm of the Herefordshire Primary Care Trust   

 
ü further improving our now good performance in safeguarding children and 

young people; in particular ensuring that all assessments of children in need 
are carried out promptly    

ü implementing, with our partners, the first phase in the radical improvement of 
preventative and social care services to maximise the independence, well-
being and choice of older people and adults with learning disabilities  

ü making good progress with our key infrastructure projects for a successful 
economy: Rotherwas Futures and The Edgar Street Grid  

ü securing a consistently high standard of planning and performance 
management across the Council to drive continuous improvement in services 

ü putting in place, with our partner organisations in The Herefordshire 
Partnership, the arrangements needed to capitalise fully on  the opportunities 
provided by the Local Government White Paper, Strong and prosperous 
communities  

ü continuing to strengthen the scrutiny function’s contribution to the continuous 
improvement in services 

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2007-10 describes the demographic, social and economic 
characteristics of Herefordshire; it identifies the main challenges facing the county and 
the Council; and it shows what the Council can do to respond to those challenges.  On 
the basis of that analysis and the results of public consultation, it sets out the Council’s 
objectives, priorities and targets for the next three years. 

The Operating Plan has been prepared to begin to make a reality of those intentions in 
the coming year. 

The actions, targets and milestones described in this Operating Plan flow directly from 
the Corporate Plan and the ambitions we share with our partners, which are embodied in 
the Herefordshire Community Strategy 2006 – 2020 and the associated Local Area 
Agreement with the Government.In turn, all the Council’s plans for individual 

54



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

directorates, departments and services in 2006-07 will give effect to this overall 
Operating Plan. 

 
The relationship between the Herefordshire Community Strategy and these various plans 
is shown on the following page. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The 
Herefordshire 
Community 

Strategy 

Herefordshire 
Council’s 

Corporate Plan 

Herefordshire 
Council’s Annual 
Operating Plan 

Directorate Plans 

Service Plans 
(where separate  
from Directorate 

Plans) 

Staff Review and 
Development 

Sets out the Herefordshire 
Partnership’s vision for 
Herefordshire and how it will 
be achieved – with the details 
in the Action Plan 

Sets out the Council’s 
contribution to The 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy, including performance 
measures and targets for three 
years, actions to achieve them, 

associated risks and their 
control, and the resources to be 

allocated 

Sets out what the 
Council is going to do in 
the coming year to 
achieve the targets in the 
Corporate Plan 

Set out what each 
directorate is going to do 
over the next three years  
to achieve the targets in the 
Corporate Plan and the 
Annual Operating Plan, and 
other  key targets 

Sets out what each service is 
going to do over the next 
three years to achieve 
relevant targets in the 
Directorate Plan and all other 
service targets 

Establishes what individual 
members of staff are going 
to do to achieve relevant 
targets in Service or 
optional Team Plans 

Aims 
Performance indicators 

Targets 
Actions 

Risks & their control 
Resources 

 

 

56



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

The Council’s priorities 
 

As set out in the Corporate Plan 2007-10, the Council’s top priorities are: 
 

ü to maximise the health, safety, economic well-being, achievements and 
contribution of every child, with special emphasis on sound arrangements 
for safeguarding vulnerable children and sustained improvements in 
educational attainment 

 
ü to enable vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, to 

enable many more older people to continue to live in their own homes 
 

ü to secure the essential infrastructure for a successful economy 
 

ü to sustain thriving communities, including by securing more efficient, 
effective and customer-focused services, clean streets, tackling 
homelessness and effective emergency planning 

 
ü to protect the environment, including by producing much less waste, 

recycling much more of what remains and significantly reducing carbon 
emissions 

 
ü to improve transport and the safety of roads, including further reductions in 

the numbers of people killed or seriously injured 
 

ü to promote diversity and community harmony and strive for equal 
opportunities for all the people of Herefordshire, regardless of race, religion, 
disability, sex, sexual orientation, geographical location, income or age 

 
ü to give effective community leadership, working with partners to deliver the 

Herefordshire Community Strategy, including the Local Area Agreement  
 
To make these things possible, the Council’s organisational priorities are: 
 

ü to streamline its processes, assets and management structures, and secure 
significant efficiency savings, so as to keep down Council Tax increases 
and invest in priority service improvements 

ü to ensure that its essential assets, including schools, other buildings, roads 
and ICT, are in the right condition for the long-term cost–effective 
delivery of services, and ensure business continuity in the face of 
emergencies 

ü better to understand the needs and preferences of service users and 
Council Tax-payers, and to tailor services accordingly 

ü to recruit, retain and motivate high quality staff, ensuring that they are 
trained and developed so as to maximise their ability and performance 

ü to embed corporate planning, performance management and project 
management systems so as to continue to drive up service standards and 
efficiency 

57



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

The rest of the Plan shows, for each of these priorities, what the Council aims to achieve 
in 2007-08, and the key actions it intends to take to do so.  Many of the actions 
contribute to more than one of the priorities.  Where they are of particular significance to 
more than one priority they are repeated, but mostly they are described in relation to the 
priority to which they contribute most. 
 

58



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Challenges and responses: the action plan for 2007-08 
 

Part One: Making a reality of the Herefordshire Community 
Strategy 
 

Maximise the health, safety, economic well-being, achievements 
and contribution of every child, with special emphasis on sound 
arrangements for safeguarding vulnerable children and sustained 
improvements in educational attainment 

 
The challenge 
 
The overall challenge is to deliver, with our partners and across the whole of the 
Council’s activities, fully integrated and coherent services for children and young people, 
as required by Every Child Matters and the Children Act 2004. 
 
Within that framework, we must give the highest priority to ensuring that: 
 

- services are provided on the basis of a sound understanding of the needs 
and wishes of children, young people and their families 

 
- all children and young people are safeguarded, and enjoy and achieve to 

their maximum potential 
 
- there is enhanced provision of appropriate family support and early 

intervention through children’s centres, extended services around schools 
and support for parents 

 
- there are effective services and support that meet the needs of children 

and young people with disabilities, learning difficulties or who are looked 
after 

 
- the Council continues to work successfully with schools to raise the already 

impressive overall achievement of pupils across the county to even higher 
levels; and ensures that this extends to all Council maintained schools and 
all groups of pupils, with a particular emphasis on improving the 
achievements and life-chances of those with additional needs 

 
- services promote healthy living for children and young people and families, 

and reduce health inequalities 
 
- there is adequate housing for vulnerable young people (including those 

leaving care) and families 
 

- that sound arrangements for children and young people are established, 
linked with the proposed Public Service Trust  

59



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

The Council’s response  
 
The full strategic response of the Council, with its partners, is set out in the statutory 
Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-09.  A selection of those targets, milestones and 
actions where the Council is in the lead are in this section.  Those led by other 
partners are included in the section below - Giving effective community 
leadership.  

 

 
 BE HEALTHY 

We aim to increase the number of schools accredited as Healthy Schools from 81 to 
91 

We aim to increase the percentages of babies who are breast-fed at six weeks 
old: 

in the South Wye area from 33% [subject to confirmation] to  40% 

amongst teenage mothers across the county from 25% [subject to 
confirmation]  to 30% 

overall from 82% [subject to confirmation]  to 85%  

We aim for 11-14 year olds to have healthier lifestyles. [Targets for reductions in 
smoking, obesity, alcohol consumption and drug use; for increases in 
participation in sport, physical activity and recreation, the percentage of children 
eating five portions of vegetables and fruit a day; and for better mental health 
will be decided after a teenage lifestyle survey has been carried out in February 
2007]  

We aim to reduce sexually transmitted infections amongst young people by 1% 

STAY SAFE 
 
We aim to increase children in need referrals to [target to be set following service 
workshops in early February] 
 
We aim to complete [x%] of initial assessments of children in need within… [target to be 
set following service workshops in early February] 
 
We aim to complete core assessments of children in need within….[target to be set 
following service workshops in early February]  
 
We aim to reduce the percentage of children on the child protection register that are re-
registrations by [target to be set following service workshops in early February] 

 
By working closely with schools, requiring the recording of incidents and action to deal with 
bullying, we aim to reduce from x to y the percentage of 11-15 year-olds who say 

60



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

they have been bullied in the last twelve months [target to be added after the 
Teenage Lifestyle Survey - Feb 07] 
 
ENJOY and ACHIEVE 

- We will continue to ensure that at least 85% of three year-olds have access to 
good quality early years education  

- We will work with schools to raise to even higher levels performance in the 
top GCSE grades, in particular increasing from  [61.8% to 67% - subject 
to confirmation] the proportion of pupils in schools maintained by 
the Council achieving 5 A* - C GCSEs, or the equivalent, including 
English and Maths 

- By working in partnership with schools to tackle disaffection by means of the 
Behaviour Support Plan and the Behaviour Support Policy produced by each 
school, we aim to reduce school absences: 

- in secondary schools maintained by the Council, from 7.4% to 
6% of half-day sessions 

- in primary schools maintained by the Council, from 4.9% to 
4% of half-day sessions 

- the number of children looked after by the Council 
continuously for at least 12 months, who missed at least 25 
days of schooling during the previous school year, to fall from 
14 to no more than 8 

- We aim to reduce the conception rate of under 18s by 24% 
from a baseline of 37.2 per 1000 

POSITIVE CONTRIBUTION 

- By encouraging Duke of Edinburgh Awards and other initiatives we aim to 
increase from x to y the number of 11-15 year-olds volunteering  
[Baseline and target to be established in light of the Lifestyle survey 
in Feb 07] 

-  Through the implementation of our Community Involvement Action Plan for 
Young People and by progressively embedding the Hear by Rights Standards 
by 2010, we will develop and maintain a good understanding of the needs and 
wishes of children and young people.  The key measures of our success will 
be to increase from 19% to 28% the percentage of young people 
who feel that they can influence decisions affecting important local 
services  

ECONOMIC WELL-BEING 

61



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

- Working with schools and the Learning and Skills Council (LSC), we aim to 
reduce to less than 4.9% of 16-18 year-olds those not in education, 
employment or training 

- We aim to increase from 12 to 46 the number of young people who 
had been looked after by the Council in their 17th year who are 
engaged in education, training or employment at the age of 19 

-  By working with schools, the LSC and further education colleges to broaden 
the range and flexibility of the curriculum and available qualifications, 
including increased vocational options, we aim to increase from 88% to 
96% the proportion of pupils in schools maintained by the Council 
achieving 5 or more 5A* - G grades at GCSE, or the equivalent 

- By implementing our Homelessness Strategy and by securing, with partners, 
an increase in the supply of both temporary and settled housing, we aim to 
remove the need for the use of bed and breakfast accommodation 
for households with children  

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 
 

- Building on the work of the Children and Young People’s Partnership Board, 
we will establish [by – target date] Children’s trust arrangements with 
all the relevant local partners, linked to the proposed Public Service Trust 
between the Primary Care Trust and Herefordshire Council 

 
- We will complete, with partners, the development and implementation of 

the Herefordshire Common Assessment Framework (CAF), with 
targets set by June 2007, to identify children with additional needs and 
ensure that early intervention services are put in place 

 
- We aim to increase by at least 5% the number of families receiving 

support  
 

- Fully involving parents, carers and children, we will develop and implement a 
joint commissioning strategy with Health, the voluntary sector and other 
partners to deliver service improvements for children with learning 
difficulties and disabilities. Implementation of the strategy will 
commence in April 2007, when targets will be set. 

 

- We aim to increase by 30 the number of schools with an approved school 
travel plan, giving cumulative coverage of 82% of schools 

 
 

 

62



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 
Enabling vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, 
enabling many more older people to continue to live in their own 
homes 
 

The challenge 
 
The principal challenges for the year are to: 
 

- implement major improvements in the pattern and quality of services so 
as to meet future needs as efficiently and effectively as possible. Key 
elements in this will be - 

 
§ (i) working with communities and partners to develop to the full 

the opportunities for the rapidly growing numbers of older people 
to have fulfilled lives and contribute to society 

 
§ (ii) implementing, with our partners, the first phase of our 

programmes of radical improvement in preventative and social 
care services to maximise the independence, well-being and 
independence of older people and adults with learning disabilities     

 
§ (iii) establishing the future needs of 18-65 year-olds with mental 

heath problems or physical disabilities and developing 
programmes to meet them efficiently and effectively so as to 
maximise their independence, well-being and choice 

 
 

-    continue to tackle homelessness successfully   
 
 

The Council’s response  
 

We aim to increase the number of people of 65 or over helped to 
live at home per 1,000 population from 79.8 to x [to be proposed] 
by working with partners to begin the implementation of our four-year 
service transformation programme, including: 

 

•   reduced waiting times for assessment and care packages 

•    co-ordinating and develop a range of rehabilitation, prevention         

    and independent living services; 
•   establishing community wardens across the county  

•   expanding the Signposting Scheme;  
••••    piloting a local care sitter service  

•    expanding the provision of Supporting People services  

•    targeting further sites with Fire Service outreach workers  

•   continuing the Trading Standards Doorstep Crime Campaign  

63



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

•  increasing significantly the number of older people receiving direct 

payments to purchase social care  
 

By the same means, we aim to: 
 

- reduce from 34,691 to 31,222 the number of 
emergency unscheduled acute hospital bed-days in 
NHS hospitals occupied by a person aged 75 or more 
commissioned by Herefordshire Primary Care Trust [Revised 
target due mid Jan] 

 
- increase the satisfaction of people over 65 using home 

care services provided through Herefordshire Social 
Care or directly purchasing services using direct 
payments (measured as a reduction of at least 10% in 
the gap between the proportion satisfied in 2006 and 
100%, and the gap in 2009)  [Revised target due mid 
Jan] 

 
By working with our partners, and through extensive consultation with older 
people and other interests, we intend to have in place by [date to be 
confirmed] a comprehensive Older People’s Strategy, with clear 
targets and actions to achieve them  

 
Through the Joint Team with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) 
and implementation of the agreed plan to identify potential claimants, we aim 
to: 
 

- increase the number of people in receipt of Pension 
     Credit from 7,980 to 8,138  

 
- increase the number of people aged 60 or over in     
     receipt of Council Tax benefit from 7,117 to 8,061  

 

- increase the number of people in receipt Attendance   
     Allowance from 6,470 to 6,702  
 

Working with partners to begin the implementation of our four-year service 
transformation programme, using improved assessment tools, providing 
improved advice and support, and supporting more people to move into their 
own homes from registered care, we aim to increase the number of 
people with learning disabilities per 1,000 population aged 18-64 
helped to live at home from 2.5 to x [target to be confirmed] 

 
Working with partners to implement the Physical Disability and Sensory 
Impairment Best Value Review Action Plan and through the development of a 
new deaf-blind service, we aim to increase the number of people with 

64



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

physical disabilities per 1,000 population aged 18-64 helped to live 
at home from 4.8 to 5.1  
 
Working with our partners in a co-located joint service, with expanded early 
intervention, deliberate self-harm and carers’ support services, we aim to 
increase the number of people with mental health problems per 
1,000 population aged 18-64 helped to live at home from 3.7 to 4.4  
 

 Working with partners, and in consultation with service users and their  
 representatives, we intend before the end of 2007 to establish the future  
 needs of 18-65 year-olds with mental heath problems or physical  
 disabilities; and to have a clear understanding of the services and  
 support  programmes that will be needed to meet them cost-  
 effectively 
 

              By implementing with our partners our Homelessness Strategy Action Plan and  
             developing more affordable housing, we aim to decrease from 416 to 160  
               the number of people accepted as homeless  
              during a year in respect of whom the Council has a full statutory duty  
 

We intend to deliver the priorities set out in the Herefordshire Supporting 
People Strategy Annual Review [measurable targets(s)/milestones to be 
added] 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 

 

Securing the essential infrastructure for a successful economy 
 
The challenges 
 
It’s crucial over the coming years to ensure that Herefordshire has the right 
infrastructure to strengthen the competitiveness of its economy and so to secure better 
paid, higher value-added jobs.  This requires: 
 

- a flexible, skilled workforce  
 

- good transport infrastructure 
 

- a good supply of industrial and commercial sites  
 

- incentives to help new businesses prosper and grow 
 

- a focus on attracting and retaining knowledge and high-
technology industries  

 
Over the next twelve months, the Council has to work with its partners in taking the 
decisive next steps to deliver that infrastructure and the rest of the Herefordshire 
Economic Development Strategy 2005 to 2025.  

 
The Council’s response  
 
[Seeing if there are other key items of transport infrastructure that could be 
added]  
 
We intend to tender for the development partner for the retail element of the 
Edgar Street Grid [target date? Any other major milestones?]  

           
We aim for the Rotherwas access road to be mostly completed by March 2008, 
with a view to its opening in June.  
 
We intend to start phase two of Rotherwas Futures, tendering for construction 
by January 2008.  

 
Creation of The Learning Village in Hereford City [major milestone(s)?] 

 
The Market Towns Initiative [major milestone(s)?] 
   
By establishing a new grant scheme to encourage employers and by running a support 
programme of seminars and events, we aim to increase the number of people 
employed in technology and knowledge intensive industries from 9,900 to 
10,286  
 

66



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

We also aim to restrict to no more than 0.72% the decline in the total number 
of VAT-registered businesses [to be tested] 
 
Through these and other measures, we aim to reduce the gap in average wage 
levels between Herefordshire and the rest of the West Midlands from 0.87:1 
in 2005 [-06? ] to 0.88:1    

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Sustaining vibrant and prosperous communities, including by 
providing more efficient, effective and customer-focused services, 
clean streets, tackling homelessness and effective emergency 
planning 
 

The challenge 
 
We must continue action across a wide range of complementary areas vital to the future 
of communities across the county: 

- tackling the continuing problems of affordable housing and continuing 
successfully to combat homelessness 

 
- building on success in reducing the overall level of crime, with a particular 

drive to reduce the number of violent offences, crime related to the misuse 
of drugs and alcohol, and anti-social behaviour 

 
- working in even more effective and focused partnerships across all sectors 

to maintain and improve community services, including the full 
modernisation of those provided directly by the Council to make them 
more cost-effective and user-friendly 

 
- the fuller engagement of people of all ages, backgrounds and abilities in 

the life and development of their communities 
 

- maintaining our successful partnerships to ensure that all people are 
safeguarded at times of emergency 

 

The Council’s response 
 

By implementing with our partners our Homelessness Strategy Action Plan and 
developing more affordable housing, we aim to decrease from 416 to 160  
[subject to confirmation] the number of people accepted as homeless  
during a year in respect of whom the Council has a full statutory duty  
 
By implementing our Community Involvement and Communication Action Plan, enabling 
more communities to draw up their community/parish plans, making the best possible 
use of the county’s Community Fora, capacity-building and training for community 
volunteers and agencies, and support for activities that enable communities to come 
together more, we aim to: 

 
- increase the proportion of adult residents who feel they can influence 

decisions affecting their local community from 35% in 2005 to 40% in 
2007   

 
- increase the proportion of adult residents reporting that they have 

engaged in formal volunteering of an average of two or more hours a 
week from 17% in 2005 to 22% in 2007. 

                     [baseline to be checked – shown as different in the draft CP] 

68



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 
 
By working in partnership with other agencies and voluntary and community groups 
(including the provision of cleansing equipment for them to use), and by a targeted 
programme of deep cleansing and enforcement action, we aim to: 
  

- reduce from 18% in 2005-06 to 17% the proportion of 
relevant land and highways that fall below an acceptable 
level 

- reduce from 3% to 2% the proportion of relevant land and 
highways from which unacceptable levels of graffiti are 
visible 

- reduce from 2% to 1% the proportion of land and highways 
from which unacceptable levels of fly-posting are visible 

- maintain our current grade of 1 (very effective) in the year-
on-year reduction in the total number of incidents and 
increase in total number of enforcement actions taken to deal 
with ‘fly-tipping’  

- increase the percentage of people satisfied with the 
cleanliness standard in their area  

[there will be a three-year target in the Corporate Plan but no 
annual target in the AOP, although we will report annually on 
the basis of  the Annual Satisfaction Survey] 
 

- increase from 90% in 2005-06 to 95% the percentage of 
abandoned vehicles removed within 24 hours from the point 
where the Council is legally entitled to remove the vehicle 

 
Through the implementation of the Herefordshire Community Safety and Drugs 
Partnership Strategy, the Hereford Against Night-Time Disorder Scheme, and the work 
of the Community Alcohol Service, including the Alcohol Referral Scheme, we aim by 
March 2008: 

 

- for the number of violent crimes to have fallen by 11% against the 2003 figure  

 

- for the number of criminal damage incidents to have fallen  by 20% against the 
2003 figure  

 

- for there to have been a 5% fall, compared with the 2003 figure, in the proportion 
of people who think that the following things are a problem:  

o speeding traffic 
o vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property or vehicles 
o people using drugs 
o people dealing drugs 
o people being drunk or rowdy in public places 

 
  

69



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

We aim for the proportions of survey respondents who find it easy to access key 
local services to be as follows (the 2005 baseline figures are shown in brackets) 
[baseline figures to be added]:  
 

- a library: 72% 
- a sports or leisure centre: 71% 
- a cultural or recreational facility: 57% 
- a local shop: 91% 
- a post office: [under review in light of the Post Office’s recent 

announcement of major reductions in the network] 
- a shop selling fruit and vegetables: 82% 
- a green space: 80% 

 
We aim to increase the percentage of adults who use:  
 

- sports and leisure facilities once a month from 25% in 2005 to x% in 
2007 

- parks, open spaces, play areas and other recreational facilities at 
least once a month from 41% in 2005 to x% in 2007 

- libraries at least once a month from 32% in 2005 to x% in 2007 
- museums or galleries at least once every six months from 19% in 

2005 to x% in 2007 
- theatres or concert halls at least once every six months from 32% in 

2005 to x% in 2007 
 

We also aim to increase the adult public’s perceptions of improvement in the 
quality of life in terms of each of the following: 
 

- access to nature 
- activities for teenagers 
- affordable decent housing 
- clean streets 
- community activities 
- cultural facilities 
- education provision 
- facilities for young children 
- health services 
- job prospects 
- parks and open spaces 
- public transport 
- race relations 
- road and pavement repairs 
- shopping facilities 
- sports and leisure facilities 
- the level of crime 
- the level of pollution 
- the level of traffic congestion 
- wage levels and the local cost of living 

 

70



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

[Baselines to be added from the autumn 2006 General Survey, the results of which 
will be available at the end of January. There will three-year targets in the 
Corporate Plan. Although there will not be annual targets, there will be annual 
reporting of how perceptions are changing on the basis of the Annual Satisfaction 
Survey] 
 
We aim to increase the satisfaction of adult residents with their local community as 
a place to live from 80% in 2005 to 87% in 2007.  
 
Working with our partners to deliver our annual programme of risk assessment, 
emergency planning and exercising, business continuity management within the Council  
, advice to business and other organisations, and effective communications with the 
community, we will comply fully with the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Protecting the environment, including by producing much less waste, 
recycling much more of what remains and significantly reducing 
carbon emissions 
 

The challenge 
 
Building on the strong foundations we have laid in recent years, over the next year we 
must further improve our performance in respect of: 
 

- safeguarding Herefordshire’s beautiful countryside as a place where people 
can live, work and enjoy, and which continues to be a magnet for 
responsible tourism 

 
- reducing waste and pollution across the county 

 
- our direct contribution from the way we conduct our operations 

 
and do so within tightly constrained resources. 

 
 
The Council’s response 
 

                We intend to adopt the Unitary Development Plan, providing consistent county-
wide policies for environmental protection and sustainable development. 
 
Through our maintenance of highway verges, school grounds, cemeteries, smallholdings, 
parks, open spaces and other landholdings, we aim to increase from 2 .59% in 
2005-06 to [target to be set] the proportion of Council-owned or managed 
land, without a nature conservation designation, that is managed for 
biodiversity. 

We aim to increase from x to y [baseline being established, then target to be 
set] the proportion of land designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest 
within the local authority area that is in favourable condition. 

We aim to increase the numbers for key species [HCS indicator; baseline being 
established, then target to be set] 

By increasing participation in the kerbside collection of recyclables, supporting new 
facilities for waste diversion and recycling and improving the performance of household 
waste sites, we aim to: 
 

- reduce the amount of household waste collected per 
head in a year from 521.7 kilograms in 2005-06 to 515 
kilograms 

- reduce from 75.93 % to 75.4% the proportion of 
household waste that is landfilled 

- increase the proportion of household waste recycled 
from 17.46% in 2005-06 to 18% 

72



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 
Through the implementation of The Herefordshire Partnership’s Carbon Management 
Action Plan, we aspire to see a reduction in carbon emissions per head of the 
population  
[Indicator and target under consideration; an additional indicator relating 
directly to the Council’s reduction of carbon emissions may be proposed] 

73



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Improving transport and the safety of roads, including further 
reductions in the numbers of people killed or seriously injured 
 
The challenge 
 
Over the coming year we must: 
 

- improve the condition of the roads for which the Council is responsible, at 
a time when recurrent Government financial support for highways is set to 
fall 

 
- build on our achievements by cutting road casualties even more 

 
- continue to do all we can to promote sustainable transport that serves all 

the people of the county, including those who don’t have a car  
 
 
The Council’s response 
 
By means of Local Transport Plan safety schemes, improving the condition of roads 
more generally and through road safety training in schools, we aim to: 
 

- reduce from 141 to x [target to be set] the number of people 
killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions   

 
- reduce from x to y the number of people slightly injured in roads 

traffic collisions    

We aim to reduce the percentage of adult residents in Herefordshire who 
usually travel to work for their main job by driving a car or van on their own. 
[Baseline currently being established through the General Survey; then target 
to be set]. 
 
Primarily by means of targeted bus subsidies, the provision of bus lanes and other public 
transport infrastructure, and by introducing park and ride facilities, we aim to: 

 
- control the increase of annual average traffic volumes to no 

more than 8% compared with 2003-04 
 
- increase from 3,248,935 in 2005-06 to 3,948,000 the 

number of passenger bus journeys a year  
 
We will measure people’s perceptions of traffic congestion [HCS and LAA indicator; 
three-year target to be set; no annual target but annual reporting on the 
basis of the Annual Satisfaction Survey]   
 
By providing improved cycleways, traffic and road safety schemes, the safer routes to 
schools programme, and highway and footway maintenance, we aim to increase the 

74



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

number of cyclists using public cycle parking facilities by 5% every two years and 
increase by x [target to be set] the number of cycling trips in a year compared 
with 2003-04. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

75



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Promoting diversity and community harmony and striving for equal opportunities 
for all the people of Herefordshire, regardless of race, religion, disability, sex, 
sexual orientation, geographical location, income, or age 

 

The challenge 
 

Over the coming year we must: 
 

- accelerate our progress against the Local Authority Equality Standard  
 

- meet existing and new statutory requirements to promote equality and 
eliminate unfair and unlawful discrimination in respect of race, disability, 
sex, age, religion or belief, and sexual orientation 

 
- continue the sound equal opportunities policies and practices the Council 

has established for the selection and development of its staff, and further 
increase the diversity of our workforce 

 
- develop our plans in response to the community cohesion requirements in 

the Local Government White Paper, Strong and prosperous communities  

 
The Council’s response 
 
Working with The Herefordshire Equality Partnership Board, we will complete by 
March 2008 our Comprehensive Equality Policy Action Plan and continue a  
comprehensive programme of awareness training, information sharing and networking 
with elected member, staff and community organisations so as to attain Level 3 of 
the Local Authority Equality Standard.  

 
We will review and reprioritise our programme of equality impact assessments. 
[add target dates]  
 
We will ensure that all Directorates and Human Resources have equality 
impact action plans that are realistic and achievable, and are monitored and 
reported against every six months [add target dates].   
 
We will keep up-to-date our statutory Race Equality Scheme, which will be reviewed  by 
April 2008, and our Disability Equality Scheme 
 
In doing all this, we will take account of the equalities implications of the 
results of our surveys that ask the public about ease of access to key services 
and factors affecting the quality of life, setting targets and actions 
accordingly. 
 
By reviewing the effectiveness of our recruitment and selection activities, and changing 
them where     necessary, we aim to: 

76



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

- increase from 0.89% [figure to be confirmed] in 2005-06 to X the 
percentage of employees from black and ethnic minority 
backgrounds  

- increase from 1.89% [figure to be confirmed] in 2005-06 to X the 
percentage of employees from black and ethnic minority 
backgrounds who are amongst the top 5% of wage earners  

- increase from 0.39% in 2005-06 to X the percentage of 
employees declaring a disability   

We intend by September 2007 to have developed our response to the 
community cohesion requirements in the Local Government White Paper, 
Strong and prosperous communities  

 

 

   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 
Giving effective leadership, working with partners to deliver the Herefordshire 
Community Strategy, including the Local Area Agreement  
 

The challenge 
 

The new Herefordshire Community Strategy to 2020 provides the foundations for an 
even more successful Herefordshire Partnership.  This is buttressed by the LAA, which 
provides the core of the Partnership Action Plan, with clear targets and performance 
management arrangements to ensure delivery.  
 
The Local Government White Paper, Strong and prosperous communities puts an even 
greater emphasis on local authorities leading effective partnerships in their areas to 
improve their communities and the quality of life.   The Government proposes new 
legislation to give effect to this.  
 
At the same time, the Council and the Herefordshire Primary Care Trust have proposed a 
trail-blazing Public Service Trust.  
 
The challenge is to take full advantage of these unprecedented opportunities to improve 
significantly the quality of life of the county’s whole population. 
 
At the same time, the Council must continue to maintain confidence in local democracy. 
 
The Council’s response 
  
[Add key milestones when identified for implementation of the Local 
Government White Paper] 
 
[Add target timetable for establishing the Public Service Trust] 
 
Fuller details are set out in The Herefordshire Community Strategy 2006 to 2020, and 
many of the key targets and actions are described in the earlier parts of this Action Plan.  
This section includes those where organisations other than the Council have the lead 
responsibility, albeit that in many cases the Council makes an important contribution.  

 
[Format to conform to rest of the action plan in the final version]  
Lead 
Organisation  

Targets 

Herefordshire 
Community 
Safety and 
Drugs 
Partnership 

Through the implementation of the Herefordshire Crime, Disorder 
and Drugs Reduction Strategy 2005- 8 and LPSA targets, we aim by 
2007-08 to:  (2004-5 data as baseline, unless otherwise specified)  

 
HCS 45  

- reduce violent crimes in Herefordshire by 11%   (LPSA target so baseline 
03/04) 

  
HCS 42b  

- reduce the incidence of criminal damage in Herefordshire by 20%   (LPSA 
target so baseline 03/04) 

HCS 43  - decrease by 5% the proportion of people who think that the following are a 

78



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Lead 
Organisation  

Targets 

problem: 
speeding traffic 
vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property or vehicles 
people using drugs 
people dealing drugs 
people being drunk or rowdy in public places 

 HCS 42c Reduce all recorded crime by 15%  
 

HCS 25  Reduce the number of young people (under 25) who are victims of crime in 
Herefordshire by 6% 

 
HCS 36  

Reduce re-offending by young people in Herefordshire by a further 5% by 
2006 (measured in calendar years) 

HCS 48  [Measure of Priority and Prolific Offenders Scheme – LAA PI] 

 
HCS 42a  

Reduce British Crime Survey comparator crimes by 15%, using 03/04  
baseline– LAA PI  
 

HCS 49a  To record no more than 600 domestic burglaries per year in Herefordshire 

HCS49b  To record no more than 1,086 vehicle crimes per year in Herefordshire 
HCS 50  To increase the number of Class A drug supply offences brought to justice in 

Herefordshire by 25%– LAA PI 

HCS 46  Increase the numbers of drug users in treatment to 720 

HCS 47  [Measure of Drugs Intervention Programme – LAA PI] 

 
HCS 51a  

To increase the number of calls to the Herefordshire Women’s Aid helpline by 
10% 

HCS 51b  To increase the number of domestic violence incidents reported to the police 
in Herefordshire by 10% 

HCS 51c  To increase the number of arrests for domestic violence by 10% in 
Herefordshire 

HCS 51d  To increase the number of sanction detections in Herefordshire for domestic 
violence incidents by 5% 

HCS  [Increase in the percentage of people who feel informed about what is being 
done to tackle anti-social behaviour in the local area – new mandatory LAA 
PI] 

HCS [Increase in the percentage of people who feel that parents in their local 
area are made to take responsibility for the behaviour of their children – new 
mandatory LAA PI] 

HCS 44 Fear of Crime new mandatory LAA PI 
 

Lead Organisation  Targets 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

 the new public health agenda Choosing Health 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [mortality rate from cancer for people under 75  – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [mortality rate from circulatory diseases for people under 75 – HCS 
PI] 

Primary Health Care - [no. of deaths per annum from chronic diseases – HCS and LAA PI] 

79



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Lead Organisation  Targets 

Trust 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [mortality rate from accidents – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [all causes standardised mortality rate for deprived areas of 
Herefordshire – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [percentage of adults who smoke – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [percentage of adults who consume more than the recommended 
intake of alcohol per week – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [percentage of adults eating fewer than five portions of fruit and 
vegetables on a typical day – HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- [percentage of adults undertaking thirty minutes or more  of 
moderate physical activity at least five days per week – HCS PI]  

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

Working with our partners, particularly in the NHS and the community 
sector, to ensure that parents get the advice and support they need, 
we aim to: 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- increase from 25.4% to 40% by 2008 the proportion of babies born 
in the South Wye area who are breastfeeding at six weeks  [CP, LAA 
and LPSA2G target] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- increase from 15.1 % to 30% by 2008 the proportion of babies born 
to teenage mothers in the county who are breastfeeding at six weeks 
[CP, LAA and LPSA2G target] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

-   increase from 41.7% to [target to be agreed] by [time to be 
agreed] the percentage of all babies in the county breastfeeding at six 
weeks [HCS PI] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

[Healthier lifestyles of 11-14 year-olds: 
- reduction in percentage smoking 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- increase in percentage participating in sport or other physical 
activities 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- increase percentage of children walking or cycling to school –  new 
mandatory LAA PI (check description and who leads) 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- increase in percentage eating five portions of fruit and vegetables a 
day 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- reduction in percentage obese 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- reduction in alcohol consumption 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

- reduction in drug use]  [HCS and LAA PIs] 

Primary Health Care 
Trust 

[Measure of sexually transmitted infections in young people – HCS PI]  

 

Lead Organisation  Targets 

Through the implementation of the Herefordshire and Worcestershire Learning and Skills 
Council Local Strategic Plan, we aim by 2007-08 to increase the number of Herefordshire 
residents aged 19 and over achieving: 

Learning and Skills - a Level 2 qualification, excluding manufacturing and 

80



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Lead Organisation  Targets 

Council engineering, from 1,738 to 1,872  

Learning and Skills 
Council 

- a Level 2 qualification in manufacturing and    
  engineering from 35 to 57  

Learning and Skills 
Council 

-  a Level 3 qualification, excluding manufacturing and 
engineering, from 825 to 878  

Learning and Skills 
Council 

- a Level 3 qualification in manufacturing and    
  engineering from 26 to 44  

Learning and Skills 
Council 

[Measure of basic skills – HCS PI] 

Learning and Skills 
Council 

[% of working age population qualified to at least Level 3 – HCS 
PI] 

Learning and Skills 
Council 

[% of working age population qualified to at least Level 4 – HCS 
PI] 

 
  
To maintain high-levels of public confidence in open government and local democracy, 
the Council will:  
 

-    overseen by its independently chaired Standards Committee and through     
     the work of this committee and  the Monitoring Officer, uphold in its  
      affairs the highest standards of corporate governance, propriety,  
      integrity and impartiality [SMART target to be proposed, e.g. 
adverse Standards Committee findings] 
 

-    through the work of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee and   
     the Finance Officer, uphold its financial and audit duties to ensure  
     good financial management and governance [SMART target to be 
proposed, e.g. satisfactory Annual Audit Letter in this respect]  
 

-   review its complaints and compliments process by [target date] to  
            ensure it is accessible and responsive and to avoid findings of  
            maladministration against the Council being issued by the Local  
            Government Ombudsman 
 

-   provide for all new Council members full induction training on the  
    responsibilities of being a councillor, Cabinet member, committee  
    member and of scrutiny more generally 

 
 

Working with the Herefordshire Association of Local Councils, we will provide training 
and support to enable the county’s town and parish councils to demonstrate 
best practice and be at the forefront of national developments   
[SMART target to be proposed] 
 
 
 
 

81



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Part Two: Organisational improvement 
 
Streamlining processes, assets and structures, and securing significant efficiency 
savings, so as to keep down Council Tax increases and invest in priority service 
improvements 

 
The challenge 
 

Over the next year we must: 
 

- make the first tranche of recurrent and cumulative cash-releasing savings 
under the Herefordshire Connects programme  

 
- achieve these savings without detriment to our customers 

 
- continue to modernise and improve the quality, accessibility and positive 

impact of our services on people’s quality of life 
 
The Council’s response 

 
We will implement the Herefordshire Connects programme  
[confirmation of the level of savings and key milestones to be added] 

 
As part of this, we will rationalise our front and back office functions  
[key deliverables/milestones to be added] 
 
Through e-procurement, benchmarking against other organisations, streamlining 
procedures and other initiatives, we will continue to improve the value for money 
we get from procuring goods and services. 
[key deliverables/milestones to be added] 
 
We will review our Accommodation Strategy, including the disposal of properties, 
the cessation of leases and the relocation of staff in the light of future needs for office 
accommodation.  
[key deliverables/milestones to be added] 
 
We will invest in order to maximise recurrent savings; in particular, we will continue our 
comprehensive programme of investment in ICT and meet the following targets for 
e-government:  
[key deliverables/milestones to be added]  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Ensuring that essential assets, including schools, other buildings, roads and ICT  
are in the right condition for the long–term cost-effective delivery of services, and 
ensure business continuity in the face of emergencies 
 
The challenge 
 
The Council must ensure that: 
 
despite the need for overall reduction in expenditure, it maintains a prudent programme 
for the renewal and maintenance of its key assets 
 
it has in place tried and tested plans and systems to maintain services in the event of 
disaster or other crises 
 
we continue to raise our performance as the use of resources to meet the much more 
demanding standards required under the new framework for Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment (CPA) 
 

The Council’s response 
 

                We will complete our new ICT network to make our operations more efficient and 
effective, with the network available for at least 98.5% of the time 

By disposing of some dilapidated property and bringing up to standard the buildings we 
retain following the completion of our Accommodation Strategy, we will raise the 
proportion of the gross internal floor space in ODPM categories A and B to at 
least X [target to be proposed]   

By embedding our business continuity plans for all parts of the Council’s activities and 
services through an annual programme of risk assessment and business continuity 
management, we will ensure that we comply with the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004, in particular so as to safeguard the most vulnerable people in the 
county    

We will embed risk management across all aspects of the Council’s work and take all 
other measures necessary to maintain our Use of Resources score at 3.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

83



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Understanding the needs and preferences of service users and Council Tax-
payers, and tailoring services accordingly 
 
The challenge 
 
As the Council strives to achieve more with less and concentrates available resources on 
priority areas, it must be more than ever careful to ensure that it roots all that it does in a 
solid understanding of what customers and the public need and want. 
 

The Council’s response 
 
Through our network of local Info Shops, the state-of-the-art Info by phone service and 
the full implementation of e-government, we will provide better, faster and more 
responsive services to individual customers, with full corporate 
implementation by late 2007 [Spell out measurable key deliverables/ 
milestones] 

By means of an action plan to define customer standards for individual services where 
they don’t already exist, the embedding of our new customer relations management and 
complaints handling systems, a programme to continue encouraging customer feedback, 
and a rolling programme of training for complaints officers and other staff, we aim to 
increase from 29 % to 50% the proportion of those making complaints who 
are satisfied with how their complaint has been handled  

By implementing our Community Involvement and Communications Strategy action 
plans, giving effect to agreed parish plan aspirations, the implementation of changes 
following a review of the Community Fora and conducting annual customer satisfaction 
surveys, we aim to increase the proportion of adult residents who feel they can 
influence decisions affecting their local community from 35% in 2005 to 40% in 
2007   

Through these means and the service improvements described elsewhere in this Plan, 
and also by enabling more communities to draw up town and parish plans, building 
community and voluntary sector capacity and enabling more opportunities for people in 
communities to come together, we aim to increase from 80% to 87% the 
proportion of adults satisfied with their community as a place to live.  

Through the implementation of our Community Involvement Action Plan for Young People, 
including the establishment of the Herefordshire Youth Council and the operation of the 
Community Fora, we will maintain an up-to-date understanding of the needs and wishes of 
children and young people.  A key measure of our success will be to increase from 
increase from 19% to 28% the percentage of young people who feel that they 
can influence decisions affecting important local services.  

Working with partners, and in consultation with service users and their  
representatives, we intend before the end of 2007 to establish the future  
needs of 18-65 year-olds with mental heath problems or physical  
disabilities; and to have a clear understanding of the services and  
support  programmes that will be needed to meet them cost-effectively. 
 

84



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

We will continue to operate robust procedures so as to comply with the Freedom of 
Information Act and data protection legislation, aiming for 100% compliance 
with the 20-day time-limit for responding to FOI requests and the 40-day 
target for data protection requests. n 40 days]  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Recruiting, retaining and motivating high quality staff, ensuring that they are 
trained and developed so as to maximise their ability and performance 

 
The challenge 
 

The Council has loyal and dedicated employees , committed to excellence in serving the 
people of Herefordshire.   But the ever-rising expectations of the public and 
Government, the fresh challenges of a fast-moving world and the need to work in new 
ways with our partners to achieve more with less, can only be met if we continue to 
have the right managers and front-line employees  with the right understanding, skills 
and motivation.  These must, therefore, be continually updated and renewed. 

Specific challenges are: 

- re-skilling for the new business process and behaviours required to deliver 
the Herefordshire Connects programme successfully 

- dealing successfully with the proposed executive merger with the PCT to 
form the Public Service Trust  

- as part of these, developing key skills in respect of effective planning and 
performance management to drive continuous improvement in standards 
of services across the Council  

- completing and rolling-out the workforce strategy for social care to secure 
adequate recruitment and retention 

- developing and implementing the workforce changes needed to deliver 
modernised, high-performing adult social care services   

- to maximise productivity and contribute to the drive for big efficiency 
savings, we must reduce sickness absence and strike the right balance in 
employee  turnover  

- even more effective two-way communications between employees at all 
levels         

The Council’s response 

Our Pay and Workforce Strategy will continue to be the comprehensive response to 
these challenges; it will reflect changing and future envisaged needs through monthly 
reviews, beginning in April 2007, by the Pay and Workforce Strategy Board  

Part of the Strategy is our commitment to Investor in People accreditation, which 
we aim to achieve for the whole Council by October 2007 

We will continue our comprehensive programme of employee training and 
development, basing it on a sound understanding of current skills and future skills 
needs, identifying the need for NVQs and other formally accredited training, and linking 
core skills to pay and grading. Success will be measured by setting targets for 

86



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

attainment and for monitoring progress against these targets.  [Confirm performance 
targets in final version from agreed Pay and Workforce Strategy.]  

In particular, we will deepen and extend our programmes to ensure that all 
managers are well-equipped to plan their services and manage performance 
effectively to deliver the Council’s priorities. Success will be measured by 
evaluating the impact of the revised management development provision. [Confirm 
performance targets in final version from agreed Pay and Workforce 
Strategy.]  

We will raise completion rates of SRDs from 94% to 95%, requiring directors 
and heads of service to have in place auditable systems to ensure that all 
SRDs are completed to a satisfactory and consistent standard.  We aim for an 
assessment that the systems employed are satisfactory when they are audited in  [add 
date] 

By improved management of attendance, provision of timely management information, 
and the active engagement of Human Resources in recommending interventions and 
improvement, we aim to reduce sickness absence from an average of 10.5 days 
per FTE in 2005-06 to 9 days per FTE in 2007-08.  

Through better workforce planning, including the analysis of skills shortages and 
national trends, by promoting careers at the Council in schools, colleges, universities, 
and at national events, and by improving our recruitment and retention procedures, we 
aim to maintain annual employee turnover at no more than 9%. and to aim for 
minimum acceptable levels of turnover  

we will pay special attention to the recruitment and retention of employees to 
ensure effective service delivery, with priority given to the Children’s and 
Adult’s social care workforce, through the development and delivery of 
workforce plans. We will measure success against the delivery of those plans, 
which will be developed by April 2007, and their impact on service delivery.  

We will continue to improve understanding and motivation throughout the organisation 
by implementing our Communications Strategy Action Plan.  We aim to:  

§ maintain a robust and measurable team briefing system that 
provides positive and effective dialogue between managers and 
their teams, achieving 150 team briefs by Sept 2007. 

§ establish an employee news package that is guaranteed to reach 
everyone across the council - achieving high scores for 
readability, relevance and credibility, aiming for a 70 per 
cent score in Nov 2007 benchmarking 

§ develop relevant and useful content for the intranet – starting with 
an online induction for new employees by June 2007 

 

  

87



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Embedding corporate planning, performance management and project 
management systems so as to continue to drive up service standards and 
efficiency 

 
The challenge 
 

The Audit Commission assessed the Council in late 2005 to be improving only 
adequately.  Effective planning and performance and project management are crucial to 
accelerating the rate of improvement.   

In the 2005 Corporate Assessment the Audit Commission confirmed that the Council had 
sound frameworks for planning and performance management but identified as the 
principal weakness that they were not operating to a consistently high standard across 
all departments. In particular, this had contributed to the shortcomings in respect of the 
safeguarding arrangements for children identified in the Joint Area Review, which have 
now been remedied. 

The Commission reviewed the operation of the Council’s performance management 
arrangements again in autumn 2006.  Its overall conclusion was that, “The Council is 
making steady progress in strengthening its….arrangements and in embedding a 
performance culture.”   

It went on, however, to say that the improvements were not yet sufficient to meet the 
standard to which the Council aspires and not yet embedded across all parts of the 
organisation.  It made a number of recommendations about how the Council could 
complete the job. 

The systematic use of project management is more important than ever, particularly to 
ensure the delivery of the Transformation Programme and the full realisation of its 
benefits, in terms of both efficiency savings and improved customer services.  

 

The Council’s response   

The Council aims to be judged by the Audit Commission to be improving well by 
2007 and to be improving strongly by 2008. 

We will: 

develop a clearer set of priorities – each with a basket of indicators and 
measures designed to provide a high-level picture of progress, beginning with 
a strategic public consultation in June 07; 

by April 2007, construct and communicate a high-level model that clearly 
identifies how the Council intends to assess and measure its level of 
performance and rate of improvement; 

from April 2007, develop and begin to implement a more consistent, strategic 
approach to embedding a performance management culture across the 
Council; 

88



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

ensure the fullest possible integration between the  Council’s planning and 
performance management arrangements and those of the Herefordshire 
Partnership; with  a detailed implementation plan to be in place by December 
2007and the new arrangements operating from April 2008  

ensure that members are integrated into the Council’s performance 
management arrangements, measured by an annual review of the operation 
of the performance management framework in October 

produce regular, high-level strategic assessments of performance trends for 
senior management, Cabinet and scrutiny, identifying barriers and levers to 
raising performance and delivering the Council’s priorities.  A format for this 
will be agreed by CMB and Cabinet in April, and operational by June 2007. 

improve the quality of the staff review and development (SRD) process to 
ensure that all individuals’ targets are linked to corporate and service targets   

Starting in 2007-08, we will begin the performance improvement cycle in 
April, so as to provide a sound basis for systematically achieving value for money 
across all services 

We will embed the performance management improvements being developed 
for Children’s Services and for adult social care [add SMART targets, agreed 
with C&YPS and ASC, e.g. dates for full operation]; we will also consider their 
potential value for the Council more generally   

We will put in place, as part of the Herefordshire Connects programme, a corporate 
ICT-based system to make much easier and faster the collection and analysis 
of all performance information for the Council and its strategic partners [add 
target date]   

Directors and Heads of Service will continue to be required to ensure that the 
Council’s cross-cutting priorities (see paragraph x above) are delivered 
successfully in their areas 

By means of our action plan to ensure robust auditable data, we aim to retain the 
unqualified status of our Best Value Performance Plan and ensure that none 
of our individual performance indicators is qualified  

The operation of the whole Performance Management Framework will be 
audited as part of Internal Audit’s annual review of the Council’s key 
processes, providing a sound basis for continuous improvement   

 

 

 

 
 

89



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Appendix 1 – Net revenue budget in 2007-08 by directorate 

 
[to be added once the budgets are approved] 
 
   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

90



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

 
Appendix 2 – Capital programme 2007-08 
 

 
[to be added when the programme is approved] 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91



 DRAFT                                                                                                               Appendix 1 

 

Glossary                                                                                           Appendix 3 
The Herefordshire 
Community Strategy 

The Community Strategy for Herefordshire. It sets out the 
vision, agreed by the Council and its partners following 
consultation with the public, for what the county should 
aspire to be by 2020, together with the objectives and 
targets to achieve it.  

Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) 

A three-year agreement with the Government to deliver, 
with the Council’s partners, higher levels of performance 
than would otherwise have been achieved.  This is 
facilitated by greater freedom and flexibility in the 
operation of Government rules, including the use of 
Government grants.  It is the core of the action plan for 
the next three years of The Herefordshire Community 
Strategy.    

Local Public Service 
Agreement (LPSA) 

A three-year agreement with the Government to deliver 
higher levels of performance than would otherwise have 
achieved, in return for pump-priming additional finance to 
help achieve the enhanced targets and some relaxation in 
regulation.  Achievement of the targets attracts substantial 
reward payments. 

It has been subsumed within the LAA (see above). 

Comprehensive 
Performance 
Assessment (CPA) 

The assessment of a Council’s current performance and its 
capacity to improve. It comprises four main components: 
self-assessment, corporate assessment by an external 
team, use of resources assessment by external auditors, 
and service assessment based on an analysis of recent 
service inspections, reviews and performance indicator 
results.  It is overseen and managed by the independent 
Audit Commission.   

Corporate 
Management Board 
(CMB) 

The strategic management board of the Council, 
comprising the Chief Executive, Directors and the Head of 
Human Resources.  

The Senior 
Management Team 
(SMT) 

The operational management board of the Council, 
comprising Heads of Services. 

Local Transport 
Plan (LTP) 

A long-term strategy to develop an integrated and 
sustainable transport system for Herefordshire 

Difference between 
/ and – i.e. financial 
and academic years  

 

 
 

92



 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Steve Martin, Corporate Policy and Research Manager on 01432 261877 

INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY:  
CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To report performance to the end of November 2006 against the Annual Operating Plan 
2006-07, together with performance against revenue and capital budgets and corporate 
risks, and remedial action to address areas of under-performance.  The report also covers 
the progress being made against the Council’s Overall Improvement Programme. 

This report is scheduled to be presented to Strategic Monitoring Committee on 15th January 
2007.  The views expressed by Strategic Monitoring Committee will be reported at the 
meeting. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision   

Recommendations 

THAT: 

(a) performance to the end of November 2006, and remedial action to address 
areas of under-performance, be considered; 

(b) there no longer be in-year reporting of most of the performance indicators 
that measure the public’s perceptions of quality of life or services; but, 
instead, that progress towards improving them should be judged against 3-
year targets, with performance being reported annually; and with in-year 
performance reporting of the things that are happening that should change 
for the better how people perceive their quality of life and services; and 

(c) the Overall Improvement Plan and associated Board should be closed 
down as soon as possible, but no later than 31st March 2007, and all 
designated major transformation and improvement programmes be taken 
forward under the umbrella of the Transformation Board. 

AGENDA ITEM 6

93



Reasons 

The Council’s current Corporate Plan sets out the Council’s objectives, priorities and targets 
for the three years 2006-09.  The Annual Operating Plan (AOP) is the detailed action plan for 
the first of these years, 2006-07 and has been updated for the purpose of these reports to 
include the indicators in the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS).  This report summarises progress in the first eight months of this operating 
year, including action being taken to address under-performance. 

Considerations 

HIGHLIGHTS OF THIS REPORT 

• There are now 13 indicators marked R and 27 marked A. 

• The indicators that have become R since the last report - to September - are: 

- HCS 15: No. of emergency unscheduled hospital bed days occupied by a person 75 
and over 

- HCS 16: No. of people aged 65+ helped to live at home (per 1,000 population) 

- HCS 30: % of pupils achieving 5 or more GCSEs at grades A* - G or equivalent, 
including Maths and English (LEA schools)’  

- HCS 35a: No. of looked after children who missed a total of 25 days or more 
schooling 

- HCS 42a:  British Crime Survey Comparator crimes 

- HCS 42c:  No. of all recorded crimes 

- HC 74c:  No. of adults with physical difficulties helped to live at home (per 1,000 
population) 

• There are continuing concerns about the indicators for crime and disorder.  Data has 
now been provided for many of the indicators for the first 6 months of the year showing 
performance below target.  Although West Mercia Constabulary believe that 
performance will improve before year-end, based on current figures it appears likely that 
many targets will not be achieved. 

• The indicators that have become G but were previously reported as R in the last report 
to September are: 

- HCS 40  ‘% of 16-18 year olds NOT in education, employment or training’ 

- HCS 50  ‘No. of Class A drug supply offences brought to justice’ 

- HCS 51d  ‘% of sanction detections for domestic violence’ 

• The number of families housed in bed and breakfast has reduced from 40 in April 2006 
to 5 at the end of November and those housed in bed and breakfast for more than 6 
weeks has fallen from 28 in April to 2 at the end of November.  (Explanation of 
performance against this indicator is expanded on in Appendix A (2) page. 6). 

• Children in need referrals continue to increase above target; this had led to a significant   
increase in the number of assessments but it is likely that not all assessment targets will 
be met  

94



• The overall revenue budget position shows a projected underspend of £0.37 million, 
compared with the overspend of £1.226 million forecast in the last report. 

• The revised capital budget forecast is £51.801 million, against a forecast of £59.803 
million in the last report and an original budget of £37.015 million. 

Progress against the Council’s Priorities 

1. Performance has been monitored for each indicator using the following system: 

  G Achieved, or on track to be achieved, on schedule 

 A  Not on track 

R   Not achieved, or not expected to be achieved, or no targets/milestones 
identified 

2. Analysis of performance by Council priority is detailed below. 

Judgement Priority No. of 
Indicators 

R A G 

Maximising the health, safety, economic well-being, 
achievements and contribution of every child 

22 2 2 18 

• HCS 40 ‘the percentage of 16-18 year olds NOT in education, employment or 
training’ was judged as R in the last report based on available data.  However, a 
significant increase in November in the number moving into education, employment 
or training means that this indicator is now judged as G. 

• An additional indicator is marked as A when compared to end September report.   
This is HCS 21a ‘the percentage of babies born to teenage mothers who are 
breastfeeding at 6 weeks’, where outturn data to September shows that performance 
is below target.  Although actions continue to schedule it is unclear whether these will 
now lead to achievement of the target. 

• The outturn for HCS 35a ‘No. of looked after children who missed a total of 25 days 
or more schooling’ shows that for the 2005/06 academic year there were 11 children 
that missed 25 days or more schooling against a target of 9.  The indicator has been 
marked R.  

Improving the achievement of pupils 7 1 0 6 

• Although exam results during the summer were better than in 2005, and progress 
continues in reducing absenteeism levels in primary and secondary schools, HCS 30 
‘% of pupils achieving 5 or more GCSEs at grades A* - G or equivalent, including 
Maths and English (LEA schools)’ has been marked as R because the target was not 
achieved. 

Enabling vulnerable adults to live independently, and 
many more older people to continue to live in their own 
homes 

19 5 10 4 

95



• HCS 15 ‘No. of emergency unscheduled hospital bed days occupied by a person 75 
and over’, HCS 16 ‘the number of people aged 65+ helped to live at home (per 1,000 
population)’ and HCS 74c ‘the number of adults with physical difficulties helped to live 
at home (per 1,000 population)’ are now marked R; they had previously been marked 
G in the report to September.  Many of the actions that contribute towards 
achievement of the target are starting to fall behind schedule, casting serious doubts 
as to whether the targets will be met. 

Protecting the environment, producing much less 
waste, recycling much more of what remains and 
significantly reducing carbon emissions 

5 0 2 3 

• The Council remains on course to reduce the amount of household waste collected 
per person and, through the expansion of the kerbside recycling scheme in October, 
the amount of waste going to landfill should also be reduced. 

• The 2 indicators marked A are HCS 55 and 57, Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
and key species.  Although the only requirement this year is to fully consider the 
indicator and develop an action plan to establish a baseline, these indicators continue 
to be marked A because it is unclear whether an action plan will be developed during 
the year. 

Improving transport and the safety of roads 8 0 0 8 

• There is no change in performance against this priority since the previous report to 
September; progress against action plans remains on track.  Outturn data will not be 
available until year-end. 

Sustaining vibrant and prosperous communities, 
providing more efficient, effective and customer 
focused services, clean street, tackling homelessness 
and effective emergency planning 

32 5 12 13 

• Many of the indicators contributing to this priority are no longer being reported in-year 
(see paragraphs 3-6), which explains why there is a reduction in the number 
indicators, marked R since the end September report.  Actual performance, however, 
is not improving against this priority.  Outturn data against some of the crime and 
disorder indicators has been provided that show performance to be well below target.  
Although advice from West Mercia Constabulary suggests that performance in the 
next 4 months will improve, there remains a real risk, based on current performance, 
that a number of targets are not going to be achieved. 

Promoting diversity and community harmony, and 
striving for equal opportunities 

2 0 1 1 

• Performance hasn’t changed against this priority since the last report.  The Council 
continues to make good progress towards achieving Level 2 of the Equality Standard 
by March 2007.  The other indicator, HCS 63 ‘the percentage of adult residents who 
feel that Herefordshire is a place where people from different backgrounds get on 
well together’, has been marked A because, even though the priority this year is to 
establish a baseline, an action plan needs to be developed to improve performance in 
the future. 

Understanding the needs and preferences of service 
users and Council Tax payers 

1 0 0 1 

96



• Training of complaints administrators continues, as does awareness raising of the 
impact that complaints handling has on the Council’s reputation.  The results of the 
BVPI General Survey in autumn 2006 should be available in time for the next report; 
these will show whether the target of 40% has been achieved against the indicator 
HC 68 ‘% of those who have contacted Herefordshire Council with a complaint who 
are satisfied with the way in which it was handled overall’. 

Recruiting, retaining and motivating high quality staff 3 0 0 3 

• Sustained activity by HR, working with directorates, has led to a lowering of sickness 
absence better than target.  This is also the case in respect of staff turnover. 

• The final indicator against this priority is concerned with Investors in People 
accreditation.  The Council has committed to achieving accreditation in autumn 2007, 
with an action plan being put in place to achieve this.  

Embedding corporate planning, performance 
management and project management systems 

3 0 0 3 

• There has been no feedback from the Audit Commission to suggest that the Best 
Value Performance Plan or any individual Best Value Performance Indicators will be 
qualified. 

3. Officers have given detailed consideration to whether it makes sense to report in-year 
against perception indicators, such as HCS 44 ‘the fear of crime’.  We have concluded 
that it does not because results are only available once a year and there is a better way 
of reporting and managing performance.  This parallels the approach of Government 
Office West Midlands, which has accepted that a number of perception indicators in the 
Local Area Agreement are to be monitored by tracking improvement at the end of each 
year (when annual survey results are available) rather than in-year. 

4. We have therefore excluded the relevant perception indicators from the assessment of 
whether indicators are R, A or G. 

5. The indicators are the Quality of Life indicators (HCS 60a-f), access to services 
indicators (HCS 59a-e) perceptions of anti-social behaviour (HCS 43), fear of crime(s) 
(HCS 44) and the indicators that cover residents’ perceptions that they can influence 
decisions affecting their local community and delivery of services (HCS 61, HC 69 and 
HC 70). 

6. It is, however, crucial that we are able to assess progress in-year in achieving the things 
that are likely to improve the public’s perceptions of quality of life and services.  It is 
proposed to do this by continuing to include in this report performance against such 
underlying indicators.  For example, in the case of the perception indicator Fear of Crime 
we would measure in-year performance by reference to how we are doing against 
targets for actual levels of crime, disorder and drug misuse and the actions being taken 
to reduce them.  It may also make sense to measure the actions being taken to 
communicate to the public the realities about the risks of being a victim of crime. 

7. Commencing with this report to end November, it is proposed that the indicators referred 
to in paragraph 5 above should no longer be reported against in-year, but instead be 
reported against at year-end, when we have the annual survey results. 

8. For the full set of strategic performance indicators, there are now 13 marked as R.  This 
compares to 19 in the report to September.  However, 6 of those indicators in the report 
to September are no longer being reported in-year.  To provide a truer comparison, if the 
indicators that are no longer being reported in-year (as explained in paragraphs 3-6 

97



above) were taken out of the September report, the proportion of indicators marked R 
has reduced slightly. 

9. The chart below shows the change in the proportions of indicators marked as R, A or G 
during the year. 

Full set of Indicators

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

M
ay

Ju
ly

Sep
te

m
be

r

N
ov

em
be

r

Green

Amber

Red

 

10. Details on each of the indicators assessed as R or A are given in Appendix A(1) and the 
actual templates assessed as R are at Appendix A(2). 

11. Progress towards the LPSA2G and LAA indicators, all of which are included in the full 
set of indicators above, is attached at Appendix A(3). 

The Council’s Overall Improvement Plan 

12. The Overall Improvement Plan (OIP) Board was set up early in 2006 to oversee the 
development and implementation of the action plan produced in response to the reports 
of the Corporate Performance Assessment and Joint Area Review inspectors in autumn 
2005.  The latest exception report is attached at Appendix B. 

13. It was the intention from the outset to review the need for the Plan and Board before the 
end of 2006: as a general rule, the expectation is that action plans of this sort should be 
rolled up into mainstream programmes within a year.  It has since been agreed with 
Cabinet and the Audit Commission that this would be done having regard to the 
Commission’s report of October 2006 on the operation of the Council’s performance 
management arrangements.  

14. At the time the OIP Plan and Board were introduced, the Transformation Programme 
was in development and the various transformation boards were not fully established.   
They are now in place and between them cover most of the matters in the OIP. 

15. Also, the key actions and milestones will be in the Corporate Plan 2007-10 and the 
Annual Operating Plan 2007-08.  These will need to include those in respect of the Local 
Government White Paper, the creation of the Public Service Trust and the action plan in 
response to the Audit Commission’s review of our performance management 
arrangements. This will provide a sound basis for corporate performance reporting. 

16. CMB has considered all these factors and recommends that the OIP and associated 
Board should be closed down as soon as possible, and that this should happen not later 
than 31 March 2007.   Thereafter, all designated major transformation and improvement 

98



programmes would be taken forward under the umbrella of the Transformation Board.  
The component continuing elements of the OIP and the new action plans in development 
would become the responsibility of the relevant individual Transformation Programme 
boards; or, in the case of matters that are more routine or have otherwise become 
established, be assigned as the responsibility of an individual director and/or head of 
service.  

17. But this will be subject to the strict condition, in the case of matters to be placed under a 
Transformation Programme board, that the board is governed and functioning effectively; 
that there is sound overarching project management across all the constituent 
improvement programmes under the Transformation Board; and that exceptions 
reporting is operating at all levels. 

The Children’s Services Performance Improvement Action Plan (formerly known 
as the JAR Improvement Action Plan) 

18. The former JAR Improvement Plan focused largely on the period to the end of December 
2006.  A large majority of the actions have now been completed and the success criteria 
met in respect of them.  This resulted in the document becoming largely historical.  The 
GOWM Board has agreed a new Action Plan that retains the outstanding issues of 
significance and the associated success criteria from the former JAR Plan. 

19. At the same time the current JAR Performance Improvement Action Group has become 
the Children and Young People’s Improvement Board.  Its work l focuses on the GOWM 
Improvement Board Action Plan and the priorities emerging from the recent APA letter 
and the GOWM Priorities meeting held on 13th November. 

20. The Children and Young People’s Partnership Board at its meeting on 13th November 
2006 adjudged progress against the Children and Young People’s Delivery Plan to be 
satisfactory. 

21. Since the last report, the purchase of a fourth additional unit of accommodation for care 
leavers has been completed.  Purchase of two further units is proceeding with 
completion currently anticipated for January 2007.  Nomination rights to four additional 
units, with support, are being negotiated. 

22. The number of families housed in bed and breakfast has reduced from 40 in April 2006 
to 5 at the end of November. The number housed in bed and breakfast for more than 6 
weeks has fallen from 28 in April to 2 at the end of November. 

23. The number of referrals of children in need continues to be well above target.  This has 
led to a 10% increase in referrals leading to Initial Assessments from the end of June 
2006 to the end of November 2006.  Over the same period, there has been a 12% 
increase in the numbers of Core Assessments per 10,000 population (aged under 18 
yrs). These increases continue to place pressure on resources in the Children’s 
Safeguarding and Assessment Service, to the extent that it is unlikely that targets for the 
completion of initial and core assessments undertaken within the target timescale will be 
achieved in 2006-07.  The final outturn for initial assessment completion (DIS1704) is 
likely to be 65% against a target of 75%; for core assessment completion (PAF C64) it is 
expected to be nearer to 70% than the target of 80%. 

24. Actions are being taken to ensure that performance is maximised.   This is influenced 
significantly by the continuing challenge of recruiting and retaining qualified social 
workers.  The recruitment drive is delivering improvements:  the recent influx of new 
Social Workers has resulted in there being only a 0.5 fte substantive vacancy.  There are 

99



currently 3.9 fte Agency Social Workers meaning that for the first time the current 
establishment of 12.3 qualified social workers per 10,000 children (46.1 fte posts) has 
been exceeded with 49.5 fte Social Workers in post.  GOWM have commented positively 
on the progress being made and the policy of recruiting suitably qualified and 
experienced staff above current establishment in order to manage turnover and build 
towards the targets agreed by cabinet.  GOWM have also welcomed cabinets ‘in 
principle support’ for additional funding to provide additional social work personnel and 
have asked to be advised of the outcome of the Councils budget deliberations in order to 
inform what is scheduled to be their final report to the Minister in late March 2007.    

25. However, the current social work complement is insufficient to deal with the current and 
expected future need.  Recognising this, Cabinet earlier agreed that we should work 
incrementally towards a staffing complement of 57 fte social workers by 2008-09, which 
would bring us into line with the national average.  This requires a net increase of 10.9 
social workers.  In line with this, Cabinet has approved in principle a ‘spend to mitigate’ 
allocation of £300K for 2007-08 with further monies provisionally identified for 2008-09 
(subject to confirmation as part of the detailed budget setting process). 

26. Given the current recruitment market nationally and the likelihood of continued turnover, 
it is considered highly unlikely that a net additional 10.9 qualified social workers could be 
recruited in one year. .  In these circumstances, the appointment of suitable people will 
continue to be made even if that takes the service above the current funded 
establishment.  Options for the release of some additional funds in the current financial 
year are being pursued through an examination of the directorate’s budget and 
discussions with the Director of Resources.   

Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Monitoring 

27. Details of the revenue budget position are at Appendix C. 

28. The overall position shows a projected £0.37 million underspend. This is 0.3% of the 
Council’s £118.285 million revenue budget (excluding Direct Schools Grant funding).  
The position has improved by £1.53m since the last report, in which a £1.226million 
overspend was projected. The projected position is after allowing for use of the Social 
Care contingency and the impact of the revised cash flow profile that has increased the 
projected income from financing transactions. Slippage in the capital programme has 
helped this improved position. The report details the reasons for the movement.  The 
headlines are as follows: 

• £1.4m reduction in projected overspend for Adult and Community Services due to 
inclusion of grant income 

• £0.25m improvement in the projected interest from investments 

29. Details of spending on the capital programme are at Appendix D. 

30. The revised forecast for 2006-07 as at 30th November totals £51,801,000, a decrease of 
£8,002,000 from the September forecast.  The main reason for the decrease from 
September is a reduction in both Corporate Accommodation (£3,800,000) and 
Herefordshire Connects (£4,503,000).  This compares to an original budget of 
£37,015,000, explanation for which is in Appendix D.  The expected use of Prudential 
Borrowing has decreased by £7,920,000 as result of this. This will cause slippage on 
capital financing costs incurred in the revenue budget this year. 

100



Corporate Risk monitoring 

31. Appendix E contains the corporate risk log, which shows the current key risks facing the 
Council in terms of operations, reputation and external assessment. 

32. The following table summarises the corporate risk log at the end of November 2006.  
The analysis covers the assessment of risk were no controls in place) and an 
assessment of the residual risk with control measures implemented. 

Priority Rating Assessment of Risk (no 
controls in place) 

Assessment of Risk (control 
measures implemented) 

High 10 4 

Medium 6 11 

Low 1 2 

Total 17 17 

33. This shows that the majority of risks (10 out of 17) are in the highest category before 
controls are in place, but the majority move to the medium category (11 out of 17) with 
control measures implemented. 

34. The 17 identified risks are all key issues for the Council but some have a greater 
potential impact on service delivery than others.  One such area is the Herefordshire 
Connects programme, in respect of which there are two identified risks (CR3 and CR14).  
The overall programme is closely linked to other areas of the risk register because its 
associated changes to service delivery will produce savings for reinvestment. 

35. The corporate risk around spending pressures exceeding resources (CR2) is mitigated to 
some extent by the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) that helps 
plan future expenditure.  However, a key part of the strategy is the ability to reinvest in 
frontline services as savings are realised from the Herefordshire Connects programme. 
The level of savings will be monitored as the programme moves through its various 
phases but there is a risk as to whether the full targeted savings in 2007-08 will be 
delivered.  This is being covered by the updated MTFMS. 

36. The 2005 “inadequate” rating for “Staying Safe” in Children and Young People’s Services 
has been turned round; with the Annual Performance Assessment letter for 2005-06 
describing overall performance as “Good”.  The risk has been amended to reflect this 
substantial improvement.   The key challenge now is to ensure the changes are fully 
embedded in the Directorate. 

Alternative Options 

None. 

101



Risk Management 

Effective performance reports and their follow-up are an essential element in the 
management of risks. 

Consultees 

Relevant internal officers have been consulted.  No external consultation has been 
necessary, although partners have been involved in developing the performance indicator 
templates for the LAA, and will continue to be involved in developing templates for the 
Herefordshire Community Strategy. 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

102



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A
(1

)

C
M

B
 L

e
a
d

C
a
b

in
e
t 

L
e
a
d

H
C

S
C

P
L

A
A

L
P

S
A

2
G

R
e
a
s
o

n

H
C

S
1

R
a
ti
o
 o

f 
e
a
rn

in
g
s
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 W

e
s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

e
g
io

n
M

r 
H

u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
a
ys

o
n

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 n

e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

g
iv

e
n
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
's

 p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 
th

e
 W

e
s
t 

M
id

la
n
d
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
s
e
tt
in

g
. 
 W

h
ils

t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
e
a
rn

in
g
s
 

in
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 t
h
is

 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 a

s
 a

 r
a
ti
o
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
t 

o
f 
th

e
 W

e
s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
.

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

ls
o
 a

 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 m

a
rk

 a
s
 t
o
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n
g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
e
 m

a
jo

ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
la

te
 t
o
 a

tt
ra

c
ti
n
g
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
, 
b
u
t 
th

is
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ri
ly

 c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n
g
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r.

H
C

S
2

N
o
. 
o
f 
V

A
T

 r
e
g
is

te
re

d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 &

 %
 c

h
a
n
g
e

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
a
ys

o
n

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
 f
o
c
u
s
 o

f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 i
s
 o

n
 

d
e
ve

lo
p
in

g
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 b

u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 a

p
p
a
re

n
t 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 e

xi
s
ti
n
g
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
. 
 S

o
m

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 

h
a
ve

 a
ls

o
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
la

ye
d
 u

n
ti
l 
2
0
0
7
 w

h
ic

h
 c

a
s
t 
d
o
u
b
t 
a
s
 t
o
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
.

H
C

S
4

a
%

 o
f 
w

o
rk

in
g
 a

g
e
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 q

u
a
lif

ie
d
 t
o
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
L
e
ve

l 
3
 o

r 
4
(%

 o
f 
w

o
rk

in
g
 a

g
e
 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 h

ig
h
e
r 

le
ve

l 
q
u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
s
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 i
s
 s

ti
ll 

n
o
 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
th

is
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r.
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.2

H
C

S
4

b
N

o
. 
o
f 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 (
1
9
+

) 
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 L

e
ve

l 
2
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 &

 e
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
4

c
N

o
. 
o
f 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 (
1
9
+

) 
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 L

e
ve

l 
2
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
 (

e
xc

l.
 m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 &

 e
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
4

d
N

o
. 
o
f 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 (
1
9
+

) 
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 L

e
ve

l 
3
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 &

 e
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
4

e
N

o
. 
o
f 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 (
1
9
+

) 
a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 L

e
ve

l 
3
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
 (

e
xc

l.
 m

a
n
u
fa

c
tu

ri
n
g
 &

 e
n
g
in

e
e
ri
n
g
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
8

M
o
rt

a
lit

y 
ra

te
 f
ro

m
 c

a
n
c
e
r 

fo
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
g
e
d
 u

n
d
e
r 

7
5

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
. 
 M

e
n
ti
o
n
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
 o

f 
a
 r

e
p
o
rt

 

b
e
in

g
 a

va
ila

b
le

 i
n
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r,

 b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 e

vi
d
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 i
s
 

n
o
w

 a
va

ila
b
le

. 
 A

ls
o
, 
s
o
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
e
m

p
la

te
 r

e
fe

r 

to
 2

0
0
4
/0

5
.

H
C

S
9

M
o
rt

a
lit

y 
ra

te
 f
ro

m
 c

ir
c
u
la

to
ry

 d
is

e
a
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
g
e
d
 u

n
d
e
r 

7
5

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
0

N
o
. 
o
f 
d
e
a
th

s
 p

e
r 

a
n
n
u
m

 f
ro

m
 c

h
ro

n
ic

 d
is

e
a
s
e
s

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
1

‘A
ll 

c
a
u
s
e
s
’ 
S

ta
n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 M

o
rt

a
lit

y 
R

a
ti
o
 (

S
M

R
) 

fo
r 

d
e
p
ri
ve

d
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
2

a
%

 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w

h
o
 s

m
o
k
e
 (

a
d
u
lt
 h

e
a
lt
h
y 

lif
e
s
ty

le
s
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
2

b
%

 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w

h
o
 c

o
n
s
u
m

e
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
 i
n
ta

k
e
 o

f 
a
lc

o
h
o
l 
p
e
r 

w
e
e
k
 (

a
d
u
lt
 

h
e
a
lt
h
y 

lif
e
s
ty

le
s
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
2

c
%

 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 e

a
ti
n
g
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 5

 p
o
rt

io
n
s
 o

f 
fr

u
it
 a

n
d
 v

e
g
e
ta

b
le

s
 o

n
 a

 t
yp

ic
a
l 
d
a
y 

(a
d
u
lt
 

h
e
a
lt
h
y 

lif
e
s
ty

le
s
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

H
C

S
1
2

d
%

 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 3

0
m

in
s
 o

f 
m

o
d
e
ra

te
 p

h
ys

ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
vi

ty
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
5
 d

a
ys

 p
e
r 

w
e
e
k
 

(a
d
u
lt
 h

e
a
lt
h
y 

lif
e
s
ty

le
s
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

In
d

ic
a
to

r
J
u

d
g

e
m

e
n

t

103



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A
(1

)

H
C

S
1
3

A
ve

ra
g
e
 l
e
n
g
th

 o
f 
s
ta

y 
in

 B
&

B
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
M

r 
H

u
g
h
e
s
 

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
1

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y

e
a
r 

m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
. 
 A

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 g

o
o
d
 w

o
rk

 i
s
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
fa

m
ili

e
s
 i
n
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
o
f 
0
 w

e
e
k
s
 h

a
s
 p

ro
ve

d
 t
o
 b

e
 u

n
a
c
h
ie

va
b
le

. 
 G

re
a
te

r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n
 s

e
tt
in

g
 a

 r
e
a
lis

ti
c
, 
b
u
t 
c
h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 

ta
rg

e
t 
in

 f
u
tu

re
.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.4

H
C

S
1
5

N
o
. 
o
f 
e
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y 

u
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le

d
 h

o
s
p
it
a
l 
b
e
d
 d

a
ys

 o
c
c
u
p
ie

d
 b

y 
a
 p

e
rs

o
n
 7

5
 a

n
d
 o

ve
r

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s
 

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
1

1
D

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 P

C
T

 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 s
e
ri
o
u
s
 

p
ro

b
le

m
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
a
ta

 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.7

H
C

S
1
6

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 a
g
e
d
 6

5
+

 h
e
lp

e
d
 t
o
 l
iv

e
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 (

p
e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s
 

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
1

M
a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 e

it
h
e
r 

ru
n
n
in

g
 l
a
te

 o
r 

ye
t 
to

 s
ta

rt
 c

re
a
ti
n
g
 

s
e
ri
o
u
s
 d

o
u
b
ts

 a
s
 t
o
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.1
0

H
C

S
1
7

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 h

o
m

e
c
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
vi

d
e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 v
ia

 d
ir
e
c
t 
p
a
ym

e
n
ts

 

(6
5
+

)
M

r 
H

u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
1

1

T
h
e
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
is

 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 b

y 
2
 s

e
p
a
ra

te
 s

u
rv

e
ys

. 
 

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 s

u
rv

e
ys

 h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 l
a
c
k
 o

f 

c
la

ri
ty

 s
u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
g
u
id

a
n
c
e
, 
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y 

c
a
u
s
in

g
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
y 

in
 p

u
lli

n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 o

f 
th

e
 2

 s
u
rv

e
ys

 t
o
g
e
th

e
r 

to
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
.

H
C

S
1
9

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 c

h
o
ic

e
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 a
d
u
lt
s

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 M
rs

 

B
a
rn

e
tt

1
M

a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
ve

 y
e
t 
to

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
.

H
C

S
2
1

a
%

 o
f 
b
a
b
ie

s
 b

o
rn

 t
o
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 m

o
th

e
rs

 w
h
o
 a

re
 b

re
a
s
tf
e
e
d
in

g
 a

t 
6
 w

e
e
k
s

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 R
u
le

1
1

1

6
 m

o
n
th

 d
a
ta

 s
h
o
w

e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w

a
s
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t.
  
A

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 o

n
g
o
in

g
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 i
t 
is

 u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
.

H
C

S
2
5

N
o
.o

f 
yo

u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 (
u
n
d
e
r 

2
5
) 

w
h
o
 a

re
 v

ic
ti
m

s
 o

f 
c
ri
m

e
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

D
a
ta

 a
t 
8
 m

o
n
th

s
 s

h
o
w

e
d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
o
 b

e
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t,
 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 n

o
t 
s
o
 f
a
r 

b
e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t 
to

 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
th

a
t 
re

m
e
d
ia

l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

c
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
re

c
o
ve

r 
th

e
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
.

H
C

S
3
0

%
 o

f 
p
u
p
ils

 a
c
h
ie

vi
n
g
 5

 o
r 

m
o
re

 G
C

S
E

s
 a

t 
g
ra

d
e
s
 A

* 
- 

G
 o

r 
e
q
u
iv

. 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 M

a
th

s
 a

n
d
 

E
n
g
lis

h
 (

L
E

A
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

)
M

s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 R
u
le

1
1

1
1

D
e
s
p
it
e
 a

n
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n
t 
in

 e
xa

m
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 f
ro

m
 2

0
0
5
, 
ta

rg
e
t 
w

a
s
 

n
o
t 
a
c
h
ie

ve
d
.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.1
3

H
C

S
3
5

a
N

o
. 
o
f 
lo

o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

h
o
 m

is
s
e
d
 a

 t
o
ta

l 
o
f 
2
5
 d

a
ys

 o
r 

m
o
re

 s
c
h
o
o
lin

g
M

s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 R
u
le

O
u
tr

u
n
 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 a

c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r,

 

th
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 a

t 
J
u
ly

 o
f 
1
1
 L

A
C

 m
is

s
in

g
 2

5
 o

r 
m

o
re

 d
a
ys

 

o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
lin

g
 e

xc
e
e
d
e
d
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg

e
t

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.1
5

H
C

S
4
2

a
B

C
S

 C
o
m

p
a
ra

to
r 

c
ri
m

e
s

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

D
a
ta

 a
t 
8
 m

o
n
th

s
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t 
to

 s
u
c
h
 

a
n
 e

xt
e
n
t 
th

a
t 
a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 d
o
u
b
tf
u
l.
  
W

e
s
t 
M

e
rc

ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta

b
u
la

ry
 h

a
ve

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 d

o
u
b
t 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 

s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
to

 a
c
h
ie

ve
 t
a
rg

e
t.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.1
8

H
C

S
4
2

b
N

o
. 
o
f 
c
ri
m

in
a
l 
d
a
m

a
g
e
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

D
a
ta

 a
t 
8
 m

o
n
th

s
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t 
to

 s
u
c
h
 

a
n
 e

xt
e
n
t 
th

a
t 
a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 d
o
u
b
tf
u
l.
  
W

e
s
t 
M

e
rc

ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta

b
u
la

ry
 h

a
ve

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 d

o
u
b
t 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 

s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
to

 a
c
h
ie

ve
 t
a
rg

e
t.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.2
0

H
C

S
4
2

c
N

o
. 
o
f 
a
ll 

re
c
o
rd

e
d
 c

ri
m

e
s

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

D
a
ta

 a
t 
8
 m

o
n
th

s
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t 
to

 s
u
c
h
 

a
n
 e

xt
e
n
t 
th

a
t 
a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 d
o
u
b
tf
u
l.
  
W

e
s
t 
M

e
rc

ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta

b
u
la

ry
 h

a
ve

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 d

o
u
b
t 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 

s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
to

 a
c
h
ie

ve
 t
a
rg

e
t.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.2
3

H
C

S
4
5

N
o
. 
o
f 
vi

o
le

n
t 
c
ri
m

e
s

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

1
1

D
a
ta

 a
t 
8
 m

o
n
th

s
 s

h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 t
a
rg

e
t 
to

 s
u
c
h
 

a
n
 e

xt
e
n
t 
th

a
t 
a
c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 d
o
u
b
tf
u
l.
  
W

e
s
t 
M

e
rc

ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta

b
u
la

ry
 h

a
ve

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r,

 b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 d

o
u
b
t 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 

s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
to

 a
c
h
ie

ve
 t
a
rg

e
t.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.2
5

H
C

S
4
6

N
o
. 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 d

ru
g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

T
h
e
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
c
o
n
ta

in
 m

a
n
y 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 y

e
a
r;

 m
a
n
y 

a
re

 s
p
e
c
if
ic

 t
o
 2

0
0
7
-0

8
 o

n
w

a
rd

s
.

H
C

S
4
7

M
e
a
s
u
re

 o
f 
D

ru
g
s
 I
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
M

s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
.

104



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 A
(1

)

H
C

S
4
8

M
e
a
s
u
re

 o
f 
P

ri
o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 P

ro
lif

ic
 O

ff
e
n
d
e
rs

 S
c
h
e
m

e
M

s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y 

n
o
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 f
o
r 

th
is

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r,
 b

u
t 
th

e
 t
e
m

p
la

te
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ts

 t
h
a
t 
o
n
e
 w

o
u
ld

 h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y 
O

c
to

b
e
r 

a
g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 a

 t
a
rg

e
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 h
a
ve

 b
e
e
n
 s

e
t 
in

 N
o
ve

m
b
e
r.

  
T

h
e
re

 

is
 n

o
 e

vi
d
e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 w

o
rk

 h
a
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 p

la
c
e
.

H
C

S
4
9

b
N

o
. 
o
f 
ve

h
ic

le
s
 c

ri
m

e
s
 p

e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 o

u
tt
u
rn

 w
o
u
ld

 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 

th
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
m

a
y 

b
e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
.

H
C

S
5
1

a
N

o
. 
o
f 
c
a
lls

 t
o
 t
h
e
 H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 W

o
m

e
n
's

 A
id

 H
e
lp

lin
e

M
s
 F

ie
n
n
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

A
s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

, 
th

e
re

 a
re

 a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
  
a
n
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
w

h
ic

h
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 a

c
h
ie

ve
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

ta
rg

e
t 
c
a
n
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 b
e
 j
u
d
g
e
d
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 o

u
tt
u
rn

 w
o
u
ld

 s
u
g
g
e
s
t 

th
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
m

a
y 

b
e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
.

H
C

S
5
3

M
o
rt

a
lit

y 
ra

te
 f
ro

m
 a

c
c
id

e
n
ts

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 B
a
rn

e
tt

1
N

o
 t
e
m

p
la

te
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
.

H
C

S
5
5

%
 o

f 
S

it
e
s
 o

f 
S

p
e
c
ia

l 
S

c
ie

n
ti
fi
c
 I
n
te

re
s
t 
(S

S
S

Is
) 

in
 f
a
vo

u
ra

b
le

/r
e
c
o
ve

ri
n
g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
M

r 
D

u
n
h
ill

C
llr

 E
d
w

a
rd

s
1

W
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
g
o
in

g
 t
o
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
e
 e

xa
c
t 
d
e
fi
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 

a
n
d
 w

h
a
t 
it
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
. 
 M

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

ill
 t
a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r.

H
C

S
5
7

N
o
. 
o
f 
k
e
y 

s
p
e
c
ie

s
M

r 
D

u
n
h
ill

C
llr

 E
d
w

a
rd

s
1

W
o
rk

 i
s
 o

n
g
o
in

g
 t
o
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
e
 e

xa
c
t 
d
e
fi
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 

a
n
d
 w

h
a
t 
it
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
. 
 M

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

ill
 t
a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r.

H
C

S
6
3

%
 o

f 
a
d
u
lt
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th

a
t 
H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 a

 p
la

c
e
 w

h
e
re

 p
e
o
p
le

 f
ro

m
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s
 g

e
t 
o
n
 w

e
ll 

to
g
e
th

e
r

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 P
h
ill

ip
s

1

A
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
 w

a
s
 a

s
k
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
B

e
s
t 
V

a
lu

e
 G

e
n
e
ra

l 
S

u
rv

e
y 

to
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
, 
b
u
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
t 
ye

t 
a
n
y 

e
vi

d
e
n
c
e
 o

f 
w

o
rk

 

ta
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
w

ill
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n
t 
in

 f
u
tu

re
.

H
C

S
6
5

a
%

 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w

h
o
 u

s
e
 s

p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 l
e
is

u
re

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
o
n
c
e
 a

 m
o
n
th

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 S
to

c
k
to

n
1

A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
 w

a
s
 p

o
o
r 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s

u
m

m
e
r,

 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
n
g
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
m

a
y 

n
o
t 
b
e
 a

c
h
ie

ve
d
. 
 A

ls
o
, 
m

a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
a
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
fi
n
a
n
c
e
 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 p

o
s
tp

o
n
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
s
o
m

e
 

in
it
ia

ti
ve

s
.

H
C

7
4

b
N

o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
 w

it
h
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 h

e
lp

e
d
 t
o
 l
iv

e
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 (

p
e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 B
a
rn

e
tt

1
M

a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 f
a
lli

n
g
 b

e
h
in

d
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

 o
r 

h
a
ve

 n
o
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
m

.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.2
8

H
C

7
4

c
N

o
. 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s
  
w

it
h
 p

h
ys

ic
a
l 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 h

e
lp

e
d
 t
o
 l
iv

e
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 (

p
e
r 

1
,0

0
0
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
)

M
r 

H
u
g
h
e
s

C
llr

 B
a
rn

e
tt

1
M

a
n
y 

o
f 
th

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 f
a
lli

n
g
 b

e
h
in

d
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

 o
r 

h
a
ve

 n
o
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
m

.

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix

 

A
(2

),
 p

.3
0

105



106



APPENDIX A (2) 

 1

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TEMPLATES 

 

This Appendix includes the templates that have been marked R in Appendix A (1). 

107



APPENDIX A (2) 

 2

 

Indicator: HCS 4a Percentage of working age population with higher level 
qualifications (Level 3 & 4) 

HCS Theme Economic development and enterprise 

HCS Outcome A more adaptable and higher skilled workforce 

Council Priority To sustain vibrant and prosperous communities, including by securing 
more efficient, effective and customer-focused services, clean streets, 
tackling homelessness and effective emergency planning 

Council Objective A more highly skilled adult population 

  

Judgement R   

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Stockton Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

Sharon Gray (LSC) 

Council Lead: Mr Hughes Features in: HCS 

 

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

1. Service Level Agreement with Herefordshire 
Group Training Association to deliver project 
aimed at assisting businesses in the engineering 
and manufacturing sector to access 
management training.  Wherever possible this 
will be to full NVQ level 4 in Learning and 
Development of Management. 

5 businesses signed up to NVQ’s within two 
weeks of launch. 

Discussion taken place with HGTA with regard 
to the best method of progressing the scheme 
and ensuring successful delivery. 

Herefordshire Council Officer responsible for 
monitoring and liaison with scheme recruited. 

1.1 Service Level Agreement to be signed July 
2006. 

SLA signed by Council week commencing 17th 
July 2006 

2. Scheme to commence July 2006. Scheme launched 21st July 2006. 
5 businesses signed up to NVQ’s within two 
weeks of launch. 
Discussion taken place with HGTA with regard 
to the best method of progressing the scheme 
and ensuring successful delivery. 
Herefordshire Council Officer responsible for 
monitoring and liaison with scheme recruited. 

1. % of the working age population (males aged 16-64 and 
women aged 16-59 years) qualified to at least Level 3 

2. % of the working age population (males aged 16-64 and 
women aged 16-59 years) qualified to at least Level 4 

 Baseline: 

1. 43.4% 

2. 24.8% 

108



APPENDIX A (2) 

 3

3. 20 managers signed up to scheme – December 
2006. 

28 managers signed up within first two months 
of the assisted business scheme. 

4. Additional 10 managers signed up to scheme – 
March 2007. 

 

5. First managers completing training – October 
2007. 

 

Resource required to deliver the action(s)  

LPSA2 funding.  

Risk(s) to achievement  

Lack of businesses interested in the scheme. 

None completion of NVQ’s by managers. 

Lack of spend on scheme due to lack of interest in 
scheme. 

 

Risks mitigated by  

HGTA have very good record of delivery of this 
type of scheme.  Promotion of scheme will be 
undertaken by HGTA through their usual methods. 

HGTA have adopted an approach to training 
delivery that minimises drop-out rates. 

Economic Regeneration Team to undertake revue 
and monitoring of scheme on a monthly basis to 
determine take up and spend. 

 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

109



APPENDIX A (2) 

 4

 

Indicator: HCS 13 The average length of stay in bed and breakfast accommodation 
of households (towards whom the Council has a full statutory 
duty) 

HCS Theme Healthier Communities and Older People 

HCS Outcome Reduce health inequalities and promote healthy lifestyles 

Council Priority To maximise the health, safety, economic well-being, achievements and 
contribution of every child, including those with special needs and those in 
care 

Council Objective To eliminate the use of bed and breakfast accommodation for households 
with children 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Mrs Barnett Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

Neil Pringle 
(Herefordshire Council) 

Council Lead: Geoff Hughes Features in: CP, LAA  

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

 

The most 
effective 
measure of the 
availability of 
adequate 
housing for 
families with 
children 

BV183a  
Average length 
of stay for 
families with 
children in B&B 
accommodation 

Quarter 1 = 
17.9 

Q2 = 15.5 

Average length of stay in B&B (weeks)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

Target Herefordshire - Actual

Top Quartile (Eng Auth) Median (Eng Auth)

Bottom Quartile (Eng Auth)

Low is good

110



APPENDIX A (2) 

 5

1. The implementation, with our partners, of our 
Homelessness Strategy Action Plan and in 
developing more affordable housing (161 
units target for 06/07). 

Ongoing working document until 2008 

Homelessness Strategy Implementation group 
established. 

Affordable homes provided on target. So far 
over 90 this year. 

2. Establishment of Homelessness Advisory 
Group by end of April 2006.   

Established and named the “Homelessness 
Advisory Steering Group” 

2 meetings held 

3. Review of HSAP in June 2006.  Ongoing. To be finalised  

4. Prevention approach to homelessness, 
reducing levels of applications and 
acceptances under the homelessness 
legislation (target of 417 for 06/07). 

Prevention work has proved successful in fourth 
quarter of 05/06 with a successful intervention 
in 68 cases.  This has resulted in a reduction in 
levels of applications and acceptances.  This low 
level of Applications & Acceptances has 
continued into Q1 06/07. 

Q1 Acceptances - 29 

Q2 Acceptances - 39 

5. Target families with children who are rejected 
for nomination on account of former tenant 
history ie arrears, in partnership with RSLs. 
Expand private sector leasing scheme – 
minimum 5 extra units 06/07. 

Work to be progressed during 06 on identifying 
these families on the Homelessness ‘database’ to 
establish extent of problem. Discussed with RSLs 
at June 06 meeting and protocol will be in place 
by autumn 06/07 to reduce the problem by 
improving joint working practices 

6. Expand private sector leasing scheme – 
minimum 5 extra units 06/07 

Continuing. Will exceed target for year. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

1. Homelessness Change Manager, Employed in 2005 

2. Homelessness Prevention Officers. Established.  

3. Use of Prevention Fund – including roll 
forward of funds allocated in 05/06 to 06/07.  

Set up and being used 

4. Flexible use of B & B budget and use of 
capital resources to fund new development. 

Part of B & B budget is used on the principle of 
“spend to save” and used as part of the 
prevention fund. 

Risk(s) to achievement 

1. Lack of affordable housing and financial 
resources. Unwillingness of RSLs to allocate 
housing to homeless households with poor 
track record. 

Evaluating courses of action. Producing report for 
Geoff Hughes and Richard Gabb. 

2. Lack of homelessness database and reporting 
ICT. 

A risk, as there is a lack of reporting capabilities 
from the Homelessness team.  There is also a 
lack of capabilities to set monitored targets and 
inability to carry out an audit and automatic 
reports for our BVPI’s.  Team is re-submitting 
business case to Corporate review board. 

111



APPENDIX A (2) 

 6

3. The options and speed of move on 
accommodation – i.e.- from temporary 
accommodation to permanent housing. 

Meeting with RSLs in June 2006 to discuss 
proposed protocols. Were agreed and will be 
incorporated in autumn 06/07 in protocol 
document for signatures.  Draft protocol 
produced to put to RSLs 

Risks mitigated by 

1. Ongoing programme of affordable housing 
development.  

Affordable Housing provided exceeding target 

2. Strategic Housing to negotiate with RSLs 
direct on selected families. Meeting arranges 
for June 06.  

Meeting was successful with a range of improved 
joint working practices being agreed, which will 
come into effect this autumn.  Affordable 
Housing provided exceeding target 

3. Permission to carry forward the underspend 
of the Prevention Fund into 06/07  

Done – carried forward. 

4. Identify alternative temporary accommodation 
options. 

Member paper completed and strategy for 
reduction approved. Reduction of FWC in B&B to 
0 is target for 06/07 

5. Flexibility around temporary accommodation 
budget 

Yes, and flexibility continues 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead –   Richard Gabb 

Support/Facilitator-   

Data owner for PI Paul Griffiths  

 

 
NB – The measuring guidelines for this indicator (BVPI 183) means that an outturn is only recorded when a 
family is moved OUT of the B&B/hostel. Therefore a successful outcome of moving a family into permanent 
accommodation after a long time in temp results in a very poor BVPI outturn.  For instance, a FWC (Family 
with Children) could have spent a number of weeks in B&B during 04/05, been moved to temporary 
accommodation and just recently permanently rehoused.  Hence good work in getting families who have been 
in various forms of temporary accommodation into permanent accommodation triggers (through us being able 
to discharge our duty) a large outturn for BV183.  It is this time lag and our success in moving families into 
permanent accommodation that is causing the current problems. 

112



APPENDIX A (2) 

 7

 

Indicator: HCS15 Number of emergency unscheduled acute hospital bed days 
(defined in the Department of Health guidance for Local Delivery 
Plans 2005-2008) occupied by a person aged 75 or more in NHS 
hospitals, commissioned by Herefordshire PCT 

HCS Theme Healthier communities and older people 

HCS Outcome Independence and choice for older people and vulnerable adults 

Council Priority To enable vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, to 
enable many more older people to continue to live in their own homes 

Council Objective To minimise the length of time older people spend in acute hospitals 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Mrs Barnett Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

(PCT) 

Council Lead: Mr Hughes Features in: CP, LAA, LPSA2  

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

Leadership and multi-agency 
commitment: 

 

Ensure engagement of all key agencies in the 
reduction of this target – Hereford Hospitals 
Trust, Primary Care Trust and Social Care. 

Integrated Change Management Group to take the 
lead. Reporting to the Older Peoples Programme 
Board. Lead Officer Stephanie Canham 

Key managers in PCT, HHT and Social Care to 
ensure staff, continually monitor practice and 
make necessary changes designed to achieve 
the outcome. 

Integrated Change Management Group to develop 
action plan and measurable timescales. Lead 
Officer Stephanie Canham 

 

Older people’s independence 
and health is compromised if 
they spend longer than 
absolutely necessary in 
hospitals 

 

Number of unscheduled emergency bed days (75+)

28000

29000

30000

31000

32000

33000

34000

35000

03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-09

Actual Target

113



APPENDIX A (2) 

 8

Ensure staff understand what is needed and 
why, and enable them to make informed and 
useful suggestions or changes to practice. 

Lead Officers Stephanie Canham, Trish Jay 

Ensure the Single Assessment Process is 
implemented across all agencies 

SAP is not yet introduced to acute hospital or by 
GPs. SAP Coordinator to work with both from 
August 2006. System complete by March 2007. 
Lead officer Pam Saunder. 

Continue to develop preventative services and 
specifically, implement LPSA 2 schemes, 
including village warden scheme, foot-care 
scheme and out of hours ambulance sitter 
service. 

Contracts for Village Wardens Scheme to be let 
August 2006.   

Performance indicators will be set prior to start 
of pilot schemes, including a satisfaction survey 
in relation to the village warden scheme. 
September 2006. 

The Village Warden contract has been let to the 
Red Cross. First four wardens have been appointed 
plus coordinator.  Lead Jean Howard 
 

It has been decided to undertake a wider 
establishment of baseline data and this will be 
complete by January 2007. Lead Officer Jean 
Howard 

Signposting post currently being advertised, with 
secondment option to speed up process.  Lead 
Officer Jean Howard. 

Implement the chronic disease management 
strategy 

Lead Officer Trish Jay reporting to Physical 
Disability programme Board 

Continue to develop the integrated falls 
strategy by improving Dexa scanning service for 
local residents. 

Peter Sowerby working with Paul Ryan 

Data management  

Ensure accurate data collection, interpretation 
and reporting 

Achieve multi-agency agreement to the data 

Lead Officers Stephanie Canham, Trish Jay 
and Alan Dawson 

Commissioning:  

Develop a robust commissioning and 
performance management system 

Robust systems for commissioning including 
performance review e.g. as defined by the Audit 
Commission “Making Ends Meet” are undeveloped.  
A joint commissioning plan agreed in June 2005 
made a useful start to consider strategic 
commissioning but both the plan and the 
underpinning systems need to be developed and 
embedded. The proposed Commissioning and 
Improvement Services Division evidences 
intentions to build the necessary capacity; this 
development is on hold pending the emergence of 
the Public Service Trust (see mitigation section 
below)  

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

Staffing:  

Redefine roles across health and care 
organisations to ensure modernisation can occur 

Work on a joint workforce development strategy 
is to start in Autumn 2006 as part of the Public 
Service Trust development and in response to the 

114



APPENDIX A (2) 

 9

Be clear about what is to be achieved and ensure 
staff are adequately informed and trained 

Service Trust development and in response to the 
Social Care recovery plan. The scope will cover 
Health Social Care, the Alliance and private 
sector partners. Framework to be completed by 
March 2007. 

Joint leads Liz French Social Care and Jan 
Parfitt, PCT. 

Finance:  

Ensure that commissioning plans contain sound 
financial commitment, including development of 
funding sources and how the transition will be 
managed and funded when re-engineering 
services 

Ensure funding pick up for successful LPSA 2 
pilots is reflected in PCT and Social Care budget 
cycles. 

Older Peoples Commissioning Plan due to be 
completed Autumn 2006. Lead officer Peter 
Sowerby. 

Learning Disability Commissioning Plan due to be 
completed December 2006.Lead Officer Mike 
Metcalf. 

Physical Disability Commissioning Plan due to be 
completed June 2007 Lead Officer TBA. 

Health and Care Joint Commissioning Group to 
sign off and senior commissioners from each 
organisation represented on group to take 
appropriate action. September 2007. 

Risk(s) to achievement 

This performance indicator is managed and 
reported by Hereford Hospitals Trust, which 
makes it difficult to manage by Social Care or the 
PCT.  This is compounded by fragmented data 
collection and performance management. 

Integrated Change Programme Board to agree 
common understanding of how this statistic is 
calculated and then ensure compliance through 
agreed mechanisms. Lead Officer Stephanie 
Canham. 

Risks mitigated by 

Probable development of a Public Service Trust 
which should at least provide a single 
commissioning and performance management 
system across the PCT and Social Care. Better 
commissioning should lead to improved service 
delivery for providers. 

Draft PST proposals complete, high level sign off 
being established currently. Target date for new 
joint management structure is October 2006. 
Lead Officers Neil Pringle and Paul Bates 

Budget and financial performance 

£353,000 Schemes cost breakdown available in next report 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer Stephanie Canham, Social Care 01432 
260320 

Support/Facilitator Jean Howard, IMPACT 01432 363942 

Data owner for PI Ian Lamputt PCT 01432 363907 

 

115



APPENDIX A (2) 

 10

 

Indicator: HCS 16 The number of people aged 65 and over helped to live at home, 
per 1000 adults aged 65 and over 

HCS Theme Healthier communities and older people 

HCS Outcome Independence and choice for older people and vulnerable adults 

Council Priority To enable vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, to 
enable many more older people to continue to live in their own homes 

Council Objective To maximise the independence of older people 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Mrs Barnett Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

Neil Pringle 
(Herefordshire Council) 

Council Lead: Mr Hughes Features in: CP, LAA  

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

1. Re-draft the eligibility criteria to reflect the 
change in emphasis from critical to 
low/moderate.   

Part of improvement plan 
 

1.1 Key Milestones to be linked to the 
Improvement Plan, eligibility criteria re-drafted 
Dec 2006  

 

2. Training for the Teams, multi-disciplinary 
approach to identify services users who 
require prevention services.   

September sessions delivered. 

 

 

Low level care 
received at 
home can 
prevent or 
postpone a 
person needing 
more intensive 
care packages or 
residential care 

No. of people aged 65+ helped to live at home (per 1000 pop)

50

70

90

110

130

00-01 01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Target Herefordshire - Actual
Top Quartile (Eng Auth) Median (Eng Auth)
Bottom Quartile (Eng Auth)

116



APPENDIX A (2) 

 11

2.1 Key Milestone to incorporate through 
developing Excellence Sessions which are 
ongoing. 

September sessions delivered. 

3. Developing Supporting People services.    

3.1 Key Milestone access additional funding by 
October 2007 to support re-ablement, telecare 
and Handy Man services 

Proposals drawn up for submission to next 
supporting people board. 
 

4. Review literature available.   

4.1 Key Milestone: All literature to be produced 
by March 2007.  

 

4.2 Direct Payments, Carers Services, Re-
ablement literature to be produced by September 
2006. 

 

5. Target key groups and monitor the number of 
referrals received.   

No milestone achieved 

5.1 Key Milestone awareness raising sessions 
with key stakeholders to be delivered by 
December 2006.  

 

6. Develop the use of assistive technology to 
support older people to remain in their own 
homes. 

Awareness Raising Seminar held on the 
08/08/06. Project Co-ordinator appointed, 
commence 02/10/06. 

6.1 Key Milestone through 3 pilot projects to be 
implemented by September 2006.  

 

7. Partnership working with the Voluntary Sector 
and Health to develop a joint prevention 
strategy and Commission appropriate 
services. 

Prevention Strategy Group set up and planning 
and commissioning framework agreed. 

 

7.1 Key Milestone: Prevention Strategy and 
Commissioning Plan drafted by November 
2006.Prevention matrix to include signposting, 
Village/Community Wardens, Welfare Rights 
information and advice.  

Wardens Scheme now operational.  Joint Team 
Manager is appointed 

7.1 Key Milestone: introduction of services by 
January 2007. 

 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

Named worker to redraft eligibility criteria, 
provide training to teams, liaise with multi-
disciplinary stakeholders to promote prevention 
services and prepare literature and awareness 
raising in the community. 

Part of improvement work 

Ensure maximisation of Supporting People 
Monies 

On going 

 Re-invest any de-investment monies e.g. SLA’s 
reviews. 

Planned for New Year. 

117



APPENDIX A (2) 

 12

Risk(s) to achievement 

Lack of investment monies to develop prevention 
services. 

 

Excess demand  

Lack of Supporting People Providers.  

Risks mitigated by 

Framework to be developed and resource 
identified to review all SLA’s. 

 

Agreement to re-invest any savings.  

Develop prioritisation criteria for service 
provision. 

 

Work in partnership with providers to promote 
the development of Supporting People Providers. 

 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

118



APPENDIX A (2) 

 13

 

Indicator: HCS 30 % of pupils achieving 5+ A*-G grades at GCSE (incl. Maths & 
English) or equivalent 

HCS Theme Children and Young People 

HCS Outcome Children and young people achieve educational, personal, social and 
physical standards 

Council Priority To maximise the health, safety, economic well-being, achievements and 
contribution of every child, including those with special needs and those in 
care 

Council Objective To improve the educational attainment of Herefordshire pupils 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Rule Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

Neil Pringle 

Council Lead: Ms Fiennes Features in: LAA, LPSA2G, HCS, CP  

 

2006 Data: Herefordshire 92.9%: 25Th Centile 86.1 Median: 88.4  75th Centile 90.5 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

Use Secondary Strategy Staff and expertise to:  

- analyse and interpret individual school and 
pupil related performance data for all 
secondary schools 

2006 GCSE Results: 5+ A* - G (E,M) 92.9% 

- identify schools below the national floor 
targets at KS3 Maths, Science & English 

No schools below target. 

% of pupils achieving 5+ A*- G grades at GCSE (incl. Maths & English)

or equivalent

76%

80%

84%

88%

92%

96%

100%

June 02 June 03 June 04 June 05 June 06 June 07 June 08

Target Herefordshire

Top Quartile (Eng Auth) Median (Eng Auth)

Bottom Quartile (Eng Auth)

High is good

 

Good 
performance at 
GCSE is a crucial 
foundation for 
future 
educational 
achievement and 
improved life 
chances 

119



APPENDIX A (2) 

 14

- identify schools with low contextual value 
added (CVA) between KS2 – KS3, KS3 – KS4 
& KS2 – KS4 

CVA to be published January 2007. 

- identify schools with low conversion rates 
from KS2 – KS3 – KS4. 

4 schools identified. 
 

- identify schools with low or declining 
performance in 5A*-G grades. 

1 school identified. 

- Data is provided by QCA, NCER late August-
October. 

Data received and analysed. 

Target consultant teaching, learning & leadership 
support at the identified schools or departments. 

Support plans in place. 

Initial analysis by late September using QCA 
data. 

Initial analyses conducted.  Meeting with 
Regional advisors 13/10/2006. 

Detailed analysis by late October. Detailed analyses underway. 

Target setting data provided to schools and SIS 
team by autumn half term break. 

Target setting planned for w/c 16/10/2006. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

Annual DfES Grant: £332,835 (2006/7) to 
support Secondary Strategy Staff and 
administration costs 

 

Additional targeted support provided by central 
inspection team 

 

Risk(s) to achievement 

Loss of staff  

Restructuring  

Gender imbalance in cohort  

Risks mitigated by 

Monitoring of pupil progress.  

Early intervention strategies for pupils falling 
behind 

 

Schools provide end of year progress information 
via teacher assessments (May/June) 

 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

120



APPENDIX A (2) 

 15

 

Indicator: HCS 35a Absenteeism of looked after children 

HCS Theme Children and Young People 

HCS Outcome Children and young people achieve educational, personal, social and 
physical standards 

Council Priority To maximise the health, safety, economic wellbeing, achievements and 
contribution of every child, including those with special needs and those in 
care. 

Council Objective To improve the outcomes for looked after children by increasing school 
attendance 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Rule Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

Neil Pringle 
(Herefordshire Council) 

Council Lead: Ms Fiennes Features in: LAA, LPSA2G, HCS, CP  

 

    00-01 01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08 08-Sep 

Target           9 9 8 7 

Number 26 20 8 13 14 11       Herefordshire 

Percentage 21% 16% 6% 12% 13% 9%       

Top Quartile 7% 8% 8% 9% 10%         

Median  11% 12% 11% 12% 12%         English Authorities 

Bottom Quartile 15% 16% 15% 16% 15%         
The number children looked after by Herefordshire continuously for at least 12 months during the previous year missing 
25 days or more for any reason. 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

ELSS attendance monitoring officer to commence 
bi weekly attendance collection from primary 
schools. Sept 2006 

Data collection commenced. A member of ELSS 
follows up children for whom attendance is a 
concern. 

Members of EWS to raise profile of service in 
schools via assemblies, leaflets etc.  To form part 
of SLA with each school. To be reviewed termly. 

Creating extra posters for distribution during 
August 2006 

Principal officer EWS invited to speak at Foster 
Forum  

Foster Forum 13th October 2006 

Use LPSA2 funding to recruit an additional EWO 
from September 2006.  Review effectiveness on 
annual basis. 

Post advertised, interviews held appointee 
commences on September 1st 2006. 

Use LPSA2 funding to appoint an attendance-
monitoring officer within ELSS. 

 

Monthly meetings with other colleagues / 
services monitoring attendance data to assess 

Agreed at recent policy review and dates set. 
Meetings have taken place. 

121



APPENDIX A (2) 

 16

effectiveness of actions. Meetings have taken place. 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

ELSS to establish a system of recording and 
tracking the attendance of all looked after 
children and young people 

System established June 2006 

ELSS team members to discuss attendance with 
schools, carers and social workers to raise the 
awareness of the LPSA target and need for care 
and vigilance when appropriate opportunities 
arise. 

ELSS/PEWO to present at a foster forum- Oct 06 

Resources required to deliver the action(s) 

Attendance Monitoring Officer required Attendance Monitoring Officer started 17th May. 

Certificates and reward vouchers to reward 
attendance to be ordered 

Certificates ordered July 2006. Voucher orders to 
be placed October 2006 

Risk(s) to achievement 

Unexpected absence due to ill health or 
exclusions from school cannot be anticipated 

Carers prompted to contact ELSS or EWS to 
support at Foster Forum talk 

Delays in school admission particularly when 
moving out of county- e.g. when placed for 
adoption. 

Discussion with Adoption manager to take place 
a.s.a.p. 

Holidays taken in term time. Resources manager has included guidance 
relating to this in the Fostering Handbook 

Time lost during school transition, particularly for 
children placed for adoption 

Discussion with Childcare managers to take place 
a.s.a.p. 

Inability to collect data from all schools in the 
same format and using the same absence coding 
structure 

Standardised format use becoming more 
frequent 

Risks mitigated by 

Close monitoring of the LAC cohort with very 
high-risk group and CYP causing concern. 

Carried out by monitoring officer on a bi-weekly 
basis and followed up by team members 

Access to home tutorial or Hospital school with 
long-term sickness.   

 

Liaison with Social Inclusion officer where at risk 
of exclusion. 

 

Support from colleagues in EWS Regular meetings to discuss issues and concerns 

Visits from family social worker or family support 
where discerned 

 

Budget and financial performance 

£10k per annum for three years to include new 
post and certificates and rewards for attendance. 

 

122



APPENDIX A (2) 

 17

 

 
Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

123



APPENDIX A (2) 

 18

 
Indicator: HCS42a British Crime Survey comparator crimes 

HCS Theme Safer and stronger communities 

HCS Outcome Reduced levels of, and fear of, crime, drugs and anti-social behaviour 

Council Priority Reduce crime, the harm caused by illegal drugs and to reassure the public 
reducing the fear of crime. 

Council Objective To reduce British Crime Survey (BCS) Comparator Crime Figures by 2007-
08 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Stockton Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

West Mercia 
Constabulary 

Council Lead: Ms Fiennes Features in: LAA, HCS, CP 

 

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones): 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

Implementation of the Herefordshire Crime, 
Disorder and Drugs Reduction Strategy 2005-08 
as follows: 

 

- Recruit Marketing Officer to promote work of 
partnership, deliver crime reduction and harm 
minimisation messages – in post by 
September. 

- Recruit Community Development Workers (2) 
to engage with the community and enable 
them to tackle community safety issues – by 
September. 

1 Community Development post already started.   
There has been a considerable delay due to team 
restructure.  This is now moving forward, issues 
around staff contracts with partners agencies 
have been resolved and so progress can be 
made.  Recruiting in new year, expect to have 
posts filled February 2007. 

 

- 3 month radio campaign to promote Domestic 
Violence Helpline, Road Safety and Zig Zag 
(young people’s drug service). 

Radio campaign completed on 31st July 2006. 

- Drug Intervention Programme – assessment 
to be carried out on 60% of adults with whom 

100% have received assessment by the Drug 
Intervention Programme.  (Jul – Sept results, 

Performance: 

04/5 6207            05/6 6002 

06/7 -  

Apr 530   May 480 Jun 514 Jul 490 Aug 558 Sep 584 Oct 621   

Nov 554  

Year to date total - 4331 

To reduce outturns by 15% 
by 2007/08. 

Baseline 6909 (03/4) 

Targets 

06/07 5986 
07/08 5872 
 

124



APPENDIX A (2) 

 19

initial contact is made and who are not 
already on the DIP caseload. 

delay in data reports from H.Office) 

 

- Drug Intervention Programme – Direct 95% 
of adults on the caseload into treatment. 

Achieved to date 89.5%.  (Jul – Sept results, 
delay in data reports from H.Office) 

 

- Promote services of DASH (adult Drug 
Treatment service) and at key locations in 
county. 

Developing a leaflet for promoting drug services 
to clients.  Due to be printed early in the new 
year and then distributed. 

Review progress against outturn and agree 
remedial action – Mar 07 

National Drug Treatment Monitoring System 
report due out in Aug 06.  Positive report, 
performance good against targets. 

Next report due January 2007. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

Herefordshire Community Safety and Drugs 
Partnership team and police Community Safety 
team, plus partner agency staff 

See all other templates for progress reports. 

Risk(s) to achievement 

As per details on other templates See all other templates for progress reports. 

Risks mitigated by 

As per details on other templates See all other templates for progress reports. 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

125



APPENDIX A (2) 

 20

 

Indicator: HCS 42b No. of criminal damage incidents 

HCS Theme Safer and stronger communities 

HCS Outcome Reduced levels of, and fear of, crime, drugs and anti-social behaviour 

Council Priority To sustain vibrant and prosperous communities, including by providing 
more efficient, effective and customer-focused services, clean streets and 
emergency planning 

Council Objective To reduce the number of criminal damage incidents in Herefordshire 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Stockton Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

West Mercia 
Constabulary 

Council Lead: Ms Fiennes Features in: LAA, LPSA, CP 

 

 

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

Establish sub-group of Anti-social Behaviour 
Group to tackle this area, by July, working with 
StreetScene 

Sub group established.   

Carry out hotspot analysis using police and 
environment data, by July 

Hotspot analysis completed, however no pattern 
emerged or concentration of crimes.   

The number of criminal damage incidents 

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar YTD 

252 211 245 211 254 266 294 296     2029 
 

 

Criminal damage is 
one of the major 
factors affecting the 
quality of life in 
communities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of criminal damage incidents in Herefordshire

2524

2452

2316

2206

2101
2000

2100

2200

2300

2400

2500

2600

03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Actual Target
Low is good

Number of criminal damage incidents in Herefordshire

2524 2452
2690

2316 2206 2101

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Actual Target
Low is good

126



APPENDIX A (2) 

 21

Develop action plan, by August Action plan delayed due to no identified hotspots.  
Establishing best practise around the country to 
assist. 

Introduce team of Ward Officers, by September – 
led and managed by Police 

There has been a delay in police recruitment due 
to lack of training courses available.  This has     
now been rectified and recruitment processes 
started. 

Introduce tasking for Community Development 
Worker, via ASB Group, and link in with Ward 
Officers, by August 

Tasking of the Community Development worker 
is currently being formalised; it is however 
working in an informal manner now. 

Work with the police to set up PACT (Partners 
and Communities Together) meetings across 
county, as part of Local Policing Project, by 
October  - led and managed by Police 

The PACT process is being developed across the 
county and will assist us tackling this area of 
work; any areas of concern highlighted through 
this route will tasked via Anti-social Behaviour 
Group 

Recruit Community Development Workers (2) to 
engage with the community and enable them to 
tackle community safety issues – by September 

One worker has been recruited, other delayed 
due to team restructure. 

To track progress on agreed performance targets 
with police, on a quarterly basis Re-establish 
graffiti database between environmental services 
and the police , to aid hotspot analysis and 
evidence gathering. 

Anti-social behaviour group is regularly reviewing 
performance and analysing data to identify 
trends and then tasking.  The re-establishment of 
the database is being investigated, however staff 
shortages may have a negative impact, as the 
post holder responsible has been seconded 
elsewhere.  This is being pushed forward. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

LPSA2 Funding from a range of organisations to 
include LPSA2 funding 

Co-operation of staff from other agencies and 
officers to drive work forward 

Additional staffing (Community Development 
Workers and Ward Officers) 

 

Risk(s) to achievement 

Community apathy to engagement work 

Delays in employment 

Relationship with key stakeholders 

 

Risks mitigated by 

Wide ranging publicity campaign to ensure 
awareness of partnership work and key 
educational / prevention messages 

A robust performance management framework 

Maintain a positive relationship with key 
stakeholders 

 

127



APPENDIX A (2) 

 22

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

Data owner for PI  

 

 

128



APPENDIX A (2) 

 23

 

Indicator: HCS 42c Numbers of all recorded crime (overall crime rate) 

HCS Theme Safer and stronger communities 

HCS Outcome Reduced levels of, and fear of, crime, drugs and anti-social behaviour 

Council Priority Reduce crime, the harm caused by illegal drugs and to reassure the public 
reducing the fear of crime. 

Council Objective To reduce British Crime Survey (BCS) Comparator Crime Figures by 2007-
08 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead:  Cllr Stockton Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

 WMC 

Council Lead:  Sue Fiennes Features in:   LAA HCS CP 

  
 

 
 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

Implementation of the Herefordshire Crime, 
Disorder and Drugs Reduction Strategy 2005-08 
as follows: 

 

- Recruit Marketing Officer to promote work of 
partnership, deliver crime reduction and harm 
minimisation messages – in post by 
September. 

Job description has been developed and currently 
being evaluated.  Aiming to recruit Feb 07. 

• Recruit Community Development Workers (2) 
to engage with the community and enable 
them to tackle community safety issues – by 

1 Community Development post already started.   
There has been a considerable delay due to team 
restructure.  This is now moving forward, issues 

Baseline 2005/6 – 12,034 

Target 2005/6 – 11,418   Performance – 11,535 

          2006/7 – 10,831 

          2007/8 – 10,229 

Actual performance 06/7 –  

Apr 984 

May 961 

Jun 971 

Jul 971 

Aug 1133 

Sep 1045 

Oct 1018 

Nov 1036 

 

Year to date total - 8119 

129



APPENDIX A (2) 

 24

them to tackle community safety issues – by 
September. 

restructure.  This is now moving forward, issues 
around staff contracts with partners agencies 
have been resolved and so progress can be 
made.  Recruiting in new year, expect to have 
posts filled February 2007. 

 

- 3 month radio campaign to promote Domestic 
Violence Helpline, Road Safety and Zig Zag 
(young people’s drug service). 

Radio campaign completed on 31st July 2006. 

- Drug Intervention Programme – Direct 95% 
of adults on the caseload into treatment. 

89.5% previously received assessment by the 
Drug Intervention Programme. 90% now 
achieved. 100% of the client caseload is engaged 
with treatment.   

(Jul – Sept results, delay in data reports from 
H.Office) 

- Promote services of DASH (adult Drug 
Treatment service) and at key locations in 
county. 

Developing a leaflet for promoting drug services 
to clients.  Due to be printed early in the new 
year and then distributed. 

Review progress against outturn and agree 
remedial action – Mar 07 

National Drug Treatment Monitoring System 
report due out in Aug 06.  Positive report, 
performance good against targets. Next report 
due January 2007. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s)  

 Herefordshire Community Safety and Drugs 
Partnership team and police Community Safety 
team, plus partner agency staff  

See all other templates for progress reports 

Risk(s) to achievement  

As per details on other templates See all other templates for progress reports. 

Risks mitigated by 

  

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead –   

Support/Facilitator-   

Data owner for PI  

 

130



APPENDIX A (2) 

 25

 

Indicator: HCS 45 Number of Violent Crimes 

HCS Theme Safer and stronger communities 

HCS Outcome Reduced levels of, and fear of, crime, drugs and anti-social behaviour 

Council Priority To sustain vibrant and prosperous communities, including by providing 
more efficient, effective and customer-focused services, clean streets and 
emergency planning 

Council Objective To reduce the number of violent crimes in Herefordshire 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Stockton Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

West Mercia 
Constabulary 

Council Lead: Ms Fiennes Features in: LAA, LPSA, CP 

 

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget: 

1. Work with police to introduce an Alcohol Co-
ordinator, by September – led and managed by 
police 

Develop work action plan for post holder, by 
September 

1. Alcohol Co-ordinator now in post, induction 
and initial training completed.  Work programme 
currently being developed by line manager 

The number of violent crimes in Herefordshire (LPSA2G)                      

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Y.T.D. 

220 204 203 219 239 261 242 236     1824 
 

LPSA2G Target 7 

 

Target 

 

2648 (06/07) 

2553 (07/08) 

 

Baseline 03/4 2844 

 

Performance 04/05 

2752 

Performance 05/06 

2589 (target 2744) 

2,686

2,850 2,844

2,752

2,589

2,744

2,648

2553

2,250

2,500

2,750

3,000

01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Herefordshire Target

131



APPENDIX A (2) 

 26

2. a) Continuation of the Alcohol Referral 
Scheme, on-going – led by Partnership, PCT and 
Police 

2. a) Alcohol Referral Scheme has recently been 
reviewed. 

b) Improve effectiveness of bail condition part of 
referral scheme, by September – led by police 

b) Bail conditions are being used more 
effectively, after custody staff received training 
and support and planning a trial with a Fixed 
Penalty Scheme referral for 6 months, from 1st 
November 2006. 

c) Improve relationships with A&E, by September 
– led by PCT 

c) Meetings been held with A&E staff.  Assessing 
alternative ways of relationship building, 
considering new post to act as a conduit. 

d) Review Alcohol Referral Scheme, September - 
Partnership, PCT and Police 

d) Alcohol Co-ordinator is monitoring all referrals 
and assessing effectiveness of scheme. 

3. Introduction of Night-time Economy Beat 
Manager, by September – led and managed by 
police 

Develop work action plan for post holder, by 
September 

3. Delays in recruitment by West Mercia. 

4. Develop CCTV service to provide improved 
monitoring for evidence gathering 

4. Installation of new camera in Union Street 
started.  Commercial Street BT Fibre Optic links 
have been replaced.  Questionnaire sent to all 
Heads Of Service to assess where CCTV can 
assist across the council. 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

LPSA2  

Officer and other agency staff time to support 
developments 

 

Additional staff (Alcohol Co-ordinator and Night-
time Economy Beat Manager) 

 

Risk(s) to achievement 

Delays in employment  

Changes to PCT  

Relationship with partners  

Risks mitigated by 

Maintain a positive relationship with key 
stakeholders 

 

A robust performance management framework  

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead – lead officer  

Support/Facilitator-Improvement Manager  

132



APPENDIX A (2) 

 27

Data owner for PI  

 

133



APPENDIX A (2) 

 28

 

Indicator HC 74b Adults with mental health problems helped to live at home per 
1,000 population aged 18-64 

HCS Theme  

HCS Outcome  

Council Priority To enable vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, to 
enable many more older people to continue to live in their own homes 

Council Objective To maximise the independence of vulnerable adults 

  

Judgement R   

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Mrs Barnett Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

N/a 

Council Lead: Mr Hughes Features in: CP  

 

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

1. Expand early intervention service and carers’ 
support. 

Position on hold as part of PCT cost 
improvement plan (CIP) 

2. Expand deliberate self-harm service This has been expanded through the Crisis 
Assessment & Home Treatment Team providing 
24/7 availability to A&E 

3. Ensure all activity is recorded on Clix, as well as 
CPA (activity is currently under-reported) 

Need to review roles of admin’ staff to input 
CPA data into CLIX 

4. Housing strategy to be developed. Housing Strategy is currently being developed, 
anticipated to be finalised early in the new year 

 

Low level care 
received at home 
can prevent or 
postpone a person 
needing more 
intensive care 
packages or 
residential care 

Target:  

 06/07 =  4.0 

Out Turn = 37 

No. of adults with mental health problems helped to live at home 

(per 1000 pop. aged 18-64)

0

1

2

3

4

5

00-01 01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Target Herefordshire - Actual Top Quartile (Eng Auth)

Median (Eng Auth) Bottom Quartile (Eng Auth)

134



APPENDIX A (2) 

 29

Resource required to deliver the action(s)  

Additional resource identified through PCT LDP 

Crisis team to expand their role to incorporate 
deliberate self-harm 

Clix clerk to be deployed 2 days per month to 
reconcile data 

Review of CIP to release savings and re-visit 
CIP 

Risk(s) to achievement  

Resource could be withdrawn due to PCT budget 
recovery plan 

Non-identified 

Recruitment timescales could mean data not fully 
reconciled by out-turn in March 2007. 

Affordable housing not easily available. 

Formal consultation required with staff to 
incorporate Crisis and Deliberate Self-Harm 
teams into one team 

Risks mitigated by  

CMHT absorbs the role 

Action plan developed to prioritise activities 

Work with Strategic Housing to develop alternative 
options 

 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead  

Support/Facilitator  

Data owner for PI  

 

135



APPENDIX A (2) 

 30

 

Indicator: HC 74c Adults with physical disabilities helped to live at home 

HCS Theme N/a 

HCS Outcome N/a 

Council Priority To enable vulnerable adults to live independently and, in particular, to 
enable many more older people to continue to live in their own homes 

Council Objective To maximise the independence of vulnerable adults 

  

Judgement R A G 

  

Cabinet Lead: Cllr Mrs Barnett Strategic Lead-HP 
Board 

N/a 

Council Lead: Mr Hughes Features in: CP  

Action(s) required to achieve the target 
(including key milestones) 

Progress against 
action/resource/risk/mitigation/budget 

1. Implement the Best Value Review Action Plan  

1.1 Key Milestones: Meet the key milestones 
identified in the Best Value Review Action Plan. 
Ongoing. A Best Value Action Plan has been 
develop ed and the Implementation Group works 
to the key milestones identified in the plan.   

Community Equipment  
 
Transport and programme board have been 
signed off by the group 

2. Modernisation of Day Opportunities, moving 
from a building based approach to a 
community-based model. Promoting 
employment, training and volunteering 
opportunities. 

Involving people training for consultation 
 

Adults with physical disabilities helped to live at home per 1,000 population 
aged 18-64 

• Low level care 
received at home 
can prevent or 
postpone a 
person needing 
more intensive 
care packages or 
residential care 

Target 06/07 = 5.0 

 

No. of adults with physical difficulties helped to live at home 

(per 1000 pop. aged 18-64)

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

00-01 01-02 02-03 03-04 04-05 05-06 06-07 07-08

Target Herefordshire - Actual Top Quartile (Eng Auth)

Median (Eng Auth) Bottom Quartile (Eng Auth)

136



APPENDIX A (2) 

 31

 2.1 Key Milestone: Strategic Plan and 
Commissioning Strategy to be completed by 
December 2006.  Change Programme to be 
commenced March 2007. 

Work ongoing to feed into the commissioning 
strategy 
 

 

3. Promote flexibility within Direct Payments, 
through the setting up of an Operational 
Group and the development of team plans 
and targets to increase the uptake of Direct 
Payments.   

Operational Group will meet second time in 
December. 
 
Reference Group members identified and 
meeting being arranged for new year 
 
  

3.1 Key Milestone: is to develop reference group 
and operational group by July 2006.  How will 
these groups promote flexibility?  Will they 
produce a plan or strategy?   

Operational Group will meet second time in 
December. 
 
Reference Group members identified and 
meeting being arranged for new year 
  

4. Re-model transport provision.   Transport planning post agreed and Job 
Description and Person Specification drafted. 
 
Supporting People Bid drafted to include an 
independent travel training services. 
 
Criteria redrafted for transport. 
 
Charging to be reviewed as part of improvement 
plan. 

4.1 Key Milestone: to implement Transport 
Strategy groups findings and recommendations 
December 2006.   

Transport planning post agreed and Job 
Description and Person Specification 
drafted.Supporting People Bid drafted to include 
an independent travel training services.Criteria 
redrafted for transport.Charging to be reviewed 
as part of improvement plan. 

5. Implement Assistive- Technology Projects.    

5.1 Key Milestone: Implement 3 pilot projects 
September 2006. 

Project fully operational.  Currently 28 referrals 
being processed,  

6. Maximise welfare benefits, through the 
development of a model for partnership 
delivery with the Voluntary Sector. Outcome 
based SLA’s to be agreed.   

 

6.1 Key Milestone: Current SLA’s reviewed and 
services re-commissioned, September 06.  

Joint Team Manager appointed and Customer 
Service Officer post appointed. 

7. Development of a Prevention Strategy to be 
delivered in partnership with the Voluntary 
Sector.  

 

137



APPENDIX A (2) 

 32

7.1 Key Milestones: Prevention Strategy and 
Commissioning Plan drafted by November 2006. 
Introduction of services January 2007. 

This work is now part of the transformation 
board. 

8. Develop Supporting People services.    

8.1 Key Milestone:  Commissioning of new 
services through approved providers by Oct 
2006, to include handy persons schemes, re-
ablement services and telecare. These new 
service won’t have an effect on this year’s target 
if the deadline is the end of the year. 

Handy Persons Scheme proposal completed and 
to be taken to the next Supporting People 
Commissioning Board. 
 

9. Develop advocacy services.   

9.1 Key Milestone: Benchmark existing services 
September 2006.  Draft service specification by 
December 2006. 

 

Resource required to deliver the action(s) 

Physical Disabilities Team Manager in post. 

Project Manager identified to lead modernisation 
of Day Opportunities and Transport 

Telecare Grant  

Joint Team Management 

Investment needed for advocacy services. 

 

Risk(s) to achievement 

Budgetary Pressures 

Excess demand 

Failure to award Supporting People Funding 

Resistance to manage change. 

 

Risks mitigated by 

Appropriate eligibility Criteria 

Working with providers to develop the market 

Change management programme- awareness 
raising training 

 

 

Roles & responsibilities 

Operational Lead  

Support/Facilitator  

Data owner for PI  

 

138



APPENDIX A(3) 

The Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA2G) 

As at the end of November 4 indicators are marked R, compared to 1 at the end of 
September.  The 4 indicators are HCS 15 ‘No. of emergency unscheduled hospital 
bed days occupied by a person 75 and over’, HCS 30 ‘% of pupils achieving 5 or 
more GCSEs at grades A* - G or equiv. including Maths and English (LEA schools)’, 
HCS 42b ‘No. of criminal damage incidents’ and HCS 45 ‘No. of violent crimes’.  The 
assessment for HCS 15 is based on information from the PCT suggesting 
unreliability in the collection of data, HCS 42b and HCS 45 has been based on data 
figures for the first 6 months of the year, which shows performance is below target.  
Although West Mercia Constabulary are suggesting performance will improve before 
year-end, based on current figures many targets will not be achieved. 

In the report to September HCS 17 ‘Satisfaction with homecare services’ had been 
assessed as R because there was a lack of understanding of the indicator guidance 
against which a baseline could be established.  Communication is ongoing with 
GOWM to obtain further guidance, and the assessment has now moved to A to 
reflect increased belief that the survey results will be capable of being used to 
establish the baseline. 

The following chart shows the change in the proportions marked as G, A and R. 

LPSA2G Indicators

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

M
a
y

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r

Green

Amber

Red

 

The Local Area Agreement (LAA) 

At the end of November 6 indicators have been assessed as R, compared to 13 at 
the end of September.  The reason for the drop in the number of indicators assessed 
as R between reports is explained by reference to paragraphs 3-6 of the main report, 
and the ‘removal’ of a number of indicators for the purposes of in-year reporting.  In 
terms of real performance, there has been little change against the LAA since the last 
report to September. 

LAA Indicators

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%

M
a
y

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r

Green

Amber

Red

 

139



140



Appendix B 

Overall Performance Improvement Plan: exceptions report 
to the Leader and Chief Executive from the meeting of the 
Board on 21 December 2006 
 
Children and young people’s services - Status Amber 
 
It was always the attention, agreed with Government and the inspectorates, 
that the Joint Area Review (JAR) Improvement Plan, produced in response to 
the JAR report in late 2005, should be substantially completed by the end of 
2006, with any remaining actions taken forward as part of mainstream 
programmes for the improvement of children and young people’s services. 
 
The JAR Plan having mostly been completed, the GOWM Herefordshire 
Council Improvement Project Board has agreed that the continuing work 
should be rolled up into the wider programme of the Children and Young 
People’s Directorate Improvement Board.  This has now happened.   
 
This involves no let up in the pace of improvement: the implementation of the 
JAR Improvement Plan has laid foundations on which has to be built 
sustainable long-term success.  The coming months, in particular, are crucial, 
as the GOWM Board takes stock of the Council’s progress and performance 
and recommends to the Government Minister whether the GOWM Board 
needs to continue beyond 31 March 2007. 
 
In that context, it is significant that, at the GOWM Board meeting on 20 
December 2006, the GOWM representatives accepted the attached statement 
of the achievements the Council had made with its partners in 2006. 
 
Within the context of this record of significant overall achievement, the 
Overall Performance Improvement Plan Board draws attention to two 
elements of the original JAR Improvement Plan that will not be achieved 
within the target timescales. 
 
The first is the targets for the completion of initial and core 
assessments of children in need: initial assessment completion is likely to 
be 65% to the end of March 2007, against the stated target of 75%; and core 
assessment completion is likely to be nearer to 70% than the target of 80%. 
 
This is the result of the earlier reported good news about the enormous 
increase in referrals of children in need.  This has meant that, while many 
more assessments are being carried out, it has not yet been possible to attain 
the numbers necessary to reach the targets. 
 
Robust arrangements are in place to ensure that all priority needs are being 
identified and addressed.  There is also a well-developed programme to 
continue to improve performance.   
 

141



Appendix B 

All this was reported to the GOWM Board at its December meeting and 
accepted by GOWM as a sound response. 
 
The second exception is the delay in developing a full, multi-agency 
workforce strategy for children and young people’s services.  This 
was originally scheduled for May 2006 and then, following more detailed 
consideration of what would be involved, for December 2006.    
 
A Project Initiation Document has now been approved by the Children and 
Young People’s Partnership Board (CYPPB).  It is intended that the finalised 
strategy and implementation plan will be submitted to CYPPB for approval in 
May 2007. 
 
The GOWM representatives expressed concern about these delays at the 
December meeting of the GOWM Board.  A meeting is to take place between 
the lead Cabinet member and the Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services and GOWM’s Children and Young People’s Services Adviser in early 
January to discuss this and other issues that may affect the Government’s 
judgement as to the need for the continuation of the GOWM Board beyond 
the end of March 2007.  
 
          
 
               
 
 
 

 

142



Appendix B (2) 

STATEMENT OF ACHIEVEMENTS 2006 

 

• APA grades of adequate/satisfactory for services. 

• Staying Safe – good overall. 

• Outcomes 

(a) Staying Safe 

• More children in need being assessed. 

• Numbers of referrals – well in excess of target.  (969 at the end of 
November 06 against a target of 823 for the year to April 07) 

• Numbers of assessments.- The rolling year initial assessment level in 
November is 200 greater than in April (552 compared with 352).  
Similarly the  core assessment level in November is 55 higher than in 
April (165 compared with 110) 

• Tight management and regular review is ensuring more effective and 
robust risk management, providing greater assurance that 
safeguarding activity is  both effective, appropriately targeted and 
prioritised.  

• More children with disabilities being assessed by social care and 
occupational therapists  

• OT assessments during the period April – November 2006 have 
increased by 41% (86 – 121) when compared with the same period 
for 2005.  Over the same period social care assessments have 
increased by 100% (22 to 44). 

• Increase in family support services.  On target to increase the number  
of short breaks provided by 10% (63 – 70).  Negotiations well 
developed with independent sector provider for a jointly funded 
£100,000 plus contract to provide expanded family support services.  

(b) Achieving Economic Well Being 

• Increase in suitable accommodation and support for care 
leavers.  On target to deliver 10 additional units.  4 of the 6 units of 
accommodation purchased and 3 occupied.  Purchase completion of 
a further 2 units scheduled for January 07.  Negotiations progressing 
well to secure nomination rights to 4 additional units with support 
provided by Supported Housing for Young People (SHYP)  

• Decrease in numbers of families housed in bed & breakfast.- On 
target to have no families in B&B by April 2007.  Down from over 40 in 

143



Appendix B (2) 

April 2006  to 5 at the end of November 2006.  Families housed in 
B&B for more than 6 weeks down from 28 in April 2006 to 2 at the end 
of November 2006.   

• Service Management/Performance Management 

• APA grade for capacity to improve – adequate A programme of 4 projects is 
in place to improve performance management and a joint commissioning 
strategy is nearing finalisation with the aim of securing integration, effective, 
efficient and cost effective provision of services. 

• C&YP Plan – mid year review concluded performance on track and 
satisfactory  Key initiatives going into 2007 include the CAF pilot. 

• Workforce Capacity 

• Social workers above current establishment target. Cabinet have prioritised 
budget proposals for C&YP and Adult Services recognising the challenges 
being faced. 

• Effective Workforce Strategy development in place – for “children’s social 
care”and connected as 1 of the 4 priorities for the wider workforce 
strategy.The on-going recruitment campaign for qualified social workers is 
starting to deliver results. 

• Performance Management 

• Internal and External assessments of performance management – all point 
to going in the right direction, performance improvement plans in place to 
ensure that good practice is followed and becomes embedded over the 
coming year. 

• Prince 2 disciplines for improvement plan quality assured and in place. 

• Performance Management system agreed and reporting arrangements in 
place. 

• Performance Data Management and Performance Team now on sound basis 
and a positive evaluation report is anticipated from IPC in March 2007.  

• Council’s Corporate Policy and Performance Unit regard the draft  Directorate 
and Service Plans for 200710 as of a good standard which will facilitate 
effective performance monitoring.  (Work continues to complete them, 
particularly in respect of targets and key milestones for years 2008/09 and 
2009/10. 

 

144



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

2006-07 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
 

 Summary 

1. The following table summarises the 2006-07 projected outturn as of the end of 
November 2006. It also includes figures from the previous report to permit 
comparison between current and previously reported figures. 

  

 

 
Adult and Community 
Children & Young People’s 
Customer and Corporate 
Environment 
Resources 
Net position 
 
Less: 
Social Care Contingency 
Financing Transactions projected surplus 
Net Council projected overspend  

  
 
2. The overall position shows a projected £0.37 million underspend. This is 0.3% of the 

Council’s £118.285 million revenue budget (excluding Direct Schools Grant funding). 
The position has improved by £1.53m since the last report where a £1.226million 
overspend was projected. The projected position is after allowing for use of the 
Social Care contingency and the impact of the revised cash flow profile.  Slippage in 
the capital programme has helped this improved position. The report details the 
reasons for the movement but the headline areas are as follows: 

• £1.4m reduction in projected overspend for Adult and Community Services 
due to inclusion of grant income 

• £0.25m improvement in the projected interest from investments 
 
3. As previously reported, there is a key concern around the potential overspend 

position on Adult Social Care budgets.  As part of the overall 2006-07 budget, some 
contingency funding is available to mitigate this problem.  The medium term financial 
management strategy identifies that the social care contingency will be increased by 
£1.7million, topping it up to £3m given the previous forecasted overspend.  However, 
the use of the contingency can only be sanctioned after a review of the causes for 
the overspend and assurances that mitigating action was taken. 
 

4. The position in Children and Young People’s Services remains in a projected 
overspend position and must also be viewed as a key risk for the remainder of the 
financial year. 

 
5. Future projections may also see the impact of a potential receipt in excess of £1m 

from the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive (LABGI) scheme.  In February 
2006, central government allocated the first year (2005-06) of the three-year LABGI 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

Underspending  
£000 

September 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

+1,424 
+214 

+1 
+25 

                     +19 
                 +1,683 

 
 

-1,302 
   -750 

- 369  

+2,783 
+167 
+83 
+25 

                       -30 
+3,028 

 
 

-1,302 
___-500 

+1,226 

145



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

grant programme to local authorities. The LABGI scheme aims to reward authorities 
that continue to encourage business growth, with the grant based upon the 
authority’s increase in rateable value over the previous calendar year.  The 2006-07 
allocation will not be announced by central government until February 2007 but the 
allocation for Herefordshire may be significant if current estimates are correct. 

  
Revenue Reserves Position as at 30th November 2006 

 
General Reserves 
 

6. The General Revenue reserves as at 30th November totalled £14.525 million 
including £3.72 million of underspendings carried into 2006-07 from 2005-06. 

 
7. The Council’s draft Medium Term Financial Management Strategy includes proposals 

for managing General Fund Balances and specific reserves and ensuring a balanced 
budget.  A key message is a move away from a higher level of General Fund 
balances to specific Reserves to deal with key corporate financial risks. 
 

 Earmarked Reserves 
 
8. At 30th November 2006 the Council held £13.9 million of earmarked reserves.  The 

three largest reserves are: 
• Waste Management Reserve £1.386m; 
• Herefordshire Connects £1.928m; and 
• School Balances £8.739m 
 

9. School balances are ring fenced and will reduce at year-end as the Balance 
Clawback scheme is implemented.  

 
10. It is expected that a proportion of the Herefordshire Connects Reserve will be used to 

fund 2006-07 revenue expenditure and that some of the smaller revenue reserves 
will be utilised in 2006-07. 

146



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

DIRECTOR OF ADULT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 

Directorate Summary as at 30th November 2006 
 

  

 

 
Adult Services 
 
Strategic Housing 
 
Community Services 
 
Commissioning and Improvement  
 
Total   

 

Adult Services 

11. The projected outturn for Adult Social Care is an overspend of £1.53 million.  Details 
of the projected area overspends are as follows: 

• Learning Disabilities - £1,241,000 overspend 

• Older People – (£512,000) underspend 

• Physical Disabilities - £327,000 overspend 

• Mental Health - £442,000 overspend 

• Service Strategy - £53,000 overspend 

12. A cautious approach was taken at the start of the year in respect of the Access and 
Systems capacity grant, to ensure the grant was used appropriately and met its 
terms of use. The grant has been predominately utilised within the older people client 
group. The main aim of the grant funding is to assist vulnerable older people. 

 

13. The Access and Systems grant funding for financial year 2007-08 has been notified 
to the Council. Work is underway to ensure that recurrent commitments are allocated 
to the funding. Any uncommitted funding will be allocated to specific client groups in 
the next couple of months.  

 
Strategic Housing  

14. The projected outturn for Strategic Housing is an underspend of £45,000 based on 
current demand levels for temporary accommodation. The situation is being closely 
monitored in case demand increases.  However, this year has seen good progress to 
reduce pressure. 

15. The projection does include an allowance for seasonal trends. One trend is an 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending £000 

September 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

+1,530 
 

-45 
 

+54 
 

-115 
 

+2,743 
 

+8 
 

+79 
 

-47 
 

+1,424 +2,783 

147



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

increase in the number of clients presenting and being accepted as homeless during 
the Christmas and New Year period. The trend has been built into the projected 
outturn figures. 

16. The projections reflect the decrease in the number of people presenting themselves 
as homeless. The decreasing numbers are reflected in lower spending in line with 
planned budget reductions.  Details of numbers involved are as follows: 

§ Highest 2005-06 98 

§ Lowest 2005-06 66 
 

§ Average 2005-06 82 
 

§ Highest 2006-07  58 
 

§ Lowest 2006-07  18 
 

§ Average 2006-07 29.67   
 

17. Since January 2006 there has been a prevention team within the homeless section. 
The team’s key objective is to prevent service users going into temporary 
accommodation. 

18. Some non-recurrent staff vacancy savings have assisted the underspend position. 
Once these posts have been filled the saving will cease. 

Community Services 

19. The projected overspending of £54,000 is a net position made up of Public Rights of 
Way (PROW) work, the accumulated leisure deficit brought forward and additional 
traffic modelling costs for the Edgar Street Grid.  These overspends are partially 
offset by under-spending on staff within Community Regeneration. 

20. The projected under-spend on Community Safety relates to home office grant 
funding received in the current and previous year. The extent to which this funding 
could be re-directed within the division whilst still meeting the grant conditions is 
currently being explored. 

21. Halo has agreed in principle to assist in the managed reduction of the accumulated 
Leisure deficit over the medium-term. A decision will need to be made as to whether 
the deficit should again be carried forward into 2007-08, in expectation of a managed 
reduction, as was the case for 2006-07. 

22. Grounds Maintenance costs are being managed within budget, however the severe 
weather conditions currently being experienced are likely to put extreme pressure on 
the budget over the coming months. The position will be closely monitored and 
budgets will be re-allocated wherever possible to mitigate the impact. 

Efficiency Savings  

23. All the Adult Services efficiency savings have been allocated out to client groups.  
Discussions are on going about Mental Health and work is in hand to ensure savings 
are being achieved. 

148



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

24. The Community Services efficiency savings were all implemented into the base 
budget at the start of the year and the required savings are being achieved on an on-
going basis. 

149



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES 
  

Directorate Summary as at 30th November 2006 
 

  

 

 
Directorate Central Budgets 
 
Children’s Social Care/Safeguarding 
and Assessment Services  

 
Total  

 
25. The current position is a projected overspend of £214,000. In the last report the 

overall position for the Directorate was an overspend of £167,000.  There is a 
significant risk that the overspend will increase as the projection assumes no 
additional external placements for the remainder of the financial year. 

 
 Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
26. Most (80%) of the former Education budget is now funded by Dedicated Schools 

Grant. This funds delegated school budgets and central services to schools and 
pupils.  Any under or overspending will be carried forward into the Dedicated Schools 
Grant for 2007-08. 

27. Schools Forum set the schools’ budget in February 2006 and subsequent finalisation 
of DSG has resulted in a £185,000 budget deficit to be carried forward to 2007-08.  It 
is anticipated there will be an underspend of around £185,000 to meet this shortfall. 

 Directorate Central Budgets 

28. The Dedicated Schools Grant does not fund the remaining education services such 
as strategic management, SEN assessment, asset management and transport.  The 
projected underspend is £573,000, mainly on school transport (£278,000), Special 
Education Services (£91,000) and staff vacancies in the Youth Service (£140,000). 

 Children’s Social Care/ Safeguarding and Assessment Services 

29. The projected overspend on Children’s Social Care has risen by nearly £200,000 to 
is £787,000 and is mainly related to external residential agency placements 
(£520,000), fostering (£235,000) and Social Work (£150,000). These are offset by 
savings in Assessment and Family Support (£119,000). External agency placements 
have risen from 24 at the beginning of the year to 29 with each placement costing 
approximately £150,000 pa.   Unless numbers can be reduced, this cost pressure will 
continue into the new  financial year.  The number of children in foster care has also 
risen from 111 at the  beginning of the year to 121. 

 
30. A further pressure remains around Out of Area Placements for children with complex 

needs, which are jointly funded through a section 31 agreement between Health and 
Children and Young People’s Directorate (Schools Budget and Social Care 
elements). An overspend is projected as more children are expected to be placed 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

September 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

-573 
 

+787 
 

-421 
 

+588 
 

+214 +167 

150



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

during the remainder of this year. A claim on the social care contingency for the 
appropriate contribution will have to be considered. 

 
 Summary 

31. Overall, the Children and Young People’s budget continues to overspend with a 
project deficit of £214,000 at the end of November compared with a projected 
overspend of £167,000 at the end of September. 

 Efficiency Savings 
  
32. The efficiency savings required for 2006-07 have been fully taken into account in the 

Directorate’s budget planning for the year. The transport savings identified from route 
reviews last September are being maintained and further savings will be identified 
this September on an academic year basis. Efficiency savings are a key part of 
containing social care spending. 

151



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

DIRECTORATE OF CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
Directorate Summary as at 30th November 2006 
 

 

 

 
 
Herefordshire Partnership 
 
Communications 
 
Director and Administration 
 
Emergency Planning 
 
Legal and Democratic Services  

 
Info. By Phone 
 
Policy& Performance 
 
Information Services 
 
Corporate ICT Projects 
      
Total  

  

Corporate and Customer Services 

33. The projected overspend in Legal and Democratic Services should be mitigated by 
under-spends in other areas. A view will need to be taken regarding the on-going 
provision for possible reductions in partner contributions within Herefordshire 
Partnership. 

34. The launch of the proposed INFO by phone centre will bring significant budget 
pressures for start-up and on-going costs. Detailed work is on going to identify 
resources to fund the project.  It is the intention that related savings in service 
directorates will be identified and re-directed.  A clear benefits realisation plan has 
yet to be agreed by the Corporate Management Board to avoid uncertainty. The 
Resources Directorate is working with the Corporate and Customer Services 
Directorate to review budgeted and actual spending and income on the ICT Trading 
account for 2006-07. ICT are also currently looking at their ability to support 
corporate priorities and there may be some further cost implications. 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

September 
2006 

Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 
-40 

 
-20 

 
-50 

 
+6 

 
+187 

 
0 
 

-82 
 

0 
 

0 
 

-40 
 

-20 
 

-50 
 

+6 
 

+187 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 

+1 +83 

152



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT 

Directorate Summary as at 30th November 2006 
 

  

 

 
 
Environmental Health and Trading 
Standards 
 
Planning 
 
Highways and Transportation  
 

 Total 

  

 Environmental Health and Trading Standards 

35. The overall year-end position is estimated as break even. The level of payment 
against the Waste Management contract is below the profiled budget, this is mainly 
due to the slippage in the contract variation on the PFI Disposal contract and will 
continue to be monitored over the coming months for its impact on future projections. 
The current position indicates an underspend is likely to occur due to lower levels of 
activity and this will be confirmed in the next report. Any underspend against the 
contract will need to be earmarked for reserves to meet future waste management 
pressures. 

 Highways and Transportation 

36. A number of budgets remain under pressure.  Although steps are being taken to 
ensure, in the absence of Street Lighting managers in both HC and HJS, that a 
programme of works is being carried out in 2006-07 it is unlikely that this budget will 
be fully spent. Budget will be reallocated to meet pressures in other areas such as 
adverse weather, street cleansing and car parking. 

 Planning 

37. An overspend of £25,000 is projected after assessing fee income to the end of the 
year.  Planning fee income is treated as a corporate resource. 

 Efficiency Savings 

38. The efficiency savings have all been taken into account in the Directorate’s budget.  
Action is being taken to ensure the savings are made. 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

September 
2006 

Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 

0 
 
 

+25 
 

0 
 

0 
 
 

+25 
 

0 

+25 +25 

153



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES  

Directorate Summary as at 30th November 2006 
 

  

 

 
 

Corporate Budgets 
 
Property Services 
 
Finance 
 
Procurement  
 
Total 

 

Corporate Budgets  

39. At this stage in the year a net overspending of £114,000 is expected.  Anticipated 
savings on corporate subscriptions, insurance and Environment Agency levies will be 
offset by an amendment to previous grant settlements of £165,000.   

40. There is the potential for a significant underspend against Corporate budgets due to 
the Local Authority Business Growth Incentive (LABGI) scheme. The LABGI grant 
scheme is a three year programme of allocation that depend on the increase in 
rateable value of business properties in a local authority’s area. The scheme aims to 
reward authorities that continue to encourage business growth. Analysis of the 
current position shows a rise in rateable value but the allocation won’t be announced 
by central government until February 2007 and at this stage any income can only be 
estimated. 

Finance  

41. It is assumed costs of the Directorate restructure are met by the reserve for 
organisational development.  However, until a decision is made on its use, the costs 
will be shown against the relevant service areas. 

Property  

42. The net position is break-even although some significant variations exist within the 
service area.  There is additional income for rent that offsets overspending on 
buildings and corporate property maintenance. The Director of Resources is currently 
working towards achieving greater transparency in the Asset Management and 
Property Services budgets to improve financial management reporting. 

Efficiency Savings 

43. All the efficiency savings have been allocated to cost centres and services. Careful 
budget monitoring will help ensure that the savings will be achieved. 

November 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

September 2006 
Net over or (-) 

underspending 
£000 

-114 
 

0 
 

+103 
 

+30 

-150 
 

0 
 

+120 
 

0 
 

+19 
 

-30 

154



APPENDIX C 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS 

44. At this stage in the year an underspending of £750,000 is being estimated 
representing an increase of £250,000 on the previous report.  This results from 
careful investment management as well as the effect of capital programme slippage.  
Slippage has occurred in previous years and 2006-07 is no exception.  This has 
increased the underspending on financing transactions.  If slippage continues to grow 
it will further increase the position. 

155



156



APPENDIX D 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Josie Smith, Accountant – Capital 

and VAT Services, on (01432) 261867 

 2006-07 CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 

Summary 
 
1. The revised forecast for 2006-07 as at 30

th
 November totals £51,801,000, which is a 

decrease of £8,002,000 from the September forecast. The main reason for this 
decrease is a reduction in both Corporate Accommodation (£3,800,000) and 
Herefordshire Connects (£4,503,000).  The expected use of Prudential Borrowing 
has decreased by £7,920,000 as result of this. This will cause slippage on capital 
financing costs incurred in the revenue budget this year. 

2. Each individual capital project has an expected spend profile and expected spend 
totalled 58% of the revised forecast. The actual spend of £25,361,000 represents 
49% of the revised forecast. Including commitments this rises to 55% of the revised 
forecast. The under spend to date mainly relates to the expected spend on 
Herefordshire Connects not being incurred. A summary of the expenditure for each 
service area is set out in table D2. 

Capital Receipts Reserves Position as at 30
th

 November 2006 

3. The capital receipts reserve totals £14,696,000, £5,754,000 of which is ring fenced 
to housing. The remaining balance is earmarked, along with expected future capital 
receipts, to fund the next three financial years capital budget including Corporate 
Accommodation costs of £8,256,000. 

DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES 

Directorate Summary as at 30
th

 November 2006 

Budget Reported as at 30
th
 September 2006   £11,690,000 

Capital Budget Increases  
• School Building Improvements (new budget)  £150,000 

Capital Budget Decreases  
• Weobley High Sports Hall (slippage)   (£200,000) 

  
Other budget revisions (<£100k)     (£48,000) 

Revised Budget       £11,592,000 

4 The school building improvements budget is to be funded through a revenue 
contribution. The various building project works are being undertaken to reduce 
future revenue insurance costs.  

5. The Weobley High sports hall works are scheduled for completion in March, spend 
and funding have been re-profiled to reflect this.  

6. The predicted funding shortfall has been delayed by the offer of an advance of 
formula capital grants. This is not extra funding but the early receipt of future funding 
allocations. This position will be reviewed regularly through the capital monitoring 
process.    

 

157



DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

Directorate Summary as at 30
th

 November 2006 

Budget Reported as at 30
th
 September 2006 £5,726,000 

Capital Budget Increases  
• Purchase of Franklin House (new budget)  £1,256,000 

Capital Budget Decreases  
• Leominster Broad St Car Park (slippage)  (£114,000) 

• Salix Fund (slippage)     (£120,000) 

• Corporate Accommodation (reduction)  (£3,800,000) 
  
Other budget revisions (<£100k)    £11,000 

Revised Budget       £2,960,000 

 

7 Franklin House is being purchased as part of the Edgar Street Grid development. 
This purchase is being funded through grant from Advantage West Midlands. 

8. Leominster Broad Street car park work has slipped due to only testing works being 
carried out this year.  The Salix Fund ‘invest to save’ energy costs projects will carry 
on into next year. The funding of these schemes has been carried forward. 

9. The purchase of Plough Lane offices budget has been removed; subject to 
developments in the accommodation strategy.  This highlights the close links 
between capital financing issues and the Medium Term Financial Management 
Strategy (MTFMS). The accommodation strategy capital financing costs are included 
in the MTFMS at a level of £146,000 in 2007-08. This is now being reviewed.  

DIRECTORATE OF CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES   

Directorate Summary as at 30
th

 November 2006 

Budget Reported as at 30
th
 September 2006   £12,245,000 

Capital Budget Decreases  
• Herefordshire Connects (no spend)   (£4,503,000) 

   
Revised Budget       £7,742,000 

 

10. There has been no updated forecast provided in this round of capital monitoring 
however the Herefordshire Connects spend has been reduced to an estimate of 
£4,000,000 due to no spend being incurred to date.  As with the issues raised in the 
accommodation strategy section a similar link with the MTFMS exists for 
Herefordshire Connects where £1.336m is included for capital financing costs in 
2007-08. 

 

 

 

158



DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT 

Directorate Summary as at 30
th

 November 2006 

Budget Reported as at 30
th
 September 2006 £13,810,000 

Capital Budget Decreases  
• Crematorium (slippage)   (£423,000) 

• Safer Routes to Schools (slippage) (£112,000) 
  
Other budget revisions (<£100k)  £112,000 

Revised Budget    £13,387,000 

 

11. The capital forecast has been reviewed and changed slightly to accommodate the 
slippage identified on the St Thomas Cantilupe and St Martins safer routes to 
schools schemes.  

12. The Crematorium forecast has slipped to reflect that a contractor has not yet been 
appointed. Tenders are under review and a contract should be awarded shortly. 

DIRECTOR OF ADULT AND COMMUINITY SERVICES  

Directorate Summary as at 30
th

 November 2006 

Budget Reported as at 30
th
 September 2006 £16,330,000 

Capital Budget Decreases  
• Social Care ICT Development (slippage)  (£132,000) 

  
Other budget revisions (<£100k)    £78,000 

Revised Budget     £16,120,000 

 

13 Social Care ICT development is now part of the Herefordshire Connects programme, 
funding has been carried forward.   

159



 TABLE D1 

FUNDING OF REVISED 2006-07 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Capital Programme Area 

2006-07 
Revised 

Forecast 
30/09/06 

SCE(R) 
Prudential 
Borrowing  

Grant 
Revenue 

Contribution 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserves 

Unfunded 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Children & Young People’s 
Services  

11,592 2,459 2,000 4,305 342 2,486 - 

Resources 2,960 - 251 1,567 30 1,112 - 

Corporate and Customer 
Services   

7,742 - 7,472 270 - - - 

Environment Services 13,387 10,475 2,034 801 - 77 - 

Adult and Community 
Services 

16,120 217 4,130 7,528 17 4,228 - 

Total Revised Forecast 51,801 13,152 15,887 14,471 388 7,903 - 

September 2006 
Forecast 

59,803 13,152 23,807 13,209 378 9,257 - 

Change from 
September Forecast 

(8,002) - (7,920) 1,262 10 (1,354) - 

      
 

 

        

Reported to date        

Original Budget 37,015 13,197 9,499 9,431 33 4,855 - 

July 2006 Forecast 60,671 13,152 23,491 13,483 96 10,410 39 

September 2006 
Forecast 

59,803 13,152 23,807 13,209 378 9,257 - 

November 2006 
Forecast 

51,801 13,152 15,887 14,471 388 7,903 - 

 

 

160



TABLE D2 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE BY PROGRAMME AREA 

  Outturn  Original 
Budget 

Revised 
2006-07 
Forecast 

as at 
30/11/06 

Actual 
spend 

at 
30/11/06 

 

Actual 
spend as 
a % of the 

revised 
forecast 

Committed 
Spend as a 

% of the 
revised 
forecast 

Expected 
spend as 
a % of the 

revised 
forecast 

Programme area 2005-06 2006-07  2006-07 2006-07  2006-07 2006-07 2006-07 

  £’000   £’000  £’000  £’000   %  %  %  

Children & Young 
People’s Services 

7,907 8,048 11,592 6,707 58% 58% 54% 

Resources 662 520 2,903 602 21% 21% 48% 

Corporate & Customer 
Services  

4,623 1,760 7,742 2,003 26% 26% 48% 

Environment Services 10,288 12,554 13,387 6,099 46% 65% 60% 

Adult & Community 
Services 

8,365 14,133 16,120 9,950 62% 66% 67% 

Total  31,845 37,015 51,801 25,361 49% 55% 58% 

  

161



162



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 E

S
ta

g
e

 O
n

e
S

ta
g

e
 T

w
o

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 

D
ir

e
c

to
rs

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
ts

 a
ro

u
n

d
 m

a
n

a
g

in
g

 t
h

e
 r

e
p

u
ta

ti
o

n
a

l 
im

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
th

e
 

'S
ta

yi
n

g
 S

a
fe

' r
a

ti
n

g
 b

e
in

g
 'i

n
a

d
e

q
u

a
te

' i
n

 t
h

e
 J

A
R

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
h

a
ve

 
b

e
e

n
 n

o
te

d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 A

n
n

u
a

l 
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 A
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
le

tt
e

r.
 T

h
e

 
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 i
s
 n

o
w

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

s
e

c
u

re
s
 t
h

e
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

fo
rm

a
l

e
n

g
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
w

it
h

 D
fE

S
 o

n
 C

h
ild

re
n

 &
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
e

o
p

le
's

 o
u

tc
o

m
e

s
 a

n
d

 
p

ro
je

c
t

a
n

d
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t.
  

C
R

1
4

3
H

ig
h

M
e

a
s
u

re
s
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e

  
to

 t
a

c
k
le

 t
h

e
 s

h
o

rt
c
o

m
in

g
s
 a

g
a

in
s
t 
a

 p
la

n
n

e
d

 
a

n
d

 t
im

e
d

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 d

ra
w

in
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 a

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 o
f 
b

e
tt
e

r 
p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g

 
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
 a

s
 m

a
y 

b
e

 r
e

q
u

ir
e

d
. 
E

xt
e

rn
a

l 
ri

s
k
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
e

xp
e

rt
s
 

e
n

g
a

g
e

d
 t
o

 p
re

lim
in

a
ry

 a
s
s
e

s
s
 l
e

ve
l 
o

f 
ri

s
k
 i
n

 p
la

n
. 
F

a
vo

u
ra

b
le

 i
n

it
ia

l 
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
A

c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 -
 g

o
o

d
 s

te
p

s
 h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 m
a

d
e

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

ve
 

th
e

 p
o

s
it
io

n
. 
In

s
ti
tu

te
 o

f 
P

u
b

lic
 C

a
re

 e
n

g
a

g
e

d
 t
o

 w
o

rk
 w

it
h

 s
ta

ff
 t
o

 
b

u
ild

 a
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
c
u

lt
u

re
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
J
A

R
 A

c
ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 
to

g
e

th
e

r 
w

it
h

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m
 D

e
p

a
rt

m
e

n
t 
o

f 
H

e
a

lt
h

.

S
F

4
3

H
ig

h

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 s
p

e
n

d
in

g
 p

re
s
s
u

re
s
 o

u
tw

e
ig

h
 t
h

e
 l
e

ve
l 
o

f 
re

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 

a
va

ila
b

le
 t
o

 m
e

e
t 
th

e
m

. 
P

a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

p
re

s
s
u

re
s
 p

re
va

le
n

t 
in

 A
d

u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

.
C

R
2

4
4

H
ig

h

M
e

d
iu

m
 T

e
rm

 F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
S

tr
a

te
g

y 
n

o
w

 a
d

o
p

te
d

 b
y 

C
a

b
in

e
t 
a

n
d

 
h

ig
h

lig
h

ts
 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
 f
o

r 
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 c
a

p
a

c
it
y 

to
 b

e
 c

re
a

te
d

 t
o

 m
e

e
t 

fu
tu

re
 s

p
e

n
d

in
g

 p
re

s
s
u

re
s
. 
S

o
c
ia

l 
C

a
re

 o
ve

rs
p

e
n

d
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 a

t 
C

a
b

in
e

t 
a

n
d

 a
t 
S

c
ru

ti
n

y 
C

tt
e

e
. 
B

u
d

g
e

t 
P

la
n

 a
d

o
p

te
d

 t
o

 
m

in
im

is
e

 p
re

s
s
u

re
s
 a

n
d

 n
e

e
d

s
 a

n
a

ly
s
is

 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 f
u

tu
re

 p
a

tt
e

rn
s
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 w

it
h

 c
o

s
te

d
 o

p
ti
o

n
s
. 
T

h
is

 w
ill

 b
e

 r
e

p
o

rt
e

d
 b

y 
th

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

A
u

g
u

s
t.

A
L

L
/S

R
4

3
H

ig
h

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 C
o

n
n

e
c
ts

: 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 
g

o
 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 r
o

b
u

s
t 

in
ve

s
tm

e
n

t 
a

p
p

ra
is

a
l 
a

n
d

 s
u

b
s
e

q
u

e
n

t 
s
a

vi
n

g
s
 n

o
t 
b

e
in

g
 r

e
a

lis
e

d
 

le
a

d
in

g
 t
o

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

u
ts

. 
C

R
3

4
4

H
ig

h

R
o

b
u

s
t 
a

p
p

ra
is

a
ls

 a
re

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 
b

a
s
e

d
 o

n
 h

a
rd

 d
a

ta
, 
c
o

m
p

a
ra

ti
ve

 
a

n
d

 s
e

n
s
it
iv

it
y 

a
n

a
ly

s
e

s
 a

n
d

 d
e

liv
e

ra
b

ili
ty

. 
S

tr
o

n
g

 c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 
g

o
ve

rn
a

n
c
e

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

 a
re

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

. 
C

h
a

n
g

e
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

a
p

p
o

in
te

d
. 

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 T

ra
n

s
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 B

o
a

rd
 c

re
a

te
d

 a
n

d
 t
h

e
 n

e
w

 g
o

ve
rn

a
n

c
e

 
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 a

p
p

ro
ve

d
. 
P

ro
c
u

re
m

e
n

t 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 a
g

re
e

d
. 
B

e
n

e
fi
ts

 
re

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 f
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
 t
o

 b
e

 d
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
.

N
P

4
3

H
ig

h

T
h

e
 M

T
F

S
 h

ig
h

lig
h

ts
 b

o
th

 t
h

e
 i
n

ve
s
tm

e
n

t 
re

q
u

ir
e

d
 f
o

r 
H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 
C

o
n

n
e

c
ts

 a
n

d
 t
h

e
 e

xp
e

c
te

d
 s

a
vi

n
g

s
 b

o
th

 i
n

 t
h

e
 s

h
o

rt
 a

n
d

 l
o

n
g

 t
e

rm
. 

A
 k

e
y 

ri
s
k
 w

ill
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
e

 t
o

 b
e

 t
h

e
 t
im

in
g

 a
n

d
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
a

vi
n

g
s
 

fl
o

w
in

g
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 w
h

ils
t 
m

in
im

is
in

g
 t
h

e
 r

is
k
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

u
ts

 
n

e
e

d
in

g
 t
o

 b
e

 m
a

d
e

 t
o

 b
a

la
n

c
e

 t
h

e
 b

u
d

g
e

t.

F
a

ilu
re

 t
o

 m
a

in
ta

in
 C

P
A

 “
3

 s
ta

r”
 r

a
ti
n

g
 a

n
d

 m
o

ve
 f
ro

m
 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 

a
d

e
q

u
a

te
ly

 t
o

 i
m

p
ro

vi
n

g
 s

tr
o

n
g

ly
C

R
4

4
3

H
ig

h

C
a

p
a

c
it
y 

c
re

a
te

d
 a

t 
a

 s
e

n
io

r 
le

ve
l 
a

n
d

 a
d

h
e

re
n

c
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 O

ve
ra

ll 
im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 a
g

re
e

d
 i
n

 M
a

rc
h

. 
B

o
a

rd
 t
o

 m
o

n
it
o

r 
p

ro
g

re
s
s
 s

e
t 
u

p
 

u
n

d
e

r 
D

ir
e

c
to

r 
o

f 
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 &

 C
u

s
to

m
e

r 
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 
It
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
s
 

e
ff
e

c
ti
ve

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 a

n
d

 p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h

e
 f
u

ll 
in

te
g

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l 
p

la
n

n
in

g
. 

A
L

L
/N

P
3

3
M

e
d

iu
m

U
s
e

 o
f 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 I
m

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 b
e

in
g

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
 i
n

c
lu

d
e

d
 

V
fM

 s
e

lf
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
in

 A
u

g
u

s
t.

S
R

C
o

n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 w
o

rk
 h

a
s
 t
a

k
e

n
 p

la
c
e

 i
n

 e
m

b
e

d
d

in
g

 a
 s

tr
o

n
g

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 s

tr
u

c
tu

re
d

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
s
 

b
e

tw
e

e
n

 C
h

ie
f 
E

xe
c
u

ti
ve

 a
n

d
 D

ir
e

c
to

rs
. 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
m

a
n

a
g

e
r 

p
o

s
ts

 
h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 a
p

p
ro

ve
d

 f
o

r 
a

ll 
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
 a

n
d

 r
e

c
ru

it
m

e
n

t 
is

 w
e

ll 
a

d
va

n
c
e

d
 w

it
h

 m
o

s
t 
p

o
s
ts

 t
o

 b
e

 f
ill

e
d

 b
y 

e
a

rl
y 

2
0

0
7

.

N
P

/J
J

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
 R

is
k

 -
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 R

is
k

s

Id
e

n
ti

fi
e

d

R
is

k
 

R
e

fe
re

n
c

e
 

N
u

m
b

e
r

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
is

k
 (

A
s

s
u

m
e

 N
O

 

c
o

n
tr

o
ls

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

) 
u

s
in

g
 r

is
k

 m
a

tr
ix

R
is

k
 C

o
n

tr
o

ls
 M

e
a

s
u

re
s

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 
R

is
k

 (
W

it
h

 

c
o

n
tr

o
l 

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

)

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
lh

o
o

d
 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

163



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 E

S
ta

g
e

 O
n

e
S

ta
g

e
 T

w
o

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 

D
ir

e
c

to
rs

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
 R

is
k

 -
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 R

is
k

s

Id
e

n
ti

fi
e

d

R
is

k
 

R
e

fe
re

n
c

e
 

N
u

m
b

e
r

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
is

k
 (

A
s

s
u

m
e

 N
O

 

c
o

n
tr

o
ls

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

) 
u

s
in

g
 r

is
k

 m
a

tr
ix

R
is

k
 C

o
n

tr
o

ls
 M

e
a

s
u

re
s

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 
R

is
k

 (
W

it
h

 

c
o

n
tr

o
l 

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

)

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
lh

o
o

d
 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
it
y 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

C
R

5
3

4
H

ig
h

S
u

b
s
ta

n
ti
a

l 
c
a

p
it
a

l 
in

ve
s
tm

e
n

t 
m

a
d

e
 i
n

 I
C

T
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 a
n

d
 d

is
a

s
te

r 
re

c
o

ve
ry

 a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

. 
W

o
rk

s
h

o
p

s
 h

e
ld

 f
o

r 
a

ll 
d

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

s
 a

n
d

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 c

o
n

ti
n

u
it
y 

p
la

n
s
 h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 p
re

p
a

re
d

 a
n

d
 d

u
e

 f
o

r 
te

s
ti
n

g
 

d
u

ri
n

g
 t
h

e
 y

e
a

r 
in

 b
u

s
in

e
s
s
 c

ri
ti
c
a

l 
s
ys

te
m

s
 a

n
d

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 
M

o
n

th
ly

 
c
h

e
c
k
s
 m

a
d

e
 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 a

m
e

n
d

m
e

n
ts

 a
re

 m
a

d
e

 t
o

 a
ll 

p
la

n
s
. 
 A

n
n

u
a

l 
u

p
d

a
te

 o
f 
o

f 
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

R
is

k
 R

e
g

is
te

r 
to

 i
n

fo
rm

 t
h

e
 r

e
vi

e
w

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 o

f 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

e
m

e
rg

e
n

c
y 

re
s
p

o
n

s
e

 p
la

n
s
 i
n

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 e

m
e

rg
e

n
c
y 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 t
e

h
 C

o
u

c
n

il'
s
 a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 t
o

 a
s
s
is

t 
re

c
o

ve
ry

  
a

n
d

 
re

tu
rn

 t
o

 n
o

rm
a

lit
y 

o
f 
te

h
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y 

&
 e

n
vi

ro
n

m
e

n
t 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 a
n

 
e

m
e

rg
e

n
c
y.

 B
i-

a
n

n
u

a
l 
e

xe
rc

is
in

g
 o

f 
e

th
 E

m
e

rg
e

n
c
y 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

 T
e

a
m

. 
A

n
n

u
a

l 
e

xe
rc

is
in

g
 o

f 
e

m
e

rg
e

n
c
y 

re
s
p

o
n

s
e

 p
la

n
s
. 
 

A
L

L
/N

P
3

3
M

e
d

iu
m

C
o

n
ti
n

u
it
y 

o
f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 J
a

rv
is

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 s
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
p

a
rt

n
e

ri
n

g
 

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

C
R

6
4

3
H

ig
h

R
e

g
u

la
r 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 h

e
ld

 b
e

tw
e

e
n

 s
e

n
io

r 
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 b
o

th
 

s
id

e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
.

G
D

3
3

M
e

d
iu

m

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 C
a

p
a

c
it
y 

to
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

h
a

s
 

e
m

b
a

rk
e

d
 u

p
o

n
.

C
R

7
4

3
H

ig
h

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t,
 C

le
a

r 
L

e
a

d
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 S
e

n
io

r 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n

g
. 
C

a
p

a
c
it
y 

is
s
u

e
s
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 w

it
h

in
 C

P
A

 
in

s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e

 p
a

rt
 o

f 
Im

p
ro

ve
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

. 
A

 m
in

im
u

m
 o

f 
2

0
%

 
o

f 
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

 d
ir

e
c
to

rs
' t

im
e

 w
ill

 b
e

 s
p

e
n

t 
o

n
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 i
s
s
u

e
s
.

N
P

4
2

M
e

d
iu

m

A
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t 
o

f 
L

P
S

A
 2

 t
a

rg
e

ts
 a

n
d

 h
e

n
c
e

 t
h

e
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 R
e

w
a

rd
 

G
ra

n
t 
(P

R
G

).
 F

a
ilu

re
 t
o

 m
a

n
a

g
e

 f
u

tu
re

 P
R

G
 w

ill
 h

a
ve

 a
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n

t 
a

n
d

 d
e

tr
im

e
n

ta
l 
im

p
a

c
t 
o

n
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 a

b
ili

ty
 t
o

 i
n

ve
s
t 
in

 f
u

tu
re

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 g
a

in
s
 i
n

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
.

C
R

8
3

3
M

e
d

iu
m

L
P

S
A

. 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

a
n

d
 t
h

e
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
P

o
lic

y 
&

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 
n

o
w

 m
e

t 
re

g
u

la
rl

y 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
 a

s
s
ig

n
e

d
 p

ro
je

c
t 
m

a
n

a
g

e
r 

a
n

d
 h

a
ve

 
a

g
re

e
d

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ti
e

s
 f
o

r 
c
h

a
s
in

g
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 a

n
d

 e
n

s
u

ri
n

g
 a

c
ti
o

n
. 
In

 
a

d
d

it
io

n
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 a

re
  
re

c
e

iv
e

d
 e

ve
ry

 2
 m

o
n

th
s
, 
in

 l
in

e
 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
, 
e

n
a

b
lin

g
 

p
ro

a
c
ti
ve

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

is
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
g

ro
u

p
.

S
F

/G
H

/G
D

3
3

M
e

d
iu

m

D
e

liv
e

ry
 o

f 
L

o
c
a

l 
A

re
a

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t

C
R

9
3

2
M

e
d

iu
m

L
A

A
 -

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 t
e

a
m

 a
n

d
 P

o
lic

y 
&

 P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 h
a

ve
 a

g
re

e
d

 a
 

jo
in

t 
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 t
o

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h

e
 L

A
A

 r
e

vi
e

w
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 a

n
d

 L
A

A
 r

e
fr

e
s
h

 
m

a
n

d
a

to
ry

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 i
n

 t
h

e
 p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
s
 f
o

r 
th

e
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

la
n

 t
h

u
s
 

e
n

s
u

ri
n

g
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 o

n
ly

 o
n

e
 p

ro
c
e

s
s
 a

n
d

 n
o

 c
o

n
fu

s
io

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

.

J
J

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m

C
R

1
1

3
3

M
e

d
iu

m
S

u
c
c
e

s
s
io

n
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
p

ro
vi

s
io

n
A

L
L

/D
J

2
2

M
e

d
iu

m

U
ti
lis

e
 S

R
D

s
 /
 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 
c
a

re
e

r 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
p

o
s
ts

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

c
lu

d
e

 j
o

b
 

e
va

lu
a

ti
o

n
. 
9

3
%

 S
R

D
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 b
y 

th
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
M

a
y.

 F
u

rt
h

e
r 

w
o

rk
 

b
e

in
g

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 
o

n
 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 g
a

p
s
. 
H

R
 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 D
ir

e
c
to

ra
te

s
 

d
e

liv
e

r 
to

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 n

e
e

d
s
, 
to

 w
o

rk
 t
o

 I
n

ve
s
to

r 
in

 P
e

o
p

le
 

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

.

4
4

H
ig

h

F
o

c
u

s
e

d
 r

e
c
ru

it
m

e
n

t 
a

c
ti
vi

ty
 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 i
d

e
n

ti
fi
e

d
 s

h
o

rt
a

g
e

s
 e

.g
. 

S
o

c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

 (
C

h
ild

re
n

s
),

 p
lu

s
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
o

f 
a

 w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

 p
la

n
, 
a

n
d

 
w

o
rk

 t
o

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
t 
n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
d

a
ta

 s
e

ts
. 
W

o
rk

 t
o

 s
e

t 
a

n
d

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

h
a

s
 b

e
g

u
n

. 
 

P
ro

m
o

te
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
ra

in
in

g
 

a
g

re
e

m
e

n
ts

 a
n

d
 p

a
ym

e
n

t 
o

f 
p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a

l 
fe

e
s
. 
D

e
ve

lo
p

 s
e

c
o

n
d

m
e

n
t 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
 i
n

te
rn

a
lly

 a
n

d
 w

it
h

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

. 
· 
Im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 l
e

a
d

e
rs

h
ip

 a
n

d
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
th

ro
u

g
h

 a
 r

e
vi

e
w

 o
f 
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t

P
ri

d
e

 i
n

 H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 b
e

 i
m

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
.

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t 
s
o

ft
w

a
re

 t
o

 r
e

vi
e

w
 n

e
w

 p
a

y 
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t
h

a
t 
it
 i
s
 

e
q

u
a

lit
y 

p
ro

o
fe

d
.

R
e

c
ru

it
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 r
e

te
n

ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 w

h
e

re
 t
h

e
re

 a
re

 n
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
s
k
ill

s
 

s
h

o
rt

a
g

e
s
 a

n
d

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
J
o

b
 E

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
. 
E

n
s
u

ri
n

g
 

c
o

n
s
is

te
n

t 
tr

e
a

tm
e

n
t 
o

f 
E

q
u

a
l 
P

a
y 

C
la

im
s

164



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 E

S
ta

g
e

 O
n

e
S

ta
g

e
 T

w
o

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

le
 

D
ir

e
c

to
rs

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
 R

is
k

 -
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 R

is
k

s

Id
e

n
ti

fi
e

d

R
is

k
 

R
e

fe
re

n
c

e
 

N
u

m
b

e
r

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
is

k
 (

A
s

s
u

m
e

 N
O

 

c
o

n
tr

o
ls

 i
n

 p
la

c
e

) 
u

s
in

g
 r

is
k

 m
a

tr
ix

R
is

k
 C

o
n

tr
o

ls
 M

e
a

s
u

re
s

A
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

R
e

s
id

u
a

l 
R

is
k

 (
W

it
h

 

c
o

n
tr

o
l 

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

)

Im
p

a
c

t 

(S
e

v
e

ri
ty

)

L
ik

e
lh

o
o

d
 

(P
ro

b
a

b
il

it
y
)

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

R
a

ti
n

g

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 D
iv

e
rs

it
y:

 R
is

k
 o

f 
n

o
t 
a

c
h

ie
vi

n
g

  
le

ve
l 
a

n
d

 n
o

t 
im

p
ro

vi
n

g
 

S
ta

n
d

a
rd

C
R

1
2

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m

L
o

n
g

 t
e

rm
 d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
p

la
n

 p
ro

d
u

c
e

d
. 
E

IA
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

s
 t
o

 b
e

 
in

c
o

rp
o

ra
te

d
 i
n

to
 S

e
rv

ic
e

 P
la

n
s
 a

n
d

 m
o

n
it
o

re
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
p

ro
c
e

s
s
.

J
J

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m

S
u

c
c
e

s
s
fu

l 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 o

f 
A

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
 S

tr
a

te
g

y.
C

R
1

3
4

4
H

ig
h

Is
s
u

e
s
 c

o
n

c
e

rn
in

g
 t
h

e
 a

c
q

u
is

it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 a
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 

w
it
h

 S
c
o

tt
is

h
 &

 N
e

w
c
a

s
tl
e

 w
h

e
re

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

w
e

re
 n

o
ti
fi
e

d
 o

f 
a

 p
ro

p
e

rt
y 

re
vi

e
w

 o
f 
a

ll 
p

ro
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 s

it
e

s
. 
In

it
ia

l 
m

o
ve

s
 w

it
h

in
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y 
to

 
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

.

S
R

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m

A
n

 e
m

e
rg

in
g

 r
is

k
 i
s
 t
h

e
 m

o
ve

 t
o

w
a

rd
s
 f
le

xi
b

le
 w

o
rk

in
g

. 
H

o
m

e
w

o
rk

 
p

la
c
e

 a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
 w

ill
 n

e
e

d
 t
o

 b
e

 c
a

rr
ie

d
 o

u
t 
fo

r 
a

ll 
s
ta

ff
 f
o

rm
a

lly
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 f
ro

m
 h

o
m

e
.

D
J
/J

H

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 C
o

n
n

e
c
ts

: 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
c
a

p
a

c
it
y 

a
n

d
 c

a
p

a
b

ili
ti
e

s
 n

o
t 

s
u

ff
ic

ie
n

tl
y 

d
e

ve
lo

p
e

d
 t
o

 p
la

n
 i
n

 a
d

va
n

c
e

, 
a

n
d

 d
e

liv
e

r,
 t
h

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 f
o

r 
re

a
lis

a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y 

s
a

vi
n

g
s
.

C
R

1
4

4
4

H
ig

h
N

P
4

3
H

ig
h

D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
a

 P
u

b
lic

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 T

ru
s
t 
fo

r 
H

e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

C
R

1
5

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m
E

xt
e

rn
a

l 
a

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 f
o

r 
th

e
 f
ir

s
t 
p

h
a

s
e

 o
f 
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

s
e

c
u

re
d

.
G

H
3

2
M

e
d

iu
m

F
a

ilu
re

 o
f 
W

a
s
te

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
C

o
n

tr
a

c
t 
le

a
d

in
g

 t
o

 f
a

ilu
re

 t
o

 m
e

e
t 

d
iv

e
rs

io
n

 t
a

g
e

ts
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a

l 
fo

r 
th

e
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 t
o

 b
e

 p
a

yi
n

g
 £

1
5

0
 

p
e

r 
to

n
n

e
 e

xt
ra

 o
n

 o
u

r 
m

is
s
e

d
 t
a

g
e

t 
to

n
n

a
g

e
s
. 
F

a
ilu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
n

tr
a

c
t 

w
o

u
ld

 a
ls

o
 l
e

a
d

 t
o

 t
h

e
 l
o

s
s
 o

f 
P

F
I 
c
re

d
it
s
 

C
R

1
6

4
2

M
e

d
iu

m

O
n

g
o

in
g

 c
o

m
m

it
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

 a
n

d
 W

o
rc

e
s
te

rs
h

ir
e

 t
o

 
re

ta
in

in
g

 t
h

e
 e

xi
s
ti
n

g
 c

o
n

tr
a

c
t.
 T

h
e

 i
n

c
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
u

b
c
o

n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 

in
to

 t
h

e
 e

xi
s
ti
n

g
 c

o
n

tr
a

c
t 
a

s
 a

 v
a

ri
a

ti
o

n
 s

h
o

u
ld

 e
n

a
b

le
 a

d
e

q
u

a
te

 
w

a
s
te

 t
o

 b
e

 d
iv

e
rt

e
d

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t
h

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 
b

e
c
o

m
e

 s
u

b
je

c
t 

to
 p

e
n

a
lt
ie

s
 u

n
d

e
r 

th
e

 L
a

n
d

fi
ll 

A
llo

w
a

n
c
e

 T
ra

d
in

g
 S

c
h

e
m

e
 (

L
A

T
S

).
 

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h

ir
e

  
a

n
d

 W
o

rc
e

s
te

rs
h

ir
e

 h
a

ve
 a

n
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n

t 
to

 T
ra

d
e

 
L

A
T

S
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 t
h

e
 t
w

o
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
 a

t 
"n

o
 c

o
s
t"

 t
o

 o
ff
s
e

t 
ri

s
k
s
 -

 t
h

is
 r

is
k
 

n
e

e
d

s
 t
o

 b
e

 f
o

rm
a

lis
e

d
.

G
D

4
1

L
o

w

U
s
e

 o
f 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 J

u
d

g
e

m
e

n
t

C
R

1
7

4
2

M
e

d
iu

m

M
a

n
a

g
e

rs
 h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 a
llo

c
a

te
d

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 K

e
y 

L
in

e
s
 o

f 
E

n
q

u
ir

y 
s
o

 t
h

a
t 
a

ll 
re

q
u

ir
e

d
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 h

a
ve

 b
e

e
n

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
. 
T

h
e

 A
u

d
it
 

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
's

 i
n

s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

. 
A

n
y 

a
c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 
p

ro
d

u
c
e

d
 b

y 
th

e
 a

u
d

it
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 w

ill
 b

e
 g

iv
e

n
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

.

S
R

3
2

M
e

d
iu

m

B
F

I 
In

s
p

e
c
ti
o

n
C

R
1

8
2

2
L

o
w

B
F

I 
re

p
o

rt
 o

n
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o

n
s
 h

a
s
 m

a
d

e
 a

 n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
s
 

a
n

d
 a

n
 a

c
ti
o

n
 p

la
n

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 d

ra
w

n
 u

p
 t
o

 d
e

a
l 
w

it
h

 t
h

e
s
e

. 
M

o
n

th
ly

 
m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 i
s
 i
n

 p
la

c
e

 b
y 

th
e

 H
e

a
d

 o
f 
S

e
rv

ic
e

 t
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 w

e
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
is

 p
la

n
  
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 e

n
a

b
le

 u
s
 t
o

 m
e

e
t 
b

o
th

 t
h

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 a

n
d

 e
n

a
b

le
rs

 a
s
p

e
c
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 t
h

e
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

 
s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
. 
 

S
R

2
2

L
o

w

P
o

s
it

io
n

:_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

 

D
a

te
:_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_

S
ig

n
e

d
: 

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_

_

165



166



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Peter Cordy, Interim Head of Asset Management and Property Services on 01432 383519 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN :  
OVERVIEW ISSUES REPORT  

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: RESOURCES 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To endorse the Asset Management Plan 2006/07, approve revised Asset Management 
arrangements and to inform Cabinet of the key issues and actions relating to the 
implementation of the Council’s Asset Management Plan 2006/07. 

Key Decision 

This is not a Key Decision 

Recommendations 

THAT (a) the Asset Management Plan for 2006/07 be endorsed; 

(b) the revised Asset Management arrangements outlined at Appendix 2 
be approved in principle; and 

(c) the key issues and actions identified be noted. 

Reasons 

To comply with the requirement to obtain Cabinet endorsement of the Asset Management 
Plan. 

Considerations 

1. There is a continuing requirement to produce an annual Asset Management Plan 
(AMP) that sets out the Council’s approach to managing its property assets. 

2. There is no longer a requirement to submit the AMP to the Government Office of 
the West Midlands (GOWM) but there is an expectation that it will continue to 
represent a significant statement of the Council’s intentions in respect of how it 
uses its resources and will, therefore, form a key part of the Use of Resources 
Assessments by the Audit Commission. 

3. There is an expectation that the AMP will be reported annually to the Cabinet and 
endorsed as Council Policy. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

167



Key Issues and Actions 

4. Restructuring Asset Management and Property Services 

The Council has recognised a need to manage its assets more strategically and 
has appointed an Interim Head of Asset Management & Property Services to 
manage the transition of the property service as part of the new Directorate of 
Resources.  

The capacity of the service is currently limited and there is an urgent need to build 
in additional capacity and resilience. There is a need to reflect the competitive 
nature of the market for professional staff in recruiting and retaining staff. 

Asset Management & Property Services will be reorganised to provide a Strategic 
Asset Management and Property Operations focus structured around five main 
areas of operation plus business support {As shown in Appendix 1}.  

Actions: 

Ø Detailed work on developing the team structures and implementation plan will 
commence and will include discussions on identifying staff to transfer from other 
Directorates and funding streams – target date for completion - end January 2007. 

Ø A detailed financial appraisal of the impact of the proposals and the additional 
costs of implementing the proposed management structure will be undertaken and 
will identify possible sources of funding to deliver an affordable solution – target 
date – January 2007. 

Ø Recruitment of the Head of Asset Management & Property Services will start in 
January 2007 – target for appointment - mid to end March 2007. 

Ø The definition of the job role and evaluation of the new posts of Strategic Asset 
Manager and Property Operations Manager will be commenced and recruitment 
start – target for appointment - end March to mid April 2007. 

Ø The definition of the job roles of the Group Leader posts and recruitment to new 
posts will commence following appointment of the Strategic Asset Manager and 
Property Operations Manager. 

 
5. Review of the Corporate Asset Management arrangements 

Work to review the suitability of current organisational arrangements for corporate 
asset management outlined in Appendix 3 of the Asset Management Plan will be 
undertaken. 

The purpose of this review will be to streamline the reporting arrangements and 
secure greater senior officer involvement in owning the development of the asset 
management plan and capital strategy. 

It is proposed that the principles shown in the outline diagram at Appendix 2 of this 
report be developed as the preferred model and that a Corporate Property Strategy 
Group {CPSG}, chaired by the Director of Resources, and reporting directly to the 
Corporate Management Board, take the place of the Capital Strategy Group 
{CSG}.   

168



Actions: 

Ø The revised management and reporting arrangements will be introduced by the 
end of March 2007.  

6. Strategic Fit Property Review 

There is a need to develop an improved understanding of the contribution of 
property assets to the Council’s {and its partners’} plans by carrying out a 
‘Strategic Fit Property Review’. 

The aim of the review will be to identify strategic issues and opportunities for the 
built estate, which support the Council’s Corporate Strategy, Community Plan and 
Service Plans and inform business decisions in respect of its own {and partners} 
property assets.    

The Review will comprise a ‘high-level’ exercise to establish the current position in 
respect of the Council’s property interests and focus attention on properties 
identified as no longer meeting an identified service priority or requiring significant 
investment to make them fit for purpose. 

It will include engagement with key stakeholders and partners to identify service 
issues and priorities and will identify the current and future need for property by the 
Council (and its external partners in so far as they affect the Council). 

The outcome will be recommendations for a prioritised programme of more specific 
property reviews and site studies to work up the range of options available and 
develop outline business cases (OBC) and project plans for securing 
improvements in the performance of property. 

Actions: 

Work has commenced on a Strategic Fit Pilot project in Hereford City – 

Ø Hereford City Pilot – complete by end February 2007 (to inform accommodation 
strategy) 

Ø Market Towns – rolling programme March to June 2007 

 
7. Support to Corporate Projects 

A number of the Council’s corporate projects are dependent upon property advice 
and support will be provided as follows: 

Public Service Trust (PST). The development of the model for the PST will require 
detailed consideration of the respective partners’ property assets and identification 
of the opportunities and constraints for improved partnership working and joint 
ownership.  

Actions: 

Ø The potential for new ways of working and the possibilities for disposing of assets 
to fund the property strategy of the PST will require detailed professional property 
input from an early stage.  

169



Herefordshire Connects. The ability to translate the aspiration of transforming the 
way services are accessed by the public through the exploitation of developments 
in communications technology and local customer access points (Info shops etc.) 
requires property needs to be identified and integrated to ensure that future 
customer needs and property requirements are aligned.  

Actions: 

Ø Detailed professional property input will continue to be provided to the project.  

New Ways of Working. The importance of matching future property needs to reflect 
changes in the way services are delivered in future has been recognised.  

Actions: 

Ø Property and facilities management expertise will be required in translating future 
service models into functional workspace environments incorporating a mix of 
solutions ranging from home-working; hot-desking and touch-down facilities to fully 
dedicated workstations.  

Ø Provision of support areas comprising break-out areas; informal and formal 
meeting areas; cyber cafes; archiving and storage will also be included.  

Accommodation Strategy. The reconsideration of the Council’s Accommodation 
Strategy, following the decision by Scottish & Newcastle to postpone a decision on 
the sale or otherwise of their Plough Lane offices and additional land to the 
Council, will require significant property input.  

Actions: 

Ø The development of the strategy for accommodating the Council’s ‘back office’ 
staff and those staff delivering services in the community will include examining 
single site, dual site and multi site options and will depend upon translating needs 
identified through the Herefordshire Connects and New Ways of Working projects.  

Ø Translating the strategic requirement into an operational delivery plan will involve 
detailed site identification and evaluation and will include examining availability of 
sites close to Hereford City Centre (e.g. Edgar Street Grid) and also elsewhere 
within the city. 

Edgar Street Grid Development. Representation of the Council’s property interests 
as a partner in the Edgar Street Grid joint venture will require input at both strategic 
and operational levels.  

Actions: 

Ø A strategic objective for the provision of professional property support will be input 
to the development of the Master Plan to ensure the proposals recognise the 
Council’s position as major land-owner and protect the duty to demonstrate best 
consideration, whilst using the well-being powers where appropriate.  

Ø At an operational level, assistance will be needed to manage the acquisition of 
identified properties {where necessary by use of compulsory purchase powers} 
and to manage properties bought in until required for redevelopment. 

Rotherwas Futures. The management of the Council’s investment in the 
Rotherwas Industrial Estate and the continued realisation of the significant revenue 
and employment opportunities will remain a high priority. 

170



Actions: 

Ø The potential for additional investment in the area and the release of further 
employment land offered by the proposed Rotherwas Relief Road will be closely 
monitored and promoted. 

8. Maintenance Backlog needs and Building Condition 

The outstanding backlog maintenance of the Council will be systematically reduced 
through continued focus including: 

Assessment of priority need. The amount of outstanding backlog maintenance  
needing to be addressed over the next five years has been assessed at £17.75 
million. Of this £10,000 is categorised as Unavoidable (i.e work to prevent 
immediate closure of buildings) whilst £9,400,000 is categorised as Essential (i.e. 
work required within 2 years to avoid significant deterioration).  

Action: 

Ø A range of strategies to maintain the Council’s buildings at an acceptable standard 
are in place and, where necessary, disposal is pursued as an alternative option to 
major repairs. 

Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) adaptations. The number of buildings open to 
the public which fully comply with the requirements of the DDA (excluding schools) 
are  38 out of a total of  72. This represents  53% of the assets. 

 The investment needed to bring the rest of the estate up to the required standard is 
estimated at between £2million and £3million although a number of buildings could 
be disposed of as an alternative to carrying out the adaptations.  

Action: 

Ø As above a range of alternative strategies are in place to improve the proportion of 
Council buildings which comply with the requirements of the DDA.   

Energy & waste reduction initiatives. The importance of carbon management in 
reducing the amount of energy consumed and wasteful emissions is a financial 
imperative as well as a corporate priority in respect of the Council’s sustainability 
objectives. 

Action: 

Ø Carbon management initiatives and the use of external sources of grant funding 
will continue to be identified and the return on investment measured. 

9. Partnerships – Partnering Contracts: HJS and Owen Williams 

The Strategic partnerships that the Council has in place will be actively managed in 
respect of: 

Contract monitoring and compliance - ensuring delivery of quality outcomes 
throughout the supply chain. 

Leveraging the relationship - in respect of knowledge transfer and innovation and 
supporting development of supply chain partners.  

171



Capacity building - providing confidence that peak demands can be met in a cost 
effective way that retains access to skills and expertise. 

Action: 

Ø Liaison with the Council’s partners will continue to obtain the additional benefits 
that should result from close co-operation in the areas of innovation and 
knowledge transfer. 

10. Service Reviews 

Advice and support will be provided to service directorates in respect of service 
planning and fundamental service reviews e.g. 

Schools Review; 

Adult & Community Services property rationalisation; 

Strategic Housing Needs & Affordable Housing. 

Action: 

Ø Liaison with service clients through regular workshops to understand service 
priorities and identify opportunities for improved asset management and 
rationalisation will take place. 

11. S106 Planning Obligations 

The need to contribute to work to identify the property requirements arising from 
the impact of new development proposals as part of the negotiating of S106 
Planning Obligations will continue and participation in the major sites review group 
will be a continuing priority. 

Action: 

Ø The provision of property input and subsequent monitoring and application of funds 
received through S106 contributions will be managed as a function of the Strategic 
Asset Manager’s role and through the revised asset management arrangements. 

12. County Farms Rationalisation Programme 

The programme to realise capital receipts from the disposal of farm buildings in 
accordance with the management plan for rationalising the agricultural estate will 
continue with an annual target of £1 million. 

Action: 

Ø The strategy of rationalising the Council’s agricultural estate will continue and 
opportunities to reduce the size of the estate and realise capital receipts will be 
pursued. 

13. Development Projects 

Two major property development projects are programmed to start over the next 
twelve months as follows: 

Relocation of Cattle Market. 

172



Building Schools for the Future – Replacement for Minster College. 

Action: 

Ø Professional property project management of these schemes will be prioritised to 
ensure delivery on time and budget and to the quality specified.  

14. Disposals 

A number of disposals are programmed to take place over the next twelve months. 

Action: 

Ø The programme of disposals will be supported to deliver the required level of 
capital receipts to support the Council’s priorities. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Asset Management & Property Services Proposed Organisation 

Appendix 2 – Organisational Arrangements for Corporate Asset Management 

Background Papers:  

Herefordshire Council Asset Management Plan July 2006 

173



APPENDIX 1 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT & PROPERTY SERVICES  

PROPOSED ORGANISATION 

 

Head of Asset 
M anagem ent & 

Property Services

Strategic Asset 
M anager

Construction 
Design &  

M aintenance

Estates, 
Valuation &  

Developm ent

Facilities & 
Prem ises 

M anagem ent

FM  &  Property 
Contracts 

Com m issioning

Capita l Strategy &  
Asset 

Management Plan

Capita l 
Programme

Corporate 
Landlord

Strategic Property 
Review

Property 
In form ation & 

Market 
In telligence

Construction 
Design, 

Procurement & 
Project 

Management

Bu ild ing 
Maintenance & 

W hole Life 
Costing

Energy 
Management & 

W hole Life 
Perform ance

Property & 
Estates 

Management

Com m ercial 
Property 

Management

Valuation, Rating, 
Acquisition & 

CPOs

Developm ent 
advice for 
corporate 

program mes & 
external 

stakeholders

Facilities & 
Prem ises 

Management –
C lient

Custom er 
Serv ices –
helpdesk

Contract 
m anagement –
FM Contracts

Property 
Procurement 

Strategy

Com m issioning

Perform ance 
Monitoring

Contract 
com pliance

Business Support

Property 
Strategy & Asset 

M anagem ent

Property 
Operations 

M anager

STRATEGY OPERATIONS

174



 
CABINET 

{RESOURCES PORTFOLIO HOLDERS} 

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT BOARD 

{CMB} 

CORPORATE PROPERTY  

STRATEGY GROUP 

{CPSG} 

Director of Resources 

Corporate Property Officer 

Head of Finance 

Childrens & Young People Services 

Adult & Community Services 

Customer Services 

Environmental Services 

{+Assets & Property Information} 

STAKEHOLDERS 

PARTNER ORGANISATIONS 

(e.g. PCT; Police) 

 

KEY SUPPLIERS (e.g. HJS) 

 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM 

 

TRANSFORMATION BOARD 

 

DIRECTORATES 

CAPITAL STRATEGY & 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

GROUP {CSAMG} 

 

Corporate Property 
Officer 

Strategic Asset Manager 

Finance Representatives 

Service Representatives 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 N
E

E
D

S
 I

D
E

N
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

 &
 P

R
IO

R
IT

IS
A

T
IO

N
 

Informed By:  

Community  

Strategy 
Corporate 

Plan 

Property 

Strategy 
Capital Strategy 

& Asset 

Management  

Plan 

Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 

STRATEGIC PROPERTY 

REVIEW GROUP  

{SPRG} 

 

Corporate Property Officer 

Strategic Asset Manager 

Property Review Team 

Property Information Team 

Finance Representatives 

Service Representatives 

 

APPENDIX 2

ORGANISATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR CORPORATE ASSET MANAGEMENT  

CORPORATE PROJECTS 

 

 

Herefordshire Connects 

Accommodation Strategy 

New Ways of Working 

Edgar Street Grid 

175



176



Further information on the subject of this report is available from Human Resources
on 01432 383055 

Pay-wrk frc strat 05-08 final 

PAY AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY 2005-8

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY:

CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007  

Wards Affected 

None

Purpose

To provide an update on progress on the Council’s Pay and Workforce Development 
Strategy, following the report to Cabinet on 13th July, 2006. 

Key Decision 

This is not a Key Decision. 

Recommendations

THAT progress against the Strategy and key actions for the forthcoming year be 

noted.

Reasons

The report is being presented as part of the performance management arrangements for the 
Pay and Workforce Development Strategy. 

Considerations

1. The Council’s Pay and Workforce Development Strategy 2005-8 was agreed by 
Cabinet on 9th June 2005. The five areas identified for priority action were Pay and 
Rewards, Developing Leadership Capacity, Resourcing, Developing the Skills and 
Capacity of the Workforce, and Developing the Organisation.

2. Activities within each key theme act in support of each other and have been designed 
to help support delivery of the Corporate Plan, so that the Council: 

has the right people in the right places, with the right skills, to deliver the agenda 
and priorities set out in the Corporate Plan (improved services with greater 
efficiency and better customer focus) and is well-placed to respond to 
environmental and societal changes, and emerging technology; 

meets its statutory obligations, and where possible exceeds those to demonstrate 
best and leading edge practice as the largest local employer;

becomes an employer of choice amongst those seeking employment and career 

AGENDA ITEM 8

177



opportunities. The Strategy includes a major focus on improvements to 
resourcing activity. 

Key achievements to date during 2006-7 are set out below, under each key theme 
heading, plus challenges for the year ahead. 

Pay, Reward and Recognition 

Reduced numbers in receipt of pay protection from 838 at 31st March 2005, to 
305 at end October 2006;

A formal approach to achievement has been set in place with ceremonies to 
recognise success in gaining qualifications. Two events were held for employees 
gaining generic and professional (social care) qualifications; 

Updating of employment policies has continued. Policies currently being drafted 
include managing change, managing attendance and flexible working;

Ensured compliance with Age Discrimination legislation effective from 1 October 
06;

Reduced timescales for referrals to Occupational Health and reduced pre-
employment documentation processing time. 

Key challenges for 2007 include:

a formal response to the statutory consultation on proposals for changes to the 
Local Government Pension Scheme;

Implement equal pay reviews using a comprehensive analysis of pay data in 
order to ensure the maintenance of a fair pay and grading structure. 

Resourcing

Social Work recruitment was identified as a key issue. The national picture shows 
Social Work recruitment as top out of the ten most hard to fill occupations 
(closely followed by Occupational Therapist, Environmental Health and Trading 
Standards, Planners, Building Control, Educational Psychologists, Teachers, 
Librarians). Capacity around permanently employed social workers has 
increased - 13 employed since April 2006. This has led to a reduced reliance on 
temporary and agency workers. Improvements to the use of agency workers 
have included the establishment of a Preferred Supplier list (PSL) of social work 
staffing agencies, resulting in making permanent appointments and a faster 
response to satisfying temporary needs; 

The Recruitment Centre approach has been embedded. The first two full quarters 
performance of the Central Recruitment Team to end September 2006 showed 
time to recruit at 54 days and 39 days respectively, against a target of 62 days 
(down from 72 days in 2005-6);

Actions are in place to deliver a Master Vendor Agency solution to agency worker 
requirements by April 2007, in order to reduce the cost of, and over-reliance on, 
agency workers. The CRT has set in place a diversity action plan to reduce 
barriers to employment – this included improvements to address the impact of 
Age legislation;

Youth Work recruitment was identified as a key issue. A local event held at Job 
Centre Plus offices resulted in 10 applications for Youth Workers, 5 for Senior 
Youth Worker, and 3 volunteers; 

178



Since the Council began its New Deal placement partnership with Job Centre 
Plus, 15 placements have been made with 2 people employed permanently; 

Employee turnover remains stable at 7.31% (as at end November 2006) 
compared with a target of 9% and a median average for Unitary Councils of 
16.5%;

A process for Market Forces Supplements has been developed and is being 
utilised to recruit to hard to fill vacancies where appropriate. 

Key challenges for 2007 include:

Development of a resourcing strategy for Social Workers; 

Embedding the recruitment centre and agency worker approach; 

Setting an establishment for the Council and further targeted action on shortage 
area;

Development of a resourcing and retention strategy for ICT services. 

Developing Leadership Capacity 

Following the review of management development provision, roll-out of the 
improved provision has commenced. Provision includes competency 
assessment, improved succession management, aspiring manager development, 
and improved induction of new managers, and the introduction of internally 
delivered core modules for managers. Three have been delivered already - 
Recruitment and Selection, Managing Attendance (Sickness Absence) and 
Performance Improvement (SRD); 

Continuing participation in the joint Herefordshire and Worcestershire Leadership 
programme funded by regional capacity building funding. Four participants have 
completed, four are on a current programme, two more will start in January 2007; 
and two in May 2007; 

A 'Common Purpose' leadership development programme has been agreed by 
Corporate Management Board, and Herefordshire Partnership Board. It will be 
launched in 2007; 

Work to improve induction for managers (and others) starts in January 2007. 

Key challenges for 2007 include: 

Embedding the revised management development provision 

Developing the skills and capacity of the workforce 

The Social Care National Vocational Qualification (NVQ) Centre became 
corporate Skills for Work Centre to better support the Council’s drive to improve 
customer services, and continues to deliver NVQ’s in Customer Service. The 
Centre achieved ‘A’ grade assessment for delivering NVQ’s in Care in a recent 
external inspection; 

Work in progress to accredit Corporate training courses against National 
Occupational Standards;

Worked in collaboration to acquire regional funding to provide level 2 city and 
guilds awards in literacy, numeracy and ITC; 

Secured agreement for Council-wide assessment against the Investor in People 
Standard in October 2007, and now working with Heads of Service to identify 

179



areas for improvement to work to the Standard;

Delivered minimum qualifications and skills for social care workforce across 
Herefordshire, and Post Qualifying and Practice Assessor programmes in 
partnership with Bournemouth, Birmingham, Bristol, Gloucester and Worcester 
Universities;

Work is currently underway on developing multi-agency Adult Services and 
Children’s Services workforce strategies. The Children’s Strategy is to be 
completed and submitted to the Children and Young People partnership Board by 
May 2007. Implementation plan to be launched in June 2007. The Adults’ 
services strategy framework is being developed, to be completed by January 
2007;

Work on career progression paths has commenced, to be continued in line with 
skills sector standards, qualification targets and recommendations in Options for 
Excellence paper (Department of Health, October 2006); 

Work to deliver Common Induction Standards has continued in all areas that offer 
direct services to Children and Young People or Adults; 

Development opportunities continue to be offered to the Voluntary and 
independent sector in Herefordshire, including mandatory training, LDAF training, 
NVQ’s Social work Practice Learning support and active support to the work of 
the Association of Care Training in the region. 

Key challenges for 2007 include: 

Implementation of the Adult Services and Children’s Services workforce 
strategies;

Supporting the Council’s transformation programme in respect of skills 
development.

Organisational Development 

A programme of tailored Diversity awareness has been rolled out and is 
continuing, over 600 managers and teams have attended training. A voluntary 
language register is in place and is being utilised;

Agreement secured to work to the Investor in People standard. Human 
Resources are working with the Performance Management Head of Service 
Group to lead the improvement work needed; 

Core module for managers on Managing Attendance - Sickness Absence, 
introduced.

Absence rate at end November 2006 was 8.72 days FTE (10.5 FTE days in 
2005-6), against a target of 9 days, and a median average of 10.2 days for local 
government. An analysis of absences over winter and summer months shows 
generally increased levels of absence over winter months (see chart below). 
Levels of absence coming into the winter 2006-7 months are reducing (see chart 
below) and have been below target since September. 

180



0

2000

4000

6000

8000

FTE Dys

Winter Summer

Winter v Summer Absences 

Absence Days per FTE 2006-7

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

May-

06

Jun-

06

Jul-

06

Aug-

06

Sep-

06

Oct-

06

Nov-

06

Dec-

06

Jan-

07

Feb-

07

Mar-

07

Absence actual Target 2006-7

The Human Resources Management Information systems (CHRIS) is being used 
to produce absence management information on a monthly basis. HR Officers 
are in regular dialogue with Directorate Management Teams regarding 
management interventions and compliance with policy and guidance. 
Comprehensive revisions have been made to the Managing Attendance course 
for managers, giving them the tools and confidence to manage and reduce 
absence levels. 

Improved response rate to Staff Opinion Survey – 48.4% against 40% in 2005 
and 38% in 2004. Just under a quarter responding used the on line completion 
option. Response to the Employee Opinion Survey was the best to date. 
Managers have been asked to commit to actions to address 5 key points from the 
results, identified for corporate action (via Leadership Forum and News and 
Views).

Key challenges for 2007 include: 

Achievement of the Investors in People award; 

Achievement of top quartile performance for sickness absence. 

3. Leavers from the Council’s employment continue to be surveyed for their reasons for 
leaving in order to generate improvements. The latest survey data (July-Sept 06) 
shows

181



The main attractors to a new organisation were ‘career progression’, cited by 
21% of respondents. “Other” reasons were cited by 26% of respondents, and 
covered a range of issues, including ‘promotion’ In 2005-6 ‘career progression’, 
and ‘pay’ were cited as the main attractors.

69% of respondents in the recent survey felt their work either satisfying or very 
satisfying.  

Action to address identified issues is contained in the Pay and Workforce 
Development Strategy, in particular through Pay, Reward and Recognition, 
Resourcing, and Developing Skills and Capacity as highlighted above. The Leaver 
Survey process will be reviewed in 2007 to ensure it fully meets the Council’s 
requirements.

 The impact of the Pay and Workforce Development Strategy is reflected in the 2006 
Employee Opinion Survey, where responses have improved over a range of areas. 
Highlights were reported to Cabinet 28th September 2006. 

During November and December 2006, Council Directorates reviewed results for 
their areas and are building improvement actions into service and Directorate plans. 
Council-wide improvement actions will form part of the Pay and Workforce 
Development Strategy for 2007 onwards. 

Risk Management 

The risks with mitigating actions are contained in the Pay and Workforce Development 
Strategy.

Consultees

N/A.

Background Papers 

Employers’ Organisation Pay and Workforce Development Strategy, and People Skills Scoreboard 
2004 and 2005 both available from www.lg-employers.gov.uk.

182



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Sue Fiennes, Director of Children's Services on 01432 260039 

CareMatters0201070.doc 

CARE MATTERS: TRANSFORMING THE LIVES OF 
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY:  CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

Countywide. 

Purpose 

To inform Cabinet of the Government Green Paper Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of 
Children and Young People in Care and to seek approval for the proposed response from 
Herefordshire Council to the Consultation Exercise ending on Monday, 15th January, 2007. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision. 

Recommendation 

THAT (a) the Green Paper, Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and 
Young People in Care and the implications for the future of Children’s 
Services in Herefordshire be noted; 

 (b) the attached information relating to the performance of Herefordshire 
Council against a range of relevant performance indicators be noted; 
and 

 (c) the proposed response to the Consultation Exercise ending on 
15th January, 2007 be approved.  (Given the consultation deadline of 
15th January, 2007, the response has been approved by the Cabinet 
Member (Children and Young People), subject to final approval by 
Cabinet and any other comments that Cabinet would wish to make, 
which can be forwarded separately). 

Reasons 

To inform Cabinet of the content of the Green Paper Care Matters: Transforming the Lives 
of Children and Young People in Care and the views of stakeholders in Herefordshire in 
relation to this. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

183



Considerations 

Background 

1. Although it is acknowledged that outcomes for looked after children have improved in 
recent years, there remains a significant gap when compared with all children. The 
Government has therefore published the Green Paper Care Matters: Transforming 
the Lives of Children and Young People in Care in order to begin the process of 
consultation in relation to a range of proposals for change. 

2. Care Matters builds on the principle of earlier intervention and support for families 
whilst further emphasising the role of Local Authorities as Corporate Parents. A copy 
of the Executive Summary is attached as Appendix 1, whilst the full document can be 
found at: 

http://www.dfes.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/6731-DfES-Care Matters.pdf 

3. In general, Care Matters has been well received as further raising the profile of 
looked after children and strengthening the role of Local Authorities and partner 
agencies as Corporate Parents. As far as Herefordshire is concerned, the majority of 
proposals are, subject to resources being made available, to be welcomed. It is 
worth pointing out that many are based on existing good practice from a variety of 
Local Authorities nationally and as such some elements are already firmly 
established within the county. 

4. Clearly it is important that Care Matters is properly considered by the full range of 
professionals working with looked after children in Herefordshire, together with the 
looked after children and care leavers themselves, and a full and comprehensive 
response is submitted by the due deadline of 15th January, 2007. 

Consultation Methodology 

5. A comprehensive consultation exercise has been embarked upon to secure as wide 
ranging a response as possible within the timescale. 

6. 65 looked after children and young people (age 10+) were sent copies of the young 
people’s version of Care Matters with their own questionnaire and an explanatory 
letter from Voices, the local participation group.  Views were sought from a further 
eight young people including five care leavers in the course of two day sessions 
where they were involved in interviewing for professional staff.  Copies of the young 
people’s version of Care Matters were also made available to over 60 looked after 
children and young people and their carers at a recent celebration event. 

7. A further 19 looked after children and young people aged 7-16 attended two focus 
groups held during December organised by one of our own care leavers.  These 
events were imaginatively combined with Breakdancing workshops to ensure 
maximum participation of children and young people. 

8. Over 200 key stakeholders in Herefordshire were contacted by email and asked to 
complete an electronic questionnaire.  This group included all Primary and 
Secondary Headteachers (including special/independent schools and Pupil Referral 
Units), Corporate Parenting Group, Children and Young People’s Partnership Board, 
Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board, Key Managers in Children and Young 
People’s Directorate and key individuals in other Directorates and partner agencies 
in the statutory, voluntary and independent sector. 

184



9. The Director of Children’s Services, Head of Safeguarding and Assessment together 
with Cabinet Member and Support Member to the Cabinet Member attended a Care 
Matters consultation event in Birmingham on 20th November, 2006 which provided 
the opportunity for more in depth discussion with DfES and GOWM colleagues 
around some of the key proposals and enabled us to share examples of good 
practice from Herefordshire. As a result of this, we were invited to share some of our 
good practice in relation to the participation of looked after children and young 
people at a Sub Regional Consultation Event in Worcester on 14th December, 2006. 

The Herefordshire Context 

10. It is worth considering current performance in Herefordshire against a number of 
relevant performance indicators. A performance summary, including comparisons 
with IPF and national averages is attached as Appendix 2. 

11. Whilst there is no room for complacency, outcomes for looked after children in 
Herefordshire compare very favourably with other Local Authorities as demonstrated 
by the recently published Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) Social 
Services Performance Assessment Framework Indicators (Children) for 2005-06. 

12. On two performance indicators, Herefordshire achieved outstanding results: In 
relation to the educational qualifications of looked after children (PAF CFA2) 
Herefordshire was 1st nationally, whilst on stability of placements for looked after 
children (PAF CFA1) Herefordshire was 2nd nationally. On several others 
performance indicators, Herefordshire performed very well: In relation to the 
employment, education and training for care leavers (PAF CFA4) Herefordshire was 
6th nationally, children looked after in foster placements or placed for adoption. 

(PAF CFB7) Herefordshire was 2lst nationally and health of looked after children 
(PAF CFC19) Herefordshire was 23rd nationally. 

Responses Received 

13. Whilst overall the response has been very encouraging and will enable a 
comprehensive and detailed response to be submitted, despite concerted efforts 
there has been no formal response from the Secondary School sector. This is 
particularly disappointing given the significance of Care Matters for the education of 
looked after children. 

14. There has also been no response from the voluntary and independent sector. Whilst 
some voluntary and independent organisations may well be intending to respond to 
the consultation exercise independently, it is unfortunate that the Herefordshire 
response will not contain any representation from this sector. 

15. Attempts to engage both Herefordshire Association of Secondary Headteachers 
(HASH) and the Voluntary Sector Alliance will continue in the New Year but due to 
the consultation deadline of 15th January, 2007, it may not be possible to 
incorporate any views obtained into the Herefordshire response. 

Consultation Response 

16. The proposed Herefordshire response is attached as Appendix 3. 

17. As far as possible, views expressed by different stakeholders have been attributed to 
those groups in order to add weight and credibility to Herefordshire’s response. 

185



18. In particular, views expressed by children and young people have been clearly 
marked as such, including the use of verbatim quotes wherever possible so as not to 
dilute or misrepresent these views. 

19. Where differing or conflicting views were received, no attempt has been made to 
suppress views or reach an artificial consensus. Instead the views received have 
been presented as received. 

Alternative Options 

No alternative options proposed. 

Risk Management 

No specific risks identified. 

Consultees 

As outlined in section 2. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Executive Summary – Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and 
Young People in Care 
Appendix 2 – Performance Summary 
Appendix 3 – Proposed Herefordshire Consultation Response 

Background Papers 

‘Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care’ 

186



Creating Opportunity
Releasing Potential
Achieving Excellence

Care Matters: 
Transforming the Lives 
of Children and Young
People in Care

Summary

187



188



1Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

Care Matters:
Transforming the Lives of Children 
and Young People in Care

Summary

Although outcomes for children in care have improved in

recent years, there remains a significant and widening gap

between these and the outcomes for all children. This

situation is unacceptable and needs to be addressed urgently.

This Green Paper sets out a radical package of proposals for

change which will be delivered only through absolute

commitment from central and local government and from

professionals working on the front line. We have no doubt

that this commitment exists.

In setting our priorities for change, we are driven by the

knowledge that these are our children, and that the childhood

we are giving them has not been good enough. We have an

excellent legacy of achievement on which to build, and a

dedicated workforce standing ready to deliver. The time has

come to accelerate the pace of change, and to make care not

only a way out of difficult situations at home, but a bridge to a

better childhood and a better future.

189



2 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

The case for reform

1 Chapter 1 sets out the shocking statistics on the education

of children in care. Only 11% of children in care attained

5 good GCSEs in 2005 compared with 56% of all children,

and similar performance gaps exist at all ages both before

and after Key Stage 4.

2 The long-term outcomes of children in care are also

devastating. They are over-represented in a range of

vulnerable groups including those not in education,

employment or training post-16, teenage parents, young

offenders, drug users and prisoners.

3 A lot of progress has been made for children over the last

decade. We have seen an increase of eleven percentage

points in the proportion of all young people gaining 5 A*-C

GCSEs, and the proportion of young people in education,

employment or training by 19 now stands at 87% – the

highest it has ever been. 

4 In the early years too, the dedication of local residents and

professionals to the Sure Start agenda has contributed to a

rise in registered childcare places to 1.26 million – almost

double the level in 1997 – and the creation of 894 Children’s

Centres, offering services to over 715,000 children and their

families.

190



3Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

5 We have also taken a range of steps to address directly the

problems experienced by children in care, and progress has

been made through a number of reforms including:

� Quality Protects in 1998;

� The Care Standards Act 2000;

� The Prime Minister’s adoption initiative;

� The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000;

� The Social Exclusion Unit 2003 report on the Education of

Children in Care; and

� The duty in the Children Act 2004 for local authorities to

promote the education of children in care.

6 The outcomes of the 60,000 children in care at any one time

have improved in recent years: the proportion gaining 5 A*-C

GCSEs has risen from 7% in 2000 to 11% in 2005 and the

proportion known to be participating in education,

employment or training at age 19 has increased by 8% since

2002, when the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 came into

effect. But it is clear that they are not improving at the same

rate as those of all children. 

7 Children in care are a group who are especially deserving of

our help precisely because they are in care. As their

corporate parent the State cannot and must not accept any

less for them than we would for our own children.

191



4 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

Children on the edge of care

8 While most of the proposals in this Green Paper are aimed at

children who are already in the care of the local authority, it

is important also to recognise that many children come in

and out of care in a short space of time, and several spend

more than one period in care. Chapter 2 looks at the sorts of

interventions which can help to prevent children needing to

come into care in the first place, and to resettle them with

their families after being in care where that is the best

option for the child.

9 This means – in line with our reforms of children’s services

through the Every Child Matters programme – identifying

problems early and responding to them quickly by offering

sustained, multi-disciplinary support. 

10 Our proposals include:

� New research on identifying and responding to neglect;

� Testing out a model of intensive whole-family therapy

which aims to keep families together where possible;

� Improving the links between adults’ and children’s services

in order to ensure that professionals working with either

group see the family as a whole; and

� Creating a National Centre for Excellence in Children’s

Services in order to identify and spread evidence-based

solutions to the problems experienced by families whose

children are on the edge of care.

192



5Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

11 Chapter 2 also launches a national debate on the future of

care. We want to use the Green Paper to explore who care is

for, whether there are any groups of children for whom care

is not an appropriate response, and what we want the

population of children in care to look like in the future.

The role of the corporate parent

12 Children have told us that the lack of a consistent adult in

their lives is a major and harmful feature of being in care.

Chapter 3 sets out in detail how the corporate parenting

role should be carried out in order to address this gap. 

13 Our proposals include:

� Exploring the feasibility of piloting new independent ‘social

care practices’, small independent groups of social workers

who contract with the local authority to provide services to

children in care;

� Piloting the use of individual budgets for each child in care

to be held by their lead professional – the social worker;

� Clarity over the role and use of care plans; and

� A revitalisation of the independent visitor scheme in order

to provide ‘independent advocates’ for children in care.

Better placements

14 Evidence shows that frequent moves between care

placements have a drastic effect on the ability of children

193



6 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

and young people to succeed both in education and in

other areas of their lives. Currently children in care are

moved between placements far too frequently.

15 Chapter 4 sets out proposals radically to reform the

placements system, improving the number and quality of

foster carers and ensuring that children are only placed in

residential children’s homes which meet high standards

of care.

16 Our proposals include: 

� Introducing a tiered framework for foster placements to

respond to different levels of need, underpinned by a new

qualifications framework, fee structure and national

minimum standards; 

� Piloting for younger children the use of intensive foster care

with multi-agency support;

� Improving the recruitment of foster carers through specially-

tailored recruitment campaigns;

� Extending use of specialist foster care for children with

complex needs; and

� Introducing new regional commissioning units to secure

better value for money and introduce placement choice

for children.

194



7Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

A first class education

17 While the experiences they have in their placement are

critical to children in care, the school environment and the

way in which teachers and other school staff work with

them are also vital to their chances of success. But many

children in care currently have a poor experience of school:

they tend to be in lower performing schools, be moved

round between schools too often, and receive insufficient

support within school to flourish.

18 Chapter 5 sets out how we will work with local authorities as

corporate parents and with schools to secure the very best

education possible for these children. We want to ensure

that every child in care is in a good school, and is given the

support they need to make the most of being in that school.

We are committed to ensure that children in care also fare

well in our further education system. 

19 Our proposals include: 

� A ‘virtual headteacher’ in every local area responsible for

driving up the performance of schools in relation to children

in care; 

� Providing local authorities with the power to direct schools

to admit children in care, even where the school is fully

subscribed;

� An enhanced entitlement to free school transport to ensure

that where children do move placement they do not

necessarily also need to change school; 

195



8 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

� Better support in school to prevent exclusions of children in

care; and

� A dedicated budget for each social worker to spend on

improving the educational experience of every child in care.

Life outside school

20 This Green Paper is not only about the part which education

and social services have to play in improving the lives of

children and young people. It is truly a cross-Government

agenda. Taking as its starting point the aim of securing for

children in care the kind of happy, fulfilled childhood which

we would want for our own children, the Green Paper also

has a range of proposals for ensuring that children in care

access all the other types of positive activities and support

which children generally tend to enjoy. 

21 Our proposals include: 

� Encouraging local authorities to provide free access for

children in care to all their facilities including leisure centres,

sports grounds and youth clubs;

� A new model of comprehensive health provision for each

child in care; 

� Better training for a range of professionals including

paediatricians on how to work with children in care; 

� Improved access for children in care and their foster parents

to Children’s Centre provision; and

196



9Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

� Enhanced opportunities for them to participate in

stimulating and rewarding personal development activities

and volunteering.

The transition to adult life

22 We know that the long-term outcomes of many people who

were in care as children are distressing: care leavers are over-

represented in some of our most vulnerable groups of

adults including young parents, prisoners, and the homeless.

They are also under-represented in further and higher

education, and the proportion of young people leaving

care aged 19 without any form of purposeful activity such

as employment, training or education is much higher than

that of their peers.

23 This Green Paper signals a turning point in the way young

people in care are treated as they grow older. We want to

abandon a system where young people are forced to leave

care as early as age 16. We want an approach which

continues to support them as long as they need it, which

ceases to talk about ‘leaving care’ and instead ensures that

young people move on in a gradual, phased and above all

prepared way.

24 Our proposals include: 

� Piloting a veto for young people over any decisions about

moving on from care before they turn 18;

197



10 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

� Piloting allowing young people to continue to live with

foster carers up to the age of 21, receiving the support they

need to continue in education; 

� Providing a top-up to the Child Trust Funds of young people

in care;

� Creating more supported accommodation for older young

people; and

� Introducing a national bursary for young people in care

going to university.

Making the system work

25 We are confident that the proposals set out in this Green

Paper will deliver a step change in the outcomes of children

in care. But as the corporate parent of children in care

we cannot rely on expectations alone: we need to take

decisive action in instances of failure. Chapter 8 sets out a

new accountability framework which works with the grain of

the forthcoming Local Government White Paper to ensure

that failure for this group of vulnerable children is identified

and addressed.

26 Our proposals include:

� Asking Ofsted to carry out a regular inspection of how each

local authority is meeting the educational needs of children

in care;

198



11Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

� Introducing an annual national stock-take by Ministers of the

progress of children in care;

� Expecting every local authority to set up a ‘children in care

council’;

� Making Independent Reviewing Officers more independent;

and

� Making the education of children in care one of the DfES’s

key national priorities for local government.

Next steps

27 We want to hear a range of views on this package of

proposals – particularly those of children and young people

who are or have been in care. We are offering a range of

ways to take part in this consultation exercise, which runs

from 9 October until 15 January. This will include

conferences and events throughout the country as well as

the setting up of working groups looking at:

� The future of the care population;

� Social care practices; 

� Placement reform; and 

� Best practice in schools.

199



12 Care Matters: Transforming the Lives of Children and Young People in Care

28 We value your responses to this document highly and we

will take into account the views which you give us during

the consultation period. After the consultation we will

publish an initial response, including a version for young

people in 2007. Final decisions on proposals with cost

implications from 2008/09 onwards will be taken in the

context of the 2007 Comprehensive Spending Review. 

200



201



You can download this publication or order copies online at:
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications

Search using the ref: 03978-2006BKT-EN

You can also download this publication at www.everychildmatters.gov.uk

Copies of this publication can be obtained from:

DfES Publications
PO Box 5050
Sherwood Park
Annesley
Nottingham NG15 0DJ
Tel: 0845 6022260
Fax: 0845 6033360
Textphone: 0845 60 555 60
Please quote the ref: 03978-2006BKT-EN

PPFM/D16/6781/1006

© Crown copyright 2006
www.dfes.gov.uk
Published by the Department for Education and Skills

Extracts from this document may be reproduced for non-commercial research,
education or training purposes on the condition that the source is acknowledged.
For any other use please contact HMSO licensing@cabinet-office.x.gsi.gov.uk

202



Green Paper Care Matters - Children's PAF Indicators Appendix 2

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Q2

06/07

Outturn
Herefordshire 7 6 6 4

IPF Data 12 11 10

England 13 12 11

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Herefordshire 52 68 92 90

IPF Data 54 54 53 60

England 50 51 53 60

PAF CF/A1: The number of children looked after with 3 or more placements during 

the year (BVPI 49)

PAF CF/A2: The percentage of young people leaving care aged 16 or over with at 

least 1 GCSE at Grade A* - G or a GNVQ (BVPI 50) - Calculated Annually

PAF A1: The number of children looked after with 3 or more placements

during the year

7

6 6

4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan Q2 06/07

Outturn
Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

PAF A2: The percentage of young people leaving care aged 16 or over with at

least 1 GCSE at Grade A* - G or GNVQ

52

68

92 90

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan

Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

203



Green Paper Care Matters - Children's PAF Indicators Appendix 2

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Herefordshire 0.92 0.96 0.98

IPF Data 0.79 0.85 0.78

England 0.72 0.76 0.80

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Herefordshire 90.2 90.2 93.2 92.9 87.3 90.0

IPF Data 82.2 84.3 84.1 82.4 85.4 84.7

England 80.8 81.7 80.9 80.7 81.7 82.8

PAF CF/A4: Employment, education and training for care leavers [joint 

working] (BVPI 161) - Calculated Annually

PAF CF/B7: Children looked after in foster placements or placed for 

adoption - Ceased 06/07

PAF A4: Employment, education and training for care leavers

0.92
0.96 0.98

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan

Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

R
a

ti
o

)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

PAF B7: Children looked after in foster placements or placed for adoption

90.2 90.2

93.2 92.9

87.3

90.0

74

76

78

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan

Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

204



Green Paper Care Matters - Children's PAF Indicators Appendix 2

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Est Q2 

06/07

Outturn
Herefordshire 3.2 3.4 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.6 2.5 2.7

IPF Data 2.4 3.3 3.7 3.6 3.3 3.0 2.8

England 2.9 3.0 2.8 2.9 3.0 2.8 2.4

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

2006-07

Outturn

Herefordshire 65 88 88 86 87 90 93 90

IPF Data 67 73 76 81 83 88 89

England 67 71 74 77 79 83 87

PAF CF/C18: Final warnings, reprimands and convictions of children looked after - 

06/07 Outturn is an Estimate using 2005 Denominator - Will Change (Dec 06)

PAF CF/C19: Health of looked after children 

PAF C18: Final warnings, reprimands and convictions of children looked after

3.2
3.4

2.1 2.1

2.3

2.6
2.5

2.7

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan Est Q2 06/07

Outturn
Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

R
a

ti
o

)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

PAF C19: Health of looked after children

65

88 88 86 87
90

93
90

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan 2006-07

OutturnYear

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

205



Green Paper Care Matters - Children's PAF Indicators Appendix 2

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

2006-07

Outturn

Herefordshire 21.3 15.7 6.5 12.4 12.6 9.2 9.0 10.5

IPF Data 9.8 13.0 11.4 9.6 8.5 10.7 8.4

England 11.2 11.7 11.9 12.1 12.2 12.2 10.0

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Q2

06/07

Outturn
Herefordshire 88 94 95 92

IPF Data 83 84 92

England 83 83 92

PAF CF/C24: Children looked after absent from school [joint working]

PAF CF/C63: Participation in reviews

PAF C24: Children looked after absent from school

21.3

15.7

6.5

12.4 12.6

9.2 9.0

10.5

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan 2006-07

Outturn
Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

PAF C63: Participation in reviews

88

94
95

92

76

78

80

82

84

86

88

90

92

94

96

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07

Plan

Q2 06/07

Outturn
Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

206



Green Paper Care Matters - Children's PAF Indicators Appendix 2

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06
2006-07

Plan

Herefordshire 49 61 61

IPF Data 48 50 55

England 49 51 56

PAF CF/D35: Percentage of children looked after 4+ years who were in 

foster placement 2 + years  - Ceased 06/07

PAF D35: Percentage of children looked after 4+ years who were in foster

placement 2+ years

49

61 61

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 Plan

Year

O
u

tt
u

rn
 (

%
)

Herefordshire

IPF Data

England

207



208



1

Care Matters: 
transforming the lives of 

children and young 
people in care 

Consultation Response Form 

The closing date for this consultation is: 15 
January 2007 
Your comments must reach us by that date. 

Appendix 3 

209



2

THIS FORM IS NOT INTERACTIVE. If you wish to respond electronically 
please use the online or offline response facility available on the 
Department for Education and Skills e-consultation website 
(http://www.dfes.gov.uk/consultations).

The information you provide in your response will be subject to the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations, which allow 
public access to information held by the Department. This does not necessarily 
mean that your response can be made available to the public as there are 
exemptions relating to information provided in confidence and information to 
which the Data Protection Act 1998 applies. You may request confidentiality by 
ticking the box provided, but you should note that neither this, nor an 
automatically-generated e-mail confidentiality statement, will necessarily exclude 
the public right of access. 

Please tick if you want us to keep your response confidential.

Name Shaun McLurg 

Organisation (if applicable) Head of Safeguarding and Assessment 

Address: Children and Young People’s Directorate
Herefordshire Council 
Blackfriars Centre 
Blackfriars Street 
Hereford 
HR4 9ZR 

If you have an enquiry relating to the policy content of this consultation you can 
contact Helen White by email: helen.white@dfes.gsi.gov.uk or by telephone:  0870 000 
2288. 

If you have a query relating to the consultation process you can contact the Consultation 
Unit by: 

Telephone: 01928 794888 

Fax: 01928 794 113 

e-mail: consultation.unit@dfes.gsi.gov.uk

210



Which of the following best describes you: 

Child in care (under 
13)

Child in care 
(under 18) 

Care leaver 

Foster carer 
Residential 
carer 

Professional working 
with young people 

Volunteer working 
with young people 

X Other

Please Specify: 

Head of Safeguarding and Assessment Services for children and young people in a 
unitary authority 

If you work with children or young people in care, which best describes the organisation 
you work in: 

X Local Authority School 
Further or higher 
education institution

Private sector 
organisation 

Voluntary and 
community sector 
organisation 

Health organisation

Youth justice 
organisation 

Other

This document is a joint response on behalf of children, young people and those who 
work with them and their families in Herefordshire.   

Methodology 

Children and Young People 
Young people who are or have been in Herefordshire’s care have taken a lead role in 
consulting their peers on Care Matters. Questionnaires, interviews and activity based 
focus groups led by Care Leavers have drawn out direct contributions from over 30 
young people aged between 7 and 19. The views and feelings they have expressed 
about being in care are significant and powerful. As well as contributing to this 
response they will guide and inform the Every Child Matters in Herefordshire agenda.. 

NB The use of Italic text indicates direct quotes from children and young people. 

211



4

Professionals 

Over 200 stakeholders were invited to contribute to this consultation. Several of the 
formally completed questionnaires received represented joint responses on behalf of 
teams or wide professional networks. Direct feedback has also been received from 
individuals and from focus groups specifically convened for the purpose. Contributions 
have been amalgamated where themes are shared, but contributors’ original text 
remains intact wherever this captures a distinctive professional perspective. 

Stakeholder groups consulted included: 

All Primary and Secondary Headteachers in Herefordshire, including special and 
independent schools and pupil referral units  

Members of Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board, the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership Board and the Corporate Parenting Group  

Key Managers across the Council and in all sectors of the Children and Young 
People’s Directorate 

Key individuals in partner agencies in the statutory, voluntary and independent 
sector 

212



5

Chapter 1: The need for reform 

1 Are the elements we suggest for our 'pledge' the right ones? 

Yes No x Not Sure 

There is broad agreement with the concept of a corporate parenting pledge, though 
Connexions expressed the view that the word is ‘old fashioned, lacks weight and 
clarity and that entitlement may be more appropriate’.  

There is a strong message that pledges, if offered, must be realistic and achievable, 
and shared concerns that without additional resources some – for example placement 
choice and 24/7 support - will be impossible to honour.  

The point was made by the fostering team that the principal funding implications for 
central government appear to be the cost of inspecting and evaluating performance 
rather than actually delivering the means of improvement, which will fall on the Local 
Authority.  

Primary School Headteachers expressed the view that each Local Authority should 
determine its own set of pledges and that young people should be included in his 
process.  The pledges, they suggest, should include access to independent 
counselling for children and young people in care, as well as the opportunities to meet 
with others in a similar situation.  

The need for better availability and access to mental health services for children, 
young people and their families is a consistent theme throughout this consultation 
process. 

Specific comments were made on: 

1. Offering young people a choice of placements

Professionals and young people share a view that children’s active involvement in 
choosing a placement at initial entry point would add an unfair burden at a time when 
they are already facing separation and loss. At later stages and prior to a planned 
move this option may be more realistic. 

Young people said that: 

This would not be fair on us, specially at the beginning when there is so much 
going on 
 It is the social worker’s job to get to know us well enough to choose the right 
place and explain what is going to happen and why. It is important for social 
workers to be really honest. The most important part of their job when you first 
come into care is sorting out how you can keep in contact with your family and 
friends. 

213



6

Having pictures of the foster family and the house – specially the kitchen, any 
pets, and the room you will be sleeping – would be really good for people 
coming into care for the first time, so they can prepare for what it is going to be 
like.  

2. 24/7 support from Social Workers

A range of differing views on what is realistic and achievable for different groups.  

Young people felt that, while they can and do leave voicemail or text Social Workers 
they would not expect a call to be picked up out of hours unless it was an emergency 
when their worker or a manager who knows them would probably be contacted 
anyway. What is more important is that they know the office number and can get 
through or leave a message for their Social Worker or his/her Manager. 

Workers from Aftercare and Social Work Teams where mobiles or email are often 
the preferred means of contact find young people rarely if ever abuse this facility and 
Children’s Rights and Participation Workers confirmed this view 

For a Service Manager the suggestion prompted reflection on ‘what the social work 
task is, and why it is thought that social workers should not have a life separate from 
their professional life’. The idea was thought to be ‘reminiscent of the county GP or 
parish priest who could be contacted at any time of the day or night.  It encapsulates 
the dilemmas of public care and the values of professional versus voluntary 
philanthropy.  There is a similar sort of dilemma with what we ask of Foster Carers’ 

3. Independent Advocates 

While welcomed in principle there is lack of clarity over the respective roles of the 
professional independent advocate (as set out in DoH National Standards) and the 
new role outlined in the Green Paper.  Further comment on the detailed rationale for 
this view from the Children’s Rights and Advocacy Worker is in Section 3. 

4. Choice of when to move on, up to 18 

Young people and professionals share the view that the duty to provide support 
including a home base should extend to 24 if needed in line with national average for 
young adults achieving independence.  

There should be an option to move back into supported living for those young people 
who are determined to leave a care placement early and who can be highly vulnerable 
when things go wrong. Many of these young people might choose to keep some 
support systems in place if it meant practical help – ie money and advice – could be 
there if and when needed. 

214



7

Specific additional proposals that young people would like to see in the pledge 
include: 

Help to understand why you are in care – some people may need this to be 
explained often while they are growing up 
Making sure you can have a say in your care plan if you want to and have your 
own copy of it, which you can keep and understand
Having one person who knows you and can stick with you throughout care.  
This could be a teacher or a family friend. It could be someone of your own age
Sorting out regular groups for people in care to meet up and talk to each other 
Telling people in care if what they say has made a difference to the way things 
work 

And from professionals:

Expectation that the UNCRC should be adopted by all Local Authorities so that 
all children in care are aware of their rights 
The right to a high quality education with support to 25 as needed 
Ensuring those who go on to higher education get the option of returning in 
holidays to a home that will save them expense and support them with their 
studies 

2 Are there other key barriers to attainment which we should address in order to 
transform outcomes? 

x Yes No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Professionals  

The resource implications for the many excellent proposals in Care Matters are
considerable. Additional funding from central government will be required if these are 
to be fulfilled. 

215



8

Chapter 2: Children on the edge of care 

3 What more can be done to reassert the responsibility of parents and help them to fulfill 
those responsibilities? 

Comments:  

Professionals 
A strong set of responses, summarised as follows: 

1 It is essential to do more preventative work at the earliest stages coupled with 
robust, consistent inter-agency assessments 

2 Parenting courses should be compulsory for those on the ‘edge’ with intensive 
support and guidance which should be proactive rather than reactive 

3 Work should be done with parents after children have been removed to give 
them a chance to address what has gone wrong and to improve outcomes for 
other children they might have in the future. 

4 Family Group Conferencing (FGC) and family functional therapy would be 
welcomed as long as it is properly resourced. FGCs could be held as part of 
planning to reintegrate following a period in care to promote wider engagement 

5 The right to an independent advocate should be extended to children in need 
and children and families involved in child protection enquiries. 

6 Children should have more opportunities to challenge care plans if these are not 
in line with their own wishes and needs 

From Primary Headteachers 
7 A parenting support worker should be allocated to maintain the link between 

parents and children/young people in care. This worker could promote 
involvement of parents in the day to day life of the child (at a distance if 
appropriate)

From Long Term Social Work Teams 
8 Parents should be reminded about their parental responsibilities and should 

contribute financially to the cost of care. 
9 Perhaps parents who abandon their children and refuse to have them back 

should be prosecuted more routinely, and the threat of this might encourage 
them to work to improve their family situation. 

216



9

4 a) Do you agree that there is a need for a more systematic approach to sharing 
effective practice in children's services?  

X Yes No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Professionals 
1. Information needs to be disseminated down through organisations as 

practitioners do not have the time to identify all current research 
2. We need a change of culture.  More inter-agency training would help, and 

possibly resident ‘experts’ and Centres of Excellence.  Services and expertise 
could be focused on distinct age groups.  

3. There is currently a mismatch between thresholds for different services.  This 
should be addressed via the Common Assessment Framework.  

4. More integrated systems of team working across agencies at early intervention 
stages would help. 

4 b) If so, how can we ensure maximum impact in supporting evidence-informed 
commissioning and practice?  

From Health professionals 
Audit impact of evidence informed practice via inter-agency case reviews and 
develop training accordingly 

From Primary Headteachers  
1. There needs to be a more consistent approach from GPs to mental health 

referrals.  From the school perspective, if more families were referred for 
mental health assessment early on the number of children at risk would 
decrease and so would (probably) the number of referrals to social care for 
neglect. As a school, we remain to be convinced that GPs are in the best 
position to co-ordinate multi agency involvement and working. This needs to 
come (instead) from family support workers and schools – perhaps there is a 
role for the ‘Virtual Headteacher’ post here. 

2. We need to reduce the bureaucracy regarding confidentiality – we find that 
social care and GPs hide behind it, keeping many valuable services out of the 
‘loop’. 

217



10

5 What more can be done to support links between adult and children's services, 
particularly in relation to drug abuse and mental health support? 

Comments 
Professionals 
Several respondents expressed concern that the Government’s lead on bringing 
Education and Children’s Social Care together means practitioners and managers 
are increasingly removed from their counterparts in Adult Services, with adverse 
consequences for children. 

Joint training to promote shared learning on safeguarding issues and children’s 
needs was considered to be the best way forward, with all welcoming the potential of 
the Common Assessment Framework as a shared working tool. 

Several respondents proposed a single referral point for both adult and children’s 
services.  

Specific suggestions to promote maximum impact for the CAF included 

Involving parents with mental health/substance/alcohol misuse issues in 
training for practitioners – with specific reference to debating the ethics and 
practicalities of information sharing and developing local protocols 

Including carers and children in support groups for substance or alcohol 
dependent adult parents as part of re-unification planning 

Additional points  

1 Schools’ own perceived need for better link-up with Community Psychiatric 
Nurses, Occupation Therapists and School Nurses. 

2 Mental health assessment of children and young people as they become adults 
must involve joined up provision by local authorities and PCT (children’s and 
adults’ services) to avoid gaps in provision and consistency for the child as they 
grow up. 

3 Transition plans should be drawn up, with ‘overlap’ years when both services 
have responsibility for care (16-18yrs) 

4 The specialist court proposal is not well thought out and would probably prolong 
existing delay. 

218



11

6 What more could be done to support family and friends carers? 

Comments 

Professionals 

Fostering team 
1 Develop a separate support unit for kinship care alongside existing Foster Carer 

support, with specially focused training. 
2 Reappraisal of ‘standards’ is required for approval and would acknowledge reality 

of double standard currently in operation 

Long Term Social Work Teams 
3 More transparency about assessment processes would be helpful, and more 

information about what can be offered to family and friends who may be able to 
offer care – for example support to apply for a Residence Order and how benefits 
may be affected 

4 Increasing financial/support/respite care on a par with mainstream Foster Carers.
5 A clearer national lead would be helpful on use of Section 17 as opposed to the 

child entering care and being placed with the family. 

Primary Headteachers 
Care with relatives is good in theory but it might not be appropriate to place with the 
family. Our experience is that the child/children may still be at risk, or families become 
further divided with conflict of one family member becoming a carer. From a 
mainstream school perspective, we find that behaviour management issues are the 
most complex need and this tends to tear families apart – much more support and 
guidance is needed to manage this group of children. 

219



12

7 Is it right for us to work towards an increase in the number of children supported in 
families and, as a result, a small younger care population with more complex needs?   

Yes No x Not Sure 

Comments: 

Young people 
This question, chosen by the young people for discussion within focus groups, elicited 
strong responses. All who expressed a view were very clear that while help should be 
offered to keep families together wherever possible some children would always need 
to be in care 

I think this is a really silly idea. If children are not being properly looked after they need 
to go into care and have a safe place to live.

If they did decide go this way it might mean there wouldn’t be enough foster carers to 
go round

Several young people recognised that being a foster carer is a hard job and there are 
too few foster families as it is. They thought some older children could go home if and 
when things at home settle down rather than stay in care. 

Put kids that really need it in care and sort out counselling for the others who just have 
a few blips now and then 

Many thought Social Workers should look harder among relatives or friends for an 
alternative 

They only asked my one auntie. My gran or my uncle would have had me but they 
never got the chance. 

But some whose placement with relative carers which had not worked out were 
cautious 

It all depends. I did go to my nan’s house for a bit but I trashed my room.  She hasn’t 
written to me since I moved to my new carers. 

Professionals 
Whilst there was a shared welcome in principle for this objective the following specific 
concerns were expressed 

1 We must not reduce numbers without consideration and assessment of the risk of 
significant harm 

2 It is essential that help is offered early and sustained where needed to prevent a 
situation becoming an emergency.   Some families who are supported ‘on the 
edge’ through early and middle years break down when children reach early 
adolescence. 

220



13

3  A cooling off/time out period should be available for teenagers pending mediation 
to resolve conflict. 

4 A proportion of older children will continue to need care are the result of adoption 
breakdowns, disabilities, and carers being unable to manage challenging 
behaviour. Services must still be geared to meeting these needs.  

5 A younger care population brings with it new challenges for including the voice of 
the child in care planning.   

Chapter 3: The role of the corporate parent 

8 Do the proposals in this chapter add up to a sufficient strengthening of the corporate 
parenting role? If not what more should be done?  

Yes x No Not Sure 

Comments 

Professionals 
1 The meaning of ‘Corporate Parenting’ and lines of accountability need to be more 

clearly understood. Government has a role here in following through reminders to 
all councillors of their responsibilities as corporate parents. 

2 Children’s champions should be nominated at senior management level to take 
forward issues affecting children in care individually and collectively.  

3 Young people in care and care leavers could be asked to complete a feedback 
form (with help if appropriate) or take part in an exit interview to comment on the 
performance of their ‘corporate parents’ 

4 Corporate Parents’ responsibilities should include monitoring of pledges (or 
‘entitlements’) and oversee progress of young people through and beyond school 

221



14

9 Would a 'social care practice' help give social workers more freedom to support 
children?

Yes No x Not Sure 

Comments: 

Professionals 
The overall consensus from respondents was that this proposal, while interesting, 
requires further thought. Senior managers within the Local Authority expressed 
concerns in relation to the accountability of these arrangements and the potential 
impact on recruitment and retention of Social Workers. One long term social work 
team thought independent practices could possibly provide a more a child focused 
service, though believed this work should be conducted on a not for profit basis.  

Concerns expressed included 
1 The financial advantage of shortening interventions would become more 

important than continuity for children,  
2 The phrase “commissioned by but independent of local authorities” is an inherent 

contradiction. Realistically, service level agreements limit independence due to 
concerns over renewing contracts.  

3 Being budget holders and care managers increases paperwork and takes away 
the time that workers have to spend with children. In the main it is supporting 
complex systems that gets in the way of direct work with children not caseloads. 

4 Section 3.26 of the Green Paper talks of practices with specialisms e.g. working 
with disabled children. There is therefore an issue of how many different practices 
children would have to access within one Local Authority and maintenance of 
standards across them and ensuring issues of equity. 

5 Potential for a postcode lottery. How would the practices be monitored? 
6 The difficulty in retaining clarity of accountability. 
7 The likely impact on recruitment and retention of qualified Social Workers, 

particularly on those posts remaining within the direct employment of the Local 
Authority. 

222



15

10 Should the Independent Visitor role be revitalised and renamed as 'independent 
advocate' to introduce advocacy as a key element of the role?  

Yes x No Not Sure 

Comments 

Young people 
We think this is a really good idea.  It would be important, though, to be able to choose 
who your independent person would be.  Adults move on so it could be that someone 
of your own age or someone who has been in care would be best. We (ie Voices, the 
group for young people in Herefordshire’s care) could help by finding out what sort of 
things would be important to the children, and getting involved with choosing people 
and telling them what it would be like’. 

Professionals 
While there is broad support for the proposal that the role should be reviewed and 
revitalised further thought is needed about how the role would fit and function for an 
individual child.  Recruiting independent visitors is already problematic and there is no 
consistency nationally about their employment terms.  Maintaining consistency over 
time will remain a challenge. 

The Children’s Right and Advocacy Officer expresses the following views 
1. The Independent visitor should NOT be revitalised and re-named. Independent 

Visitors should be retained, with clarity about their role, function, payment, terms 
and conditions as set against independent advocates.  Young people have a 
right to two services here, with very different roles and functions. 

2. Advocacy is already defined through the National Advocacy Standards and in the 
legislation relating to complaints. Using the term advocate in different contexts 
confuses what is already a complex role. 

3. Advocacy is about presenting the views and voices of children as they want them 
to be presented, without interpretation. Employees of the Local Authority cannot 
fulfil this role, neither can befrienders who are not properly supported, trained or 
professionally recognised. 

4. The tasks outlined for an ‘independent advocate’ combine a number of different 
functions i.e. those of an advocate, an independent visitor, a mentor and a 
befriender. Paragraph 3.48 confuses rather than clarifies: “Children in care who 
make a formal complaint to the local authority are already entitled to advocacy 
services for the duration of that complaint and they may or may not want their 
new independent advocate to become involved”. 

223



16

Chapter 4: Ensuring children are in the right placements 

11 a) Should a 'tiered' approach to fostering placements be developed?  

Yes  

Comments 

Professionals 

1. Yes. There is a need to attract more Foster Carers via training, leading to formal 
qualification, and higher status and greater financial rewards 

2. Payments to Foster Carers should be improved to recognise the difficult nature of 
the work, and perhaps increase payment according to experience and training 
received 

3. Proactive training is needed, particularly on the health and development and 
mental health needs of children and young people in care. 

11 b) If so, should this be underpinned by a formal qualification framework? 

Yes No x Not Sure 

Comments: 

Young people 
1. Some people who are really good foster carers might not feel confident about 

this sort of training and I would not want them to feel bad about themselves.  It 
should be the social worker’s job to realise if carers are not good at helping with 
school work or other things they want to do, and sort out other ways of 
supporting the child. 

2. I think it’s more important for carers and staff to get more training in sport, art, 
things that young people are more likely to like 

Primary Headteachers 
For some children, the level of qualification is less important than having a foster or 
adoptive family that WANTS them in their home and is prepared to love and care for 
them as ‘normal’ parents do their children.  Such demands on competencies would 
certainly alienate many of my better parents!  

Other professionals 
1. Existing formal qualifications are not a guarantee of capacity to deliver skilled 

care for complex needs but do provide additional evidence of ability to achieve 
academic targets, improve self esteem, skills and confidence. 

224



17

2. This level of expectation may put people off and it is difficult enough to recruit 
already.

3. Unless the Government wish to professionalise foster care there is a danger that 
good quality carers might lose out if they have other work and commitments 
apart from fostering and therefore find it hard to take on extra training.  

12 How can we increase placement choice without increasing financial burdens on the 
system?

Comments: 

Professionals 
1. We can’t! 
2. Keep more children out of care, thus releasing more placements with existing 

Foster Carers 

3. Offer 24/7 support to carers to keep them in the job – though this will not solve 

the placement shortage problems alone 

225



18

13 Should local authorities be required to consider whether disabled children in 52 week 
specialist residential provision should have the 'looked after' status?  

X Yes No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Children With Disabilities Team
There are very vulnerable children in these placements who require our oversight as 
part of a formal process.  If they are not in care another formal system which has the 
same powers to check accommodation, care plans etc would be required.  This would 
cause confusion and lead potentially to a two-tier system meaning that children with 
disabilities could be perceived as ‘2nd class citizens’. 

Other professionals 
Yes. The needs of children in this group are sometimes not recognised, and this 
anomaly denies protection to the most vulnerable. However 

1. The proposal would be controversial, especially with some parents who do NOT 
want children to be ‘in care’ 

2. More paperwork, reviews and so forth implies more social workers, reviewing 
officers etc, hence resource issues 

226



19

Chapter 5: A first class education 

14 How might the role of the Designated Teacher for children in care be strengthened 
further?  

Comments: 

Young people 
Generally positive response to the idea of a strengthened role for the Designated 
Teacher, though important notes of caution about the potential risks as well as 
benefits.  

1. Children in care do not want to be singled out and treated differently 
2. Not all teachers need to know who is in care 
3. They (designated teacher) could teach everyone working in schools  about the 

problems of children in care. They don’t seems to realise what it’s like for when 
everyone else is making mother’s day cards or doing their family tree. 

4. The school could encourage carers to come into school to talk about their foster 
children

With regard to £500 per year for the Social Worker to spend on extras to help with 
education 

1. This is a really good idea because it would mean I could have extra help to catch 
up with things I couldn’t learn when I was small 

2. No, I think it should go on counselling, and more places for young people to hang 
out and talk because there aren’t enough youth clubs 

Professionals 
1 This is a great idea.  We need to build on what is already working well locally (a 

specialist Education, Liaison and Support Service acting as champions for 
children in care) 

2 We like the idea of someone with an identified role, not part of many other roles. 
In an ideal position to look at a variety of placements, take an active role in 
parents evening, arranging and attending medical appointments etc. 

3 Grant them the same legal status as SEN co-ordinators in schools and introduce 
reporting mechanisms that outline the tracking and “value added” models that are 
in place for other children. 

4 Give schools funding to allow designated teachers to gain specialist training in the 
developmental and additional needs of children in care, and encourage them to 
assist in delivery of training to teaching staff 

5 Designated teachers could take the lead in developing and monitoring Personal 
Education Plans – or the education component of the ‘single conversation’ 
approach outlined in the green paper.  They need time out from teaching to 
perform this role.  

6 Improve support for the Designated Teacher, particularly from CAMHS 

227



20

15 How would a 'virtual headteacher' best raise standards for children in care?  

Comments: 

Professionals 

The School Improvement Service emphasised the need for the VHT to be 
adequately funded and to have 

1. A clear overview of the data in order to monitor progress of the children across 
many schools 

2. The power to challenge schools 
3. The ability to point schools in the direction of appropriate support 

The practicalities were further discussed by a focus group of teaching staff
4. Would a copy of the children’s school report go to the VHT for signing and 

monitoring? 
5. Will there be a virtual governors’ body to support and challenge the VHT? 

The challenge presented for schools by children in other Local Authorities’ care were 
highlighted. Herefordshire is a ‘net importer’ of children, with 28 of our own children in 
care placed outside the county boundary and 149 from other areas known to be 
placed within it by other Local Authorities. Many of these children are in independent 
sector placements while others are mainstream schools.  

There is a need to reassert the duty on the placing authority to inform the receiving 
authority for these children, and for appropriate background information and resources 
to accompany those who have educational support needs.   

Similar concerns arise in meeting the health care needs for these children (see further 
comments from the Designated Doctor in paragraph 6 below). 

228



21

16 What more can be done to reinforce the educational role of the carer?  

Comments 

Young people 
Carers really should go to parents evenings so they know what’s going on.

Some carers are not really comfortable going into school.  Where this happens it would
be good if someone from school could come out to see them.

Professionals 
1 Changing expectations of the role need to be underpinned by better training and 

support 
2 Write specific expectations, such as attending parents’ evenings into ‘contracts’ 

with carers 

17 Are the measures proposed in relation to the Further Education sector sufficient to 
achieve a step change in outcomes for young people in and leaving care? 

Yes x No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Professionals 

A generally positive response though the volume of additional suggestions indicate 
that the proposals as they stand do not go far enough. While one team felt that 
bursaries would help they among several others made the point that ‘the reasons 
children in care don’t achieve are far from simple’. 

Connexions welcome  

1. Extended entitlement to support from a professionally qualified Personal 
Adviser/Careers Adviser to ensure provision of appropriate and independent 
support and/or signposting 

2. Proposals for more flexible starting dates to enable access to courses  

and suggest the following 
3. All young people in care should be allocate a Personal Adviser /Careers Adviser 

from year 8+ to help make informed option choices, develop aspirations and 
explore routes and pathways to occupations, education, employment and 
training 

4. In the context of the changing qualification landscape it is vitally important that 
foster carers, social workers, aftercare workers and others are clear about the 
importance of information, advice and guidance (IAG), and that this is shared 
with young peoples’ key workers

229



22

5. Local authorities should be required to look at their skill needs and develop 
apprenticeship and other routes within the organisation to enable the 
employment of young people. The principle of this commitment should be 
reflected in any external contracting arrangements – for example leisure 
services. 

6. LSCs should be enabled to relax criteria for young people in care and care 
leavers to allow them to participate in any provision which is appropriate and 
recommended by an independent IAG provider, and allow the flexibility to settle 
into an apprenticeship programme, joining formal training at a time which is right 
for the individual concerned. 

7. Opportunities should be developed within local authorities for taster/short-term 
placements within specific occupational areas, and school and college based 
work experience. 

8. Guaranteed interview scheme for all young people who have been in care, to 
age 25 

9. Ensure that the 14-19 strategy board focuses on attainment, education, and 
employment training needs of children and young people who are or have been 
in care as a separate group 

10. Ensure virtual head teacher role focuses on more than just education by co-
ordinating appropriate support mechanisms are in place including IAG provision 
and referral to any specialist support 

11. Develop role of Corporate Parents to enable more monitoring of pledges (or 
‘entitlements’), and track progress on young people through and beyond school 

12. A commitment to supporting young people into Higher Education at degree level 
should be included in legislation including a commitment to pay all fees and 
support costs for the duration of the course and to provide places to stay in 
holidays 

230



23

Chapter 6: Life outside school 

18 Have we set out the right features in the comprehensive model of health care for 
children in care?  

Yes No x Not Sure 

The Designated Doctor for Looked After Children comments: 

‘At a recent BAAF conference the DoH speaker suggested there was to be a 
recommendation in the green paper on the health care of children placed out of county 
and who will actually be responsible for providing it.  This is a particular problem with 
those children and young people with complex health needs who require input from a 
number of services.  It is all very well suggesting that the placing authority or the 
independent provider should address this but in actuality these children are in the local 
area and to return for their specialist health appointments to the other side of the 
country is not easy.  Although there are some psychiatrists who do private work in 
these establishments appropriate paediatric care is less available.  

I cannot find any clear guidance in the green paper on this, nor can I find anything 
specific about the needs of disabled children who are in care.’ 

Other professionals 

1 We must do more to engage mental health support. It seems there are too many 
individuals with responsibilities as ‘named persons’ – other children don’t have 
this many and it may lead to gaps. There should be one person championing the 
cause of each child in care – as a parent would do for their own child. 

2 Relationships need to be taught to be more than about sex. 
3 The use of screening for substance misuse is not in place for all children and may 

put off those in care from agreeing to health checks.  Many young people use 
substances recreationally but do not misuse 

4 Good training for carers and social workers in identifying the symptoms of 
substance misuse should be enough to create a trusting environment within 
which to work with children  

5 There is no mention of dental care for children in care. We propose an entitlement 
to fast track dental care for children in care, who should have the option of private 
treatment when there is no local NHS provision or excessive waiting times 

231



24

19 What more could we do to help young people in care to participate in sporting, leisure 
and cultural activities?  

Comments: 

Young people 
1. Different foster homes have sports day against each other 
2. Make sure foster carers are aware of the importance of children taking part in 

activities in the community so that they can make friends outside school 

Professionals 

1. We could encourage attendance at ‘taster’ sessions of activity sessions to 
promote increased self esteem, which may lead on to development of an active 
hobby and then community involvement. 

2. It would be good if children could do these activities with friends – in school we 
find children in care struggle to sustain real friendship groups and this can hinder 
access to leisure activities. 

20 Is the approach to supporting children in care who enter youth custody the right one?  

X Yes No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Young people 
1. Yes, they should get more support so that they know people care about them 
2. Young people should get more support with anger management, and help with 

anti-social behaviour 

Professionals 
In addition to having support as a child in care we would recommend that there are 
statutory minimum visiting requirements for children in custody as this is when they 
most need the support of people from outside. 

232



25

21 What more can be done to support the role of carers in managing behaviour within 
the home?  

Comments: 

Young people 
1. I think it is a good idea for carers to have more training, so they understand a bit 

more about what we’re going through. 
2. They need help to understand why we are cross and angry, and to deal with our 

difficult behaviour 

Professionals 
1. This is a huge problem, with little support for carers on appropriate sanctioning.  

Much more training and advice is needed 
2. Advice and support for carers should be available 24/7 
3. Carers need to understand the therapeutic needs of children, as well as their 

own needs, and their responses to these.  This is what therapeutic foster care 
means 

4. Specialist support which may include play therapy and mediation should be 
available where appropriate 

Chapter 7: Making the transition to adult life 

22 Should young people be allowed to remain with their foster families up to the age of 
21, including when the young person is at university?  

X Yes No Not Sure 

Comments: 

Young people 
1. Carers and children should have more say and more choice about where they go 

after foster care, and more support before and after they move on 
2. Not just kicking them out – making sure they’ve got somewhere to go before 

leaving care 

Professionals 
1. Yes! Even at 21 years children/adults generally rely heavily on parents – 

emotionally and financially.  
2. Young people who have been in care may need support for longer – up to 25 -  if 

they slip a year or change course 
3. Additional support/training will be needed for carers around the change of role and 

different tasks in supporting young adults 

23 What is the best way of ensuring greater availability of dedicated supported 
accommodation for young people making the transition to adulthood?  

233



26

Comments: 

Professionals 

1. Sheltered accommodation with ‘guardian’ for major needs. 
2. Explore direct payments to young people to use to identify their own 

accommodation as long as it meets pre-determined criteria 
3. Clear criteria for services, greater ring-fenced funding for accommodation and 

skills training for young people.  May need a stage between supported lodgings 
and fully independent living. 

24 Are there other ways in which we can increase the number of children in care 
progressing to university?  

Comments: 

Young people 
I think they (the local authority) should pay something to help but young people need 
to learn responsibility as well 

Professionals 
1. Raise expectations that every child in care should go on to further education or 

university unless proven otherwise rather than the other way round. 
2. Identify university graduates who have been in care to link with, support and 

encourage college leavers and rising stars 
3. Link workers at universities 
4. Ensure appropriate career/education guidance, and then support emotionally, 

practically and financially.  All these proposals will need substantial standardised 
financial support 

5. Possibly they shouldn’t pay tuition fees 

234



27

Chapter 8: Making the system work 

25 Should we introduce a new power for local authorities to intervene in schools 
performing poorly for children in care? 

X Yes No Not Sure 

Comments 

Professionals 
1. Better to reward and encourage schools who ARE performing well 
2. Compulsory training on child protection and children in care.  Schools need to be 

linked back to the local authority more formally 
3. We need to encourage ALL schools to admit children in care, and not penalise 

those schools that do admit them by introducing more punitive measures. There 
may be many reasons who children do not make progress, including family and 
background issues. 

26 What more should we do to give children in care a greater say in decisions which 
affect them?  

Comments: 

1. Annual feedback reports from children on their corporate parents’ performance 
2. As a part of the ‘annual stock take’ there should be a duty to produce an annual 

report to children and young people in accessible formats so that they know what 
has and hasn’t been done in response to their suggestions and why. 

3. A ‘children in care council’ needs direct contact with an elected member or 
director of service at their meetings rather than views being fed into other 
decision making bodies. This allows two-way communication. These councils 
need to be fully supported and resourced to ensure access for children and 
young people with needs across the spectrum. 

4. An increase in emphasis on the personal qualities children want in a good social 
worker is contained in the report of the CSCI Children’s Rights Director “About 
Social Workers” (2006). Young people should routinely be involved in 
recruitment and selection of social workers, with reference to these qualities. 

5. Clear guidance from Government is needed on ‘payment’ or ‘rewards’ for young 
people.  

27 How can Independent Reviewing Officers be made more independent and their role 
strengthened?  

235



28

Comments: 

1. A more independent footing is welcomed but must allow for contact with those 
who are making day to day decisions. 

2. They should not be employed by the local authority and not allowed to review in 
areas where they have previously practised 

3. The role should be more defined and the structure for reviews should be clearer 
4. IROs views could be sent quarterly to Lead member and Director of Children’s 

Services and any requested actions either confirmed as implemented or an 
explanation given of why not 

5. If there is to be an independent body for IROs then thought must be given to the 
range of services that could be managed by this body including the creation of a 
National or Regional Independent Advocacy service, to cover all children in need 
as well as those who are in care 

6. Partnerships with neighbouring authorities could be considered 

28 What key outcomes should we measure to assess whether we are being successful 
in transforming the lives of children and young people in care?  

Comments 
Young people 
Children and young people should be asked what these outcomes could be  - success 
for a young person might be as simple as are you happier leaving care than you were 
when you went in. 

Professionals 
1. It’s not just about attainment – it’s about choices and empowering our families 

and children, and about emotional and mental health 
2. Measure self-esteem of young people in care? 
3. Can they parent their own children? 
4. Longitudinal studies are needed to help answer this question 

236



29

29 Please use this space for any general comments you would like to make 

Comments: 

The public needs to recognise the skills offered by good committed Social Workers, 
and positively support and value their role. 

30 Please let us have your views on responding to this consultation. For instance did 
you have any difficulty understanding any of the questions and did you think we had the 
right number or type of questions? 

Comments: 

1. It is unfortunate that the themes and questions covered in the young peoples 
consultation guide are misaligned with some of the key issues in the Green 
Paper, meaning young people are not being consulted on some of the more 
practical changes proposed. 

2. The young people’s version was not available until just before the autumn half 
term, leaving little time for meaningful consultation with children, especially those
who are disabled, over the holiday season. 

237



30

Thank you for taking the time to let us have your views. We do not intend to 
acknowledge individual responses unless you place an 'X' in the box below. 

Please acknowledge this reply x

Here at the Department for Education and Skills we carry out our research on many 
different topics and consultations. As your views are valuable to us, would it be alright if 
we were to contact you again from time to time either for research or to send through 
consultation documents? 

Xyes 
No

All UK national public consultations are required to conform to the following standards: 

1. Consult widely throughout the process, allowing a minimum of 12 weeks for written 
consultation at least once during the development of the policy. 

2. Be clear about what your proposals are, who may be affected, what questions are 
being asked and the timescale for responses. 

3. Ensure that your consultation is clear, concise and widely accessible. 

4. Give feedback regarding the responses received and how the consultation process 
influenced the policy. 

5. Monitor your department’s effectiveness at consultation, including through the use of a 
designated consultation co-ordinator. 

6. Ensure your consultation follows better regulation best practice, including carrying out 
a Regulatory Impact Assessment if appropriate. 

Further information on the Code of Practice can be accessed through the Cabinet Office 
Website: http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/regulation/consultation-
guidance/content/introduction/index.asp 

Thank you for taking time to respond to this consultation.

Completed questionnaires and other responses should be sent to the address shown 
below by 15 January 2007 

Send by post to: Consultation Unit, Area 1A, Castle View House, East Lane, Runcorn, 
Cheshire, WA7 2GJ 

Send by e-mail to: carematters.consultation@dfes.gsi.gov.uk

238



             

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Derek Allen, Change Manager-

Homelessness on 01432 261600 

Homelessness0201071.doc  

HOMELESSNESS UPDATE 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: SOCIAL CARE ADULTS AND HEALTH 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007  

 

Wards Affected 

Countywide 

Purpose 

To update Cabinet on progress made in relation to homelessness prevention in 
Herefordshire. 

Key Decision  

This is not a key decision. 

Recommendation  

THAT:  (a) the report be noted; and 

 (b) Cabinet receive one further quarterly report during 2007 on progress 
and developments in homelessness prevention services and the work of 
the Homelessness and Housing Advice Steering Group. 

Reasons 

In July 2005, Cabinet agreed a number of ‘spend to save’ initiatives to address the financial 
pressures created by the demand for homelessness services in Herefordshire.  Since then, 
changes have been implemented, including the return in-house of homelessness and 
housing advice services from Herefordshire Housing Limited, which have led to an 
improving position around homelessness prevention in Herefordshire. 

Considerations  

1. The spend to save fund has enabled nearly 300 successful homelessness prevention 
payments to be made since the fund became active in October 2005. The total value 
of homelessness prevention payments made since the fund was created is now in 
the region of £130k, which has impacted significantly on the use of temporary 
accommodation. For example, since last April, the fund has helped over 70 families 
access the private rented sector before becoming homeless – previously these same 
families would have stayed in Bed and Breakfast establishments whilst the authority 
determined whether it had a duty to re-house them.  

2. Mediation services and Sanctuary interventions continue to form an important role in 
preventing family exclusions, and ensuring victims of domestic violence have the 
opportunity to remain in their own homes. In December 2006, the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) committed £9k to fund further 

AGENDA ITEM 10

239



Sanctuary work in Herefordshire. On average, three families request Sanctuary 
interventions per month, and two families receive mediation services. 

3. The number of new families booked into Bed and Breakfast accommodation has 
continued to fall, and the service is now averaging less than two new families into 
B&B per month. There are currently 4 families in B&B, only 2 of whom have been 
there for longer than 6 weeks. The service is therefore still on target to cease the 
routine use of B&B in Herefordshire by the end of this financial year. Achieving this 
continues to depend upon retaining the prevention team in its current format, 
together with continued stability in terms of the demand for services.    

4. Demand for homelessness and housing advice services still shows little sign of 
slowing down, but the number of homelessness applications and acceptances under 
the Housing Act 1996 continues to remain stable at quarter three of 2006/07. The 
authority also accepted a request from the DCLG to host a ‘Homelessness 
Prevention Masterclass’, which took place in October, and was attended by housing 
colleagues from across the West Midlands.  

5. The newly formed Homelessness and Housing Advice Steering Group has now met 
three times, helping to shape policy, procedure and local responses to 
homelessness. A Herefordshire Homelessness Strategy Implementation Group has 
also been established, and this met for the first time in December 2006. The second 
Homelessness Prevention Scrutiny Seminar, also took place in December and was 
well attended, and explored some of the future housing and homelessness 
challenges facing the Council and its partners.  

6. The historical accumulation of the number of families living in temporary 
accommodation still remains a challenge, although it continues to decrease more 
quickly than initially projected at the start of the financial year. 

Risk Management 

As a result of the substantial progress made in reducing homeless acceptance rates and the 
associated use of B&B, the budget for B&B accommodation in 2006/07 has proved 
adequate, and there are no longer concerns around an overspend for this financial year.   

Continued use of bed and breakfast accommodation for families could result in judicial 
review proceedings being taken against the Council by families accommodated in Bed and 
Breakfast for longer than 6 weeks contrary to the Homelessness (Suitability of 
Accommodation) Order (England) 2003. 

Alternative Options 

Not applicable. 

Consultees 

Not applicable 

Background Papers 

Reports to Cabinet dated 19th May, 2005; 14th July, 2005; and 20th April, 2006 

240



  

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Nicholson, Forward Planning Manager on 01432 261952 

CabinetReportUDPJan070.doc  

HEREFORDSHIRE UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (UDP) 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: ENVIRONMENT 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

Countywide. 

Purpose 

To consider representations to the Proposed Modifications and Statement of Decisions and 
Reasons and recommend that the UDP proceed to adoption. 

Key Decision 

This is not a key decision. 

Recommendations 

THAT it be recommended to Council that: 

(a) the responses and recommendations set out in the attached Schedules 
regarding duly made representations to the UDP Proposed 
Modifications and the Statement of Decisions and Reasons be 
approved; 

(b) no further Modifications materially affecting the content of the Plan need 
to be made, and a further Inquiry is not required;   

(c) the minor changes set out in the report be included within the Plan 
without the need for further modifications; 

(d) a Statement of Decisions and Reasons be published in respect of the 
Council’s consideration of the representations; 

(e) the UDP be adopted and that the requisite statutory procedures be 
undertaken to give notice of intention to adopt the Plan; 

(f) the UDP be adopted on the day after the expiry of the period given by 
the Council in the notice of intention to adopt, provided that no direction 
to modify or call in the Plan has been made by the Secretary of State; 
and  

(g)  notice of adoption be given in accordance with the statutory 
procedures.  

Reasons 

The statutory plan making process requires that all objections to Modifications or to a 
Council decision not to accept an Inspector’s recommendation must be considered by the 
Council, and that the outcome of this process be set out in a Statement of Decisions and 

AGENDA ITEM 11

241



Reasons.  On the basis that neither further Modifications nor a further Inquiry are required in 
response to these objections, the Council may now proceed to adopt the Plan in accordance 
with the statutory procedures.     

Considerations 

1. The Proposed Modifications and Statement of Decisions and Reasons were 
published and made available for inspection between 7th September and 19th October 
2006.  During this period some 255 comments were received from organisations and 
members of the public.  Of these, 214 (84%) were objections.  There were 41 (16%) 
representations of support. 

2. The attached schedules summarise each of the representations, the suggested 
response and an associated recommendation.     

3. The UDP Working Group considered the representations in detail at their meeting in 
early January and supported the recommended responses.  Prior to this, local 
members were provided with summaries of comments received in respect of 
sites/land within their wards, their views sought and reported to the Group.   

Statutory requirements 
 
4. The Council is required to consider each of the duly made objections.  The Council 

could decide to propose further Modifications, hold a further Inquiry or proceed to 
adopt the Plan without proposing further Modifications.  

5. If it is decided to propose further Modifications as a result of matters now raised, 
these would need to be advertised for a six week period, with any subsequent 
objections also required to be considered by the Council.  In terms of a further Public 
Inquiry, Government advice is that this will not normally be necessary where the 
matters raised have already been considered, but should be held where objections 
raise new issues which have not been addressed to date.   

6.  The objections received to both the Proposed Modifications and to the Council’s 
decision to reject certain of the Inspector’s recommendations covered a range of 
issues.  However, these have already been given full consideration at the Public 
Inquiry in 2005.  No significant new issues have arisen. The schedules attached to 
this report address all duly made representations.  No further Modifications, or further 
Inquiry, are proposed as a result.    

7. If Council on February 9th resolve to support this position, then the decision can be 
taken to proceed to adopt the Plan. It will be necessary to give 28 days notice of the 
intention to adopt the Plan.  The Plan may be adopted after the expiry of this period.  
Notice of adoption must then be given. Following adoption, any person may 
challenge the validity of the Plan by making an application to the High Court to have 
the Plan or part of the Plan quashed. Applications must be made within six weeks of 
the publication of the notice of adoption.  

The Representations 
 
8. Although 255 representations were received during the deposit period there were 

only a limited number of issues raised.  The majority of the 219 Proposed 
Modifications did not result in any comment.  The issue generating the largest 
number of responses was the rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation 6.10/1 
regarding Model Farm in Ross-on-Wye.  Some 94 objections (43% of objections) 

242



were made regarding this issue, with 2 representations of support, while a further 3 
objections were made to the rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation to amend 
the Ross-on-Wye settlement boundary to exclude the Model Farm site. 

 
9. The rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation 5.14/1 regarding land at 

Bullinghope generated some 37 objections and 2 representations of support. In 
addition, 12 objections and 2 representations of support were made to the rejection 
of Inspector’s recommendation 5.3/3 suggesting the amendment of the Hereford 
settlement boundary to omit the Bullinghope site.  One of the objectors also 
submitted a petition with 218 names calling for the deletion of the allocation.   

10. The concerns raised have all been addressed through the Plan process and no 
further Modifications are required.  There is however one matter raised by a number 
of objections where a minor change to the Plan should be considered.  

11. This relates to concerns expressed that the allocation of the site would prejudice the 
broader consideration of the future growth of Hereford through the LDF process.  It is 
considered that these objections have merit and that a suitable change should be 
made to the UDP to recognise this.  This should be done by amending the reasoned 
justification at para. 5.4.13, as follows: 

a.  For the sentences “This land, which lies between Bullingham Lane and 
Hoarwithy Road and is crossed by the Withy Brook to the east, would form the 
first phase of a much larger residential development to take place at 
Bullinghope beyond this Plan period.  Access to this initial development of 300 
dwellings…” substitute: “This land lies between Bullingham Lane and 
Hoarwithy Road and is crossed by the Withy Brook to the east.  Access to this 
development of 300 dwellings…”.  

 
b. For the sentence ”Initially a development brief will be required which will form 

part of an overall master plan for the area to establish the community facilities 
and development concepts required for this emerging new district of Hereford” 
substitute:  “A development brief will be required”.   

 
12. Counsel’s advice has been sought on the merits of these changes.  This confirms 

that they are in themselves desirable and that they would not materially affect the 
content of the Plan, and hence can be progressed as minor changes without the 
need for further Modifications being proposed.   
 

13. The Modification to allocate land at Holmer for housing purposes generated some 
21 objections and 6 representations of support.  Many of the objectors are requesting 
detailed amendments to the proposal and its reasoned justification, predominantly 
regarding traffic issues, rather than objecting to the principle of the development of 
the site. 

 
14. The comments made regarding the three issues set out above account for 69% of all 

duly made representations. 

15. However, there are a range of other issues which attracted representations including: 
 

• representations which question the Modifications made to the housing strategy 
as a result of the inclusion of both Holmer and Bullinghope housing sites, 
suggesting that the inclusion of both sites will result in an over-provision; 

• objections suggesting that as a consequence of increasing the housing 

243



requirement there is a need to re-examine all housing ‘omission’ sites put 
forward by objectors, rather than only including the Bullinghope allocation; 

• objections to the rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation in respect of 
reviewing the Hereford settlement boundary at Kings Acre Road in an early 
development plan document; 

• representations questioning the rejection of Inspector’s recommendation 6.1/1 
in respect of the Rotherwas Industrial Estate; 

• objection to the amended flood areas at Wellington and Cusop; 

• objections to the rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation to delete the 
Zone of Interest at Leominster; and 

• objection to the rejection of the Inspector’s recommendation in respect of Policy 
TCR20R – Eign Gate Regeneration Area (Inspector’s recommendation 7.23/1). 

16. In the case of the latter the views of Counsel, together with those of the Council’s 
retail consultants, have been sought and the response set out in the Schedule 
reflects their advice.  

 
17. In addition to the duly made representations regarding the Proposed Modifications 

and Statement of Decisions and Reasons, the West Midlands Regional Assembly 
have undertaken an assessment to determine whether the document is in conformity 
with the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS). The Assembly have indicated that they 
consider the Plan (as proposed to be modified) to be in general conformity with the 
RSS. 

 
18. Finally, attention has been drawn to a number of instances where there are errors or 

where there are consequential changes required as a result of making a Modification.  
As with the amendments proposed above in respect of Bullinghope, these minor 
changes do not materially affect the content of the Plan and as such can be made 
without the need to publish further Modifications.  Such technical or editorial changes 
have been provided for in Modification 219, which recognises the need to make 
minor amendments such as factual updates/corrections.  Those identified to date 
include: 

 
• Paragraph 5.4.22 provides the reasoned justification for the Tanyard Lane 

housing site in Ross-on-Wye.  There remains reference to the pedestrian and 
cyclist links to the new business park.  However, in his report the Inspector 
recommended (6.10/2) that other references in the paragraphs which refer to 
both sites should be deleted.  This recommendation has been accepted and, 
therefore, to provide consistency, the words “and new business park (policy 
E4)” should be deleted from the third sentence of paragraph 5.4.22 as a 
consequential change.   

 
• Two typographical errors in proposed modifications 189 need to be corrected.  

In paragraph 11.3.4 there is reference to a landbank of 43,969,000 tonnes.  
This figure should read 3,969,000.  In paragraph 11.3.5 there is reference to 
reserves of crushed rock at 2001, however, this should refer to reserves of 
crushed rock at 2004. 

244



Risk Management 
 
Consideration of representations to the Modifications/Council decision not to accept an 
Inspector’s recommendation(s), subsequent publication of a Statement of Decisions and 
Reasons and the adoption process are statutory requirements.   The High Court challenge 
period is also a statutory provision.  

Alternative Options 

To propose further Modifications or hold a second Inquiry.      

Consultees 

UDP Working Group January 2007  

Local members  

Appendices 

Schedules 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

245



246



R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
 t

o
 C

o
u

n
c
il

 r
e
je

c
ti

o
n

 o
f 

In
s
p

e
c

to
r 

re
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

s

N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

5
.1

4
/1

4
0
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

3
 -

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 -
 A

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 L
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

H
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 a
t 
H

o
lm

e
r.

 A
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 b

a
d
ly

 
n

e
e

d
e

d
. 
D

e
v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 
w

ill
 s

p
o

il 
la

n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 a

n
d
 D

in
e
d
o
r 

H
ill

 a
n
d
 

c
re

a
te

 m
o
re

 t
ra

ff
ic

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
. 
 T

h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 t
h
e
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 c

it
y
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
  
N

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 i
n
 r

e
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n

 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 t
o

 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d

. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 s

it
e
 i
s
 t
h
a

t 
w

h
ic

h
 

b
e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 

s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n

 d
ra

w
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

. 
T

h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h

a
t 
a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h

o
w

 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n

d
 l
in

k
s
 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 A

n
n
e
 A

d
a

m
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

247



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 o

n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

e
t 

fr
o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 a

re
 

e
rr

o
n
e
o
u
s
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 d
o
 n

o
t 
re

p
re

s
e
n
t 
w

e
ll 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

It
 i
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t

h
a
t 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

in
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

, 
a

n
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 a

 m
in

o
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e

 w
h
ic

h
 

w
ill

 n
o

t 
m

a
te

ri
a
lly

 a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 c

o
n

te
n

t 
o
f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 a
im

.

A
m

e
n
d
 t
h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

 
th

ir
d
 s

e
n
te

n
c
e
s
 o

f 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

3
 b

y
 

re
p
la

c
in

g
 "

T
h
is

 l
a
n
d
, 
w

h
ic

h
 

lie
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 
L
a
n
e
 a

n
d
 H

o
a
rw

it
h
y
 R

o
a
d
 

a
n
d
 i
s
 c

ro
s
s
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 W

it
h
y
 

B
ro

o
k
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

a
s
t,
 w

o
u
ld

 
fo

rm
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
p
h
a
s
e
 o

f 
a
 

m
u
c
h
 l
a
rg

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
to

 t
a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 

a
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t
h
is

 
P

la
n

 p
e

ri
o

d
. 
A

c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 t
h

is
 

in
it
ia

l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
3
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
…

" 
w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
: 
"T

h
is

 l
a

n
d

 l
ie

s
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 L
a
n
e
 

a
n
d
 H

o
a
rw

it
h
y
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 i
s
 

c
ro

s
s
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 W

it
h
y
 B

ro
o
k
 

to
 t
h

e
 e

a
s
t.

  
A

c
c
e

s
s
 t
o

 t
h

is
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
3
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
…

".
 

A
m

e
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
in

a
l 
s
e
n
te

n
c
e
 o

f 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

3
 b

y
 

re
p
la

c
in

g
 "

In
it
ia

lly
 a

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
b
ri
e
f 
w

ill
 b

e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 f
o
rm

 p
a
rt

 
o
f 
a
n
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
m

a
s
te

r 
p
la

n
 f
o
r 

th
e
 a

re
a
 t
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y
 f
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ts

 
re

q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
is

 e
m

e
rg

in
g
 

n
e
w

 d
is

tr
ic

t 
o
f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

" 
w

it
h
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
: 
"A

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
b
ri
e
f 
w

ill
 b

e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
".

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
 C

 A
n
th

o
n

y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

248



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
3
0
0
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 i
n
it
ia

lly
, 
ri
s
in

g
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
, 
w

ill
 p

u
t 
a
n
 

u
n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 s
tr

a
in

 o
n
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
. 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 

c
a
u
s
e
 i
rr

e
v
e
rs

ib
le

 h
a
rm

 t
o
 t

h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
a
n
d
 a

p
p
e
a
ra

n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 a

re
a
.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
a
t 
tr

a
ff

ic
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 T
h
e

 s
it
e

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 

w
h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t

o
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 b
u

ilt
 f
o

rm
 o

f 
th

e
 

C
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 

fa
ll 

w
it
h
in

 a
n
y
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

U
rs

u
la

 A
tt

fi
e
ld

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 
1
2
4
5
8
, 
th

ro
u
g
h
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
fu

tu
re

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 o

n
 a

 c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 b

a
s
is

. 
 T

h
is

 w
o

u
ld

 i
n

c
lu

d
e

 
e
x
a
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

, 
m

a
rk

e
t 
to

w
n
s
, 
la

rg
e
r 

v
ill

a
g
e
s
 a

n
d
 r

u
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

o
m

 
1
1
7
0
0
 t
o
 1

2
4
5
8
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
. 
 I
n
 a

llo
c
a
ti
n
g
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

3
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 f
a
ile

d
 t
o
 e

x
a
m

in
e
 a

ll 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
. 
 I
n
 B

o
d
e
n
h
a
m

 M
o
o
r 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 a
n
d
 

o
p
e
n
 m

a
rk

e
t 
h
o
u
s
in

g
, 
th

e
 a

rg
u
m

e
n
t 
re

g
a
rd

in
g
 l
a
n
d
 c

o
m

in
g
 

fo
rw

a
rd

 a
t 
a
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ra

te
 c

o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 b

e
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 

in
 t
h

is
 v

ill
a

g
e

. 
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

s
h

o
u

ld
 a

c
c
e
p
t 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

in
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 o

r 
d
e
fe

r 
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 U

D
P

 u
n
ti
l 

a
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 h

e
ld

.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o

m
m

e
n

d
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

o
m

 
1
1
,7

0
0
 t
o

 1
2

,2
0

0
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
rd

 w
it
h
 t
h

e
 R

S
S

. 
 T

h
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 

th
is

 p
o
s
it
io

n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 a

n
d

 r
e

je
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 s
e
e

k
 t
o

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h

is
. 
 I

n
 r

e
s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 

th
e

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o

 r
u

ra
l 
a
re

a
s
 t
h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
s
u
p
p
o

rt
e

d
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 i
n

 t
h
e
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
, 

a
n
d
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 i
n

 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 3

.1
8
.5

9
 t
h

a
t,
 w

h
e
re

 a
p
p

ro
p
ri
a

te
, 

th
e

 o
p

p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e

 
ta

k
e
n
 t

o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 r

u
ra

l 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 n
o
 c

a
s
e
 a

t 
p
re

s
e

n
t 
to

 
re

c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 o
f 

s
it
e
s
 i
n
 m

a
in

 v
ill

a
g
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

E
 G

 B
e
v
a
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 p

re
fe

ra
b
le

. 
A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

fo
u
n
d
 f
ro

m
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 s

it
e
s
. 
F

in
a
l 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

o
rd

e
r 

o
f 
2
,0

0
0
. 
R

a
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
 i
s
 n

a
tu

ra
l 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

. 
D

e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
s
 u

n
p
ro

v
e
n
. 
In

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 u
s
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 P

la
n
's

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

 k
n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 i
s
 

lim
it
e
d
 t

o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 t
o
 f
u
rt

h
e

r 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 (

s
e
e

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 
a
n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 M

r.
 A

.C
. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a
b
o

v
e
).

 T
h
e
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
 s

it
e
 i
s
 t
h
a

t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 

re
la

te
s
 t
o
 t
h
e

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 

C
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
. 

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u

s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 t
h
e

 
P

la
n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a

n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
th

is
 a

im
. 

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 f
u
n

d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a
d

 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e

p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 

p
la

n
n

in
g
 g

a
in

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 M

 B
u
rn

s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

249



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

It
 i
s
 w

ro
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 d
ic

ta
te

 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
a
rt

 f
in

a
n
c
in

g
 t
h
e
 r

o
a
d
. 
T

h
e
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 b

e
in

g
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 w

ill
 o

n
ly

 b
e
 

th
e
 s

ta
rt

 o
f 
a
 l
a
rg

e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 a

re
a
 w

h
ic

h
 c

o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 

s
u
s
ta

in
e
d
. 
T

h
e
 a

re
a
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
T

h
e
 

a
re

a
 i
s
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 f
o
r 

it
s
 m

in
e
ra

l 
re

s
e
rv

e
s
 a

n
d
 i
s
 o

f 
la

n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 v

a
lu

e
.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h

a
s
 a

c
c
e

p
te

d
 t
h
a
t 

s
e
e

k
in

g
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 

le
g
it
im

a
te

 a
n
d

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 R

o
a
d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e

 a
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

p
a
n
im

e
n

t 
o
f 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g

h
o

p
e

. 
S

u
s
ta

in
a
b

ili
ty

 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h

a
v
e

 b
e

e
n

 
ta

k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n

t 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

l.
  
T

h
e

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
  
re

m
o
v
e
d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 T
h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

ts
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r 
h

a
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

e
d

 t
h
a

t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
L

o
w

e
r 

B
u
lli

n
g

h
a

m
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 

s
a
fe

g
u

a
rd

e
d

 m
in

e
ra

l 
re

s
e

rv
e

s
, 
a

n
d
 t
h
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 

C
o

u
n
c
il 

(M
o
d

if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 1

9
2
).

 T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 s
it
e

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 

w
h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 

to
 t

h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
fa

ll 
w

it
h
in

 a
n

y
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
a

n
d
s
c
a
p

e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 B

 C
a
ld

ic
u
tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
e
ti
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 2

1
8
 s

ig
n
a
tu

re
s
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 o

b
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 o

f 
3
0
0
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

.
T

h
e
 p

e
ti
ti
o
n
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 a
n
y
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
 f
o
r 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 o

n
 t

h
is

 
b
a
s
is

 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 n

o
te

d
 a

s
 a

n
 e

x
p
re

s
s
io

n
 o

f 
p
u
b

lic
 c

o
n
c
e

rn
 o

n
 t
h
is

 i
s
s
u
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
e
ti
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 B
. 
C

a
ld

ic
u
tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 o
th

e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
  
N

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
. 
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 L
a
n
e
 i
s
 t
o
o
 n

a
rr

o
w

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

R
o
s
s
 R

o
a
d
/W

a
ln

u
t 
T

re
e
 R

o
a
d
/H

o
lm

e
 L

a
c
y
 R

o
a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 c

a
n
n
o
t 

ta
k
e
 a

n
y
 m

o
re

 v
e
h
ic

le
s
.

T
h

e
 P

la
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 h

a
s
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d
 a

 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t,
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 i
n
 t
h

e
 u

rb
a
n
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 
a
n
d
 e

ls
e
w

h
e
re

. 
N

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 i
n
 r

e
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o

n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
h
e

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 t
o
 t
h

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
, 
a

n
d
 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
is

 a
s
 r

e
a

s
o
n

a
b
le

. 
T

h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

ts
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 
to

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 

n
o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
C

h
ri
s
 C

h
a

p
p

e
ll

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 a

re
a
 n

e
e
d
s
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

w
a
y
s
.

Is
s
u

e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g

 t
o
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 w

e
re

 f
u
lly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 

In
q

u
ir
y
 i
n
 2

0
0
5
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e

 
tr

a
ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 t
o

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 

im
p

a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 s

it
e
 

is
 o

th
e
rw

is
e
 c

a
p

a
b
le

 o
f 
b
e

in
g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

 a
s
 p

ro
p
o

s
e
d

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
ls

o
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 t
h
a

t 
it
 i
s
 l
e
g

it
im

a
te

 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 f
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 R

o
a
d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

D
e
re

k
 D

a
v
ie

s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 4

250



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 o

n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 s
h
o
w

 h
o
w

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 c

lim
a
te

 
c
h
a
n
g
e
. 
T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

e
t 

fr
o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 a

re
 

e
rr

o
n
e
o
u
s
, 
a
n
d
 a

re
 n

o
t 
re

a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 P
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

im
p

ro
v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e

y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
 P

la
n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 

lin
k
e

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 t
o

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

th
is

 a
im

. 
T

h
e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e

 a
re

 a
p
p
ra

is
e
d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h
e
 r

e
le

v
a
n

t 
s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 a

p
p
ra

is
a
l.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 G
e
ra

ld
 D

a
w

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
o
s
t 
s
it
e
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
o
n
 

th
e
 b

a
s
is

 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

fo
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
a
rc

h
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

  
C

o
u
n
c
il 

n
o
w

 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
1
2
1
5
2
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
c
o
n
tr

a
ry

 
to

 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r.
  
If
 a

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

e
x
is

ts
 o

th
e
r 

la
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
-e

x
a
m

in
e
d
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
, 

H
o
lm

e
r,

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

to
 m

e
e
t 
re

g
io

n
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

a
n
d
 m

o
d
 0

4
2
 f
ig

u
re

 (
1
2
4
5
8
).

 P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 u

n
le

s
s
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
to

 r
e
je

c
t 
B

u
lli

n
h
o
p
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 

m
a
x
im

u
m

 o
f 
1
2
2
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 r

e
-a

ff
ir
m

e
d
. 
 S

h
o
u
ld

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a

in
ta

in
 i
ts

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 t
h

a
t 
n

o
t 
a

ll 
s
it
e
s
 a

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 s

ta
te

d
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 

W
a
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g
 t
h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
re

 n
o
t 
v
a
lid

.

T
h

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
b
o
th

 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
n

d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

a
s
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
b
a
te

 a
t 
th

e
 I
n

q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 h

is
 r

e
a

s
o
n

in
g
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
, 
in

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
P

ro
p
o

s
e

d
 m

o
d

if
ic

a
ti
o

n
 0

4
2

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a

t 
a

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e

s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

e
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d

, 
b
u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

d
o
u
b
ts

 w
h
e

th
e

r 
a

ll 
s
u
c
h
 

s
it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 
 I
t 

is
 d

e
la

y
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

's
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 s

it
e
's

 t
h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 

th
is

 u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e

p
te

d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o

n
 w

ill
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n

 a
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
c
o

n
s
id

e
r 

o
th

e
r 

a
lt
e

rn
a
ti
v
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 

In
q

u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
a

s
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti
o
n
 

5
.1

4
/1

 m
a
k
e
 c

le
a

r 
th

a
t 

th
is

 w
ill

 e
n

s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a

t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o

f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d

, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a

n
 e

x
c
e
e
d

e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 w

a
s
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u

ir
y
, 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
ra

is
e
 

m
a

tt
e
r 

n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q

u
ir
y
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

G
 H

a
n
k
in

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

B
u
lli

n
g
h
a
m

 L
a
n
e
 i
s
 t
o
o
 n

a
rr

o
w

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 e

x
tr

a
 s

tr
a
in

 o
n
 t
h
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 n

e
tw

o
rk

. 
 T

h
e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 p

la
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 
 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

re
a
 i
s
 o

n
e
 o

f 
s
c
e
n
ic

 a
n
d
 w

ild
lif

e
 q

u
a
lit

y
, 
n
e
w

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 g
o
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
th

e
 C

it
y
. 
T

h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 w

it
h
in

 
c
o
n

v
e

n
ie

n
t 
re

a
c
h

 o
f 

e
x
is

ti
n

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 f
a

c
ili

ti
e

s
. 
T

h
e

 i
m

p
a

c
ts

 o
n

 w
ild

lif
e
 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 t
a

k
e
n

 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u

n
t 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l,
 w

h
ic

h
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 

fa
ll 

w
it
h
in

 a
n
y
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
. 
T

h
e

 B
u

lli
n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

it
e
 i
n

 a
d

d
it
io

n
 t
o
 

th
a

t 
a
t 
H

o
lm

e
r 

to
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 
m

e
e
t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
t.
 T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

le
g
it
im

a
te

 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 f

u
n
d
 t
h

e
 R

o
a

d
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 A
la

n
 &

 M
a
rj
o

ri
e
 H

a
rd

w
ic

k
e

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 5

251



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 
h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 

o
n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 
b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 m

e
t 
fr

o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
. 
 B

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

p
p
a
ls

 m
e
. 
 C

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
 i
g
n
o
re

s
 a

d
v
ic

e
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 f
u
n

d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a
d

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e

p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p

la
n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g

h
o

p
e

 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0

 d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
. 
R

e
fe

re
n
c
e

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

P
la

n
 t
o

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1

 a
t 

th
is

 l
o
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
re

 t
o
 

b
e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-

E
d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a

b
o
v
e
).

 F
u
rt

h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 t
h
e

 
P

la
n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a

n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
th

is
 a

im
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
a
rk

 H
u
b
b

a
rd

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

A
re

a
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
c
o
p
e
 w

it
h
 a

n
y
 m

o
re

 t
ra

ff
ic

. 
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 n

o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
. 
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 c

a
n
 b

e
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

w
a
y
s
.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 T

h
e
 P

la
n
 d

o
e

s
 n

o
t 

re
q
u
ir

e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 t
o

 b
e

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a

s
 f
u

lly
 

in
v
e

s
ti
g
a
te

d
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 l
e
g
it
im

a
te

 t
o
 f
u
n
d

 t
h
e
 r

o
a
d

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 V
 M

 H
u
g
h
e

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b

u
ild

in
g
 o

f 
3
0
0
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 t
o
 p

a
y
 f
o
r 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 w

h
e
n
 

ro
a
d
s
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 p
re

s
e
n
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

.
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 D

B
 a

n
d
 M

 J
o

n
e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 w

a
y
s
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

o
u
g
h
t.
 

N
o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

. 
S

c
a

le
 o

f 
fi
n

a
n

c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
. 
T

h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 p

re
s
s
u
re

 o
n
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 r

o
a
d
s
 a

n
d
 

ju
n

c
ti
o

n
s
, 
a

n
d

 t
h

e
 s

it
e

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 i
s
 u

n
s
u
it
a
b
le

. 
 O

th
e
r 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 e

ls
e
w

h
e
re

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

o
u
g
h
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

h
a
s
 f
u
lly

 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a

te
d

 o
p

ti
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
fu

n
d

in
g
 t
h
e

 A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 t
h

a
t 
it
 i
s
 l
e

g
it
im

a
te

 t
o

 f
u
n
d
 t

h
e
 r

o
a
d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t.
  
T

h
e
 s

c
a
le

 o
f 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n

 i
s
 n

o
t 
y
e
t 
c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
. 

 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 T

h
e
 P

la
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 h

a
s
 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
 a

 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

a
lt
e

rn
a
ti
v
e

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a

te
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t,

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 i
n

 t
h
e
 u

rb
a

n
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d

 e
ls

e
w

h
e

re
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 S

 K
it
c
h
e
n
e

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
o
 p

ro
c
e
e
d
 w

o
u
ld

 a
llo

w
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 i
n
 a

n
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 s

a
tu

ra
te

d
 a

re
a
. 
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 a

 r
o
u
te

 t
o
 

o
b
ta

in
in

g
 t
h
e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

H
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
g

u
la

te
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

p
o
lic

y
 s

e
t 
o
u

t 
in

 t
h
e

 U
D

P
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 s

e
e
k
in

g
 

o
f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 a

 l
e
g
it
im

a
te

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
a
n
d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 

R
o

a
d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
c
c
o

m
p

a
n
im

e
n
t 
o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d

 
e
n
a
b
lin

g
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e

 R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

M
 L

lo
y
d

-H
a
y
e
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 6

252



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

  
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
, 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

ro
a
d
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 L

a
c
k
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 a

re
a
 (

e
g
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

, 
d
o
c
to

rs
 s

u
rg

e
ri
e
s
) 

w
ill

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 

tr
a

v
e

l.
  
P

ro
p

o
s
a

l 
w

ill
 c

a
u

s
e

 c
h
a
o
ti
c
 a

n
d
 d

a
n
g
e
ro

u
s
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

ro
a
d
s
.

T
h

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
ra

ff
ic

 w
e
re

 f
u
lly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 I
n

q
u
ir
y
 i
n
 

2
0
0
5
. 

 A
lt
h
o
u

g
h
 t
h
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il 

h
a
v
e
 r

e
je

c
te

d
 t
h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e

c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 r
e

s
p
e

c
t 
o

f 
L
a
n
d

 a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 h

e
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

ts
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 
to

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 

n
o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 L
 D

 M
o
o
re

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

L
o
c
a
l 
ro

a
d
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 c

o
p
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 e

x
tr

a
 t
ra

ff
ic

 w
h
ic

h
 w

ill
 

b
e
c
o
m

e
 d

a
n
g
e
ro

u
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
s
. 

N
o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

ill
 b

e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
. 
A

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 w

a
y
s
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

s
o
u
g
h
t.
 O

th
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

o
u
g
h
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
 N

o
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 i
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 g

re
e
n
fi
e
ld

 
a
n
d
 o

f 
e
c
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 
v
a
lu

e
. 
L
o
c
a
l 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 a

t 
ra

ilw
a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 N

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 

is
 t
o

 b
e

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 i
n
 r

e
c
o

g
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 

w
ill

 m
a
k
e
 t
o
 t

h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
, 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h

is
 t
o

 b
e

 
re

a
s
o
n
a
b

le
. 
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 f

u
lly

 i
n

v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

d
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
 t

h
e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 h

a
s
 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d
 a

 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

a
lt
e

rn
a
ti
v
e

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a

te
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t,
 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 i
n

 t
h
e

 
u
rb

a
n

 a
re

a
s
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
T

h
e

 s
it
e

 i
s
 w

it
h
in

 c
o
n
v
e
n
ie

n
t 

re
a
c
h
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g

 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e

s
. 

T
h

e
 i
m

p
a

c
ts

 o
n
 a

g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 w

ild
lif

e
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 t

a
k
e

n
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 t
h
e

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l.
 L

o
c
a
l 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 w

ill
 

b
e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

l 
is

 d
e
v
e

lo
p
e
d
 f

u
rt

h
e
r.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 G

 M
o

rs
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 o

n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

e
t 

fr
o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 a

re
 

e
rr

o
n
e
o
u
s
, 
a
n
d
 a

re
 n

o
t 
re

a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 F
u
rt

h
e

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 
o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d
 h

o
u

s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 
a
im

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 S

u
s
a
n
a
 P

io
h
te

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 a

d
d
 t
o
 c

o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 

w
ill

 n
o
t 
b
e
 e

n
o
u
g
h
 t
o
 a

lle
v
ia

te
 t

h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

p
a
id

 f
o
r 

in
 a

n
o
th

e
r 

w
a
y
.

T
h

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
ra

ff
ic

 w
e
re

 f
u
lly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 I
n

q
u
ir
y
 i
n
 

2
0
0
5
. 

 T
h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
w

 t
h

e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 

th
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 t
o

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

tr
a

ff
ic

 a
n
d

 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e

 c
it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 T

h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
ls

o
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 t
h
a

t 
it
 i
s
 l
e
g

it
im

a
te

 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 f
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 R

o
a
d
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 M
 P

ri
tc

h
a
rd

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 7

253



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 o

n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

e
t 

fr
o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 a

re
 

e
rr

o
n
e
o
u
s
, 
a
n
d
 a

re
 n

o
t 
re

a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 F
u
rt

h
e

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 
o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d
 h

o
u

s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 
a
im

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 R

e
b
e
c
c
a
 R

o
s
e
ff

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
ro

a
c
h
 o

n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
 t
h
e
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
; 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 t
o
 p

u
t 

h
o
u
s
e
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

e
t 

fr
o
m

 e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 f
o
u
n
d
 s

it
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 b

u
ild

in
g
 u

p
 t
o
 2

0
0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 a

re
 

e
rr

o
n
e
o
u
s
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 p
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 r

o
a
d
 o

p
e
n
ly

 a
n
d
 h

o
n
e
s
tl
y
 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 t

h
a
t 
a
t 

H
o

lm
e

r 
p

ro
v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 h
e

lp
 m

e
e

t 
th

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 

T
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 k

n
o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 

(s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 

a
b
o
v
e
).

 F
u
rt

h
e

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 
o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d
 h

o
u

s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 
a
im

. 
T

h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 a

 P
la

n
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 J

a
n

e
t 
S

h
o

tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

s
tu

d
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 r
e
la

te
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
. 
N

o
t 
c
o
n
v
in

c
e
d
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 i
s
 t
h
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 

fo
r 

fu
tu

re
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 g
ro

w
th

 o
f 
th

e
 o

rd
e
r 

o
f 
1
,0

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

to
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 t
o
 M

r.
 A

.C
. 

A
n
th

o
n
y
-

E
d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a

b
o
v
e
).

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

E
 T

a
y
lo

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

e
re

 l
o
g
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 c

o
g
e
n
t.
 T

h
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 p

ro
c
e
e
d
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 a
 p

lo
y
 t
o
 f
a
c
ili

ta
te

 b
u
ild

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 
 D

e
c
is

io
n
 t
a
k
e
s
 n

o
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
r 

o
v
e
rl
o
a
d
in

g
 o

f 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e

 a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 w

ill
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o
 t

h
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 f
o

r 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 o
v
e
ra

ll.
  
T

h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a

s
 a

c
c
e
p

te
d

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

s
e
e

k
in

g
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 f
o

r 
th

e
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 R

o
a

d
 i
s
 a

 l
e

g
it
im

a
te

 r
e
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
t 
a

n
d
 

th
a

t 
th

e
 R

o
a

d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 n
e
c
e

s
s
a
ry

 a
c
c
o
m

p
a

n
im

e
n
t 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e

, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u

n
t 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
ts

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
W

 J
 W

a
lli

n
g

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 8

254



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
a
d
e
q
u
a
te

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
, 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

ro
a
d
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 L

a
c
k
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 a

re
a
 (

e
g
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

, 
d
o
c
to

rs
 s

u
rg

e
ri
e
s
) 

w
ill

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 

tr
a

v
e

l.
  
P

ro
p

o
s
a

l 
w

ill
 c

a
u

s
e

 c
h
a
o
ti
c
 a

n
d
 d

a
n
g
e
ro

u
s
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

ro
a
d
s
.

T
h

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o
 t
ra

ff
ic

 w
e
re

 f
u
lly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 I
n

q
u
ir
y
 i
n
 

2
0
0
5
. 

 A
lt
h
o
u

g
h
 t
h
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il 

h
a
v
e
 r

e
je

c
te

d
 t
h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e

c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 r
e

s
p
e

c
t 
o

f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e

 h
e

 i
n

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h

a
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

ts
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 
to

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 

n
o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

K
J
 W

o
o
d
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 j
u
s
ti
fi
a
b
le

 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 u

n
s
u
it
a
b
le

 f
o
r 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
, 
la

n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 l
a

c
k
 o

f 
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
. 
T

h
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 p

re
ju

d
ic

e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
 g

ro
w

th
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 
b
e
y
o
n
d
 2

0
1
1
.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 R

e
g
io

n
a

l 
S

p
a
ti
a

l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 g

iv
e
n

 t
h
e
 p

ro
x
im

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 f
a

c
t 
th

a
t 

s
e
v
e
ra

l 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 y

e
t 
to

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a

l 
A

s
s
e
m

b
ly

 h
a
v
e

 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

, 
a
s
 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 t
o
 b

e
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
, 
is

 i
n
 g

e
n

e
ra

l 
c
o

n
fo

rm
it
y
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a

l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 
T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 i
s
 n

o
t 

a
n
 o

v
e

rr
id

in
g

 i
s
s
u

e
. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 t

h
a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t

h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

b
u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 

fa
ll 

w
it
h
in

 a
n
y
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
. 
N

o
 a

ff
o

rd
a
b
le

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 i
n

 
re

c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n

 t
h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 t

o
 t
h
e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g

h
o

p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0

 d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
re

 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 

M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a
b

o
v
e

).

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
re

s
t 
o
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

it
e
.

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

re
 f
la

w
e
d
. 
 R

e
te

n
ti
o
n
 

w
ill

 p
re

ju
d
ic

e
 t
h
e
 L

D
F

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
; 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 s

it
e
; 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
 k

e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

; 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
p
ro

v
id

e
 v

a
lu

e
 f
o

r 
m

o
n
e
y
; 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

r 
a
 f
u
ll 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o

f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 t
o
 t
h
e
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 o
f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

to
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 t
o
 M

r.
 A

.C
. 

A
n
th

o
n
y
-

E
d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a

b
o
v
e
).

 T
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
d
 t

o
 e

n
s
u

re
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 R

e
g

io
n
a
l 

S
p

a
ti
a

l 
S

tr
a

te
g

y
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n

t 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 g

iv
e
n

 t
h

e
 

p
ro

x
im

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
d

 o
f 

th
e

 P
la

n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 a

n
d

 t
h
e
 f
a

c
t 
th

a
t 

s
e
v
e
ra

l 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 

s
it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 y

e
t 
to

 c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e
. 

F
u

rt
h

e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e

y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e

 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
a
n
d
 t

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

 
p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

th
is

 a
im

. 
N

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 i
n
 

re
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n

 t
h
e
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 t

o
 t
h
e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
, 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h

is
 a

s
 r

e
a
s
o

n
a
b
le

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
re

s
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

je
c
ts

 L
T

D

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
s
p

e
c
to

r'
s
 d

e
c
is

io
n

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

p
h
e
ld

, 
to

 d
o
 o

th
e
rw

is
e
 i
s
 p

e
rv

e
rs

e
. 

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
u
n
d
e
r 

c
o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 m

e
e
t 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 a

d
d
 t
o
 c

o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
3
0
0
 i
n
it
ia

lly
 w

ill
 e

x
a
c
e
rb

a
te

 t
ra

ff
ic

 c
o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
 F

u
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 w

ill
 m

e
a
n
 a

n
 e

x
c
e
s
s
iv

e
 p

re
m

iu
m

 o
n
 p

ri
c
e
 o

f 
e
a
c
h
 

h
o
u
s
e
. 
 R

o
le

 o
f 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 l
e
s
s
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 c

a
s
e
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 w

e
a
k
e
n
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a

t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o

w
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 w
o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
o
le

ra
b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 
o

f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
. 
 T

h
e
 B

u
lli

n
g

h
o
p
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 w

ill
 m

a
k
e
 a

 f
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 R

o
a

d
. 
 I
n
 

re
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
, 
n

o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
s
 t

o
 b

e
 s

o
u
g

h
t 
a
n
d

 t
h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
c
o
n

s
id

e
rs

 t
h
is

 a
s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

. 
F

u
rt

h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 a

 k
e

y
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e

 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
a
n
d
 t

ra
n
s
p
o
rt

 
p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

 t
o
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

th
is

 a
im

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

D
in

e
d
o
r 

H
ill

 A
c
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
p

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 9

255



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

. 
It
s
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

p
re

ju
d
ic

e
s
 t
h
e
 b

ro
a
d
e
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
u
tu

re
 d

ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
g
ro

w
th

 o
f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

. 
T

h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 e
n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

lo
n
g
s
id

e
 o

th
e
rs

 a
n
d
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 
s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
 a

p
p
ra

is
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

to
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 t
o
 M

r.
 A

.C
. 

A
n
th

o
n
y
-

E
d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a

b
o
v
e
).

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

G
O

W
M

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
e
p
lo

re
s
 t
h
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 r

e
in

s
ta

te
 t
h
e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
  
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 i
n
 o

p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 i
n
v
o
lv

in
g
 t
h
e
 l
o
s
s
 o

f 
b
e
s
t 
a
n
d
 m

o
s
t 
v
e
rs

a
ti
le

 a
g
ri
c
u
lt
u

ra
l 
la

n
d
. 
T

h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
re

m
a
in

 a
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
b
a
rr

ie
r.

 T
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

a
m

a
g
in

g
 t
o
 

to
u
ri
s
m

 a
n
d
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
. 
  
S

it
e
 o

f 
2
,0

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 w

o
u
ld

 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 o

v
e
r-

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 l
if
e
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 s
it
e

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 

w
h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t

o
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 b
u

ilt
 f
o

rm
 o

f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t

h
is

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
T

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
a
g
ri

c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to

 
a
c
c
o
u
n

t 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

l.
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
c
o

n
c
lu

d
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
ill

 n
o

t 
h
a
v
e
 a

 m
a
jo

r 
im

p
a

c
t 
o

n
 t
o
u
ri

s
m

 a
n
d
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
. 

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 a
t 

B
u
lli

n
g
h

o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o
 3

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

R
e

fe
re

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 

to
 b

e
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 t
o
 M

r.
 A

.C
. 

A
n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a
b

o
v
e

).

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

it
e
d
 o

n
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e
ld

 s
it
e
s
. 
 L

o
s
s
 o

f 
a
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 a

tt
ra

c
ti
v
e
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
, 
b
re

a
c
h
in

g
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
. 
P

re
m

a
tu

re
 t
o
 c

o
m

m
it
 t
o
 a

 l
a
rg

e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
2
0
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
. 

In
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 u
s
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

g
a
in

. 
T

ra
ff
ic

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 
b
e
e
n
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
. 
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 

ig
n
o
re

d
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

n
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
ili

ty
.

T
h

e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

a
v
a

ila
b
le

 p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d

 l
a
n

d
 

in
 p

re
p
a
ri

n
g
 t
h
e

 P
la

n
. 
T

h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a

g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n

 t
a
k
e
n
 

in
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t.
 T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 s

it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

b
u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 

fa
ll 

w
it
h
in

 a
n
y
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
. 
T

h
e

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e
d

 t
o
 3

0
0
 

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
. 
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 t
o
 f
u
rt

h
e

r 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
p

o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 (

s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a
b
o
v
e
).

 T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 l
e
g
it
im

a
te

 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 f

u
n
d
 t
h

e
 R

o
a

d
 f
ro

m
 t
h

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

 T
h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

ts
 s

h
o
w

 t
h
a
t 

tr
a

ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 t
o

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 

im
p

a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 A

ll 
s
u
b

m
it
te

d
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 w

ill
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
 C

iv
ic

 S
o
c
ie

ty

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 n

o
t 
c
o
u
n
te

re
d
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
. 
T

h
e
 

s
it
e
 i
s
 n

o
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 U

D
P

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
 o

v
e
r-

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 c

o
n
tr

a
v
e
n
e
s
 t

h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 
 O

th
e
r 

o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 s

it
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 r

e
-c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
, 
if
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 w

a
s
 

a
c
c
e
p
te

d
. 
 R

e
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 s

it
e
 a

n
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 i
s
 i
rr

e
le

v
a
n
t.
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 r

e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 

B
u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 s

e
c
u
re

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

R
o
a
d
.

G
iv

e
n
 t
h
e

 p
ro

x
im

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri

o
d
 a

n
d
 t
h

e
 f
a
c
t 
th

a
t 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
s
e
v
e

ra
l 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 i
s
 y

e
t 

to
 c

o
m

m
e

n
c
e

, 
th

e
 

B
u

lli
n
g

h
o

p
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 n

e
e

d
e

d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 U
D

P
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 w
ill

 b
e
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
. 

 T
h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
A

s
s
e
m

b
ly

 h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 P

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 

M
o

d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 i
n
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
c
o
n
fo

rm
it
y
 w

it
h
 t
h
e

 R
e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
, 
h
a
v
in

g
 r

e
g

a
rd

 t
o

 t
h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 a
s
 a

 s
u

b
-r

e
g

io
n
a
l 
fo

c
i 
a
n
d
 

lik
e
ly

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n

 r
e

g
io

n
a
l 
h
o
u

s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 w

e
ll 

re
la

te
d
 

to
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
, 

th
e

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o

ti
o
n

 o
f 

w
h
ic

h
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

) 
is

 a
 k

e
y
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
T

h
e
 P

la
n
 s

e
ts

 o
u

t 
lin

k
e

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 t
o

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

th
is

 a
im

, 
a
n
d
 o

n
 t
h

is
 b

a
s
is

 i
t 
is

 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
-e

x
a
m

in
e
 o

th
e
r 

s
it
e
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u

ir
y
. 
 G

iv
e
n
 t
h
e

 d
ir

e
c
t 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 

th
e

 s
it
e

 a
n

d
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 R

o
a

d
, 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 f
u

n
d
in

g
 

o
f 
th

e
 R

o
a
d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p

ta
b

le
 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

0

256



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

H
o
u
s
in

g
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

o
u
ld

 s
e
v
e
re

ly
 d

a
m

a
g
e
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 o

f 
th

e
 a

re
a
 a

n
d
 d

is
to

rt
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 
H

o
lm

e
r 

is
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
. 
T

h
e
 r

a
ti
o
n
a
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t,
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

 t
o
 b

u
ild

 a
 r

o
a
d
, 
is

 p
e
rv

e
rs

e
. 

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

o
a
d
 i
s
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

m
p
le

 l
a
n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
to

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
.

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 s
it
e

 i
s
 t
h
a
t 

w
h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t

o
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 b
u

ilt
 f
o

rm
 o

f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t

h
is

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
fa

ll 
w

it
h
in

 a
n

y
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 

la
n
d
s
c
a

p
e
. 
T

h
e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e

 s
it
e

 i
n
 a

d
d

it
io

n
 t
o
 t
h
a

t 
a
t 
H

o
lm

e
r 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 

th
e

 o
p

p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 m
e
e
t 
th

e
 P

la
n

's
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t,

 t
a
k
in

g
 i
n
to

 
a
c
c
o
u
n

t 
k
n

o
w

n
 s

it
e
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h

e
 u

rb
a
n
 a

re
a
s
. 

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e

s
 

th
a

t 
th

e
 f
u
n
d

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a
d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h
e
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

o
u

ld
 b

e
 

a
n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

. 
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n

ts
 i
s
 a

 k
e
y
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 s
e
ts

 o
u
t 
lin

k
e
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 a
im

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 F

ri
e
n
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 

E
a
rt

h

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

G
re

e
n
 P

a
rt

y
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 o

n
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 v

a
lid

.
O

b
je

c
t 
m

o
s
t 
s
tr

o
n
g
ly

 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
in

s
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
. 
N

e
it
h
e
r 

th
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 l
o
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
n
s
it
y
 n

o
r 

th
e
 p

re
c
e
d
e
n
t 
s
e
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 f
u
tu

re
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 a

re
a
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

p
ro

p
e
rl
y
 a

p
p
ra

is
e
d
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 f
a
ile

d
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o

f 
in

tr
u
s
io

n
 i
n
to

 c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
c
h
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
. 
 N

e
x
t 
s
ta

g
e
 

o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

b
e
 d

ri
v
e
n
 b

y
 s

e
a
rc

h
 f
o
r 

w
a
y
s
 t
o
 

fi
n
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h

e
 s

it
e
 a

re
a
 (

1
3
 h

e
c
ta

re
s
) 

in
c
lu

d
e
s
 a

n
 a

llo
w

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 

s
tr

u
c
tu

ra
l 

la
n
d
s
c
a

p
in

g
. 
T

a
k
in

g
 t

h
is

 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n

t,
 n

e
t 
s
it
e
 d

e
n

s
it
ie

s
 a

re
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 t

o
 

b
e
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

 w
it
h
 P

la
n
 p

o
lic

y
. 
T

h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o

n
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g

h
o
p
e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e
d
 t
o
 

3
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g

s
. 
R

e
fe

re
n
c
e

s
 i
n
 t
h
e

 P
la

n
 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
m

o
v
e

d
 (

s
e
e

 r
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
n

d
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a
b
o
v
e
).

 T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
s
it
e
 i
s
 t
h

a
t 
w

h
ic

h
 b

e
s
t 
re

la
te

s
 t
o
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

 f
o
rm

 o
f 
th

e
 C

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
lo

c
a

ti
o
n

. 
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 t

h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 l
e
g
it
im

a
te

 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 t
o
 f

u
n
d
 t
h

e
 

R
o

a
d
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 G

re
e
n
 P

a
rt

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 d

e
ta

il 
a
s
 t
o
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
, 

w
h
ic

h
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 r

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 b

ri
d
g
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
, 
s
e
w

e
ra

g
e
, 
o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
, 
s
h
o
p
s
, 
m

e
d
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 
It
 i
s
 c

le
a
r 

th
a
t 
m

a
n
y
 

m
o
re

 h
o
u
s
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 t
o
 b

e
 b

u
ilt

 h
e
re

 t
h
a
n
 s

ta
te

d
 i
f 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 i
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
.

Is
s
u

e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g

 t
o
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 w

e
re

 f
u
lly

 c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b

lic
 

In
q

u
ir
y
 i
n
 2

0
0
5
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e

 
tr

a
ff
ic

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
in

 t
o

le
ra

b
le

 l
im

it
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 

im
p

a
c
t 

o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
n
d
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 n

o
t 
o
v
e
rr

id
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 s

it
e
 

is
 w

it
h

in
 c

o
n
v
e
n
ie

n
t 
re

a
c
h
 o

f 
e

x
is

ti
n
g
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 

T
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 
a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g

h
o
p

e
 i
s
 l
im

it
e

d
 t
o

 3
0

0
 d

w
e

lli
n

g
s
. 
R

e
fe

re
n

c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 t

o
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
p

o
s
t-

2
0

1
1
 a

t 
th

is
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 t
o

 b
e

 
re

m
o
v
e
d
 (

s
e

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o

 M
r.

 A
.C

. 
A

n
th

o
n
y
-

E
d
w

a
rd

s
, 
a

b
o
v
e
).

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

L
o

w
e
r 

B
u
lli

n
g

h
a
m

 P
a

ri
s
h
 

C
o

u
n

c
il

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 a

llo
c
a
te

 a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
, 
th

e
re

fo
re

, 
it
 i
s
 p

re
m

a
tu

re
 t
o
 a

llo
c
a
te

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 a

llo
c
a
te

 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 i
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 n

o
t 
o
n
 l
a
n
d
 u

s
e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 m

e
ri
ts

 b
u
t 
u
p
o
n
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
(p

la
n
n
in

g
 g

a
in

) 
m

e
ri
ts

 o
f 
a
n
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e

 a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 w

ill
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o
 t

h
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 f
o

r 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
a
n

d
 h

e
lp

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t

a
rg

e
t 

o
f 

1
2
,2

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g

s
 i
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 

 T
h
e
 I

n
s
p

e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t

h
a
t 

th
e

 s
e
e
k
in

g
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 a

 l
e
g
it
im

a
te

 r
e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
t 

a
n
d
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 R

o
a
d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
c
c
o

m
p

a
n
im

e
n
t 
o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e

, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u

n
t 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n
ts

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

T
a

y
lo

r 
W

o
o
d
ro

w
 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 L
T

D

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

1

257



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
o
s
t 
s
it
e
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
o
n
 

th
e
 b

a
s
is

 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

fo
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
a
rc

h
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

  
C

o
u
n
c
il 

n
o
w

 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
1
2
1
5
2
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
c
o
n
tr

a
ry

 
to

 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r.
  
If
 a

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

e
x
is

ts
 o

th
e
r 

la
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
-e

x
a
m

in
e
d
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
, 

H
o
lm

e
r,

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

to
 m

e
e
t 
re

g
io

n
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

a
n
d
 m

o
d
 0

4
2
 f
ig

u
re

 (
1
2
,4

5
8
).

 P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 u

n
le

s
s
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
to

 r
e
je

c
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 

m
a
x
im

u
m

 o
f 
1
2
2
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 r

e
-a

ff
ir
m

e
d
. 
 S

h
o
u
ld

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a

in
ta

in
 i
ts

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 t
h

a
t 
n

o
t 
a

ll 
s
it
e
s
 a

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 s

ta
te

d
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 

W
a
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g
 t
h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
re

 n
o
t 
v
a
lid

.

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 

in
 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
b
o
th

 t
h
e

 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n

 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

a
s
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
b
a
te

 a
t 
th

e
 I
n

q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 h

is
 r

e
a

s
o
n

in
g
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
, 
in

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
P

ro
p
o

s
e

d
 m

o
d

if
ic

a
ti
o

n
 0

4
2

 d
o

e
s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a

t 
a

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e

s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

e
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d

, 
b
u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

d
o
u
b
ts

 w
h
e

th
e

r 
a

ll 
s
u
c
h
 

s
it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 
 I
t 

is
 d

e
la

y
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

's
 p

ro
g

re
s
s
 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 s

it
e
's

 t
h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 

th
is

 u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e

p
te

d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o

n
 w

ill
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n

 a
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
c
o

n
s
id

e
r 

o
th

e
r 

a
lt
e

rn
a
ti
v
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 

In
q

u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
a

s
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti
o
n
 

5
.1

4
/1

 m
a
k
e
 c

le
a

r 
th

a
t 

th
is

 w
ill

 e
n

s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a

t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o

f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d

, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a

n
 e

x
c
e
e
d

e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 w

a
s
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u

ir
y
, 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
ra

is
e
 

m
a

tt
e
rs

 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir

y
.

W
O

 &
 O

E
 P

ri
c
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

C
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 h

a
v
e
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
e
d
 s

in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

In
q
u
ir
y
, 
p
ri
n
c
ip

a
lly

 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
n
d
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 f
o
r 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
liv

e
ry

, 
P

la
n
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 s

e
c
u
re

 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

B
lo

o
r 

H
o
m

e
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 o

f 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 E

n
te

rp
ri
s
e
s
 w

is
h
e
s
 t
o
 r

e
g
is

te
r 

it
s
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

. 
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 i
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
rg

e
s
t 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
s
it
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 b
u
t 
fo

r 
m

a
n
y
 y

e
a
rs

 i
ts

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

e
d
 b

y
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
g
o
o
d
 q

u
a
lit

y
 r

o
a
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
. 
 I
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 l
o
s
t.
  
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 a

b
le

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 m

o
re

 a
n
d
 b

e
tt
e
r 

p
a
id

 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
if
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 i
s
 t
o

 f
u

lf
il 

it
s
 s

u
b

-r
e

g
io

n
a

l 
fo

c
i 
ro

le
. 
T

h
e
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
is

 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
n
d
 

le
g
it
im

a
te

 m
e
th

o
d
 f
o
r 

s
e
c
u

ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 R

o
a
d
.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

T
h

e
 A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o

n
 o

f 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

E
n
te

rp
ri
s
e
s

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

5
.1

9
/3

3
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

7
 t
o
 5

.4
.1

8
 -

 L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
- 

A
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 B
a
ro

n
s
 C

ro
s
s
 C

a
m

p

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

If
 t
h
e
 z

o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

s
h
o
w

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 u

p
o
n
 b

e
fo

re
 a

d
o
p
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

8
.8

.2
1

 m
e
a
n

s
 t
h

a
t 
it
 i
s
 a

ls
o
 a

p
p

ro
p
ri
a

te
 t

o
 r

e
ta

in
 a

 c
ro

s
s
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e

 t
o
 t
h
e

 
z
o
n

e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h

 5
.4

.1
7
. 
T

h
e

 z
o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 

is
 a

n
 

a
c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 u

p
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
in

 
th

e
 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

e
y
o
n

d
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 p
e

ri
o
d
. 
 A

d
d

re
s
s
in

g
 

th
e

s
e

 i
s
s
u
e

s
 t
h

ro
u
g
h

 d
e

fi
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
a

 s
p
e
c
if
ic

 r
o
u
te

 w
ill

 b
e

 u
n

d
e

rt
a

k
e

n
 a

t 
a
 

fu
tu

re
 d

a
te

. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o

t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o

 s
h
o
w

 p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 t
h

a
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 b

ro
u
g

h
t 

fo
rw

a
rd

 p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1
 o

n
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
ls

 m
a

p
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

A
u

b
re

y
 G

re
e
n
e

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

2

258



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

If
 t
h
e
 z

o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
to

 t
h
e
 s

o
u
th

 w
e
s
t 
o
f 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
is

 d
e
le

te
d
, 

th
e
 f
in

a
l 
s
e
n
te

n
c
e
 o

f 
U

D
P

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

7
 s

h
o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 b

e
 d

e
le

te
d
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
. 
 T

h
e
 c

ro
s
s
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o

 t
h
e
 

z
o
n

e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
is

 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
n
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
ta

in
e
d
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 g

ra
n
t 
o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 f

o
r 

4
2
5
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 a

t 
B

a
ro

n
s
 

C
ro

s
s
 C

a
m

p
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t 
d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
re

 a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 a
n
d
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

. 
 I
t 
is

 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 

re
fe

r 
to

 t
h
e
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t 
in

 t
h
e
 c

o
n
te

x
t 
o
f 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 
B

a
ro

n
s
 C

ro
s
s
 C

a
m

p
. 
 I
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
s
o
u
n
d
 t
o
 

a
d
o
p
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 w
it
h
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 a

 L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t.

It
 i
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 g

ra
n

t 
o
f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 f
o
r 

B
a

ro
n
s
 C

ro
s
s
 

C
a

m
p

 w
ill

 m
e
a
n
 t
h

a
t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
c
a
n
 p

ro
c
e
e
d
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
m

a
jo

r 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o

 t
h
e
 h

ig
h
w

a
y
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 w
it
h

in
 t
h
e
 L

e
o

m
in

s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t.
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 

is
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a

s
o
n

a
b
le

 a
n
d
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a

ry
 t
o
 r

e
ta

in
 

re
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o

 c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
 a

n
d
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 b
e

y
o
n
d
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

in
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
. 
 T

h
e

 c
ro

s
s
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e

 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

7
 

s
h
o

u
ld

 t
h
e

re
fo

re
 b

e
 r

e
ta

in
e
d

 a
s
 a

 c
o
n
s
e
q
u

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
 8

.3
5

/1
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

T
a

y
lo

r 
W

o
o
d
ro

w
 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 L
T

D

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

5
.3

/2
2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 H

1
 -

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 -
 S

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 a

n
d
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 (

s
it
e
 b

a
s
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
)

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
 r

e
je

c
ti
n
g
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 (
L
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
) 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 f
a
ile

d
 t

o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t.
  
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
a
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
t 
K

in
g
s
 A

c
re

 
R

o
a
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
. 
 H

a
d
 t

h
e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
e
k
 s

it
e
s
 

fo
r 

1
2
,5

0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 t
h
e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 w

o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 g

iv
e
n
 

g
re

a
te

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
d
 t
h
is

 
p
o
s
it
io

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o

r 
re

je
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 t
h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 d

e
fe

r 
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

U
D

P
. 
 T

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

rb
it
ra

ri
ly

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

 A
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
ly

 r
e
m

o
v
e
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

n
d
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 a

n
 e

a
rl
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
a
n
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t.

T
h

e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 a

n
d
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 a
re

 n
o
t 
in

te
n
d

e
d
 t
o
 r

a
is

e
 t
h

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

re
q
u
ir

e
m

e
n

t.
  
R

a
th

e
r 

th
e
s
e

 w
ill

 e
n

s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a

t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o

f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d

, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a

n
 e

x
c
e
e
d

e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o

p
e
 w

a
s
 f

u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u

ir
y
, 

a
n
d
 t
h

e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
ra

is
e
 

m
a

tt
e
rs

 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir

y
. 
 D

e
fe

rr
in

g
 t
h
e

 a
d

o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 U

D
P

 
w

ill
 o

n
ly

 a
d

d
 g

re
a
te

r 
u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

th
e

 p
e

ri
o
d
 u

p
 t
o

 2
0

1
1
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
e

s
s
rs

 M
J
, 
A

B
 &

 R
G

 G
ri
ff
it
h
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
is

 n
o
t 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 a

 r
e

v
ie

w
 t
o

 r
e

s
u

lt
 i
n

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n

t 
n
e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 b

u
t 

s
o
 t
h
a
t 
K

in
g
s
 A

c
re

 R
o
a
d
 i
s
 n

o
 

lo
n
g
e
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

s
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
. 
 K

in
g
s
 A

c
re

 R
o
a
d
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
o
 b

e
 "

re
m

o
te

",
 i
t 
h
a
s
 a

 g
o
o
d
 b

u
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
, 
is

 w
it
h
in

 
w

a
lk

in
g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
a
 f
u
ll 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t,
 r

e
ta

il,
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o

 c
o
m

m
it
 t
o
 a

 r
e
v
ie

w
 w

o
u
ld

 i
n
 

n
o
 w

a
y
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 
m

a
te

ri
a
l 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 w

o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
c
o
m

p
ro

m
is

e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 c

o
n
tr

o
l.
  
N

o
t 
c
o
m

m
it
in

g
 t

o
 a

 r
e
v
ie

w
 w

ill
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
is

ti
c
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

re
a
. 
 I
f 
th

e
re

 w
a
s
 a

 
c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 a
 r

e
v
ie

w
 s

u
c
h
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 r

e
s
is

te
d

 a
s
 

p
re

m
a
tu

re
.

T
h

e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 m
e
a

n
s
 o

f 
re

v
ie

w
in

g
 t
h
e

 s
e
tt
le

m
e
n

t 
b
o
u
n

d
a
ry

 f
o

r 
K

in
g
s
 

A
c
re

 R
o
a

d
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 c

o
n

te
x
t 
o

f 
a
 c

it
y
-w

id
e
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l 
ra

th
e
r 

th
a

n
 a

 p
ie

c
e
m

e
a

l 
b
a

s
is

. 
 T

h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

a
n
d
 p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 w
ill

 d
e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
e
 f
u

tu
re

 l
e

v
e
l 
o
f 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

te
d
 a

t 
H

e
re

fo
rd

, 
a

n
d

 w
ill

 p
ro

v
id

e
 t
h

e
 c

o
n

te
x
t 

fo
r 

a
 C

it
y
-w

id
e

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 r
e

v
ie

w
. 

 I
t 
is

 n
o

t 
a
c
c
e
p

te
d

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

 "
fu

ll 
ra

n
g
e
" 

o
f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

v
a

ila
b
le

 w
it
h

in
 a

 s
h
o
rt

 d
is

ta
n
c
e
. 
T

h
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 w
ill

 
re

m
a
in

 a
s
 a

 m
a
te

ri
a
l 
c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

o
r 

n
o
t 

a
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

is
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 s
e
tt
le

m
e
n

t 
b
o
u
n

d
a
ry

 i
s
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
 a

n
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 

fo
rt

h
c
o
m

in
g

 r
e
v
ie

w
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 m

o
re

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n

 s
p
e
c
u

la
ti
v
e

 
p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 D
J
 a

n
d
 I
R

 P
o
w

e
ll

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

5
.3

/3
1
4
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 H

1
 -

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 -
 S

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 a

n
d
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 (

s
it
e
 b

a
s
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
)

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

3

259



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
. 
 S

e
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n

 o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
 C

 A
n
th

o
n

y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
. 
 S

e
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n

 o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 M

 B
u
rn

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
. 
 S

e
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n

 o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 G
e
ra

ld
 D

a
w

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t

h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

. 
T

h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

M
 L

lo
y
d

-H
a
y
e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
. 
 S

e
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n

 o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 S

u
s
a
n
a
 P

io
h
te

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
. 
 S

e
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n

 o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 R

e
b
e
c
c
a
 R

o
s
e
ff

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

s
e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 J

a
n

e
t 
S

h
o

tt

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

4

260



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 g

iv
e
n
 i
n
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t

h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

. 
T

h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

E
 T

a
y
lo

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
t 
to

 r
e
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
it
e
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 l
im

it
s
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
S

it
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
lim

it
.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
re

s
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

je
c
ts

 L
T

D

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

s
e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

G
O

W
M

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

If
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 d

e
le

te
d
, 
th

e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 e

x
te

n
d
e
d
.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 

g
iv

e
n
 i
n
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

5
.1

4
/1

.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p

e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 a

llo
c
a

te
d

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 F

ri
e
n
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 

E
a
rt

h

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

C
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 h

a
v
e
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
e
d
 s

in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

In
q
u
ir
y
, 
p
ri
n
c
ip

a
lly

 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
. 
 T

h
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
n
d
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 f
o
r 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
liv

e
ry

, 
P

la
n
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 s

e
c
u
re

 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

B
lo

o
r 

H
o
m

e
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

5

261



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
s
ta

te
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

ill
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 E

s
ta

te
, 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 a
s
 t
h
e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

a
l 
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu

tu
re

 n
e
e
d
s
 

fo
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E

s
ta

te
 w

ill
 

a
s
s
is

t 
re

a
lis

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

u
b
-r

e
g
io

n
a
l 
fo

c
u
s
 r

o
le

 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 C

h
a
m

b
e
r'
s
 m

e
m

b
e
r 

c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

it
h
 o

v
e
r 

1
0
0
 c

o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 i
n
 a

 p
e
ti
ti
o
n
 (

J
u
ly

 2
0
0
6
).

  
T

h
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

ill
 b

ri
n
g
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 t
o
 

th
e
 e

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 g

ro
w

th
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 b
y
 o

v
e
rc

o
m

in
g
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
 o

n
 t
h
e
 E

s
ta

te
's

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
 a

n
d
 r

e
le

a
s
in

g
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

la
n
d
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 n

o
te

d
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
 &

 W
o

rc
e

s
te

r 
C

h
a
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
C

o
m

m
e
rc

e

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

5
.5

/1
3
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 H

1
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 S
e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 a

n
d
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
s
 (

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 a
n
d
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
)

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 g

ro
s
s
ly

 
in

a
d
e
q
u
a
te

. 
 A

ll 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 f
u
ll 

a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 a

m
o
u
n
ts

 t
o
 n

o
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 a

 p
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 

u
n
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 a

n
y
 n

e
w

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

r 
re

a
s
o
n
in

g
. 
 I
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

ir
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
to

 e
x
c
lu

d
e
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

d
 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
p
e
ri
o
r 

to
 t

h
e
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
.

T
h

e
 m

a
tt

e
rs

 r
a

is
e
d

 h
a

v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
le

n
g

th
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
. 
In

 c
o

n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
s
e
 a

n
d
 h

is
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 f

a
v
o

u
rs

 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 

th
e

 w
id

e
 v

a
ri
e
ty

 o
f 
is

s
u
e

s
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d

s
c
a
p
e
, 

u
rb

a
n

 e
d

g
e
, 
a
n

d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
. 

 T
h
e
s
e
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 a
re

 a
d
e
q

u
a
te

ly
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

o
f 
D

e
c
is

io
n

s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o
n
s
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 
a
n
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 L
 C

o
s
k
e
r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 w
ill

 e
ro

d
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
is

ti
n
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

d
e
s
tr

o
y
 a

g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
. 
C

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

n
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th

is
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

T
h

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 h

a
v
e
 a

ll 
b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 
 M

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h

e
 e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 
n
e

e
d
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-o

n
-

W
y
e

 w
ill

 r
e
q
u

ir
e
 t
h
e

 r
e

le
a
s
e
 o

f 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a

l 
la

n
d
. 
T

h
e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
's

 
la

n
d
s
c
a

p
e
 s

e
tt

in
g
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 r

e
je

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
. 
 T

h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 r

e
m

a
in

s
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 o

v
e

ra
ll 

b
a
la

n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 f
a
v
o
u
rs

 t
h

e
 a

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 M
o
d
e

l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e

. 
T

h
e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a
n
g

e
 a

re
 a

p
p
ra

is
e
d

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e

 
re

le
v
a
n
t 
s
u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 G
e
ra

ld
 D

a
w

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

If
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
s
 a

re
 d

e
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 s

it
e
 

re
in

s
ta

te
d
, 
th

e
 R

o
s
s
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
 

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

.

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 

la
n
d
 a

t 
M

o
d
e

l 
F

a
rm

 s
h

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o

n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e

c
is

io
n
s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o

 e
n

s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

a
n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
b
o

u
n
d
a
ry

 i
s
 d

e
fi
n

e
d
 a

ro
u
n

d
 t
h
e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

6
.1

/1
1
1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 E

1
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 6

.4
.2

 t
o
 6

.4
.5

 -
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
  
In

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
 E

s
ta

te

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

6

262



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
 C

 A
n
th

o
n

y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
. 
 A

 s
tr

o
n
g
 c

a
s
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 f
o
r 

b
u
ild

in
g
 o

n
 

fl
o
o
d
p
la

in
 w

it
h
 p

o
o
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

. 
 T

h
e

re
 i
s
 a

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o
 t
h
e

 r
e

s
o
lu

ti
o
n

 o
f 

fl
o
o

d
in

g
 

c
o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 M

 B
u
rn

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 a

d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
lim

a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

. 
 T

h
e

 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

c
lim

a
te

 c
h

a
n
g
e
 a

re
 a

p
p
ra

is
e
d
 t
h

ro
u
g
h

 
th

e
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 
s
u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l,
 a

lt
h
o
u
g

h
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
s
 c

o
n

c
e
rn

e
d
 a

re
 

lo
n
g
 s

ta
n
d

in
g
 P

la
n
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

ls
 w

it
h

in
 a

n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 i
n
d
u

s
tr

ia
l 
a
re

a
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 G
e
ra

ld
 D

a
w

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 a

 s
m

o
k
e
s
c
re

e
n
 t
o
 j
u
s
ti
fy

 b
u
ild

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
, 
s
e
e
n
 a

s
 g

e
tt
in

g
 a

n
 e

a
s
te

rn
 b

y
p
a
s
s
 b

y
 s

te
a
lt
h
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

. 
 T

h
e

 f
u
n
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

th
e

 R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 I
n

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
a
rk

 H
u
b
b

a
rd

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

7

263



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
o
th

e
rw

a
s
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 i
ll 

th
o
u
g
h
t 
o
u
t 
a
s
 s

e
v
e
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
 a

re
 

lia
b
le

 t
o
 f
lo

o
d
. 
S

u
p
e
ri
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
 i
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 a
t 
M

o
re

to
n
 

P
a
rk

. 
L
it
tl
e
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 E

s
ta

te
 w

it
h
 c

o
m

p
e
ti
n
g
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

t 
C

a
rd

if
f 
a
n
d
 B

ir
m

in
g
h
a
m

.

T
h

e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h

e
 r

e
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
 o

f 
fl
o

o
d
in

g
 c

o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
. 

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h

a
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e

d
 a

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 T

h
e
 r

o
le

 o
f 
M

o
re

to
n

 P
a

rk
 i
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

H
e

re
fo

rd
's

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 b

a
la

n
c
e

d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 

it
s
 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 c

le
a
rl
y
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 a

n
d
 t
h

e
 a

d
v
e

rs
e

 i
m

p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 

th
is

 h
a
s
 f
o
r 

a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 t
ra

v
e
l.
  
R

e
c
o

g
n
is

in
g
 t
h
e

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 

ro
le

 o
f 
th

e
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 E

s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

c
o
n

c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 i
n
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

M
 L

lo
y
d

-H
a
y
e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 S

u
s
a
n
a
 P

io
h
te

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 R

e
b
e
c
c
a
 R

o
s
e
ff

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
, 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
h
o
rt

a
g
e
 o

f 
s
u
c
h
 l
a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
H

e
re

fo
rd

.
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

g
iv

e
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

la
n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 h

a
s
 a

 c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 r

o
le

 t
o
 p

la
y
 i
n

 m
e

e
ti
n

g
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu

re
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
ty

, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t

h
a
t 

m
o

s
t 
n

e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 d
ir

e
c
te

d
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

. 
 P

e
n

d
in

g
 

th
e

 d
e

ta
ile

d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 J

a
n

e
t 
S

h
o

tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

L
a
n
d
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

p
u
rp

o
s
e
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
s
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
to

 p
ro

te
c
t 
a
g
a
in

s
t 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
. 
L
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y
 a

re
 b

e
tt
e
r 

p
la

c
e
d
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n

ts
 a

n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t.
  

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e

n
ts

 t
o
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 

fl
o

o
d

in
g
 i
s
s
u
e

s
 w

ill
 b

e
 t
a

k
e

n
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 
in

 p
ro

je
c
t 
v
ia

b
ili

ty
. 

 P
e

n
d

in
g
 t

h
e

 
d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 n

e
e

d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 
re

c
o
m

m
e

n
d
e
d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

n
d
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

in
g
 t
h

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 r

o
le

 o
f 

th
e

 E
s
ta

te
, 
it
 i
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

e
d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 r
e
m

a
in

 
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

E
 T

a
y
lo

r

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

8

264



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 n

o
t 
a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 t
h
e
 I

n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
. 
 T

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
u
ts

 f
o
rw

a
rd

 c
o
u
n
te

r 
a
rg

u
m

e
n
ts

 t
h
a
t 
ig

n
o
re

 o
r 

m
is

-
re

p
re

s
e
n
t 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

t 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
d
e
ta

ile
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.
  
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 s

ta
te

m
e
n
t 
is

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n
tr

a
d
ic

to
ry

 a
n
d
 

u
n
re

a
s
o
n
a
b
le

 r
e
g
a
rd

in
g
 w

h
ic

h
 s

it
e

s
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

d
e
le

te
d
.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
s
 a

n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

) 
is

 a
 k

e
y
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
T

h
e

 P
la

n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 

lin
k
e

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 a
im

. 
 G

iv
e

n
 t
h
is

 p
ri
o
ri
ty

, 
a
n
d

 
p
e
n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d

 b
y
 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n

d
 t
h
e
 f

a
c
t 

th
a

t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h

e
 

re
s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 c

o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
, 
it
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a

s
o
n

a
b
le

 t
o

 r
e

ta
in

 
lim

it
e
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 t
o
 b

e
 b

ro
u

g
h
t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri

o
d
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
la

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

x
a
g
g
e
ra

te
d
 a

n
d
 

th
e
re

 i
s
 i
n
s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
th

e
 R

iv
e
r 

W
y
e
. 
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 k

e
p
t 
fr

e
e
 f
ro

m
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

R
o

th
e

rw
a
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 i
s
 a

n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e

d
 e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 
lo

c
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 

fu
rt

h
e

r 
p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

h
ic

h
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

c
c
e

s
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

m
e

n
ts

) 
is

 a
 k

e
y
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
T

h
e

 P
la

n
 s

e
ts

 o
u
t 

lin
k
e

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
, 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

th
is

 a
im

. 
 G

iv
e

n
 t
h
is

 p
ri
o
ri
ty

, 
a
n
d

 
p
e
n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 d

e
ta

ile
d

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d

 b
y
 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n

d
 t
h
e
 f

a
c
t 

th
a

t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h

e
 

re
s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 c

o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
, 
it
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a

s
o
n

a
b
le

 t
o

 r
e

ta
in

 
lim

it
e
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

t 
R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 t
o
 b

e
 b

ro
u

g
h
t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri

o
d
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 F

ri
e
n
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 

E
a
rt

h

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

6
.1

0
/1

9
7
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

y
 E

4
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 6

.4
.2

8
 t
o
 6

.4
.2

9
 -

 N
e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 O
v
e
rr

o
s
s
 a

n
d
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 n

o
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
h
a
v
in

g
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 

in
s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ro

a
d
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
, 
u
n
a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 n
o
is

e
 p

o
llu

ti
o
n
 i
n
 a

 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
, 
p
ro

p
e
n
s
it
y
 t
o
 f
lo

o
d
, 
d
a
n
g
e
r 

to
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

, 
in

te
rf

e
re

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 e

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 a

t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
, 
lo

s
s
 o

f 
a
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
, 
a
d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
o
w

n
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
tr

u
s
io

n
 i
n
to

 o
p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
.

T
h

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 h

a
v
e
 a

ll 
b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 
 I

n
 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 t
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
s
u
it
a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e

, 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 t
h

a
t 
m

a
n
y
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 

o
f 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 s

it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
, 
o
r 

a
re

 c
a
p
a

b
le

 o
f 
re

s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
n
d

 r
e

fe
rs

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

fl
o
o

d
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
is

 r
e
g
a
rd

. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 s

u
it
a

b
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 

a
n
d
 c

a
p
a
b
le

 o
f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

. 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
n
e
e

d
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-

o
n
-W

y
e
 w

ill
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

 t
h
e
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
la

n
d
. 

T
h

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 
s
it
e
's

 l
a
n

d
s
c
a
p
e

 s
e
tt
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t

h
e
 t
o
w

n
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 

th
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il'

s
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 T
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 

re
m

a
in

s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n

in
g
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 f
a
v
o
u
rs

 t
h
e
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 M

o
d

e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 

A
n

d
re

w
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 E

v
e

ly
n
 A

rm
s
tr

o
n
g

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

9

265



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 B
e
rn

a
rd

 A
rm

s
tr

o
n
g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 N
. 
A

s
h
ra

t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
L

. 
A

s
h
ra

t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 D
.J

. 
B

e
n
n
e
tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
S

.E
. 

B
e
n
n
e

tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
S

.M
. 
B

e
s
a
n

t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 M
.C

. 
B

e
s
a
n
t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 M
.D

. 
&

 F
.L

. 
B

la
c
k
n
e
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

M
r.

 T
.J

.R
. 
B

o
o
th

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

0

266



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
J
. 
B

o
o
th

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

S
it
e
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 b
y
 b

o
th

 L
o
c
a
l 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
is

 
fl
a
w

e
d
. 
C

a
s
e
 f
o
r 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 a

s
 b

e
in

g
 b

e
n
e
fi
c
ia

l 
to

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
 F

a
rm

, 
th

e
re

fo
re

 m
o
s
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
it
e
 i
s
 a

d
ja

c
e
n
t 
to

 t
h

is
 l
a
n
d
 s

o
u
th

 o
f 
A

4
0
. 
 S

e
c
o
n
d
 

re
a
s
o
n
 r

e
fe

rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
o
r 

q
u
a
lit

y
 f
a
rm

y
a
rd

. 
T

h
is

 c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 a

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 r

e
a
s
o
n
, 
it
 w

o
u
ld

 e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 o

w
n
e
rs

 o
f 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
s
it
e
s
 t
o
 

a
llo

w
 t
h
e
m

 t
o
 f
a
ll 

in
to

 d
is

re
p
a
ir
.

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
H

ild
e

rs
le

y
 F

a
rm

 w
a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 U

D
P

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 b

y
 

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

fo
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
u
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
a
t 
th

e
 

P
u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u

ir
y
. 
 N

e
it
h
e

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e

 s
it
e

 t
o
 b

e
 a

n
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
re

a
 f

o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t.
  

T
h

e
 o

b
je

c
to

r'
s
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 

th
e

 r
e

a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

th
e

 
re

je
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

rs
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 i
s
 i
n

c
o
rr

e
c
t.
  
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 

in
d

ic
a

ti
o

n
 t
h
a

t 
th

e
 M

o
d

e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
 w

ill
 "

s
u

p
p
o

rt
 t
h

e
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
",

 s
im

p
ly

 a
 r

e
c
o
g
n

it
io

n
 t
h
a
t 
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 u

s
e

s
 a

re
 

a
lr
e
a
d

y
 b

e
in

g
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
to

 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
lit

y
. 
 I
n
 t
e

rm
s
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
c
o
n

d
 

re
a
s
o
n
, 
th

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
o

n
 i
n

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 r

e
a

s
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
re

je
c
ti
o
n

 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 s
it
e

 h
a

s
 b

e
e
n

 c
h
o
s
e
n
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
"t

h
e

 p
o

o
r 

q
u
a
lit

y
 f
a
rm

y
a
rd

",
 s

im
p
ly

 
th

a
t 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

s
 a

 n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
 i
n
 v

a
ry

in
g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
 

w
h
ic

h
 p

re
s
e

n
t 
a
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e

d
 f
e
e
l 
to

 t
h
e
 a

re
a

. 
 T

h
is

 i
n

 i
ts

e
lf
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 a

n
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
y
 t
o

 s
e
c
u
re

 a
n
 a

tt
ra

c
ti
v
e

 e
d

g
e
 t
o
 R

o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

D
 B

o
y
n
to

n
 a

n
d
 S

o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 W
.J

. 
B

u
ft
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 a
c
c
e
p
t 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

. 
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 w

o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
h
a
v
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

p
o

s
a

l 
h

a
d

 l
e

s
s
 s

e
n

s
it
iv

e
 s

it
e

s
 b

e
e
n
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 A

4
0
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 

b
e
e
n
 d

e
tr

u
n
k
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 k

n
o
w

n
 d

a
te

 f
o
r 

th
is

 t
o
 h

a
p
p
e
n
. 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 w
o
u
ld

 g
e
n
e
ra

te
 c

o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
. 
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 b
e
s
t 
lo

c
a
te

d
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
. 
 L

a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

o
rt

h
 i
s
 

e
a

s
ily

 s
e

rv
ic

e
d

, 
it
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 o

v
e

rl
o
o
k
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 

h
a
s
 n

o
 e

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
is

s
u
e
s
. 
 W

o
rk

s
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 

p
ro

h
ib

it
iv

e
ly

 e
x
p
e
n
s
iv

e
.

C
a

re
fu

l 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 w

a
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
, 

h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
m

a
in

s
 o

f 
th

e
 o

p
in

io
n
 t

h
a
t 
M

o
d
e

l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 t

h
e
 m

o
s
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
it
e
 f
o
r 

a
n

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
a

s
o
n

s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
in

 
fu

ll 
in

 t
h

e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t.
  

In
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

la
n
d
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
, 
th

is
 a

re
a
 w

a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
u

s
e
s
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q

u
ir
y
 (

s
e

c
ti
o
n
 6

.2
4
 o

f 
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

).
  
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 

c
o
rr

e
c
t 
th

a
t 
th

is
 a

re
a
 h

a
s
 n

o
 e

n
v
ir
o
n

m
e

n
ta

l 
is

s
u

e
s
, 

a
s
 i
t 
fa

lls
 w

it
h
in

 t
h

e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
A

re
a
 o

f 
O

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
B

e
a

u
ty

. 
 T

h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n

s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
s
u
c
h
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
w

o
u
ld

 "
c
o
n
s
ti
tu

te
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

b
re

a
c
h
 o

f 
th

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
ilt

-u
p

 l
im

it
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 a

n
d
 u

n
w

a
rr

a
n
te

d
 

e
x
te

n
s
io

n
 i
n
to

 t
h

e
 o

p
e
n
 A

re
a

 o
f 

O
u
ts

ta
n
d

in
g
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
B

e
a
u
ty

."

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 C

a
ro

lin
e

 S
 C

a
m

p
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 g

ro
s
s
ly

 
in

a
d
e
q
u
a
te

. 
 A

ll 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 f
u
ll 

a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 a

m
o
u
n
ts

 t
o
 n

o
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 a

 p
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 

u
n
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 a

n
y
 n

e
w

 e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

r 
re

a
s
o
n
in

g
. 
 I
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

ir
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
to

 e
x
c
lu

d
e
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

d
 t
o
 b

e
 s

u
p
e
ri
o
r 

to
 t

h
e
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
.

T
h

e
 m

a
tt

e
rs

 r
a

is
e
d

 h
a

v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
le

n
g

th
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
. 
In

 c
o

n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
s
e
 a

n
d
 h

is
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 f

a
v
o

u
rs

 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 

th
e

 w
id

e
 v

a
ri
e
ty

 o
f 
is

s
u
e

s
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d

s
c
a
p
e
, 

u
rb

a
n

 e
d

g
e
, 
a
n

d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
. 

 T
h
e
s
e
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 a
re

 a
d
e
q

u
a
te

ly
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 S

ta
te

m
e

n
t 

o
f 
D

e
c
is

io
n

s
 a

n
d
 R

e
a
s
o
n
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 L
 C

o
s
k
e
r

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

1

267



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
R

o
s
e
m

a
ri
e
 D

ix
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 R
o
b
e
rt

 K
. 
D

ix
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
lly

 o
b
je

c
to

r 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 W

it
h
 r

e
g
a

rd
 t
o
 t

h
e
 

a
d
d
it
o
n
a
l 
g
ro

u
n
d
 o

f 
o
b

je
c
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g

e
d
 t
h
e

 n
e

e
d
 

fo
r 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 R

o
s
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 B
. 
D

o
n
a

ld

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

lly
 o

b
je

c
to

r 
b

e
lie

v
e

s
 i
t 
is

 i
n
c
o
n
c
e
iv

a
b
le

 t
h
a
t 
2
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
g
n
o
re

d
 i
n
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

re
 n

o
t 
b
in

d
in

g
 u

p
o
n

 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 t
h
e

 r
e

a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
c
u

m
e

n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 R
. 
D

o
w

d
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

lly
 o

b
je

c
ti
o

n
 t

o
 o

b
ta

in
in

g
 a

n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 i
g
n
o
ri

n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in

d
in

g
s
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a

re
 n

o
t 
b
in

d
in

g
 u

p
o
n

 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
n
d
 t
h
e

 r
e

a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

re
je

c
ti
n

g
 t
h
is

 r
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti
o
n
 a

re
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
c
u

m
e

n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
J
. 
D

o
w

d
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 G
.R

. 
D

o
w

n
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
a
rk

 E
a

rd
le

y

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

2

268



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 
w

a
s
 u

n
a
c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

. 
 T

h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 a
 

m
o
re

 a
tt
ra

c
ti
v
e
 e

d
g
e
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
 w

o
u
ld

 m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 e

d
g
e
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

h
a
lf
 m

ile
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 p

re
s
e
n
t 
e
d
g
e
. 
 T

h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 a

ls
o
 

re
fe

r 
to

 t
h
e
 p

re
c
e
d
e
n
t 
s
e
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
b
e
h
in

d
 H

ild
e
rs

le
y
 

F
a
rm

. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

p
ro

v
id

e
 j
u
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

.
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

. 
 T

h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

is
 n

o
t 
in

 a
 b

e
tt
e
r 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 t

h
a
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

 d
e
te

rm
in

in
g
 

th
e
 m

o
s
t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
it
e
.

T
h

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 h

a
v
e
 a

ll 
b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 
 I

n
 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 t
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
s
u
it
a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e

, 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 t
h

a
t 
m

a
n
y
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 

o
f 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 s

it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
, 
o
r 

a
re

 c
a
p
a

b
le

 o
f 
re

s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
n
d

 r
e

fe
rs

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

fl
o
o

d
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
is

 r
e
g
a
rd

. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 s

u
it
a

b
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 

a
n
d
 c

a
p
a
b
le

 o
f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

. 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
n
e
e

d
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-

o
n
-W

y
e
 w

ill
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

 t
h
e
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
la

n
d
. 

T
h

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 
s
it
e
's

 l
a
n

d
s
c
a
p
e

 s
e
tt
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t

h
e
 t
o
w

n
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 

th
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il'

s
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 T
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 

re
m

a
in

s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n

in
g
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 f
a
v
o
u
rs

 t
h
e
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 M

o
d

e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 B

J
 &

 J
M

 E
d
w

a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 J
.V

. 
F

ie
ld

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 D
. 
F

o
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
M

.K
. 
F

o
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
J
. 
F

ra
n

c
is

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 R
.A

. 
F

ra
n
c
is

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
la

n
 G

a
n
e

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

3

269



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
K

a
re

n
 G

a
n

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 C
h
ri
s
 G

o
d
w

in

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
C

la
re

 G
o

d
w

in

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

lly
, 
R

o
s
s
 h

a
s
 m

a
n

y
 i
n

d
u

s
tr

ia
l 
u

n
it
s
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 u

n
o

c
c
u

p
ie

d
, 

m
o
re

 a
re

 n
o
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 W

it
h
 r

e
g
a

rd
 t
o
 t

h
e
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

u
n
d
 o

f 
o
b

je
c
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g

e
d
 t
h
e

 n
e

e
d
 

fo
r 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 R

o
s
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
W

. 
G

o
o
d
b

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

lly
, 
R

o
s
s
 h

a
s
 b

ro
w

n
fi
e

ld
 s

it
e

s
 a

n
d

 u
n

o
c
c
u

p
ie

d
 i
n

d
u

s
tr

ia
l 

u
n
it
s
, 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 n
o
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 
 W

it
h
 r

e
g
a

rd
 t
o
 t

h
e
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

u
n
d
 o

f 
o
b

je
c
ti
o
n
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g

e
d
 t
h
e

 n
e

e
d
 

fo
r 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 i
n
 R

o
s
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 P
. 
G

o
o
d
b
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 P

. 
H

a
le

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

R
 I
 H

e
n
d
ri
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
C

la
re

 H
e
th

e
ri

n
g
to

n

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

4

270



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 A
.D

. 
H

u
n
te

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 n

o
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
h
a
v
in

g
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 

in
s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ro

a
d
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
, 
u
n
a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 n
o
is

e
 p

o
llu

ti
o
n
 i
n
 a

 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
, 
p
ro

p
e
n
s
it
y
 t
o
 f
lo

o
d
, 
d
a
n
g
e
r 

to
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

, 
in

te
rf

e
re

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 e

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 a

t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
, 
lo

s
s
 o

f 
a
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
, 
a
d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
o
w

n
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
tr

u
s
io

n
 i
n
to

 o
p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
. 
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 
th

e
 l
a
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 s

it
e
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 h

a
v
e
 a

ll 
b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 
 I

n
 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 t
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
s
u
it
a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e

, 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 t
h

a
t 
m

a
n
y
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 

o
f 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 s

it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
, 
o
r 

a
re

 c
a
p
a

b
le

 o
f 
re

s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
n
d

 r
e

fe
rs

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

fl
o
o

d
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
is

 r
e
g
a
rd

. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 s

u
it
a

b
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 

a
n
d
 c

a
p
a
b
le

 o
f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

. 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
n
e
e

d
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-

o
n
-W

y
e
 w

ill
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

 t
h
e
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
la

n
d
. 

T
h

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 
s
it
e
's

 l
a
n

d
s
c
a
p
e

 s
e
tt
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t

h
e
 t
o
w

n
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 

th
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il'

s
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 T
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 

re
m

a
in

s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n

in
g
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 f
a
v
o
u
rs

 t
h
e
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 M

o
d

e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 J
 J

a
m

e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
n
d
re

w
 J

o
n
e

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 R

e
b
e
c
c
a
 J

o
n
e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 M
.J

. 
K

n
o
w

le
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 L
.N

. 
K

n
o

w
le

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
C

.L
. 
L
a

rg
e

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

5

271



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

D
r.

 D
.M

. 
L
a

rg
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 V
in

c
e
n
t 
L

e
w

is

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 L

e
a
h
 L

e
w

is

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
w

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 w
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 s

e
v
e
re

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

th
e
 g

a
te

w
a
y
 t
o
 R

o
s
s
. 
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 r

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 n

o
t 
th

e
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 s
it
e
 f
o
r 

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

, 
b
o
th

 s
it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 s

im
ila

r 
c
h
o
ic

e
s
. 
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 n

o
t 

re
a
d
ily

 a
n
d
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 A

4
0
 a

s
 c

la
im

e
d
, 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

w
o
rk

 t
o
 H

ild
e
rs

le
y
 a

n
d
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 a
ff
e
c
ts

 g
re

e
n
fi
e
ld

 l
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 o

rg
a
n
ic

 f
a
rm

 
o
n
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 h

a
b
it
a
t 
fo

r 
s
k
y
la

rk
s
, 
a
 d

e
c
lin

in
g
 b

ir
d
 s

p
e
c
ie

s
.

B
u
ff
e
r 

z
o
n
e
 w

o
u
ld

 o
n
ly

 l
a
s
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 U

D
P

 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 t

h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
z
o
n
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 

o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 f
e
lt
 t
o

 b
e
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
.

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

M
o

d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 a

n
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

g
a
te

w
a
y
 t
o
 R

o
s
s
. 
 I

n
 r

e
s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 
a
c
c
e

s
s
, 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t

o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 a

 m
o

re
 s

u
it
a
b
le

, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

n
d
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b

le
 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

th
e

 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 6

.1
0
.1

1
 

re
c
o
g
n
is

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 o

b
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

p
e
te

n
t 
a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s
 

o
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
. 
 I
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
w

ild
lif

e
 v

a
lu

e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 t
h

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
a
n
d
 

lo
c
a

l 
b
o

d
ie

s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 t
h

ro
u
g
h

o
u
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 a

n
d
 h

a
v
e
 

n
o
t 
o
b

je
c
te

d
 t

o
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l.
  

T
h

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 b

u
ff
e
r 

z
o
n
e
 

w
ill

 b
e

 "
re

z
o
n
e
d

" 
a
t 
a
 f

u
tu

re
 p

o
in

t 
in

 t
im

e
. 
 A

n
y
 c

h
a

n
g
e
s
 t
o
 U

D
P

 
d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e

 
L
D

F
 w

h
ic

h
 i
ts

e
lf
 w

ill
 b

e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o

n
. 
 T

h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

re
je

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 a
re

 s
e
t 
o

u
t 
in

 t
h

e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

M
o

d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
c
u

m
e

n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 P
.J

. 
L

in
e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 C
. 
L
in

e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 P
.J

. 
L

in
e
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

6

272



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

N
e
w

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 w
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 s

e
v
e
re

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

th
e
 g

a
te

w
a
y
 t
o
 R

o
s
s
. 
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 r

e
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
. 
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 n

o
t 
th

e
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 s
it
e
 f
o
r 

s
u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

, 
b
o
th

 s
it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 s

im
ila

r 
c
h
o
ic

e
s
. 
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 n

o
t 

re
a
d
ily

 a
n
d
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 A

4
0
 a

s
 c

la
im

e
d
, 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

w
o
rk

 t
o
 H

ild
e
rs

le
y
 a

n
d
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 a
ff
e
c
ts

 g
re

e
n
fi
e
ld

 l
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 o

rg
a
n
ic

 f
a
rm

 
o
n
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 h

a
b
it
a
t 
fo

r 
s
k
y
la

rk
s
, 
a
 d

e
c
lin

in
g
 b

ir
d
 s

p
e
c
ie

s
.

B
u
ff
e
r 

z
o
n
e
 w

o
u
ld

 o
n
ly

 l
a
s
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 U

D
P

 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
o
n
c
e
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 t

h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
z
o
n
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 

o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 f
e
lt
 t
o

 b
e
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
.

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

M
o

d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 a

n
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n
it
y
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

g
a
te

w
a
y
 t
o
 R

o
s
s
. 
 I

n
 r

e
s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 
a
c
c
e

s
s
, 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t

o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 a

 m
o

re
 s

u
it
a
b
le

, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

n
d
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b

le
 l
o

c
a
ti
o
n
 f

o
r 

th
e

 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 6

.1
0
.1

1
 

re
c
o
g
n
is

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 a
re

 n
o
 o

b
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

p
e
te

n
t 
a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s
 

o
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
. 
 I
n
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
w

ild
lif

e
 v

a
lu

e
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 t
h

e
 n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
a
n
d
 

lo
c
a

l 
b
o

d
ie

s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 t
h

ro
u
g
h

o
u
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 p
ro

c
e

s
s
 a

n
d
 h

a
v
e
 

n
o
t 
o
b

je
c
te

d
 t

o
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l.
  

T
h

e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
o
n
 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 b

u
ff
e
r 

z
o
n
e
 

w
ill

 b
e

 "
re

z
o
n
e
d

" 
a
t 
a
 f

u
tu

re
 p

o
in

t 
in

 t
im

e
. 
 A

n
y
 c

h
a

n
g
e
s
 t
o
 U

D
P

 
d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
s
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e

 
L
D

F
 w

h
ic

h
 i
ts

e
lf
 w

ill
 b

e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o

n
. 
T

h
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

re
je

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 a
re

 s
e
t 
o

u
t 
in

 t
h

e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

M
o

d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
c
u

m
e

n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
C

 L
in

e
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
.J

. 
L
o
d

g
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 P
. 
L
o

d
g
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 A

n
g
e
la

 L
u

k
a
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 M
.G

. 
L
u

k
a
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
D

. 
M

a
s
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 D
. 
M

a
s
o

n

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

7

273



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 A
.B

. 
M

c
A

lla
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 S
.A

. 
M

e
e

k

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 P
.J

. 
M

e
e
k

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 P
e

te
r 

&
 E

ls
p
e
th

 M
e

tc
a
lf
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 i
s
 n

o
t 
s
u
it
a
b
le

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
h
a
v
in

g
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 

in
s
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ro

a
d
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
, 
u
n
a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 n
o
is

e
 p

o
llu

ti
o
n
 i
n
 a

 
re

s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
, 
p
ro

p
e
n
s
it
y
 t
o
 f
lo

o
d
, 
d
a
n
g
e
r 

to
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 f
ro

m
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

, 
in

te
rf

e
re

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 e

m
e
rg

e
n
c
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 a

t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
, 
lo

s
s
 o

f 
a
g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
, 
a
d
v
e
rs

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
o
w

n
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
tr

u
s
io

n
 i
n
to

 o
p
e
n
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
. 
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 
th

e
 l
a
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 s

it
e
 

in
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 i
n
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 i
s
s
u

e
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 h

a
v
e
 a

ll 
b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h

e
 

p
re

p
a

ra
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
. 
 I

n
 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
 t
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
s
u
it
a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e

, 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 t
h

a
t 
m

a
n
y
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 
a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
 

o
f 
w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 s

it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
, 
o
r 

a
re

 c
a
p
a

b
le

 o
f 
re

s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
n
d

 r
e

fe
rs

 t
o

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

fl
o
o

d
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
is

 r
e
g
a
rd

. 
T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 s

u
it
a

b
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e

d
 

a
n
d
 c

a
p
a
b
le

 o
f 
im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o
n

. 
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
n
e
e

d
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-

o
n
-W

y
e
 w

ill
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

 t
h
e
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 o

f 
a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
la

n
d
. 

T
h

e
 q

u
e
s
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 
s
it
e
's

 l
a
n

d
s
c
a
p
e

 s
e
tt
in

g
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t

h
e
 t
o
w

n
 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 

th
e

 C
o
u
n

c
il'

s
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n

 o
f 

th
e

 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 T
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 

re
m

a
in

s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n

in
g
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 f
a
v
o
u
rs

 t
h
e
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 M

o
d

e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

S
te

p
h

e
n
 M

o
g
g
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 J

. 
M

o
rr

is

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
J
. 
N

e
s
a
ra

tn
a
m

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

8

274



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

D
r.

 R
a
m

e
s
h

 N
e
s
a
ra

tn
a
m

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
ic

h
a

e
l 
P

a
lf
re

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
A

lis
o
n

 P
a

lf
re

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 S
im

o
n
 P

a
s
c
o

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
J
a
n
e
t 

P
a
s
c
o
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 N
e
il 

P
a
s
c
o
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 N
ic

k
 P

a
s
c
o
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
N

.B
. 

P
a

s
c
o

e
 (

R
o

s
s
 R

u
ra

l 
P

a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u

n
c
il)

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

9

275



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
V

.J
. 
P

o
rt

e
r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

R
e

v
. 
D

. 
P

o
rt

e
r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
V

. 
P

ri
c
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
. 
P

ri
c
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
B

e
tt
y
 M

. 
R

ic
h

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 H
a
ro

ld
 J

. 
R

ic
h

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 S
tu

a
rt

 R
o
s
s
e
r

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

0

276



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 a

 o
rg

a
n
ic

 f
a
rm

 w
it
h
 h

ig
h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

g
ri
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
la

n
d
 

w
h
ic

h
 w

ill
 r

e
q

u
ir
e

 s
e

v
e

ra
l 
y
e

a
rs

 t
o
 r

e
p
la

c
e
. 
A

c
c
e
s
s
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
th

e
 

s
it
e
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 o

b
ta

in
e
d
 i
n
 a

 r
e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

 t
im

e
 a

n
d
 i
ts

 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 i
s
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 
o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

 T
ra

ff
ic

 n
o
is

e
 

w
ill

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
u
n
lik

e
 t
h
e
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 s

it
e
.

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 d
a
n
g
e
r 

o
f 
d
a
m

a
g
in

g
 t
h
e
 a

q
u
if
e
r 

w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 d

ri
n
k
in

g
 w

a
te

r.
 I
t 
is

 n
o
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 o

w
n
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

C
o

u
n

c
il.

T
h

e
 c

o
n
s
tr

a
in

ts
 t

o
 d

e
v
e

lo
p
m

e
n
t 
in

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 a

re
 s

u
c
h

 t
h
a
t 
a

n
y
 

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

is
 s

iz
e
 w

o
u
ld

 i
n
e

v
it
a

b
ly

 e
n

ta
il 

th
e

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

g
re

e
n

fi
e
ld

 l
a
n

d
. 
In

 r
e
s
p

e
c
t 

o
f 
a
c
c
e

s
s
, 
th

e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

  
p
ro

v
id

e
s
 s

u
it
a
b
le

, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

n
d
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

la
n
d
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n

s
p
e

c
to

r 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 6

.1
0
.1

1
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

e
s
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

re
 a

re
 n

o
 

o
b
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

p
e
te

n
t 
a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s
 o

n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 g

ro
u
n
d
s
. 
In

 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 
th

e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

u
p
o
n
 t

h
e
 a

q
u
if
e
r 

th
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

6
.1

0
.1

1
 t
h
a
t,

 s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
s
, 
th

e
 E

n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 h

a
s
 

n
o
 o

b
je

c
ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 t
h
e
 p

ri
n

c
ip

le
 o

f 
th

e
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

T
h

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

re
je

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a

ti
o
n

 a
re

 f
u
lly

 s
e

t 
o
u
t 
in

 t
h
e
 

P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 M
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o

n
s
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 S
.A

. 
S

h
e
rw

o
o

d
 R

o
g

e
rs

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
. 
S

m
it
h

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 C
.A

. 
S

o
b
le

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

 A
.P

. 
S

o
b
le

 (
R

o
s
s
 R

u
ra

l 
P

a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u

n
c
il)

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 J

. 
T

a
tl
o
w

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
M

a
ri
n

a
 T

a
y
lo

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 D
a
v
id

 T
a
y
lo

r

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

1

277



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
L

.E
. 

W
a

lli
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 N
.S

. 
W

a
lli

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
. 
W

e
in

h
a
rd

t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 C
. 
W

h
e
e
le

r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

. 
A

.M
. 
W

h
e
e

le
r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
fo

r 
M

r 
&

 M
rs

 R
.W

. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

R
e

s
p
o

n
s
e

 a
s
 s

e
t 

fo
r 

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 R

.W
. 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 a

b
o
v
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 S

. 
W

ill
ia

m
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 a
c
c
e
p
t 
th

e
 I

n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 b

a
s
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 g

iv
e
n
 a

t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

m
a
tt
e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
c
o
m

e
 a

p
p
a
re

n
t 
s
in

c
e
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

. 
 N

o
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 e

x
te

n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 

E
s
ta

te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
. 
 T

h
e
re

 a
re

 s
e
v
e
ra

l 
re

a
s
o
n
s
 w

h
y
 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
l 

F
a
rm

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
je

c
te

d
.

C
a

re
fu

l 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 w

a
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
, 

h
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
m

a
in

s
 o

f 
th

e
 o

p
in

io
n
 t

h
a
t 
M

o
d
e

l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 t

h
e
 m

o
s
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 s
it
e
 f
o
r 

a
n

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o

r 
th

e
 r

e
a

s
o
n

s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
in

 
fu

ll 
in

 t
h

e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t.
  

In
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

la
n
d
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
, 
th

is
 a

re
a
 w

a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
u

s
e
s
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q

u
ir
y
 (

s
e

c
ti
o
n
 6

.2
4
 o

f 
h
is

 r
e
p
o
rt

).
  
H

e
 

c
o
n

s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
s
u
c
h
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
w

o
u
ld

 "
c
o
n
s
ti
tu

te
 a

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
b

re
a
c
h
 o

f 
th

e
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 b

u
ilt

-u
p
 l
im

it
s
 o

f 
R

o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e

 a
n

d
 u

n
w

a
rr

a
n
te

d
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 

in
to

 t
h
e
 o

p
e
n

 A
re

a
 o

f 
O

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
B

e
a
u

ty
."

  
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 n

e
e

d
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
 i
n
to

 t
h
is

 a
re

a
 a

t 
th

e
 p

re
s
e
n
t 
ti
m

e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

F
ri

e
n
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 E

a
rt

h

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

2

278



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 n

o
t 
a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 

th
e
ir
 c

o
u
n
te

r-
re

a
s
o
n
s
 f
a
il 

to
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 p

o
in

ts
 m

a
d
e
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r.
  
 L

a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 
b
e
e
n
 t
re

a
te

d
 a

s
 a

 f
a
c
to

r 
in

 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 a

ls
o
 f
a
ile

d
 t
o
 c

o
u
n
te

r 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

u
s
e
s
 a

t 
H

ild
e
rs

le
y
 F

a
rm

, 
fa

rm
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
 a

t 
M

o
d
e
l 
fa

rm
, 
u
rb

a
n
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
, 
a
n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
ir
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 i
n
 

e
x
e
rc

is
in

g
 t
h
e
ir
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
.

T
h

e
 m

a
tt

e
rs

 r
a

is
e
d

 h
a

v
e
 b

e
e

n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
le

n
g

th
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
o
u
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
. 
In

 c
o

n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
s
e
 a

n
d
 h

is
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

 b
a

la
n
c
e
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 f

a
v
o

u
rs

 t
h
e
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
, 
ta

k
in

g
 i
n

to
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 

th
e

 w
id

e
 v

a
ri
e
ty

 o
f 
is

s
u
e

s
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d

s
c
a
p
e
, 

u
rb

a
n

 e
d

g
e
, 
a
n

d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 

u
n
s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
u
e
 t
o
 v

is
u
a
l 
im

a
p
c
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 i
s
s
u
e
s
.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 n

o
te

d
.

M
r 

D
 B

o
y
n
to

n
 a

n
d
 S

o
n

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

f 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e
 f
o
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
u
s
e
 d

u
e
 t
o
 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 s

it
e
 o

n
 W

y
e
 V

a
lle

y
 A

O
N

B
.

S
u
p
p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 n

o
te

d
.

W
y
e

 V
a

lle
y
 A

O
N

B

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

7
.2

3
/2

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
o
lic

ie
s
 T

C
R

2
1
/T

C
R

2
0
R

 a
n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 7

.7
.1

8
 t
o
 7

.7
.2

5
 a

n
d
 7

.7
.2

5
R

 t
o
 7

.7
.3

2
R

 -
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 L
iv

e
s
to

c
k
 M

a
rk

e
t 

re
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 E

ig
n
 G

a
te

 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

re
a

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 
b
e
e
n
 j
u
s
ti
fi
e
d
 

g
iv

e
n
 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
n
e
e
d
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 s
h
o
p
p
in

g
 

a
re

a
 i
s
 i
n
c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t 
a
n
d
 a

t 
o
d
d
s
 w

it
h
 P

P
S

6
. 
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 a

n
d
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 m

u
s
t 
b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 g
a
p
s
 i
n
 r

e
ta

il 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 a

re
 n

o
t 
le

ft
 v

a
c
a
n
t.

T
h

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
s
u
p
p

o
rt

s
 t
h

e
 P

la
n
's

 a
p

p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o

 c
e
n
tr

a
l 
s
h

o
p
p
in

g
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
a
re

a
s
 i
n
 p

o
lic

y
 T

C
R

1
, 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
a

t 
th

is
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
is

te
n

t 
w

it
h

 
G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n

t 
a
d
v
ic

e
 o

n
 t
o
w

n
 c

e
n
tr

e
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

in
 P

P
S

6
. 
S

im
ila

rl
y
 h

e
 

s
u
p

p
o
rt

s
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o
 t
h
e

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o

f 
re

ta
il 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
u
ts

id
e

 
c
e
n

tr
a

l 
s
h
o
p
p

in
g
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 
a
re

a
s
 (

p
o

lic
y
 T

C
R

9
).

 H
e
 a

ls
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

s
 

a
n
 u

n
re

s
tr

ic
te

d
 p

o
lic

y
 i
n
 r

e
ta

il 
te

rm
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 c

o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

n
d

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 E

ig
n
 G

a
te

 R
e
g
e
n
e

ra
ti
o
n
 A

re
a
 (

p
o

lic
y
 T

C
R

2
0

R
),

 w
it
h

 
th

e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d

a
ti
o

n
 t
h
a
t 

th
e

re
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
 s

ig
n

if
ic

a
n
t 
n

e
t 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

c
o
n

v
e
n

ie
n
c
e
 g

o
o
d
s
 f
lo

o
rs

p
a

c
e
. 

In
 r

e
je

c
ti
n
g
 t
h

is
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
, 

th
e

 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

is
 m

in
d

fu
l 
o
f 
th

e
 p

o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
 o

v
e

ra
ll 

re
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o
n

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 

c
o
u

ld
 l
e

a
d
 t
o
 n

e
t 

in
c
re

a
s
e
s
 i
n
 c

o
n
v
e

n
ie

n
c
e
 g

o
o
d
s
 f
lo

o
rs

p
a
c
e

, 
e
it
h
e
r 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 e

x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
re

d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 u

s
e
s
 o

r 
n

e
w

 p
ro

v
is

io
n

, 
w

h
ic

h
 

w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

e
s
ir

a
b
le

 a
n

d
 j
u

s
ti
fi
a

b
le

 i
n
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
th

e
ir

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

. 
S

u
c
h

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 c

o
u

ld
 b

e
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
o
r 

o
th

e
rw

is
e
 d

e
p

e
n
d
in

g
 o

n
 

th
e

 c
o
n
te

x
t 
a
n
d

 t
h
e
 b

e
n
e

fi
ts

 r
e
a

lis
e
d

. 
T

h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o

t 
p
re

c
lu

d
e

 t
h
is

 
p

o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 C

ro
w

n
 E

s
ta

te

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
f 
N

o
:

8
.3

5
/1

1
0
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 8

.8
.2

1
 -

 L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

3

279



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

la
n
 o

r 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

w
th

 a
t 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r.
 A

 
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
 n

o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
t.
 

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 A
 C

 A
n
th

o
n

y
-E

d
w

a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 8

.8
.2

1
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

e
le

te
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
. 
 A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
to

 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 i
s
 a

 r
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 a

ri
s
e
n
 m

a
tt
e
r.

  
P

o
ly

tu
n
n
e
l 

fa
rm

in
g
 a

t 
B

ri
e
rl
e
y
 i
n
v
o
lv

in
g
 l
a
rg

e
 n

u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
p
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
s
 a

n
d
 

c
y
c
lis

ts
 p

u
ts

 i
n

to
 d

o
u

b
t 
th

e
 f
e

a
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
a

n
 e

a
s
t-

w
e
s
t 
b

y
p

a
s
s
 

c
u
tt
in

g
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 B

ri
e
rl
e
y
-L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
a
x
is

.

T
h

e
 w

o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 8

.8
.2

1
 i
s
 a

n
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 

c
o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 u

p
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
in

 t
h
e
 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o

d
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
 w

it
h
in

 
th

e
 Z

o
n
e

s
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t 
in

 t
h

is
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri

o
d
, 
s
h
o
u
ld

 f
u
tu

re
 p

ro
p

o
s
a

ls
 f
o

r 
a

n
 

e
a
s
t-

w
e

s
t 
lin

k
 b

e
 p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 r

o
a
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

 c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

a
t 

ti
m

e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

M
e
rv

y
n
 L

 B
u
ft
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

la
n
 o

r 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

w
th

 a
t 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r.
 A

 
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
 n

o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
t.
 

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
. 
P

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 m
a
y
 c

o
n
fl
ic

t 
w

it
h
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
. 
 T

h
e
s
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
ls

 w
ill

 b
e

 
s
u
b

je
c
t 

to
 s

u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l,
 a

d
d

re
s
s
in

g
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g

e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 G
e
ra

ld
 D

a
w

e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

If
 t
h
e
 z

o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

s
h
o
w

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 u

p
o
n
 b

e
fo

re
 a

d
o
p
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
w

o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
p
a

ra
g
ra

p
h
 8

.8
.2

1
 i
s
 a

n
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d

g
e
m

e
n
t 
o

f 
th

e
 

c
o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 u

p
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
in

 t
h
e
 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o

d
. 
 A

d
d
re

s
s
in

g
 t
h

e
s
e

 i
s
s
u

e
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

d
e

fi
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
a

 s
p
e

c
if
ic

 r
o
u

te
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

n
d
e

rt
a
k
e
n

 a
t 
a

 f
u

tu
re

 d
a
te

. 
It
 i
s
 n

o
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 s

h
o
w

 p
ro

p
o

s
a
ls

 t
h
a

t 
w

ill
 b

e
 b

ro
u
g
h

t 
fo

rw
a
rd

 p
o
s
t-

2
0
1
1

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

A
u

b
re

y
 G

re
e
n
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
z
o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t.
 A

 
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
 n

o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
t.
 

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 M
a
rk

 H
u
b
b

a
rd

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

la
n
 o

r 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

w
th

 a
t 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r.
 A

 
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
 n

o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
t.
 

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 R

e
b
e
c
c
a
 R

o
s
e
ff

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

4

280



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 p

la
n
 o

r 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
g
ro

w
th

 a
t 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r.
 A

 
c
o
n
s
tr

a
in

t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 w

it
h
 n

o
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
t.
 

T
h
is

 m
a
y
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 e

ff
e
c
t 
o
f 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 m

o
re

 s
u
it
a
b
le

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 
in

 t
h
e
 f
u
tu

re
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
 J

a
n

e
t 
S

h
o

tt

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 z

o
n
e
 o

f 
in

te
re

s
t 
is

 c
o
n
tr

a
ry

 t
o
 P

P
G

1
2
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
 n

o
t 

g
iv

e
 a

n
y
 r

e
a
s
o
n
 w

h
y
 t
h
is

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 o

v
e
rr

id
d
e
n
 n

o
r 

a
d
d
re

s
s
 t
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

T
h

e
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 i
n
 q

u
e
s
ti
o

n
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
re

fe
r 

to
 a

 P
la

n
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
s
 s

u
c
h

, 
b
u
t 

to
 l
o
n
g

e
r 

te
rm

 f
u
tu

re
 g

ro
w

th
. 
 I
t 

is
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a

s
o
n

a
b
le

 t
o

 r
e

c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 

lik
e
ly

 r
e
q

u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

ro
a

d
 i
n

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a

b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 p

e
ri
o

d
, 
in

 t
h

e
 i
n

te
re

s
ts

 o
f 

fu
tu

re
 p

la
n
n
in

g
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 C

P
R

E

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
 t
h
e
 a

b
s
e
n
c
e
 o

f 
a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 f

o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
is

 a
re

a
, 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

lig
h
t 
w

ill
 r

e
s
u
lt
.

It
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
c
o
rd

 t
h
e
 l
ik

e
ly

 r
e

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n

t 
fo

r 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

ro
a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 g
ro

w
th

 a
t 

L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 p

la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d

, 
in

 t
h
e

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
. 
 T

h
e
 a

re
a

 i
s
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 P
la

n
 

w
id

e
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 f

o
r 

th
e

 c
o
n
tr

o
l 
o
f 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
u

ts
id

e
 u

rb
a

n
 a

re
a
s
, 

re
s
tr

ic
ti
n
g
 t
h
e

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

lig
h
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
s
h
ir
e
 F

ri
e
n
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 

E
a
rt

h

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
s
ta

te
s
 t
h
a
t 
it
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 w

ro
n
g
, 
u
n
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 a
n
d
 

p
re

m
a
tu

re
 t
o
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

o
u
th

 w
e
s
t 
o
f 
L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
is

 
m

o
s
t 
s
u
it
e
d
 t
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 

te
rm

 g
ro

w
th

 w
it
h
 a

 r
e
la

te
d
 b

y
p
a
s
s
. 
 I
t 
w

o
u
ld

 
b
e
 u

n
s
o
u
n
d
 t
o
 a

d
o
p
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 w
it
h
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
Z

o
n
e
 o

f 
In

te
re

s
t.

T
h

e
 w

o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 8

.8
.2

1
 i
s
 a

n
 a

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 
th

e
 

c
o
n

s
tr

a
in

ts
 u

p
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
 L

e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
in

 t
h
e
 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 o
f 
fu

tu
re

 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 b

e
y
o
n
d
 t

h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o

d
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
u
n

s
o
u

n
d
 t
o
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

 m
a

tt
e
rs

 
th

a
t 
s
h

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h

e
 l
o

n
g
 t
e
rm

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
la

n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

T
a

y
lo

r 
W

o
o
d
ro

w
 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 L
T

D

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

5

281



282



R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
 t

o
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 M
o

d
if

ic
a
ti

o
n

s

N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
0
7

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 1

.5
.4

 -
 B

a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
 p

a
p
e
rs

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

W
e
lc

o
m

e
 u

rb
a
n
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 c

a
p
a
c
it
y
 s

tu
d
y
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 f
u
tu

re
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

S
L
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
s
o

rt
iu

m

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
1
8

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 3

.2
.1

 t
o
 3

.2
.9

 -
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 G

u
id

a
n
c
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

W
e
lc

o
m

e
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
c
u
s
 

o
f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 g

ro
w

th
 o

n
 M

a
jo

r 
U

rb
a
n
 A

re
a
s
, 
b
u
t 
s
tr

e
s
s
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
c
e
 

o
f 
p
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
n
 r

u
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
lo

c
a
l 

n
e
e
d
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

S
L
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
s
o

rt
iu

m

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
2
5

3
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 S

3
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 5

.3
.1

 t
o
 5

.3
.7

 a
n
d
 T

a
b
le

 1
 i
n
 C

h
a
p
te

r 
5
 -

 H
o
u
s
in

g

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 o

v
e
rp

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

D
P

.
T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

to
 b

e
 

m
e
t 
w

it
h
o
u
t 
a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

M
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

2
5
 s

u
g
g
e
s
ts

 a
 t
o

ta
l 
3
0
6
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 j
u
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

th
e
 o

v
e
rp

ro
v
is

io
n
 

a
n
d
 n

o
 r

e
a
s
o
n
 w

h
y
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
b
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 
th

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 f

o
r 

a
 c

o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
. 
 I
n
c
lu

d
e
 a

 
s
u
m

 i
n
 p

o
lic

y
 S

3
 t
o
 s

h
o
w

 h
o
w

 t
h
e
 d

is
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 a

s
 s

e
t 
b
y
 R

S
S

.

T
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

 c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
 o

f 
u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
ig

u
re

s
 o

n
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e

s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

la
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
. 
A

n
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 c

e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 

S
p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

w
ill

 b
e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 g

iv
e
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

x
im

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
t 
th

a
t 
s
e
v
e
ra

l 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 

s
it
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 y

e
t 
to

 c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
. 
 T

h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
A

s
s
e
m

b
ly

 h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 U

D
P

, 
a
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
, 
is

 i
n
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
c
o
n
fo

rm
it
y
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

R
e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 f
o
u
r 

ti
e
r 

s
e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
h
ie

ra
rc

h
y
 w

h
ic

h
 

g
iv

e
s
 t
h
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 m

o
re

 c
la

ri
ty

 a
n
d
 e

m
p
h
a
s
is

e
s
 H

e
re

fo
rd

's
 r

o
le

 
a
s
 a

 s
u
b
-r

e
g
io

n
a
l 
fo

c
u
s
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

W
e
lc

o
m

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 n

u
m

b
e
rs

 t
o
 b

e
 b

u
ilt

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
e
m

p
h
a
s
is

 o
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

S
L
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
s
o

rt
iu

m

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
3
3

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 D

R
3
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 4

.4
.1

4
 t
o
 4

.4
.1

5
 -

 M
o
v
e
m

e
n
t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 "

e
it
h
e
r"

 
in

 p
la

c
e
 o

f 
"b

o
th

".
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

283



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
3
4

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 D

R
3
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 4

.4
.1

4
 t
o
 4

.4
.1

5
 -

 M
o
v
e
m

e
n
t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 d
e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
"m

in
im

u
m

 d
e
s
ig

n
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
".

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
3
7

4
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 D

R
7
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 4

.5
.9

 -
 F

lo
o
d
 r

is
k

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ts

 t
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
 f
lo

o
d
p
la

in
 f
o
r 

W
e
lli

n
g
to

n
.

S
u
g
g
e
s
ts

 a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 m

a
p
 o

r 
a
d
d
in

g
 a

 n
o
te

 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 f
lo

o
d
 p

la
in

 m
a
p
 f
o
r 

W
e
lli

n
g
to

n
 i
s
 o

f 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
a
b
le

 a
c
c
u
ra

c
y
.

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
h
a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 d

e
fi
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
lo

o
d
p
la

in
, 
a
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s
 m

a
p
, 
p
ro

v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 

la
te

s
t 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
. 
 I
n
 r

e
a

c
h

in
g

 t
h

is
 c

o
n

c
lu

s
io

n
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t
o

 h
im

 b
y
 t
h
e
 o

b
je

c
to

r.
  
P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

4
.5

.6
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 m

a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
 r

is
k
 s

h
o
w

n
 a

re
 

in
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
. 
N

o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a

re
a
s
 a

t 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 a

t 
W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 

is
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

P
e

te
r 

M
c
K

a
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

F
lo

o
d
p
la

in
 d

e
p
ic

ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

C
u
s
o
p
 i
s
 w

ro
n
g
. 
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 U

D
P

 i
s
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra

te
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

p
e
n
 t
o
 e

th
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 

le
g
a
l 
c
h
a
lle

n
g
e
. 
 T

h
e
 s

u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 b

lig
h
t 
c
a
n
 b

e
 

c
o
rr

e
c
te

d
 a

t 
ti
m

e
 o

f 
a
n
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 b

y
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 f
lo

o
d
 r

is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 u

n
ju

s
t 
a
n
d
 u

n
c
e
rt

a
in

. 
 T

h
e
 f
lo

o
d
p
la

in
 m

a
p
 w

ill
 

a
p
p
e
a
r 

o
n
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
e
a
rc

h
e
s
 i
t 
w

ill
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

p
re

m
iu

m
s
 a

n
d
 p

o
s
s
ib

ly
 p

re
v
e
n
t 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

e
in

g
 i
n
s
u
re

d
. 
 N

e
w

 
m

o
d
e
lli

n
g
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 f
lo

o
d
 d

a
ta

 a
n
d
 m

a
p
 w

ill
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s

p
ri
n
g
 o

f 
n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r.

  
T

h
is

 d
a
ta

 w
ill

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e
 

D
u
la

s
 b

ro
o
k
 i
s
 i
n
 a

 d
e
e
p
 r

a
v
in

e
 a

s
 i
t 
p
a
s
s
e
s
 D

u
la

s
 H

o
u
s
e
.

W
h
a
t 
m

e
c
h
a
n
is

m
 f
o
r 

th
e
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b

e
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 i
n
 

th
e
 U

D
P

?
 H

o
w

 o
ft
e
n
 w

ill
 i
t 
b
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
?
 S

h
o
u
ld

 i
t 
b
e
 f
o
rm

u
la

te
d
 

a
n
d
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 o

n
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra

te
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
?

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

o
lic

y
 i
n
 P

P
G

2
5
 i
s
 c

le
a
r 

th
a
t 
"F

o
llo

w
in

g
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

in
te

re
s
te

d
 p

a
rt

ie
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
 r

is
k
 o

n
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
la

n
s
..
..
" 

 T
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u

e
 o

f 
d

e
fi
n

in
g

 i
n

d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 f
lo

o
d
 p

la
n
 m

a
p
s
 o

n
 

th
e
 U

D
P

 P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 f
lo

o
p
la

in
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

C
u
s
o
p
 a

n
d
 h

e
 

c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 s
h
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 t

h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s

u
p
p
lie

d
 b

y
 

th
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 a
c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
s
 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

4
.5

.6
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 

u
p
d
a
te

d
 a

s
 m

o
re

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
 T

h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 a

d
v
ic

e
 s

u
p
p
lie

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

u
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
n
y
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te

d
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 i
s
 a

 d
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

ti
lis

e
d
 t
o
 s

e
t 
in

s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

p
re

m
iu

m
s
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 U

D
P

 w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
p
la

c
e
d
 o

v
e
r 

ti
m

e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 i
ts

 c
o
n
s
ti
tu

e
n
t 
d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

D
r 

T
im

 M
u

lla
n
y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

s
 t

h
a
t 
o
u
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 f
lo

o
d
s
. 
 T

h
is

 
h
a
s
 n

e
v
e
r 

h
a
p
p
e
n
e
d
. 
 B

ro
o
k
 f
lo

o
d
s
 f
ro

m
 "

C
h
a
p
e
l 
F

ie
ld

".
  
T

h
is

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

e
d
 a

s
 n

o
 h

o
u
s
e
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 f
lo

o
d
 d

u
e
 t
o
 w

a
te

r 
ru

n
n
in

g
 d

o
w

n
 t
h
e
 r

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 d

e
fi
n
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

fl
o
o
d
p
la

in
, 
a
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
p
ro

v
id

e
s
 t
h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 

fl
o
o
d
in

g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
. 
 T

h
e
 P

la
n
 m

a
k
e
s
 i
t 

c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
 r

is
k
 

s
h
o
w

n
 a

re
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
. 
N

o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 t

o
 t
h
e
 a

re
a
s
 a

t 
ri
s
k
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 a

t 
W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 i
s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

&
 M

rs
. 
D

 S
ta

lla
rd

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 P

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
 

s
h
o
w

in
g
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
fl
o
o
d
 r

is
k
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 2

284



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
4
2

5
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.3
.2

 -
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
p
o
lic

y

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 s

e
e
k
 t
o

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 

to
 1

2
4
5
8
, 
th

ro
u
g
h
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
In

s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

5
.1

4
/1

. 
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

d
ic

a
te

s
 t
h
a
t 

fu
tu

re
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 o

n
 a

 c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 b

a
s
is

. 
 T

h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

e
x
a
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

, 
m

a
rk

e
t 
to

w
n
s
, 

la
rg

e
r 

v
ill

a
g
e
s
 a

n
d
 r

u
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
. 
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

o
m

 1
1
7
0
0
 t
o
 1

2
4
5
8
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

In
 a

llo
c
a
ti
n
g
 a

 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

3
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 t
o
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 

fa
ile

d
 t
o
 e

x
a
m

in
e
 a

ll 
a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
s
. 
 I
n
 B

o
d
e
n
h
a
m

 M
o
o
r 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 
n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 a
n
d
 o

p
e
n
 m

a
rk

e
t 
h
o
u
s
in

g
, 
th

e
 a

rg
u
m

e
n
t 

re
g
a
rd

in
g
 l
a
n
d
 c

o
m

in
g
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 a
t 
a
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
ra

te
 c

o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 b

e
 

m
a
d
e
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
s
it
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is

 v
ill

a
g

e
. 
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

s
h

o
u

ld
 a

c
c
e

p
t 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 o

r 
d
e
fe

r 
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 U

D
P

 u
n
ti
l 
a
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

h
e
ld

.

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
in

g
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fr

o
m

 
1
1
,7

0
0
 t
o
 1

2
,2

0
0
 t
o
 a

c
c
o
rd

 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 R

S
S

. 
 T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t
h
is

 
p
o
s
it
io

n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 a

n
d
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 s
e
e
k
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h
is

. 
 I
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r

u
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
, 
a
n
d
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

3
.1

8
.5

9
 t
h
a
t,
 w

h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

, 
th

e
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 

ru
ra

l 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 n
o
 c

a
s
e
 a

t 
p
re

s
e
n
t 
to

 r
e
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
 

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
s
it
e

s
 i
n

 m
a

in
 v

ill
a

g
e

s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

E
 G

 B
e
v
a
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 r

e
je

c
te

d
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
th

a
t 

1
2
,1

5
2
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 a

re
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 
R

S
S

 t
a
rg

e
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
).

  
S

h
o
u
ld

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

w
is

h
 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
a
 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
im

p
lic

a
ti
o

n
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
. 
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
re

je
c
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 b

a
s
is

 o
f 
th

e
re

 b
e
in

g
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
, 
a
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

n
o
w

 c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
re

 i
s
 a

 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
  
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
is

 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 d

o
u
b
t 
a
n
d
 a

 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

in
q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 
 M

o
d
 0

4
2
 c

o
n
fl
ic

ts
 w

it
h
 M

o
d
 0

4
1
. 

R
e
m

o
v
e
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 o

r 
h
o
ld

 a
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

in
q
u
ir
y
 t
o
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
q
u
ir
e

m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
ts

 d
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
.

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h

a
t 
a

llo
c
a

te
d

 s
it
e

s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
, 
b
u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

d
o
u
b
ts

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

a
ll 

s
u
c
h
 

s
it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 
 T

h
e
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
k
e
 c

le
a
r 

th
a
t 
th

is
 

w
ill

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 

o
f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 

e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 c

o
n
fl
ic

t 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 0

4
1
 a

n
d
 0

4
2
. 
 T

h
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 
In

q
u
ir
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 

ra
is

e
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
e

s
s
rs

 M
J
, 
A

B
 &

 R
G

 G
ri
ff
it
h
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
o
s
t 
s
it
e
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
o
n
 

th
e
 b

a
s
is

 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
h
a
d
 

b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
a
rc

h
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

  
C

o
u
n
c
il 

n
o
w

 i
n
d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
1
2
1
5
2
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
c
o
m

e
 

fo
rw

a
rd

, 
c
o
n
tr

a
ry

 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r.
  
If
 a

 
s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

e
x
is

ts
 o

th
e
r 

la
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
-e

x
a
m

in
e
d
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 

a
t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
, 
H

o
lm

e
r,

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 

re
g
io

n
a
l 
ta

rg
e
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
in

 M
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
  
0
4
2
 (

1
2
,4

5
8
).

 
P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 u

n
le

s
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to

 r
e
je

c
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
is

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 

m
a
x
im

u
m

 o
f 
1
2
2
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 

re
-a

ff
ir
m

e
d
. 
 S

h
o
u
ld

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
in

ta
in

 i
ts

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 t
h

a
t 
n

o
t 
a

ll 
s
it
e
s
 a

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 s

ta
te

d
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g
 t
h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
re

 n
o
t 
v
a
lid

.

T
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
b
o
th

 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

a
s
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
b
a
te

 a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 h

is
 r

e
a
s
o
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
, 
in

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h

a
t 
a

llo
c
a

te
d

 s
it
e

s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
, 
b
u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

d
o
u
b
ts

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

a
ll 

s
u
c
h
 

s
it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 
 I
t 
is

 d
e
la

y
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
's

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
s
 t
h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

re
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

o
th

e
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 s

it
e

s
 s

u
g

g
e

s
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 m
a
k
e
 

c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

is
 w

ill
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
ra

is
e
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 n
o
t 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

G
 H

a
n
k
in

s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 3

285



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
o
s
t 
s
it
e
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
e
d
 f
o
r 

re
je

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
o
n
 

th
e
 b

a
s
is

 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 s

u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 

fo
r 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
a
s
 n

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
a
rc

h
 f
u
rt

h
e
r.

  
C

o
u
n
c
il 

n
o
w

 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
1
2
1
5
2
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 
c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
c
o
n
tr

a
ry

 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
s
it
io

n
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r.
  
If
 a

 s
h
o
rt

fa
ll 

e
x
is

ts
 o

th
e
r 

la
n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 r

e
-e

x
a
m

in
e
d
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
, 
H

o
lm

e
r,

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 
re

g
io

n
a
l 

ta
rg

e
t 
(1

2
,2

0
0
) 

a
n
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 f
ig

u
re

 (
1
2
,4

5
8
).

 P
u
b
lic

 
In

q
u
ir
y
 i
s
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 u

n
le

s
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to

 r
e
je

c
t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
is

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 

m
a
x
im

u
m

 o
f 
1
2
2
0
0
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
 

re
-a

ff
ir
m

e
d
. 
 S

h
o
u
ld

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
in

ta
in

 i
ts

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 t
h

a
t 
n

o
t 
a

ll 
s
it
e
s
 a

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 c

o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

, 
th

e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 s

ta
te

d
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
in

g
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

m
a
in

ta
in

in
g
 t
h
e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
re

 n
o
t 
v
a
lid

.

T
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
b
o
th

 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 w

a
s
 t
h
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
b
a
te

 a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 h

is
 r

e
a
s
o
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
s
, 
in

 
re

s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
, 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
re

fu
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

4
2
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
in

d
ic

a
te

 t
h

a
t 
a

llo
c
a

te
d

 s
it
e

s
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
, 
b
u
t 
ra

th
e
r 

d
o
u
b
ts

 w
h
e
th

e
r 

a
ll 

s
u
c
h
 

s
it
e
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
. 
 I
t 
is

 d
e
la

y
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
's

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
s
 t
h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
is

 
u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 r

e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 a

 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

re
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

o
th

e
r 

a
lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 s

it
e

s
 s

u
g

g
e

s
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 

re
a
s
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n

s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5

.1
4
/1

 m
a
k
e
 

c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

is
 w

ill
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
1
2
,2

0
0
 w

ill
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
, 
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
. 
 T

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
je

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

 b
y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

d
o
e
s
 n

o
t 
ra

is
e
 m

a
tt
e
rs

 n
o
t 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
.

W
O

 &
 O

E
 P

ri
c
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

P
le

a
s
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 

in
to

 t
h
e
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 n

o
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 h

a
d
 p

re
v
io

u
s
ly

 
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
a
lly

 w
it
h
d
ra

w
n
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B

ro
o
m

y
 H

ill
, 
la

n
d
 o

ff
 

Y
a
z
o
r 

R
d
, 
N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
W

h
it
e
c
ro

s
s
 a

n
d
 W

h
it
e
c
ro

s
s
 s

it
e
s
. 
 I
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

t 
M

e
rr

iv
a
le

 i
n
 R

o
s
s
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
w

o
rk

s
 a

re
 n

o
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
d
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 u

n
ti
l 
2
0
1
0
 a

n
d
 t
h
is

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 

in
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
in

 p
ro

d
u
c
in

g
 a

n
y
 f
u
tu

re
 L

D
F

 d
o
c
u
m

e
n
t.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

D
w

r 
C

y
m

ru
/W

e
ls

h
 W

a
te

r

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
4
7

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
  
a
n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 5

.4
.1

 t
o
 5

.4
.5

 a
n
d
 T

a
b
le

 2
 -

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 m

a
rk

e
t 
to

w
n
s
: 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 (

n
o
n
-s

it
e
 b

a
s
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
)

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 o

v
e
r 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
in

g
. 
T

h
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 

re
a
s
o
n
 w

h
y
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
c
o
m

e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

p
la

n
 p

e
ri
o
d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 p

le
n
ty

 o
f 

ti
m

e
 t
o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 s

u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
D

P
D

s
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 2

0
1
1
.

T
h
e
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
ig

u
re

s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 P

la
n
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
re

q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 i
n
 t
h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
, 
th

e
 

p
ro

x
im

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 p

e
ri
o
d
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
t 
th

a
t 
s
e
v
e
ra

l 
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 

s
it
e

s
 h

a
v
e

 y
e
t 
to

 c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

. 
It

 i
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 m

e
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 v

a
ri
o
u
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
s
. 
T

h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
A

s
s
e
m

b
ly

 h
a
v
e
 c

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

, 
a
s
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
, 
is

 i
n
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
c
o
n
fo

rm
it
y
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 R

e
g
io

n
a
l 
S

p
a
ti
a
l 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
5
6

2
8
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.1

3
 (

d
e
le

te
d
) 

- 
H

e
re

fo
rd

 -
 A

llo
c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 L
a
n
d
 a

t 
H

o
lm

e
r

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 4

286



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

F
u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 w

o
rk

s
 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
ra

ff
ic

 l
ig

h
ts

. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

A
4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 

L
a
n
e
.P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
/c

y
c
le

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 

R
o
a
d
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 B

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 B

ri
d
g
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 

R
e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

it
h
 t
ra

ff
ic

 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
tr

e
e
t 
lig

h
ti
n
g
. 
 P

ro
v
id

e
 a

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t

h
e
 e

a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 

a
lo

n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 J
u

d
y
 A

lle
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
.T

ra
ff
ic

 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 a

ll 
th

re
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
s
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 t

h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
s
 t
o
 e

a
s
e
 

tr
a
ff
ic

 f
lo

w
s
. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
c
a

l 
ro

a
d

 j
u

n
c
ti
o

n
s
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

J
 E

 A
rn

o
ld

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
.C

o
n
c
e
rn

 f
o
r 

s
a
fe

ty
 a

t 
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

re
a
. 
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
/b

ri
d
g
e
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 

R
o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
 R

e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

it
h
 t
ra

ff
ic

 r
e
s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

s
a
fe

 c
ro

s
s
in

g
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 R

 G
 B

e
v
e
ri
d

g
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 r

o
a
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 L

y
d
e
 C

ro
s
s
 

a
n
d
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

n
d
 c

a
u
s
e
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 a

t 
th

e
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
. 
 A

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 a

re
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 b

u
t 
th

e
 

in
s
ta

lla
ti
o

n
 o

f 
tr

a
ff

ic
 l
ig

h
ts

 w
o

u
ld

 o
n
ly

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 f
lo

w
s
. 
 

T
h
e
re

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 e
s
ta

te
 o

n
 t
o
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 

R
o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
s
. 
Z

e
n
a

 B
o

rt
h

w
ic

k

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 t
h
is

 s
it
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
 i
n
 a

n
 

u
n
d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 w

a
y
. 
 T

h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

 l
a
c
k
 o

f 
p
u
b
lic

 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 o

n
s
e
t.
  
T

h
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
ro

a
d
 i
n
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 w

ill
 

n
o
t 
c
o
p
e
 w

it
h
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
tr

a
ff
ic

. 
 F

u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 

ju
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 i
n
 t
h
e
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 a

re
a
 a

s
 

w
e
ll 

a
s
 n

o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

T
h
e
 P

la
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 

R
e
g
u
la

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
p
u
b
lic

it
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 a
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 

fu
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 p

ro
b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 

D
e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 

lo
c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

re
 m

o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 D
a
v
id

 B
o

rt
h

w
ic

k

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 5

287



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
n
 t
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

a
re

a
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o

 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

. 
 M

a
k
e

 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
  
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 D
 B

ri
m

fi
e
ld

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 t
h
is

 s
it
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
 i
n
 a

n
 

u
n
d
e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 w

a
y
. 
 T

ra
ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 C

o
n
c
e
rn

 a
b
o
u
t 
th

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
ra

ff
ic

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

A
4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.

T
h
e
 P

la
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 

R
e
g
u
la

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
p
u
b
lic

it
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 a
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
T

h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 

fu
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 p

ro
b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 

D
e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 

lo
c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

re
 m

o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 F
 J

 B
ro

o
k
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 s
u
rv

e
y
s
 a

re
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 a

lo
n
g
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 r
o
u
te

s
 c

lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
. 
T

ra
ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
.M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 

a
 

p
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 

C
o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 b

ri
d
g
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
N

o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
a
 b

y
p
a
s
s
.R

e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
th

e
 a

re
a
.S

u
rf

a
c
e
 

w
a
te

r 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 c

lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 o

n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 H
 E

 C
a
n
tr

ill

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 L

y
d
e
 a

n
d
 

M
u
n
s
to

n
e
. 
P

ro
v
id

e
 a

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 

e
a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

lo
n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 r

e
ta

in
 

th
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

&
 M

rs
 M

 G
ra

v
e
r

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 e

a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 
o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

lo
n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
.M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 

A
tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.P

ro
v
is

io
n
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
/c

y
c
le

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

t 
th

e
 

C
o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 B

ri
d
g
e
.M

a
k
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 

ro
a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
.T

ra
ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 

R
o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 J

H
 a

n
d
 B

V
 

H
a

rt
la

n
d

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 6

288



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 o

v
e
r 

th
e

 r
a

ilw
a
y
 b

ri
d

g
e

 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 
to

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 F

u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 

th
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
n
s
te

a
d
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

s
 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

in
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 d

is
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 t
o
 a

n
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 

L
y
d
e
 a

n
d
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
. 
 P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

th
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 B

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 B

ri
d
g
e
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
C

o
n
c
e
rn

 a
b
o
u
t 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
p
ti
c
 t
a
n
k
 d

is
c
h
a
rg

e
s
, 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t

o
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 s
e
w

e
r 

to
 a

v
o
id

 
p
o
llu

ti
o
n
. 
 R

e
s
tr

ic
t 
s
tr

e
e
t 
lig

h
ti
n
g
 a

lo
n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 
re

ta
in

 t
h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r.
P

ro
v
id

e
 a

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 e

a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 a

lo
n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 D
o
ri
s
 &

 R
o
b

e
rt

 H
o
lla

n
d

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

F
u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 

R
o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
n
s
te

a
d
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 w

o
rk

s
 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 

to
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

W
a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 

B
ri
d
g
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
R

e
ta

in
 t

h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 

R
o
a
d
 w

it
h
 t
ra

ff
ic

 a
n
d
 s

tr
e
e
t 
lig

h
ti
n
g
 r

e
s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
.P

ro
v
id

e
 a

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t

h
e
 e

a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 

a
lo

n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

a
n

d
 M

rs
 I
a
n

 H
a
g
u

e
 a

n
d
 

J
a
n

e
 T

h
o

m
p

s
o
n

-H
a
g
u
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
e
m

o
v
in

g
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 l
ig

h
ts

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 w

ill
 f
re

e
 u

p
 

tr
a
ff
ic

 t
o
 a

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 f
lo

w
 m

a
k
in

g
 i
t 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 e

n
te

r 
a
n
d
 e

x
it
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 o

n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

M
a
lc

o
lm

 K
e
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

M
e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 K
 M

a
tt
h
e
w

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

A
 r

o
u
n
d
a
b
o
u
t 
a
t 
th

e
 C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
/R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

.R
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 s

p
e
e
d
 l
im

it
 a

lo
n
g
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 3

0
 

m
ile

s
 p

e
r 

h
o
u
r.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

 V
 A

 P
u
g
h

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 7

289



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
n
c
e
rn

 a
b
o
u
t 
th

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
ra

ff
ic

 a
lo

n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
,

a
n
d
 A

4
9
.C

o
n
c
e
rn

 f
o
r 

th
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 t
ra

ff
ic

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 a

t 
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
rs

 P
 R

ic
h
a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 e

s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 

a
lo

n
g
 n

a
rr

o
w

 l
a
n
e
s
 a

n
d
 v

a
ri
o
u
s
 j
u

n
c
ti
o

n
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 v

ic
in

it
y
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

P
a

u
l 
R

ic
h
a
rd

s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

C
o
n
c
e
rn

 a
b
o
u
t 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
p
ti
c
 t
a
n
k
 d

is
c
h
a
rg

e
s
, 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t
o
 t

h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 s
e
w

e
r 

to
 a

v
o
id

 
p
o
llu

ti
o
n
. 
 T

ra
ff
ic

 m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 

tr
a
ff
ic

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 o

n
 n

e
a
rb

y
 m

in
o
r 

ro
a
d
s
 a

n
d
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
. 
 

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
g
a
lit

y
 o

f 
th

e
 w

a
y
 t
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
 w

a
s
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 

a
t 
th

e
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

s
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 h

a
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
le

te
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 P

la
n
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

A
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
, 
H

A
D

R
A

 w
e
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 s

in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

H
o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
 h

a
d
 b

e
e
n
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
4
, 

a
n
d
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 w

ri
tt
e
n
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

. 
 C

re
s
t 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 L

td
 w

e
re

 o
b
je

c
to

rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
v
is

e
d
 

D
e
p
o
s
it
 U

D
P

 a
n
d
 c

o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 h

a
d
 t
h
e
 r

ig
h
t 
to

 a
p
p
e
a
r 

a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 

s
u
b
m

it
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 i
t.
  
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 
is

 c
le

a
r 

in
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.1
5
 o

f 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

rs
 R

e
p
o
rt

 t
h
a
t 
h
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

ll 
re

p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

s
it
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 R

e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 a

n
d
 a

ll 
is

s
u
e
s
 

a
re

 c
o
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 h

is
 R

e
p
o
rt

.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

C
llr

. 
M

rs
. 

S
a
lly

 R
o

b
e
rt

s
o

n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

O
b
je

c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w

a
y
 i
n
 w

h
ic

h
 t
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

a
n
d
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 s

it
e
s
 

w
e
re

 d
e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

t 
th

e
 v

a
ri
o
u
s
 P

la
n
 s

ta
g
e
s
 a

s
 t
h
e
 w

is
h
e
s
 o

f 
th

e
 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

p
p
e
a
r 

to
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
g
n
o
re

d
. 
 T

ra
ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 a

n
d
 s

u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 a

re
a
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 

F
u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 r

o
a
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d

 j
u

n
c
ti
o

n
s
. 
P

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 t
o

 
w

id
e
n
 t
h
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

t 
th

e
 B

ri
d
g
e
 I
n
n
 a

n
d
 a

t 
R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 

a
n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 A

tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.

T
h
e
 P

la
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 

R
e
g
u
la

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
p
u
b
lic

it
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 a
 P

u
b
lic

 I
n
q
u
ir
y
.T

h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 
e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e

rr
id

in
g
 p

ro
b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 

D
e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 
tr

a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 

lo
c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

re
 m

o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

P
M

 S
tu

b
b
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 T

h
e
re

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 n
e
w

 r
iv

e
r 

c
ro

s
s
in

g
 c

o
n
n
e
c
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w

e
s
t 
o
f 
R

o
m

a
n
 

R
o
a
d
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

A
 P

 T
h
o
m

a
s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 8

290



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 s
u
rv

e
y
 o

f 
2
0
0
3
 i
s
 o

u
t 
o
f 
d
a
te

 a
s
 t
h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

n
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
tr

a
ff
ic

 s
in

c
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 
w

e
re

 m
a
d
e
. 
 F

u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 

to
 w

id
e
n
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

s
 t
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

R
o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
. 
 M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 
tr

a
ff
ic

 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 

A
tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
is

s
 K

 P
 U

ri
d
g
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r 
o
f 
M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

it
h
 t
ra

ff
ic

 
re

s
tr

ic
ti
o
n
s
. 
 F

u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

u
t 

to
w

a
rd

s
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 R

e
lie

f 
R

o
a
d
. 
 C

o
n
c
e
rn

 f
o
r 

th
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

tr
a
ff
ic

 p
ro

b
le

m
s
 a

t 
a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
.T

h
e
re

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
 a

lt
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t

h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
.

T
h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u

a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 

tr
a
ff
ic

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
is

s
u
e
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 

a
re

 m
o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

A
 N

 W
e
s
t

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

Q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
g
a
lit

y
 o

f 
th

e
 w

a
y
 t
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
 w

a
s
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 

a
t 
th

e
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

s
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 h

a
d
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 b

e
e
n
 d

e
le

te
d
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

P
la

n
. 
 O

b
je

c
t 
to

 t
h
e
 p

o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
a
 t
w

o
 w

a
y
 t
ra

ff
ic

 s
y
s
te

m
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

A
4
1
0
3
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 c

ro
s
s
in

g
. 
 T

ra
ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
n
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 
to

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
. 
 F

u
n
d
s
 f
ro

m
 n

e
w

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 t
o
 

th
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 b

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 i
n
s
te

a
d
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

s
 t
o
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
ro

a
d
 j
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 
M

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 r

e
s
tr

ic
t 

tr
a
ff
ic

 a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 A

4
9
 a

n
d
 A

4
1
0
3
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 C

h
u
rc

h
 W

a
y
 a

n
d
 

A
tt
w

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e
P

ro
v
is

io
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 f
o
r 

a
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 R

o
m

a
n
 R

o
a
d
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 B

ri
d
g
e
 a

n
d
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 a

 
c
y
c
le

/p
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

 a
c
c
e

s
s
 o

n
 C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 B

ri
d
g
e
. 
P

ro
v
id

e
 a

 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 g

re
e
n
 c

o
rr

id
o
r 

a
lo

n
g
 t
h
e
 E

a
s
te

rn
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 

s
it
e
. 
R

e
s
tr

ic
t 
s
tr

e
e
t 
lig

h
ti
n
g
 a

lo
n
g
 M

u
n
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 r
e
ta

in
 

th
e
 r

u
ra

l 
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r.
  
C

o
n
c
e
rn

 a
b
o
u
t 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
p
ti
c
 t
a
n
k
 

d
is

c
h
a
rg

e
s
. 
 E

x
is

ti
n
g
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 
s
e
w

e
r 

to
 a

v
o
id

 p
o
llu

ti
o
n
.

A
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
, 
H

A
D

R
A

 w
e
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 P

la
n
 s

in
c
e
 t
h
e
 

H
o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
 h

a
d
 b

e
e
n
 r

e
m

o
v
e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
4
, 

a
n
d
 s

u
b
m

it
te

d
 w

ri
tt
e
n
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

. 
 C

re
s
t 
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 L

td
 w

e
re

 o
b
je

c
to

rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
v
is

e
d
 

D
e
p
o
s
it
 U

D
P

 a
n
d
 c

o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
tl
y
 h

a
d
 t
h
e
 r

ig
h
t 
to

 a
p
p
e
a
r 

a
t 
th

e
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
 a

n
d
 

s
u
b
m

it
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
o
 i
t.
  
H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
t 
is

 c
le

a
r 

in
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.1
5
 o

f 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

rs
 R

e
p
o
rt

 t
h
a
t 
h
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

ll 
re

p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

s
it
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
o
s
e
 i
n
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 R

e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 a

n
d
 a

ll 
is

s
u
e
s
 

a
re

 c
o
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 h

is
 R

e
p
o
rt

. 
 T

h
e
 t
ra

ff
ic

 i
m

p
a
c
t 
w

a
s
 f
u
lly

 e
x
a
m

in
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
n
d
 n

o
 o

v
e
rr

id
in

g
 p

ro
b
le

m
 w

a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
 D

e
ta

ile
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

re
g
a
rd

in
g
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
l 
ju

n
c
ti
o

n
s
, 
tr

a
ff

ic
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
is

s
u

e
s
, 
lo

c
a

l 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 s

e
w

e
ra

g
e
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

re
 m

o
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

ly
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
o

lm
e

r 
&

 D
is

tr
ic

t 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 
A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

M
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
r 

W
.H

.D
. 
H

a
rt

la
n
d

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

T
h
e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
 i
s
 p

re
fe

rr
e
d
 t
o
 B

u
lli

n
g
h
o
p
e
 a

n
d
 c

a
n
 d

e
liv

e
r 

ro
a
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

.
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 9

291



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

C
re

s
t 
fu

lly
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 t
o
 r

e
in

s
ta

te
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
H

o
lm

e
r 

fo
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
p
u
rp

o
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

d
ju

s
t 
th

e
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

C
re

s
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
ro

je
c
ts

 L
T

D

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

T
h
e
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

u
n
re

s
e
rv

e
d
ly

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

c
o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 a

s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 H

o
lm

e
r 

s
it
e
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

H
e

re
fo

rd
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

W
e
lc

o
m

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
3
5
%

 a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
H

o
lm

e
r 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

  
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 a

n
 e

le
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 

a
n
d
 a

 m
ix

 o
f 
d
w

e
lli

n
g
 u

n
it
s
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

S
L
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
s
o

rt
iu

m

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
5
9

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 5

.4
.1

7
 t
o
 5

.4
.1

8
 -

 L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
- 

A
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 B
a
ro

n
s
 C

ro
s
s
 C

a
m

p

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

d
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a

t 
B

a
ro

n
's

 C
ro

s
s
 C

a
m

p
 t
o
 4

2
5
 d

w
e
lli

n
g
s
, 
c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t 

w
it
h
 P

P
G

3
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
e
n
t 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

T
a

y
lo

r 
W

o
o
d
ro

w
 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 L
T

D

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
6
0

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 5

.4
.1

7
 t
o
 5

.4
.1

8
 -

 L
e
o
m

in
s
te

r 
- 

A
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 B
a
ro

n
s
 C

ro
s
s
 C

a
m

p

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 d
e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
"n

u
rs

e
ry

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
" 

fr
o
m

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

5
.4

.1
8
 r

e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
O

c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

T
a

y
lo

r 
W

o
o
d
ro

w
 

D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 L
T

D

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
6
1

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.2

2
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 A
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 T
a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 2

0
0
5
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
b
ri
e
f.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
6
2

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.2

2
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 A
llo

c
a
te

d
 s

it
e
s
 -

 T
a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 r

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
w

o
rd

in
g
 w

it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 

b
ri
n
g
in

g
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 t
h
e
 T

a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 s

it
e
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
6
3

2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.2

2
 -

 L
a
n
d
 a

t 
T

a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

0

292



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

a
rk

 r
e
m

a
in

s
 i
n
 p

a
ra

 5
.4

.2
2
. 
 

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
m

a
k
e
s
 c

le
a
r 

in
 6

.1
0
.3

1
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 i
s
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 

c
o
n
fu

s
io

n
 o

v
e
r 

w
h
ic

h
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

s
 c

o
v
e

r 
w

h
ic

h
 s

it
e

 i
n

 r
e

s
p

e
c
t 
o

f 
th

e
 O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
s
it
e
 a

n
d
 T

a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
. 
 

N
o
 o

ff
 s

it
e
 p

e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
/c

y
c
lin

g
 w

o
rk

s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
T

a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 "
a
n
d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

a
rk

" 
s
h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 d

e
le

te
d
 f
ro

m
 5

.4
.2

2
. 
 A

ls
o
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 u

s
e
 o

f 
S

e
c
ti
o
n
 1

0
6
 o

r 
2
7
8
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
e
x
t 
o
f 
5
.4

.2
2
 a

s
 

d
e
ta

ile
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

 a
t 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.2
3
.1

2
.

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 d

e
a
lin

g
 w

it
h
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 a
n
d
 

T
a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
d
e
a
l 
w

it
h
 a

s
p
e
c
ts

 o
f 
b
o
th

 s
it
e
s
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 h
is

 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 6

.1
0
/2

 (
w

h
ic

h
 w

a
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 1

0
4
) 

o
n
ly

 p
a
rt

ia
lly

 s
u
c
c
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
in

g
 t
h
is

, 
a
n
d
 a

 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

a
rk

 r
e
m

a
in

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
u
rt

h
 s

e
n
te

n
c
e
 o

f 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.2

2
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 n

o
w

 a
n
 o

u
td

a
te

d
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
. 
 I
ts

 r
e
m

o
v
a
l 
is

 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

 m
in

o
r,

 c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
 

o
f 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 6

.1
0
/2

 a
n
d
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 a

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 u

n
d
e
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 2

1
9
. 
 W

it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
S

e
c
ti
o
n
 1

0
6
 o

r 
2
7
8
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

 t
h
is

 i
s
s
u
e
 w

a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.2
3
.1

2
. 
 H

e
 m

a
d
e
 n

o
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 t
h
e
 

in
c
lu

s
io

n
 o

f 
a
n
y
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
. 
 S

u
c
h
 a

 r
e
fe

re
n
c
e
 i
s
 

n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

.

D
e
le

te
 t
h
e
 w

o
rd

s
 "

a
n
d
 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

a
rk

" 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 

fo
u
rt

h
 s

e
n
te

n
c
e
 o

f 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

5
.4

.2
2
 (

a
s
 a

 m
in

o
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 

c
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
ti
a
l 
u
p
o
n
 t
h
e
 

a
c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

6
.1

0
/2

 a
n
d
 w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 n

o
t 

m
a
te

ri
a
lly

 a
ff
e
c
t 
th

e
 P

la
n
).

  
N

o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 "

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
" 

in
s
te

a
d
 o

f 
"c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
m

e
n
t"

 a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d

e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
"a

n
d
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

p
a
rk

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l"

 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.2

2
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
7
7

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.5

9
 -

 M
a
in

 v
ill

a
g
e
s
, 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 L
a
n
d
 o

ff
 A

u
b
e
rr

o
w

 R
o
a
d
, 

W
e

lli
n

g
to

n

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

 c
h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
 

a
re

a
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
r 

P
e

te
r 

M
c
K

a
y

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
7
8

2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.5

9
 -

 M
a
in

 v
ill

a
g
e
s
, 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 L
a
n
d
 o

ff
 A

u
b
e
rr

o
w

 R
o
a
d
, 

W
e

lli
n

g
to

n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
ru

s
t 
o
f 
m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

u
t 
w

o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 t
o
 s

e
e
 w

o
rd

s
 f
ro

m
 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

7
9
, 
n
a
m

e
ly

 "
o
r 

o
n
 s

u
c
h
 o

th
e
r 

s
it
e
 a

s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

in
 s

u
b
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
" 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
. 
N

o
te

s
 a

ls
o
 t
h
a
t 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

7
8
 a

p
p
lie

s
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 F

a
rm

 n
o
t 
A

u
b
e
rr

o
w

 
R

o
a
d
 a

s
 s

ta
te

d
 i
n
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t.

It
 i
s
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

7
8
 r

e
fe

rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

h
u
rc

h
 F

a
rm

 s
it
e
, 
th

e
 

re
fe

re
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 m

a
n
n
e
r 

w
h
ic

h
 t
h
e
  

is
s
u

e
 i
s
 c

o
n

s
id

e
re

d
 i
n

 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 R

e
p
o
rt

. 
 T

h
e
 r

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fa

c
ili

ti
e
s
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 b

y
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 0

7
8
 a

re
 r

e
la

te
d
 t
o

 t
h
e
 C

h
u
rc

h
 F

a
rm

 s
it
e
. 
 I
t 
 i
s
 

th
e
re

fo
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 t
h
is

 
fa

c
ili

ty
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 e

ls
e
w

h
e
re

 i
n
 t
h
e
 v

ill
a
g
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r 

P
e

te
r 

M
c
K

a
y

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

 c
h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
 

a
re

a
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

lli
n

g
to

n
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 P

a
ri
s
h
 P

la
n
 

S
te

e
ri
n
g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
7
9

2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 5

.4
.5

9
a
 -

 M
a
in

 v
ill

a
g
e
s
, 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 L
a
n
d
 o

ff
 A

u
b
e
rr

o
w

 R
o
a
d
, 

W
e

lli
n

g
to

n

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

1

293



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
r 

P
e

te
r 

M
c
K

a
y

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

 c
h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
 

a
re

a
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

lli
n

g
to

n
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 P

a
ri
s
h
 P

la
n
 

S
te

e
ri
n
g
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
9
6

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

1
9
 -

 O
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 W

e
lli

n
g
to

n
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

 c
h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
 

a
re

a
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
r 

P
e

te
r 

M
c
K

a
y

M
o
d
 N

o
:

0
9
8

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 6

.3
.5

 -
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 
p
o
lic

y
.

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

W
e
lc

o
m

e
 i
n
s
e
rt

io
n
 o

f 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
8
0
%

 h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 e

a
c
h
 

h
e
c
ta

re
 o

f 
la

n
d
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
e

s
t 
M

id
la

n
d
s
 R

S
L
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 

C
o

n
s
o

rt
iu

m

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
0
3

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 E

4
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 6

.4
.2

8
 t
o
 6

.4
.2

9
 -

 N
e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 O
v
e
rr

o
s
s
 

a
n
d
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

T
h
e
 b

u
ff
e
r 

is
 n

o
t 
re

q
u
ir
e
d
 i
f 
la

n
d
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
 i
s
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 

p
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

. 
 I
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

e
le

te
d
 u

n
le

s
s
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 

is
 a

llo
c
a
te

d
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
 a

t 
O

v
e
rr

o
s
s
.

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
m

a
in

s
 o

f 
th

e
 o

p
in

io
n
 t
h
a
t 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 i
s
 t
h
e
 m

o
s
t 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

a
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 r

e
je

c
te

d
 t
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 6

.1
0
/1

. 
 T

h
e
re

 r
e
m

a
in

s
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 r

e
ta

in
 t
h
e
 

la
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w

e
s
t 
o
f 
M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 a
s
 a

 b
u
ff
e
r 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

u
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

M
r.

 L
 C

o
s
k
e
r

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
0
4

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 E

4
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 6

.4
.2

8
 t
o
 6

.4
.2

9
 -

 N
e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 R
o
s
s
-o

n
-W

y
e
 -

 O
v
e
rr

o
s
s
 

a
n
d
 M

o
d
e
l 
F

a
rm

 s
it
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 g

iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d

e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 T

a
n
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 e

lim
in

a
te

 c
o
n
fu

s
io

n
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 e
x
p
e
c
te

d
 

fr
o
m

 e
a
c
h
 s

it
e
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

P
e
rs

im
m

o
n
 H

o
m

e
s
 S

o
u
th

 
M

id
la

n
d
s

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
0
5

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 E

4
 -

 N
e
w

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 H
e
re

fo
rd

 -
 w

e
s
t 
o
f 
B

e
e
c
h
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

a
rk

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

2

294



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 e
x
te

n
s
io

n
 o

f 
s
e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 w
h
ic

h
 w

ill
 a

llo
w

 l
o
c
a
l 

fi
rm

s
 t
o
 m

a
in

ta
in

 a
 p

re
s
e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
a
 

re
lo

c
a
te

d
 l
iv

e
s
to

c
k
 m

a
rk

e
t

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
4
9

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 T

1
0
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 8

.8
.1

1
 t
o
 8

.8
.1

2
 -

 S
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 r

o
a
d
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 -

 O
u
te

r 
re

lie
f 
ro

a
d
 /
 R

o
th

e
rw

a
s
 

A
c
c
e

s
s
 R

o
a

d

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

C
o
n
te

n
t 
th

a
t 
th

e
 o

n
ly

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 t
h
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 

a
lig

n
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 r

o
a
d

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s
 A

g
e
n
c
y

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
5
8

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.1

 t
o
 9

.4
.4

 -
 L

a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

B
ri
n
g
s
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
te

x
t 
o
f 
p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 9

.4
.1

 u
p
 t
o
 d

a
te

 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
u
id

a
n
c
e
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
y
e

 V
a

lle
y
 A

O
N

B

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
6
0

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 L

A
1
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.5

 t
o
 9

.4
.7

 -
 A

re
a
s
 o

f 
O

u
ts

ta
n
d
in

g
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
B

e
a
u
ty

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

M
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 m

a
k
e
s
 p

o
lic

y
 L

A
1
 c

le
a
re

r 
in

 t
e
rm

s
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 t
o
 

"e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
" 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 A
O

N
B

's
 a

n
d
 m

o
re

 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
y
e

 V
a

lle
y
 A

O
N

B

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
6
1

2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 L

A
2
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.8

 t
o
 9

.4
.1

6
 -

 L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

r 
a
n
d
 a

re
a
s
 l
e
a
s
t 
re

s
ili

e
n
t 
to

 c
h
a
n
g
e

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

R
e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 e

x
c
lu

d
e
 t
h
e
 M

a
d
le

y
 

S
a
te

lli
te

 E
a
rt

h
 S

ta
ti
o
n
 s

it
e
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 L

A
2
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
s
, 
w

h
ile

 t
h
e
re

 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

h
a
n
g
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A

re
a
s
 L

e
a
s
t 
R

e
s
ili

e
n
t 
to

 C
h
a
n
g
e
 t
h
e
 

p
o
lic

y
 w

o
rd

in
g
 w

o
u
ld

 s
ti
ll 

a
p
p
ly

 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
ly

 t
o
 t
h
e
 s

it
e
. 
 T

h
e
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 w

o
u
ld

 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 a

 p
re

s
u
m

p
ti
o
n
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 e

x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
b
y
 B

T
 c

o
u
ld

 c
re

a
te

 a
 m

o
re

 n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 p

o
lic

y
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
. 
 T

h
e
re

 a
 s

im
ila

ri
ti
e
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
is

 s
it
e
 a

n
d
 S

ti
rl
in

g
 

L
in

e
s
 a

t 
C

re
d
e
n
h
ill

. 
 T

h
e
 s

it
e
 i
s
 o

f 
N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
Im

p
o
rt

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

ty
p
ic

a
l 
o
f 
th

e
 s

u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 t
y
p
e
s
. 
 A

n
y
 

e
x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 c

a
p
a
b
le

 o
f 
o
u
tw

e
ig

h
in

g
 t
h
is

 
p
o
lic

y
, 
b
u
t 
p
o
lic

y
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
a
c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
to

 
d
a
te

 o
r 

a
llo

w
 s

c
o
p
e
 t
o
 o

v
e
rc

o
m

e
 a

 p
o
lic

y
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
o
u
t 

re
ly

in
g
 o

n
 m

a
te

ri
a
l 
c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
. 
 U

D
P

 p
o
lic

y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 a

 
p
re

s
u
m

p
ti
o
n
 i
n
 f
a
v
o
u
r 

o
f 
fu

rt
h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
ri
te

ri
a
.

A
t 
th

e
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 s

ta
g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 U

D
P

 p
ro

c
e
s
s
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 w

e
re

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 o

n
 

b
e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
B

T
 p

lc
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
p
o
lic

y
 L

A
2
 c

o
u
ld

 p
ro

h
ib

it
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 o

r 
e
x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 s

u
g
g
e
s
ti
n
g
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

th
a
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

y
. 
 T

h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

 p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 9

.4
.4

 
re

c
o
g
n
is

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 m

a
d
e
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 t
h
e
 r

e
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 o

f 
"a

ty
p
ic

a
l"

 a
re

a
s
. 
 H

is
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 s

u
c
h
 o

b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 t
h
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 d

e
le

te
 t
h
e
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 t
o
 A

re
a
s
 L

e
a
s
t 
R

e
s
ili

e
n
t 
to

 
C

h
a
n
g
e
 (

9
.4

/1
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
is

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

  
T

h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
, 

m
a
k
e
s
 i
t 
c
le

a
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 i
n
te

n
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th

e
 p

o
lic

y
 i
s
 n

o
t 
to

 p
re

v
e
n
t 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 

c
ri
te

ri
a
 a

re
 n

o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
o
 b

e
 u

n
d
u
ly

 r
e

s
tr

ic
ti
v
e

. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e

r,
 i
t 
is

 e
n

ti
re

ly
 

re
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 i
s
s
u
e
 o

f 
la

n
d

s
c
a
p
e
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

r 
is

 a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 w

h
e
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 a
re

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

S
a

v
ill

s

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

3

295



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
. 
 T

h
e
 w

ri
tt

e
n

 p
o

lic
y
 p

ro
v
id

e
s
 s

u
ff

ic
ie

n
t 

c
la

ri
ty

 w
it
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 s
p
e
c
if
ic

 a
re

a
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 m
a
p
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

C
h

u
rc

h
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

E
n
g
la

n
d

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
6
4

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 L

A
5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.2

1
 t
o
 9

.4
.2

2
 -

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
tr

e
e
s
, 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 a

n
d
 h

e
d
g
e
ro

w
s

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 d
e
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 w

o
rd

s
 "

a
n
d
 o

n
ly

 p
e
rm

it
te

d
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
is

 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 i
n
te

re
s
t"

 b
u
t 
s
u
g
g
e
s
t 
a
b
s
o
lu

te
 

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

a
n
c
ie

n
t 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 a

n
c
ie

n
t 
tr

e
e
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 a

m
e
n
d
in

g
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

th
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 s

e
n
te

n
c
e
 o

f 
c
ri
te

ri
o
n
 

2
 t
o
 r

e
a
d
 "

In
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r,
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 t
re

e
s
 a

n
d
 

A
n
c
ie

n
t 
a
n
d
 S

e
m

i-
N

a
tu

ra
l 
W

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
fu

s
e
d
".

  
T

h
e
s
e
 

e
c
o
-s

y
s
te

m
s
 c

a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 r

e
-c

re
a
te

d
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 n

o
 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

lo
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 f
in

it
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
. 
 I
t 
is

 e
s
s
e

n
ti
a

l 
th

a
t 
th

is
 h

a
b

it
a

t 
is

 p
ro

te
c
te

d
 a

b
s
o
lu

te
ly

 f
ro

m
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.

T
h
e
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
in

 h
is

 c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
ri
g
in

a
l 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 t
h
e
 W

o
o
d
la

n
d
 

T
ru

s
t 
a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
b
s
o
lu

te
 p

ro
te

c
ti
o
n
 o

r 
a
n
c
ie

n
t 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 

a
n
c
ie

n
t 
tr

e
e
s
. 
 H

e
 d

id
 n

o
t 
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
a
t 
th

e
 p

o
lic

y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 e

x
p
lic

it
 i
n
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
re

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p

o
lic

y
 (

p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 9

.1
8
).

  
T

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
 t
h

is
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a

n
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
a
ls

o
 a

c
c
e
p
ts

, 
in

 t
h
e
 

s
a
m

e
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
, 
th

a
t 
th

e
re

 w
ill

 a
lw

a
y
s
 b

e
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 p

o
lic

y
. 
 T

h
e
re

fo
re

, 
th

e
 p

o
lic

y
, 
a
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 m

o
d
if
ie

d
, 
is

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

d
e
q
u
a
te

 
p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

a
n
c
ie

n
t 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 a

n
c
ie

n
t 
tr

e
e
s
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

W
o

o
d
la

n
d

 T
ru

s
t

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
6
5

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 L

A
5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.2

1
 t
o
 9

.4
.2

2
 -

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
tr

e
e
s
, 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 a

n
d
 h

e
d
g
e
ro

w
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
"A

n
c
ie

n
t 
S

e
m

i-
N

a
tu

ra
l 
W

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
" 

w
it
h
 

"A
n
c
ie

n
t 
a
n
d
 S

e
m

i-
N

a
tu

ra
l 
W

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
"

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
o

o
d
la

n
d

 T
ru

s
t

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
6
6

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 L

A
5
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 9

.4
.2

1
 t
o
 9

.4
.2

2
 -

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
tr

e
e
s
, 
w

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 a

n
d
 h

e
d
g
e
ro

w
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 t
e
x
t 
re

fe
rr

in
g
 t
o
 r

e
s
to

ra
ti
o
n
 o

f 
A

n
c
ie

n
t 
W

o
o
d
la

n
d
 

s
it
e
s
 w

h
e
re

 p
la

n
ta

ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 o

c
c
u
rr

e
d
 (

P
A

W
S

).
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

W
o

o
d
la

n
d

 T
ru

s
t

M
o
d
 N

o
:

1
7
6

2
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 H

B
A

9
 -

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
p
e
n
 a

re
a
s
 a

n
d
 g

re
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
s
 -

 A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
a
re

a
 -

 C
ra

d
le

y
 -

 L
a
n
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 S

t 
K

a
th

e
ri
n
e
s
 a

n
d
 H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

In
 p

ro
d
u
c
in

g
 V

D
S

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
la

n
d
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 S

t 
K

a
th

e
ri
n
e
s
 a

n
d
 H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 

fr
o
m

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
  
T

h
is

 v
ie

w
 w

a
s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

a
t 

re
v
is

e
d
 d

e
p
o
s
it
 s

ta
g
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 H

B
A

9
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
.

In
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
g
n
o
re

s
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 v

ie
w

s
 a

n
d
 

s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
b
e
 a

c
c
e
p
te

d
.

In
 m

a
k
in

g
 h

is
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
le

a
rl
y
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
 v

ie
w

s
 

o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 v

ill
a
g
e
 d

e
s
ig

n
 s

ta
te

m
e
n
t.
  
T

h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
le

a
rl
y
 c

o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 H

B
A

9
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 n

o
t 
a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
fo

r 
th

is
 s

it
e
.

N
o
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
is

 
o
b
je

c
ti
o
n
.

H
O

S
A

G

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

4

296



N
A

M
E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 O

F
 O

B
J
E

C
T

IO
N

/S
U

P
P

O
R

T
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

E
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 1

7
6
 a

n
d
 m

a
p
 P

M
1
9
. 
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
d
, 
h
a
v
in

g
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
 m

e
ri
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 v

is
-a

-v
is

 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 p

o
lic

y
, 
th

a
t 
th

e
 s

it
e
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
w

a
rr

a
n
t 

p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 p

o
lic

y
 H

B
A

9
.

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
r 

 A
n
s
o
n

M
o
d
 N

o
:

2
0
0

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
o
lic

y
 C

F
3
 a

n
d
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
s
 1

3
.4

.8
 t
o
 1

3
.4

.1
2
 -

 T
e
le

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 m
o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 1

3
.4

.1
2

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

M
o

b
ile

 O
p
e
ra

to
rs

 A
s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o
n
 

(M
O

A
)

M
o
d
 N

o
:

2
0
3

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 n

e
w

 p
o
lic

y
 -

 N
e
w

 p
ri
s
o
n

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 f
ro

m

S
u
p
p
o
rt

s
 m

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 2

0
3
 w

h
ic

h
 a

c
c
o
rd

s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to

r'
s
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 1

3
.1

0
/1

.
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
te

d
.

T
h
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 b

e
 

n
o
te

d
.

N
a

ti
o
n

a
l 
O

ff
e
n
c
e
r 

M
a

n
a
g
e
m

e
n

t 
S

e
rv

ic
e

M
o
d
 N

o
:

2
1
5

1
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t(

s
)

P
o
lic

y
/P

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
:

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
 -

 C
u
s
o
p
 M

a
p
 1

3

O
b

je
c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

F
lo

o
d
p
la

in
 d

e
p
ic

ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

C
u
s
o
p
 i
s
 w

ro
n
g
. 
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 U

D
P

 i
s
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra

te
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 o

p
e
n
 t
o
 e

th
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 

le
g
a
l 
c
h
a
lle

n
g
e
. 
 T

h
e
 s

u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th

is
 b

lig
h
t 
c
a
n
 b

e
 

c
o
rr

e
c
te

d
 a

t 
ti
m

e
 o

f 
a
n
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 b

y
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 f
lo

o
d
 r

is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 i
s
 u

n
ju

s
t 
a
n
d
 u

n
c
e
rt

a
in

. 
 T

h
e
 f
lo

o
d
p
la

in
 m

a
p
 w

ill
 

a
p
p
e
a
r 

o
n
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
e
a
rc

h
e
s
 i
t 
w

ill
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

p
re

m
iu

m
s
 a

n
d
 p

o
s
s
ib

ly
 p

re
v
e
n
t 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

e
in

g
 i
n
s
u
re

d
. 
 N

e
w

 
m

o
d
e
lli

n
g
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 f
lo

o
d
 d

a
ta

 a
n
d
 m

a
p
 w

ill
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 s

p
ri
n
g
 o

f 
n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r.

  
T

h
is

 d
a
ta

 w
ill

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e
 

D
u
la

s
 b

ro
o
k
 i
s
 i
n
 a

 d
e
e
p
 r

a
v
in

e
 a

s
 i
t 
p
a
s
s
e
s
 D

u
la

s
 H

o
u
s
e
.

W
h
a
t 
m

e
c
h
a
n
is

m
 f
o
r 

th
e
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b

e
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 i
n
 

th
e
 U

D
P

?
 H

o
w

 o
ft
e
n
 w

ill
 i
t 
b
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
?
 S

h
o
u
ld

 i
t 
b
e
 f
o
rm

u
la

te
d
 

a
n
d
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 o

n
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra

te
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
.

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P

la
n
n
in

g
 p

o
lic

y
 i
n
 P

P
G

2
5
 i
s
 c

le
a
r 

th
a
t 
"F

o
llo

w
in

g
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

in
te

re
s
te

d
 p

a
rt

ie
s
, 
lo

c
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 s
h
o
w

 t
h
e
 a

re
a
s
 o

f 
fl
o
o
d
 r

is
k
 o

n
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
la

n
s
..
..
" 

 T
h
e
 

In
s
p
e
c
to

r 
c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u

e
 o

f 
d

e
fi
n

in
g

 i
n

d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 f
lo

o
d
 p

la
n
 m

a
p
s
 o

n
 

th
e
 U

D
P

 P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 M
a
p
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 f
lo

o
p
la

in
 d

e
fi
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

C
u
s
o
p
 a

n
d
 h

e
 

c
o
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 s
h
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 t

h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s

u
p
p
lie

d
 b

y
 

th
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
. 
 H

o
w

e
v
e
r,

 t
h
e
 U

D
P

 a
c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
e
s
 i
n
 p

a
ra

g
ra

p
h
 

4
.5

.6
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
d
ic

a
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 

u
p
d
a
te

d
 a

s
 m

o
re

 d
e
ta

ile
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
 T

h
e
 l
a
te

s
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 a

d
v
ic

e
 s

u
p
p
lie

d
 b

y
 t

h
e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e
n
c
y
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

u
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
n
y
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
. 
 I
t 
is

 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te

d
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 U

D
P

 i
s
 a

 d
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

ti
lis

e
d
 t
o
 s

e
t 
in

s
u
ra

n
c
e
 

p
re

m
iu

m
s
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
fl
o
o
d
in

g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 U

D
P

 w
ill

 b
e
 r

e
p
la

c
e
d
 o

v
e
r 

ti
m

e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d
 i
ts

 c
o
n
s
ti
tu

e
n
t 
d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

.

D
r 

T
im

 M
u

lla
n
y

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h
ir
e
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 -

 R
e
v
is

e
d
 D

e
p
o
s
it
 D

ra
ft
 -

 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 P

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 M

o
d
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7

p
a
g
e
 1

5

297



298



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Trish Marsh, Sustainability Manager on (01432) 261930 
  

cabinetcoveringreport0.doc  

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: ENVIRONMENT  

CABINET 18THJANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide   

Purpose 

To approve the Sustainability Strategy and Action Plan as the Council’s contribution towards 
the commitment to sustainability set out in the Community Strategy for Herefordshire. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation 

THAT the Sustainability Strategy 2006-09 and Action Plan be adopted  

Reasons 

The Council currently has no clearly stated corporate commitment to sustainability.   

Considerations 

1. This sustainability strategy for Herefordshire Council is inspired by, builds upon and 
contributes to the Community Strategy for Herefordshire – the top-level plan for the 
county – in which the Herefordshire Partnership sets out its vision for Herefordshire. 

 2. The vision of the Community Strategy for Herefordshire is: 

Herefordshire will be a place where people, organisations and 
businesses working together within an outstanding natural environment 
will bring about sustainable prosperity and well being for all. 

One of its five guiding principles is that we must “integrate sustainability into all our 
actions”. Sustainability requires a commitment to sustainable development. 

3. As a key member of the Herefordshire Partnership, the Council is keen to fulfil its 
commitment to the Community Strategy for Herefordshire and to promote 
sustainable development. This means that methods for furthering progress towards 
sustainability must be not only integrated into – but also coordinated across – the 
plans and strategies that the Council produces, and the actions and thinking of 
Council officers. 

AGENDA ITEM 12

299



4. This strategy sets out a programme of activities that will enable the Council to 
achieve this. One of the immediate priorities is to provide additional impetus (and a 
wider context) for implementing plans designed to address the climate change 
imperative. Another is to facilitate an agreed vision – expressed in measurable 
targets – of the Council’s future performance from a sustainability perspective. 

5. The overarching objective of this strategy is to: 

Guide the Council in integrating and coordinating the principles of 
sustainability across its strategies, plans, policies and actions.  

6. More specifically, its strategic aims are to: 

• Support and coordinate Council activities that further sustainability objectives. 

• Increase awareness and provide a point of reference for all interested in 
maximising sustainable development within their work for the Council. 

• Build a framework for streamlining sustainability objectives across the Council’s 
plans, policies, budgets and strategies. This framework will identify and 
encourage shared, quantified outcomes that contribute to a sustainable 
Herefordshire. 

• Communicate the Council’s commitment to sustainable development to the 
public. 

7. There are no legal implications; however clear national and regional commitments to 
sustainable development have been in place for several years. Testing policies and 
plans against sustainability should increase the alignment of policies and could thus 
contribute to financial efficiencies. 

Risk Management 

This strategy should reduce the risk of developing policies with incompatible aims. 

Alternative Options 

Continue without a strategy: this would make it difficult for the Council to show how it is 
contributing systematically to a major Community Strategy commitment.  

Consultees 

Corporate Management Board 

Forward Planning  

Policy Team 

Herefordshire Partnership team 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Sustainability Strategy & Action Plan 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

300



 1 

A sustainable future 
for the county 

Herefordshire Council’s Sustainability Strategy

2006—2009

Draft - December 2006 

Environment Directorate
P.O. Box 167
Plough Lane

Hereford
HR4 0WY

Telephone:
Hereford (01432) 260000

www.herefordshire.gov.uk

Picture

301



 2 

Contents

1. Introduction        3 

2. Background        4 
      

 2.1 Sustainable development     4 

 2.2 Sustainable development in Herefordshire   4 

 2.3 Sustainable development and Herefordshire 

      Council: progress so far      5 

3. Sustainability frameworks      8 

3.1 A national framework      8 

 3.2 The regional framework     9 

 3.3 The local framework      9 

4. A framework for Herefordshire Council    10 

5. Action Plan        13 

Appendix A:  A sustainability timeline     15 

Appendix B:  Regional Sustainable Development Framework

         for the West Midlands, 2006    18 

Appendix C: Sustainable development objectives for land use 19 

Appendix D: Addressing cross-cutting issues within the Council 19 

302



 3 

1 Introduction
This sustainability strategy for Herefordshire Council is inspired by, builds upon and 
contributes to the Community Strategy for Herefordshire – the top-level plan for the 
county – in which the Herefordshire Partnership sets out its vision for Herefordshire. 

The vision of the Community Strategy for Herefordshire is: 

Herefordshire will be a place where people, organisations and 
businesses working together within an outstanding natural environment 
will bring about sustainable prosperity and well being for all. 

One of its five guiding principles is that we must “integrate sustainability into all our 
actions”. Sustainability requires a commitment to sustainable development. 

Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. 

The Brundtland definition of sustainable development (see Appendix A) 

As a key member of the Herefordshire Partnership, the Council is keen to fulfil its 
commitment to the Community Strategy for Herefordshire and to promote sustainable 
development. This means that methods for furthering progress towards sustainability 
must be not only integrated into – but also coordinated across – the plans and 
strategies that the Council produces, and the actions and thinking of Council officers. 

This strategy sets out a programme of activities that will enable the Council to 
achieve this. One of the immediate priorities is to provide additional impetus (and a 
wider context) for implementing plans designed to address the climate change 
imperative. Another is to facilitate an agreed vision – expressed in measurable 
targets – of the Council’s future performance from a sustainability perspective. 

The overarching objective of this strategy is to: 

Guide the Council in integrating and coordinating the principles of 
sustainability across its strategies, plans, policies and actions. 

More specifically, its strategic aims are to: 

1. Support and coordinate Council activities that further sustainability objectives. 

2. Increase awareness and provide a point of reference for all interested in 
maximising sustainable development within their work for the Council. 

3. Build a framework for streamlining sustainability objectives across the 
Council’s plans, policies, budgets and strategies. This framework will identify 
and encourage shared, quantified outcomes that contribute to a sustainable 
Herefordshire.

4. Communicate the Council’s commitment to sustainable development to the 
public.

303



 4 

The result, once these aims are met, will be a Council: 

in which the key characteristics of sustainable communities in Herefordshire 
are agreed across directorates and in which work is coordinated towards 
them in accordance with government guidelines (www.communities.gov.uk).*

that manages its assets and uses resources in a sustainable fashion, and that 
buys goods and services according to an agreed sustainable procurement 
policy.

that also operates more cost-effectively, since this integrated approach 
promises efficiency gains and a reduction in duplicated or incompatible work.

*Long-term targets – based on indicators reflecting the economic, environmental and social well-being of 
Herefordshire and using existing indicators as far as possible – will be set out in the next version of this 
strategy. 

2 Background

2.1 Sustainable development

Sustainable development is a vital part of any strategy for sustainability. It requires 
the furthering of social and environmental goals while preserving the natural 
environment in which we live; it also requires that the goals set within each of these 
three areas work together. The UK government has expanded these three key 
threads to five, in recognition that good governance and the use of sound science are 
prerequisites for healthy and sustainable social, environmental and economic 
conditions.

The evolution of the definition of sustainable development and the various 
frameworks for adopting its principles are outlined in Appendix A. The Community 
Strategy for Herefordshire and other local strategies are set within the context of the 
latest national and regional frameworks, outlined in section 3. They also take account 
of the relevant factors shaping the local context. 

2.2 Sustainable development and Herefordshire

Herefordshire is a sparsely populated county, but one of great scenic beauty. About 
one third of its 177,800 people live in Hereford City, a little more than a fifth in the 
market towns and almost half in rural areas. Its landscape is a primary asset, 
particularly in terms of the quality of life, the tourism, and the land-based business 
and employment opportunities that it supports. 

But Herefordshire’s rural nature also brings with it challenges. These include how to 
reduce the widespread dependency on the private car and how to retain young, 
educated people within its workforce. In addition, the trend towards an ageing 
population (23.1% of the population is over retirement age, compared with 18.5% 
nationally, and forecast to rise) presents particular long-term challenges. These 
challenges are compounded by the outward migration of younger people (only 58.3% 
people are of working age compared with 61.9% nationally). The backdrop to this 
migration is clear: average wages in the county are below the regional average and 
higher education provision is limited. 

304



 5 

Sustainable development challenges especially pertinent to Herefordshire include1:

Protecting and enhancing its outstanding landscape, including sites and 
species of national, regional and local importance, and minimising loss of 
biodiversity.

Protecting and enhancing its high quality rural environment, for example by 
enabling communities to improve their neighbourhoods and by encouraging 
local stewardship, by means of good agricultural management   

Encouraging policies and plans that support access to essential facilities that 
minimise travel and/or that support sustainable travel, especially public 
transport.

Ensuring that rural settlements have access to health, education, 
employment, retail and recreational facilities. 

Providing and caring for an increasingly ageing population.  

Creating educational and economic opportunities to attract and retain a 
young, educated workforce, specifically, attracting businesses in regional 
growth sectors such as business, finance and technology. 

Promoting investment and engagement in learning and skills development. 

Supporting the vitality and viability of town centres and market towns.

Improving health and reducing health inequalities by encouraging and 
enabling healthy, active lifestyles, by protecting health and by providing 
equitable access to health services.

Herefordshire must also strive to address national priorities including: 

Use natural resources such as water and minerals efficiently; reduce waste 
levels and increase recycling. 

Address climate change by reducing overall energy use through increased 
energy efficiency, increasing the proportion of energy generated from 
renewable and low carbon sources and looking at necessary adaptation. 

Encourage sustainable purchasing, including the local sourcing of food, 
goods and materials. 

Support the provision of affordable housing.

Encourage more public participation in activities and decisions affecting 
communities and strive to build sustainable communities.

Reduce poverty and social exclusion, particularly in deprived areas. 

2.3 Sustainability and Herefordshire Council: progress so far

The Council has already achieved much that contributes positively to the challenges 
described above; indeed its corporate plan is geared specifically to achieving this. 
Evidence of these achievements is apparent in the range of activities and policies 
geared to improving the environmental, social and economic well being of the county. 

For example, the Council has a Carbon Management Action Plan (CMAP) 
[http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/council_gov_democracy/council/23224.asp], which 
commits it to a 12.5% reduction in its own carbon emissions by 2012 compared with 
the 2002 baseline. It also supports the Herefordshire Partnership in its work to 
address climate change. 

                                                
1
 These are condensed from references in the Council’s Corporate Plan, the Community 

Strategy for Herefordshire and previous work with Forum for the Future. 

305



 6 

The Council also has a thorough and well-established environmental policy, which 
recognises the need to protect the environment and to use natural resources 
prudently. It has an established environmental management system, Good 
Environmental Management (GEM), which formed the central plank of the Council’s 
accreditation in July 2006 to ISO 14001 (see box).  

[Side bar: GEM and ISO 140001] 

GEM & ISO 14001 

GEM, the Council’s environmental management system, enables the Council to identify and 
address its impacts on the environment. Effective environmental management is key to the 
delivery of sustainable development, so GEM helps the Council to meet its commitment to 
sustainability. All Council activities and services are now certified to the international 
environmental management standard ISO 14001. This requires the Council to identify the 
environmental impacts of its activities; check the legal standards that must be met; and 
decide if the environmental impacts are significant. For those that are significant, the Council 
must ensure that controls are in place to ensure that legal standards are met and any 
environmental damage is minimised; targets are set, and performance managed to provide 
continual improvement of environmental performance. See 
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/environment/index.asp. 

[End side bar.] 

In Planning Services, the Council is putting the finishing touches to a rigorous 
sustainability appraisal methodology that will underpin all future land development in 
the county. Local authorities must give in-depth consideration to the principles of 
sustainable development as part of their planning activities, following the introduction 
in 2005 of national government policy calling for sustainable development to be “the 
core principle underpinning planning”. 

Land use and spatial planning documents produced to guide local development and 
investment – which together form a portfolio called The Local Development 
Framework (LDF) – must already undergo Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) by law. SEA ensures that potential significant environmental effects arising 
from plans are identified, assessed, communicated and mitigated; it also requires the 
monitoring of effects once the plan is implemented.  

Herefordshire Council is now extending this process of environmental assessment to 
encompass appraisal based on the broader sustainability objectives (see Appendix 
C). This process must also meet the requirements of the SEA Directive, which puts a 
rigorous environmental assessment procedure in place as the starting point for a 
comprehensive sustainability appraisal. The Council is currently consulting on a full 
sustainability appraisal process for all its planning work, both relating to land-use and 
spatial strategies, as encouraged by the latest government guidelines. 

The Council is also working towards many of the economic objectives of 
sustainability. It has invested in a new multi-million pound scheme to bring higher and 
further education to a single campus, the “Herefordshire Learning Village”. It is 
pursuing improvements in rural digital connectivity to support self-employed people 
and remotely sited businesses. The county’s new Economic Development Strategy, 
which has a clear focus on sustainable development, sets targets in five main 
strands: productivity, entrepreneurship, knowledge and technology, skills, and 
community regeneration. 

[Side bar: the Economic Development Strategy] 

306



 7 

The Herefordshire Economic Development Strategy, which drives the work of the 
economic regeneration team, has sustainable development as its first theme. “The strategy 
seeks to build on existing current efforts to take forward development in sustainable land use 
management, local sourcing, renewable energies, the environmental economy and education 
in sustainable development,” it says, adding that its aims include establishing Herefordshire 
as a leading county for sustainable land use and for knowledge and education in sustainable 
development practices. 

[End side bar. Will add URL/location for this when it is available; 
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/business/business_support/89.asp in meantime] 

Progress is being made on the social front too. There is a strong focus within the 
Adult and Community Services directorate on access to local services. Much of this 
work is conducted in partnership with the voluntary sector and various social 
enterprises, often also featuring an environmental focus (such as on recycling). Such 
projects set fine examples of sustainability in action. Other initiatives include lifelong 
learning programmes, and a range of schemes to ensure that older people stay in 
their homes for longer; to encourage healthy lifestyles; and to support local economic 
and community activities such as farmers’ markets.  

Further examples of social or community themes with a sustainability agenda, too 
numerous to mention here, can be found in the Social Enterprise Strategy for 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire, the Council’s Community Involvement Strategy 
and its Community Development Strategy, among others.  

[Side box: Community Strategies] 

Social and community strategies for sustainability 

The Social Enterprise Strategy, which is endorsed by the Herefordshire Partnership, 
encourages the creation of businesses with social objectives. It brings a clear focus on 
achieving economic and social sustainability to a number of plans and activities. Among its 
five high level objectives are: forming a sustainable social economy, increasing access to 
local services and enabling access to quality employment.  

The Community Involvement Strategy aims to improve involvement of communities (either 
with a shared interest or a shared location) in the process of decision making, by a number of 
means including making special efforts to enable hard-to-reach groups and groups at risk of 
disadvantage to make their voices heard, and also by increasing transparency and 
accountability.

The emerging Herefordshire Partnership Community Development Strategy is focused on 
increasing the viability and vitality of communities in Herefordshire by influencing and 
informing the delivery of community development and local services in the County; 
strengthening and supporting community and voluntary activity; supporting effective 
community involvement in decision making and improving access to local services. See: 
http://intranet/commondocs/DocRoot/Procurement and Contract Management/Doing Business with 
the Council/Social_Enterprise_Strategy.pdf

[End side bar. NB Comm Inv Strat link still needed]

The Council’s own assets represent another responsibility that must be managed 
with sustainability in mind. Steps towards this have already been taken: all of the 
Council’s electricity demand is fulfilled by a ‘green’ energy supplier; it is implementing 
energy savings measures in its schools; and it supports efforts to promote biofuels 
and sustainable water management.

307



 8 

3 Sustainability frameworks
While the contribution to sustainability made by various Council plans and strategies 
is an extremely positive development, there are additional gains still to be made. 
Some of these gains will come from work on those areas with room for further 
consideration of sustainability objectives; and some from implementing a coordinated 
approach across the Council that allows any combined effects to be anticipated and 
joint opportunities for efficiency or synergy to be maximised.  

Such a cross-cutting approach is not easy; it requires taking account of the activities 
of other departments or teams and, sometimes, of impacts in areas that are 
unfamiliar or are outside those usually considered. It requires a shift in approach and 
it requires guidance. It also requires that existing objectives and targets, which 
between them set standards across the Council, can be viewed as a single coherent 
bloc, reflecting the shared objective of sustainability. 

A number of frameworks have been published that provide such guidance and 
encourage sustainability thinking – for organisations at every level from international 
to regional. As a result of these exercises, the principles of sustainable development 
have become ingrained in policy-makers’ thinking at national and regional levels.  

The onus now is on organisations and people working at the local level, who must 
interpret the principles promoted in the frameworks and turn them into local reality. 
Much work has already been done to this end – hence the objectives within many 
Herefordshire Council strategies and plans that clearly contribute to sustainability. 
The challenge is to ensure these objectives don’t simply remain the property of their 
respective sections and directorates, but instead are aligned across the Council to 
present a coherent, widely understood picture of a future, sustainable Herefordshire. 
Creating that coherent picture is one of the aims of this strategy. Before that, it is 
worth reminding ourselves of the principles and frameworks. 

3.1 The national framework

The UK government published a sustainable development strategy, ‘Securing the 
Future’, for the country in March 2005. It sets out five main guiding principles split 
between two tiers, suggesting a hierarchy of importance. 

On the upper tier are: Living Within Environmental Limits and Ensuring a Strong, 
Healthy and Just Society; on the lower tier: Achieving a Sustainable Economy, 
Promoting Good Governance and Using Sound Science Responsibly. The strategy 
suggests that we can achieve the upper tier objectives by means of the principles on 
the lower tier. 

308



 9 

The five guiding principles of sustainability as outlined in the UK government’s ‘Securing the 
Future’ strategy. 

3.2  The regional framework

These principles have been translated into a Regional Sustainable Development 
Framework (RSDF) for the West Midlands, prepared by Sustainability West Midlands 
(SWM), a coalition championing sustainability for the region. See: 
www.sustainabilitywestmidlands.org.uk.

This framework puts forward four main themes designed to guide everyone within the 
region, whether working in local authorities, businesses or voluntary organisations, in 
order to steer their policies, decisions and activities towards the vision of a 
sustainable West Midlands that the framework encapsulates. 

[Pic relating to West Mids SD required here. See: http://www.westmidlandslibrary.co.uk/index.jsp] 

Those four principles are:  

putting people and communities at the centre;  

valuing the environment and living within environmental limits;

gathering and using sound evidence;  

taking account of the national and global implications of our activities.  

Expanded versions of these principles and pointers to information about their 
accompanying objectives can be seen in Appendix B. 

Advantage West Midlands (AWM), the Regional Development Agency, has picked 
up these threads and become the first regional development agency to create its own 
sustainable development policy. Entitled ‘Future Advantage’, this sets out the ways in 
which Advantage West Midlands intends to become “the regional leader for 
developing economic prosperity in a way that supports a strong, healthy, and just 
society living within environmental limits by 2008; and an international leader by 
2010.” See www.advantagewm.co.uk.

3.3  A local framework

The principles and objectives from the national and regional sustainability strategies 
played an important role in shaping the Community Strategy for Herefordshire. 

309



 10 

Created and agreed by the Herefordshire Partnership and launched in June 2006, 
the strategy presents a vision of a sustainable future for the county. Its primary focus 
is set out in four priority themes, chosen to address the key issues for Herefordshire 
as detailed in section 2.2:  

Economic Development and Enterprise 

Healthier Communities and Older People 

Children and Young People 

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Five guiding principles cut across and influence the way these themes are 
addressed. The guiding principle for sustainability is: 

Integrate sustainability into all our actions 

All decisions and actions affecting the County should be co-ordinated to 
maximise the community, environmental and economic benefits, operate 
within environmental limits and contribute to a better quality of life for 
everyone who lives in, works in or visits Herefordshire. A strong local culture 
and shared community activities are an important aspect of this sustainability.

The other guiding principles also support the principle of sustainability. They are: 

Realise the potential of Herefordshire, its people and communities 

Ensure an equal and inclusive society 

Build on the achievements of partnership working and ensure 
continual improvement 

Protect and improve Herefordshire’s distinctive environment. 

[Pic of something Herefordshire Council related needed here] 

4 A framework for Herefordshire Council
The challenge now is for Herefordshire Council to build on (or where needed, 
establish) effective methods of embedding full consideration of sustainability – as an 
underpinning mechanism for optimising the Council’s response to the long-term 
needs of the county – within the core corporate processes of the Council, and across 
the full spectrum of its activities. (See Section 1: Strategic aims.) 

This means encouraging and enabling ways of assessing, measuring and enhancing 
the contribution to sustainable development of all key plans and activities of the 
Council. These include the Corporate Plan, the Directorate Plans, the Service Plans, 
the performance management cycle, the budgets, and procedures for procurement, 
quality assurance and risk management – all of which need to be written with the 
objectives of sustainable development for Herefordshire in mind and express clear 
outcomes that reflect these.  

It also means establishing the means to analyse where such plans and processes 
are aligned with each other and with the Community Strategy for Herefordshire in 
their pursuit of sustainable development, and developing efficiencies and shared 
objectives wherever the resulting analysis reveals opportunities to do so.2

Once this analysis is complete, it will allow the creation of a vision for the Council, set 
at an agreed date in the future and written in terms of the targets to be met and the 

                                                
2

A forerunner to this approach is provided by the Guiding Principles Appraisal, developed in parallel 

with the first Herefordshire Plan some years ago. This tool was integrated into processes for assessing 
certain capital bids and grant schemes administered by the Council. This tool will be revisited to see if it 
remains fit for purpose or requires updating in the light of more recent developments.

310



 11 

activities required to achieve these. This is one of the outcomes of this strategy; the 
vision will be set out in the next version, due autumn 2007.  

In time, the sustainability philosophy will ideally feed through to staff review and 
development, providing each employee with the motivation and incentives to think 
and act with a sustainability perspective in mind. 

The methods developed to achieve the above will be available for further 
development, adaptation and use across the processes and plans of the entire 
Partnership. In this context they form part of a wider plan to promote and monitor the 
application of the guiding principles of the Community Strategy for Herefordshire.

This strategy comprises both a statement of intent to address the challenges 
described above and also a description of the activities that Herefordshire Council 
will undertake in order to do so. 

5 Action Plan, 2006-09
This Action Plan focuses on systems to promote widespread consideration of 
sustainability. These will support, enhance and coordinate the many positive service 
initiatives that already contribute to sustainable development, the actions and 
outcomes for which are set out in the Council’s corporate plan.  

Work is proposed in three primary areas: promoting awareness; appraisal, 
assessment and improvement; and monitoring and reporting. Activities in these areas 
are geared to meet the four strategic aims of this strategy, as described below. 

Strategic aims

1. Support and coordinate Council activities that further sustainability objectives. 

2. Increase awareness and provide a point of reference for all interested in 
maximising sustainable development within their work for the Council. 

3. Build a framework for streamlining sustainability objectives across the Council’s 
plans, policies, budgets and strategies. This framework will identify and 
encourage shared, quantified outcomes that contribute to a sustainable 
Herefordshire. 

4. Communicate the Council’s commitment to sustainable development to the 
public. 

5.1 Awareness

Awareness is a prerequisite for progress and will require a programme of training and 
education.

Objective: Increase awareness among its workers of the Council’s current strengths 
and weaknesses regarding sustainability, and of the need and means to improve. 

Outcomes: By 2009, every Council worker will have an understanding of 
sustainability, how his/her work contributes to the sustainable development of 
Herefordshire, and how to measure and extend that contribution. 

Strategic aims progressed:

1. Support and coordinate Council activities that further sustainability objectives. 

2. Increase awareness and provide a point of reference for all interested in maximising 
sustainable development within their work for the Council.

311



 12 

5.2 Appraisal, assessment and improvement

Tying in with Council activity planning cycles is the route by which sustainability 
principles will be embedded across the Council, through appraisal, assessment and 
improvement.  

Objectives: Establish and implement methods to assess, measure and enhance the 
contribution to sustainable development of all key plans and activities of the Council 
and to analyse where such plans and processes are aligned with each other in their 
pursuit of sustainable development, and where opportunities for efficiencies and 
shared objectives lie. Agree the targets for every directorate that describe the vision 
of a sustainable Herefordshire and will be incorporated into the next version of the 
strategy in 2007. 

Outcomes: By 2009 every strategy and plan within the Council will work towards 
sustainability in tandem with its own objectives. The plans within different directorates 
will be coordinated from a sustainability perspective – and within the structure of the 
West Midlands Regional Sustainable Development Framework – and will share 
sustainability goals. By 2007 this sustainability strategy will be updated to include 
specific targets that will facilitate measurement of progress towards those goals.  

Strategic aims progressed:

2. Increase awareness and provide a point of reference for all interested in maximising 
sustainable development within their work for the Council. 

3. Build a framework for streamlining sustainability objectives across the Council’s 
plans, policies, budgets and strategies. This framework will identify and encourage 
shared, quantified outcomes that contribute to a sustainable Herefordshire.

5.3 Reporting

Monitoring and reporting are key to maintaining momentum. The Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has identified sustainability reporting as 
the “missing piece in the local authority performance reporting jigsaw”. It is proposed 
that impacts on key areas, directly attributable to the Council, are monitored annually, 
using selected relevant sustainability indicators, taken as far as possible from 
existing sets. Performance will be reported in an annual Corporate Sustainability 
Report (CSR), enabling the Council’s own progress towards sustainability to be 
assessed and encouraging it to lead by example. 

Objective: Publish an annual CSR that a) summarises and informs the wider public 
on the Council’s progress in working towards sustainability goals and b) provides an 
opportunity to showcase good practice. 

Outcome: The contribution made by Herefordshire Council towards the sustainable 
vision of Herefordshire is presented each year in terms of actual performance against 
international indicators, taken from the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) guidelines. 
The CSR will therefore provide an annual measure of progress against the backdrop 
of this sustainability strategy. 

Strategic aims progressed:

3. Build a framework for streamlining sustainability objectives across the Council’s 
plans, policies, budgets and strategies. This framework will identify and encourage shared, 
quantified outcomes that contribute to a sustainable Herefordshire. 

4. Communicate the Council’s commitment to sustainable development to the public.

312



 13 

5.4 The actions 2006 – 2009

Action By when/ 
milestones 

Outcomes (Strategic aims addressed) Resources Who to 
lead 

Support Forward Planners 
in their implementation of 
full SA of their plans and 
specifically the LDF 

Progressing and 
ongoing 

Shared insights into means and 
mechanisms of SA. (1) 

Major FP 
commitment.
+
intermittent
support as 
required: 3 
days to date 

FP

Ensure that the current 
commitment to 
sustainability in the 
Council’s procurement 
strategy is fed into practice, 
using Sir Neville Simm’s 
flexible framework as a 
diagnostic 

Open
discussions end 
Dec 06 with new 
procurement 
manager  

Ensure one key controllable aspect of 
Council activity has sustainability at 
its heart. (1,2) 

SPE
Manager 
working with 
SU & other 
cross cutting 
leads 

RES/SU

Include session on 
sustainability in Staff 
Induction Training 

Know whether 
this is possible 
and timescale for 
introduction by 
end Jan 07.
Implementation
dates tbc.

Extra awareness; benefits as above. 
(1,2)

Time of 
trainer: could 
be delivered  
in-house 

HR/SU

Encourage each service to 
identify 1-2 sustainability 
targets for improving 
through 2006/7.  

By end of 
Service planning 
round (Jan 07)

Sustainability impacts within services 
measured with reference to selected 
indicators. (3) 

SU time: 5 
days 
working with 
Service
Heads/Mana
gers

POL/SU

Further develop the cross-
cutting themes proofing tool 
(Appendix D) in conjunction 
with policy team, to 
converge with SD tool 
above; trial on 2007/08 
service planning processes. 

Initial tool will be 
used in Service 
Planning by end 
Feb 2007.
Refined tool to 
be operating by 
Sept 2007

First stage on journey to the above 
achieved by end 2006 and some 
early awareness on part of plan 
writers. (2,3) 

Within Policy 
& SU teams 
+ FfF  
undertake 2 
day exercise 
in Jan 07. 

POL/SU

Promote awareness of 
existing best 
practice/sustainability 
success stories by 
presentations (preferably 
peer to peer from a range 
of services) to inspire 
action/confidence 

Plan and ideas to 
be fleshed out by 
March 07.

Implementation
in June 07

Awareness, as above. (1,2) 1 day per 
story to write 
up. Option to 
use as basis 
for
presentation 
to teams 

Comms/
SU

Engage with Council 
members/ CMB on the 
need for/ means to achieve 
sustainability  

Interviews 
complete/
analysed by end 
Mar 07

Clear idea of limits/ opportunities 
perceived at board level; 
understanding of levels of support. 
(1,2)

Time: 3 days 
in total 

SU, MS, 
FfF   

Complete pilot CSR report 
on 2005/06, covering direct 
impacts of Council’s 
activities (not county-level), 
trialling GRI indicators. 

Pilot written and 
approved by 
April 07.

Council will be leading by example; 
incentives provided for services to 
stretch and meet targets relevant to 
SD. (3,4) 

6 weeks 
work done in 
Summer 06 
(CG). 3-4 
weeks more 
needed (SU) 

SU

Write, distribute and 
analyse SD survey/quiz to 

Complete and 
distribute Spring

Learn extent of staff understanding of 
sustainability and get indication of 

 5 days (SU) 
design & 

SU/ POL 

313



 14 

establish staff 
understanding/interest 

2007, analysed 
by June 07 

training needed. (2) distribute   + 
analysis time 

Publish & publicise the final 
CSR report/ achievement, 
both internally (as one 
incentives to get staff buy-in 
to SD) and externally 

Pilot published 
by end May 07.
Development 
ongoing. 

Transparent dialogue opened with 
public; commitment to SD conveyed. 
(4)

3 days Comms/ 
SU

Devise & deliver staff 
training programme in 
sustainability. Focus initially 
on policy team, 
performance leads and 
those writing service plans 
and begin with Forum for 
the Future workshops 

Stage 1 (for 
policy/service 
planning teams) 
complete by end
May 07 

Rest of staff: aim 
for 10% trained 
every year 
starting Sept 07

Policy team and plan writers have full 
understanding of the principles of 
sustainability and its challenges and 
opportunities and how they can 
benefit from working together. (1,2,3) 

Time: 5 days 
per year 

HR/SU

Include session on 
sustainability in Members’ 
Induction Programme 

First session to 
happen by July 
07

Extra awareness; benefits as above. 
(2)

1.5 days SU MS/SU 

Using SA of land use as ref, 
develop tool to SD proof 
plans/ policies and 
encourage monitoring/ 
improvement / coordination. 
Build support into that 
provided to service plan 
writers; encourage them to 
identify big issues and tally 
with SD issues 

For forthcoming 
performance 
planning cycles 
from summer
2007

Council activities and service plans 
take account of all SD objectives 
relevant to them and Herefordshire 
and refer to each other. (3) 

Time of SU 
(ongoing – 
20 days), 
policy team, 
others – say 
an extra 10 
days = 30 in 
total

FP/POL/
SU

Identify initiatives & targets 
for each directorate that 
work together towards 
sustainability for 08/09. 
Present these, together 
with relevant existing 
indicators, in Version 2 of 
this strategy as Council’s 
contribution to a 
sustainable Herefordshire. 

Begin summer 
2007 (and in 
revised service 
plans where 
appropriate). 
Publish reviewed 
strategy Spring 
2008 (3)

SD progress targets set out at 
Council level; greater commitment 
and coordination. 

SU 5 days POL/SU 

Revisit the Guiding 
Principles Appraisal as 
used by Prudential Capital 
bids, the ARCH & LEADER 
grant schemes to see if 
they remain fit for purpose 
or require updating.  

End Aug 07 Ensure consistency and fitness for 
purpose. (3) 

2 days SU 
time

RES/ E& 
CR/SU

Convene SMT to use LA 
Sustainability Standard self-
assessment tool (Forum for 
the Future; Vs III) 

Assessment
complete and 
analysed 
Autumn 07

Assessment of extent to which 
principles of sustainability are 
integrated into Council to date. (1,2) 

FfF day + 3-
4 hrs of SMT 
time

SMT/SU

Include discussion of 
sustainability issues in 
meetings between Heads of 
Services to inform next 
stage, proofing of other 
Council plans 

Autumn 2007 Increased awareness but also 
understanding of benefits/means of 
integrating and coordinating plans 
according to sustainability framework. 
(2,3)

HoS time + 
a facilitator 
for session. 
1 day FfF 

SMT/SU

Arrange workshop/training 
for managers and directors 
to ensure their future plans 

All current have 
attended by Oct 
07; new recruits 

Mgrs/directors have full 
understanding of SD, challenges and 
opportunities and how they can 

2 days + 0.5 
days of 
manager/ 

HR/SU

314



 15 

and proposals are well 
informed regarding 
sustainability.  

within 6 months 
of being in post 
(2,3)

benefit from working together. director time: 
poss via
Managers’ 
Forum.

Use the scrutiny process as 
a driver by creating a 
‘Sustainability Standard’ for 
the Council and making it 
part of the Scrutiny 
guidelines 

Consider timing 
further in 
autumn 2007

Provide another driver – from the top 
– for sustainability objectives. Widen 
awareness. (2,3) 

5 days work, 
poss
involvement 
of FfF. 

MS/POL/

SU

Extend the final 
sustainability proofing 
process to major plans and 
strategies including extra 
reviews/projects etc as they 
come up. 

Ongoing from 
Mar 2008 (3) 

Council activities and major plans 
take account of all SD objectives 
relevant to Hfds and refer to each 
other. ‘Integrated planning’.

Mainstream
requirement 
for author’s 
with advice 
as required 

POL/SU

Tie in CSR report with other 
reporting/research within 
the Council including the 
annual monitoring report 
(AMR) prepared by 
Forward Planning  & State 
of Herefordshire Report 

2008 (3,4) Streamlining and coordination of 
research time and effort. 

Discussion
time – say 2 
days staff 
time in total 

POL/SU/
FP

Build on CSR report by 
developing and exploring 
additional data sources as 
required with view to 
producing comprehensive 
CSR annually 

Ongoing from 
2008 (3,4) 

Ongoing improvement of the 
reporting process. 

Periodic
development 
time form 
SU

POL/SU

Action Plan Key 
Comms  Communications team 

E&CR   Economic and Community Regeneration 
FP   Forward Planning 

HR   Human Resources 
MS   Members’ Support 

POL   Policy Team 
RES   Resources 

SU   Sustainability Unit 
FfF   Forum for the Future 

Appendix A:  A sustainability timeline 

1992 

The Rio summit resulted in governments around the world signing up to the concept of 
sustainable development. The original (social, environmental, economic) pillars were to be 
integrated within policy to make sure that development was sustainable. The common purpose 
was to start “living on the earth’s income rather than its capital”.

3

1992 

The United Nations Conference on Environment and Development adopted the Rio Declaration 
and Agenda 21

4
, aimed at achieving sustainable patterns of development worldwide.  

Important conventions on Climate Change and Biodiversity were signed and many have 

                                                
3
 There are many definitions of sustainability, but in general sustainability recognises that we should 

satisfy our needs and enjoy a better quality of life, without compromising the quality of life of future 
generations. 
4
 Agenda 21 – Action plan for the next century (1992) endorsed at the Earth Summit in Rio. 

315



 16 

subsequently been followed up by implementation agreements (e.g. the Kyoto agreement on 
reducing ‘greenhouse gases’), which form the basis of much of European Union (EU) and UK 
Government policy. 

1993 

The EU progressively developed a more integrated environmental programme, and the 
objective of sustainable development

5
 was written into the Maastricht Treaty in 1993. 

1997 

The Amsterdam Treaty generated additional policy priorities with an emphasis on integrating 
the environmental part of sustainability into the more traditional economic and social 
development agendas.  As a result, EU policy required that environment should be seen as 
complementary to regional development

6
, and legislation and funding mechanisms should aim 

to protect and improve the environmental state of Europe. 

1998  

The three sustainability pillars were emphasised by the newly formed Herefordshire Council 
that adopted the themes of Anti-poverty, Community and Environment – ACE. These formed 
an implicit commitment to sustainability, rooted in the Rio agreements of 6 years earlier. 
Although not explicitly adopting sustainable development, the ACE themes have nevertheless 
been carried through policy, planning and strategy development since then, providing a degree 
of consistency for the Corporate Plan, and latterly a high degree of consistency within the Draft 
Unitary Development Plan and parts of the Local Transport Plan. 

1998  

Herefordshire Council inherited two Local Agenda 21 plans, one from each county, ‘What 
Happens After Me?’ and ‘Welcome To our Future’. These plans were the forerunners of Local 
Strategic Partnership Community Plans. The government introduced a statutory requirement 
for all local authorities to produce an LA21 Strategy by 2000. The LA21 strategy was a 
Sustainability Strategy. 

1998 

Herefordshire Council was awarded Pathfinder status under the Local Government Association 
New Commitment to Regeneration initiative. This stimulated a major step forward in the 
development of an integrated approach to addressing the Economic, Social and Environmental 
needs of Herefordshire and its people. The establishment of the Herefordshire Partnership and 
the development of the Herefordshire Plan provided an opportunity to highlight priorities judged 
to make a real difference to the well being of the county over the long term. Herefordshire 
Council continues to lead by example with a widespread commitment among local 
organisations to the concept of ‘One Partnership, One Plan’ - the Herefordshire Plan. The  

Herefordshire Plan and Herefordshire Partnership began progressing sustainable development 
through its Vision and Guiding Principles, although not explicitly adopting the concept of 
sustainable development.  

1998 

Section 4 of the Regional Development Agencies Act 1998 placed a statutory purpose on 
Advantage West Midlands (AWM) to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development. Sustainable development should therefore inform the actions and decisions that 
AWM takes in pursuance of its economic objectives. Taken together, AWM is required to adopt 
an integrated approach to regional economic issues; bringing together its Economic, Social and 
Environmental objectives. 

1999 

The UK Government launched its first Sustainable Development Strategy
7
. This emphasised 

the importance of Social, Environmental and Economic objectives summarised as:  

Social progress which recognises the needs of everyone 

                                                
5
 The 5

th
 Environment Action Programme (1993) defined this as “...a policy or strategy for continued 

economic and social development without detriment to the environment and natural resources on the 
quality of which continued human activity and further development depend...” 
6
 See for example CEC (95) 509 final of 22/11/95 or Article 174 of the Amsterdam Treaty.

7
 A better quality of life: a strategy for sustainable development for the United Kingdom –Cm4345 DETR 

(1999) 

316



 17 

Effective protection of the Environment 

Prudent use of natural resources and  

Maintenance of high and stable levels of Economic growth and employment 

1999 

A series of public consultation events, “Herefordshire Our Place Our Future” took place in each 
of Hereford’s Market Towns in the early part of 1999, organised jointly by the Local Agenda 21 
Network and Herefordshire Partnership. They were designed to be inclusive; getting everyone 
involved by sharing their ideas and aspirations for their communities. Volunteer facilitators ran 
the highly participatory events - whose style was quite new to Herefordshire. Over twenty 
facilitators were recruited by offering free training in return for helping facilitate the public 
events. More than 300 people were involved across the county.   

2000 

The Rural White Paper ‘Our Countryside – the Future’ established the policy objective to 
sustain and enhance the distinctive environment, economy and social fabric of the English 
countryside for the benefit of all, recognising the interdependence between urban and rural 
areas. Since the publication of the White Paper, the Government has set out further proposals 
for creating sustainable communities that meet the needs of all (February 2003), and launched 
its strategy for sustainable farming and food in England (December 2002). These specific 
policies connect strongly with Rurality that is increasingly seen as being an important feature of 
Herefordshire Council’s service delivery to rural communities.

2001  

Working with Forum for the Future, Herefordshire Council developed its sustainability Guiding 
Principles of Appraisal (GPA), based on the Herefordshire Plan. The GPA has been adopted 
as a project appraisal tool for project funding under the Action for Regeneration of 
Communities in Herefordshire (ARCH) as well as Herefordshire Council’s capital programme. 
Training was provided in the period to 2003 and recently, an interactive version has been 
developed for use in appraising bids to the capital programme. 

2002 

The Plan of Implementation arising out of the 2002 World Summit on Sustainable Development 
(WSSD) built on pre-existing commitments including those from the Rio Earth Summit of 1992 
and other international processes including Multilateral Environmental Agreements. 

2004 

The Herefordshire Plan was “sustainability” appraised as part of the West Midlands 
Sustainability mapping exercise. The results were fed into the regional sustainability framework 
scoping exercise. The Herefordshire Plan scored highest alongside Sandwell based on the 15 
headline indicators adopted by government – the “Quality of Life Indicators”. The State of 
Herefordshire Report (SOHR) along side the Herefordshire Plan provided the basis for the 
assessment. Climate Change, River and Air Quality were identified as missing at the time of 
assessment.

Review of the Herefordshire Plan started –completed  July 2006 

2005 

Version 1 of the West Midlands Sustainable Development Framework was launched in January 
2005, with the specific aim of allowing road testing of the model before revision in the light of 
regional feedback and the new national Sustainable Development Strategy.

2005 

‘Securing the Future’.– The UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy…

This is a very comprehensive, action driven, performance linked strategy, based on extensive 
consultation. It includes explicit commitments by government departments to meeting new and 
existing individual Public Service Agreements. The strategy makes clear that the Public Service 
Agreements will increasingly continue to drive policy, possibly by stick and/or carrot through 
into Local Public Service Agreements and other policy.  

” Our goals are a strong Economy, and decent homes in places with clean, safe and green 
public spaces, where people are able to lead healthy lives, and enjoy the environment around 
them. So our new strategy contains not only a commitment to create sustainable communities 
but a commitment to give a new focus to tackling environmental inequalities as well.” 

317



 18 

“…We have spent a long time getting to grips with the concept of sustainability. I want to 
declare a moratorium on further words. I want this new strategy to be a catalyst for action to 
secure our future.” 

        Quotes from Tony Blair

Herefordshire Council Policy will have a clear advantage if it is appropriately aligned with these 
policies: in many cases our best practice exists because we are forced to respond to central 
government PSAs - for instance the frameworks for the LTP and the UDP. 

2006 
Herefordshire Partnership core partners, including Herefordshire Council, sign Herefordshire's 
Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan. 

Launch of the Regional Sustainable Development Framework for the West Midlands(V2) to 
support regional delivery of the UK Sustainable Development) Strategy. The aim of the 
Framework is to help people that develop, review and implement strategies, policies and plans 
in the West Midlands to ensure their work contributes towards a sustainable future for the 
Region. The Framework is intended to be useful at local and sub-regional level as well as at 
regional level, and sets out differing approaches depending on whether strategies, policies and 
plans are subject to statutory Sustainability Appraisal or not. See also Appendix B below.   

Appendix B:  A Regional Sustainable Development Framework for the 
West Midlands, 2006 

These are the four themes of the RSDF for the West Midlands, as prepared by Sustainability 
West Midlands (SWM): 

Putting people and communities at the centre of strategy development and policy 
decisions; engaging people in the decisions that affect their lives and their 
communities, promoting personal wellbeing, social cohesion and inclusion, creating 
equal opportunity for all, and meeting the varied needs of our diverse communities in 
terms of gender, age, ethnicity, disability, faith, sexuality, and background, and in the 
various rural and urban communities in the West Midlands region.  

Valuing the environment and living within environmental limits, respecting the 
limits of the earth’s ability to provide resources and reabsorb pollutants in order to 
avoid serious or irreversible damage, and recognising the importance of the 
environment and biodiversity to well-being, health and economic vitality.  

Gathering and using sound evidence as the basis for policy-making, taking 
account of whole-life costs and benefits of our decisions and activities, including 
impacts that can’t easily be valued in money terms, and taking account of long-term 
impacts in the wider social, environmental and economic context, and adopting the 
“precautionary principle”, that is, where there is a possibility that an action might 
result in damage to human health or the environment, the action should be avoided or 
measures identified to prevent or limit damage and degradation.  

Taking account of the national and global implications of our activities, as well 
as those within the Region, and wherever possible adopting the “polluter pays” 
principle, that those responsible for environmental or social degradation should meet 
the costs of the consequences. 

The framework lists specific objectives for which to aim when working towards each principle. 
They can be seen at: http://www.sustainabilitywestmidlands.org.uk/rsdf/

318



 19 

Appendix C: Sustainable development objectives for land use 

The nineteen sustainable development objectives for Herefordshire, determined within the 
General Scoping Report for Herefordshire Council’s Sustainability Appraisal Framework for 
land-use development plans.  

Economic Development and Enterprise

To support, maintain or enhance the provision of quality, local or easily accessible 
employment opportunities for all, in stable or competitive growth sectors. 

Promote a more adaptable and higher skilled workforce 

Maintain or enhance conditions that enable sustainable economic growth and 
investment without environmental damage (NB “Environmental Damage” is 
considered under the “Safer and stronger communities “ theme) 

Reduce road traffic and congestion and improve sustainable transport choices  

Healthier communities and older people 

Improve the health of the people of Herefordshire, reduce disparities in health 
geographically and demographically and encourage healthy living for all 

Improve access to and engagement in quality cultural, educational, leisure, 
recreational and community activities for all  

Enhance the function and vibrancy of town or district centres 

Children and Young people 

Raise educational achievement levels across the county  

Safer and Stronger Communities 

Enhance safety and reduce and prevent crime/fear of crime and antisocial behaviour 
in the County 

Provide everyone with the opportunity to live in decent, affordable housing 

Reduce the amount of waste requiring disposal and minimise the use of non-reusable 
materials and encourage recycling 

Conserve and enhance Herefordshire’s habitats and biodiversity 

Use natural resources more efficiently and increase the use of renewable energy. 

Maintain and enhance the landscape quality of Herefordshire, including its rural areas 
and urban open spaces 

Reduce Herefordshire’s vulnerability to the impacts of climate change as well as its 
contribution to the problem 

Minimise local and global pollution and protect or enhance environmental quality. 

Promote integrated and efficient land use 

Enhance the built quality of settlements and neighbourhoods 

Reduce poverty and promote equality and social inclusion 

Appendix D: Addressing cross-cutting issues within the Council 

This year’s Directorate & Service Plan Requirements are a clear step up from the “Guidance” 
of previous years, stating clearly that  

“the material must include what will be done to address the cross-cutters” and
“In particular, plans should include at least one measurable improvement target in 
respect of each of the cross-cutting issues.”

The policy and sustainability teams in the Council have developed a checklist and scoring tool 
designed to assist the inclusion of six selected cross-cutting issues for Herefordshire and 
assess how effectively they are being addressed within Council plans and proposals. This is 
currently being tested for its ability to assess three-year corporate management proposals 
and 07/08 Service Plans on their consideration of these issues.  

319



 20 

The checklist is based on six lists of questions, tailored to address each of the cross-cutting 
issues listed below, and devised by an expert in the relevant department. 

Rurality

Diversity 

The environment 

Thriving communities 

Older people 

Children and young people;  
plus Sustainability as an overarching cross cutter. 

This work will form the foundations of a prototype tool to both influence individual service 
plans as they emerge, and assess their attention to these and related cross-cutting themes, 
based on research into the combination of cross-cutting themes that best represents 
sustainability issues. If successful it will enable the assessment of the extent to which these 
plans contribute to sustainable development. 

The questions are designed to encourage proposal or plan writers to consider the impacts of 
their proposals or plans on these key issues. Current thinking at the time of writing is that 
responses to these checklists, in combination with the proposals themselves and any 
revisions that the checklists inspired, will be used to score each proposal on its level of 
recognition of the cross-cutting themes. The score table is: 

Level  Evidence required  

0 – No evidence of work 
on the cross cutting priority  

1 – We are thinking about 
what we can do  

- Initial or basic assessment completed and action plan in place  
- Relevant paper work completed and signed off by HoS and 
others as relevant 
- Timescales, review process and lead officers identified 

2  – We are working 
towards our targets 

- SMART Action Plan in use and evidence of review and 
improvement process in place  
- The service collects data on activities and categories of 
service users. 
- There is evidence of consultation feedback  
- Findings from consultations used to shape plans and delivery  

3 – Our work is making a 
difference to the services 
we provide

- Changes in service delivery outputs evidenced as a result of 
implementation of action plan 
- Evidence of significant achievement and changes to service 
delivery

4 – Our work is making a 
real difference to the lives 
of our customers  

- Service is making measurable/ demonstrable impact on 
outcomes to individuals and/or communities.  

These scores could be presented as positions on a circle of all cross-cutting themes, in which 
every theme is a segment and the score for that theme is higher at greater distances from the 
centre. This would present a visual representation of how a proposal addresses the cross-
cutting themes, and will inspire people to aim for a different shape in the circle next time. 

As the themes cover many of the key threads of sustainability that pertain to Herefordshire, a 
high score would imply a relatively sustainable plan. However, more work is required to 
incorporate sustainability thinking and terminology explicitly into the process and to address 
one or two key sustainability points not currently covered by the cross-cutting checklists. It 
would also be desirable to more explicitly reflect the cross-cutting issues from the 
Herefordshire Community Strategy in the final checklist. 

Subsequent further work is planned to tie the planning process in with performance 
improvement, i.e. to make sure that plans include and push targets appropriate to increased 
sustainability. Work has begun on a prototype matrix aimed at incorporating all these aims 
into one tool. 

320



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Nick Webster, Economic Regeneration Manager, on (01432) 260601 

POTENTIALEDGARSTREETGRIDCOMPULSORYPURCHASEORDERS0.doc 

POTENTIAL EDGAR STREET GRID COMPULSORY 
PURCHASE ORDERS 

PROGRAMME AREA RESPONSIBILITY:  
CORPORATE STRATEGY AND FINANCE 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 

Wards Affected 

Central 

Purpose 

To update Cabinet on the potential need to make Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) for 
the acquisition of interests and rights in a site known as the Edgar Street Grid (the “ESG”) 
which is required to facilitate the implementation of proposals for the regeneration of 100 
acres of central Hereford (the “Edgar Street Grid Proposals”).  A plan of the ESG is attached 
to this report as Appendix 1. 

Key Decision  

This is a Key Decision because it is significant in terms of its affect on communities living or 
working in an area comprising one or more wards. 

It was not included in the Forward Plan however inclusion in the agenda gives the required 
notice in accordance with Section 15 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Access to Information) Regulations 2000. 

Recommendation 

That: the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to take further 
forward preparatory work for the potential Edgar Street Grid CPO/CPOs in 
respect of the land and rights in Annex 1(and any further land that may be 
identified) and to take all other necessary related action to facilitate the 
implementation of the Edgar Street Grid Proposals. 

Reasons 

To facilitate the implementation of the Edgar Street Grid proposals, in particular the three 
priority areas of the Retail Quarter, Civic Quarter, and Link Road/Canal Basin (for more 
detail, please refer to paragraph 1 of Background Information below). 

Considerations 

1. The Edgar Street Grid Delivery Plan identifies priority areas for delivery (the “Priority 
Areas”).  Broadly these are 

AGENDA ITEM 13

321



• The Retail Quarter – this is concentrated in the city block between Edgar Street, 
Widemarsh Street, Blackfriars Street and New Market Street, and includes the 
Livestock Market and Garrick House Car Park. 

• The Civic Quarter – this is focused on the area between Blueschool Street, and 
Coningsby Street. 

• The Link road and Canal Basin – a stretch of land reaching from the A49 north of the 
Football Ground through to Commercial Road with its junction to Station Approach. 

• The precise boundaries of these general areas are being defined as a part of the 
ESG Masterplan process and it is proposed that further reports will be brought back 
to Cabinet in due course. 

2. Whilst this paper does not intend to go into any detail concerning a potential CPO 
strategy, it is considered likely that such a strategy will be required to support the 
following policies of the emerging UDP: - 

a) TCR 19R (Hereford Livestock Market – relocation); 

b) TCR 20R (Eign Gate regeneration area); 

c) TCR 21R (Canal basin and historic core); 

d) TCR 22R (Hereford United Football Club/Merton Meadow); 

e) TCR 23R (Civic Quarter); and  

3. T10 (Safeguarding of road schemes) – 3a) Edgar Street/Commercial Road Link, 
Hereford, and 3b) Canal Road extension, Hereford.   

4. In order to enable the Council to be in a position to drive forward the implementation 
of the Edgar Street Grid Proposals, and to underpin the position of ESG 
Herefordshire Limited and the Council, the implementation of a CPO, or a number of 
CPO’s, is likely to be necessary if all the interests and rights in the ESG cannot be 
acquired by agreement.    

5. As the issues for each Priority Area are different it is envisaged that any final CPO 
Strategy may well comprise of a number of CPO’s, one for each of the Priority Areas.   

6. Part of the land within all three Priority Areas is in private ownership.  Therefore in 
order to facilitate the successful delivery of the Edgar Street Grid Proposals it will be 
necessary for the Council or one of its delivery partners to acquire these ownerships. 

7. ESG Herefordshire Limited and the Council, in tandem with Advantage West 
Midlands (“AWM”), are actively involved in negotiations with owners for the 
acquisition by agreement of properties and land within the ESG.  Such negotiations 
would continue concurrently with any action that may be undertaken to acquire the 
ESG compulsorily.    

8. Despite the intention to use all reasonable efforts to acquire properties, land and 
rights within the ESG by agreement, there is a possibility that not all of the required 
land and rights will be acquired in this way.  In this event, if the CPO properties, 
process is not then in a position to be commenced this would create a potential for 
delay to the project timetable. 

322



9. The CPO process consists of a number of stages.  In order to drive forward the 
implementation of the Edgar Street Grid Proposals, one of the very early stages of 
the process (Formulation) has been commenced.  The Council and ESG 
Herefordshire Limited wish to progress to the stage where a formal Resolution to use 
compulsory purchase powers will be sought.  The likely time period from the initial 
making of a Resolution to make a CPO, followed by the making of a CPO, any 
necessary Public Inquiry, confirmation of a CPO and then taking possession of the 
Land and acquiring new rights is likely to be between 18 and 24 months for each 
individual CPO.  Please see Background Paper 2, which demonstrates the various 
stages required during the CPO process. 

10. It is anticipated that there will be two main areas of cost associated with the CPO 
process.  Initially resource will be required to take the CPO process up to a stage 
where a formal resolution to use CPO powers could be made.  This will include 
(amongst other steps) the referencing of the interests in Land of the ESG, including 
the service of requisition notices to ascertain the precise interests in the ESG.  
Following which, if a CPO is to be made, the production of a CPO, the collection and 
presentation of relevant background information, producing the Statement of 
Reasons for making the CPO, publicity of the various steps in the CPO process, 
consideration of any objections to the CPO including at any pubic inquiry and fees 
relating to legal, surveying and valuation advice.  These costs will be included in a full 
funding application to AWM, and have already been included in an outline 
application. 

11. If a CPO is confirmed, there are likely to be costs associated with compensation 
payments to be made to owners of properties within the ESG.  In general the 
principle of CPO compensation payouts relates to expenses and losses which occur 
as a direct and reasonable consequence of the acquisitions of properties and rights.  
It is anticipated that these compensation payments would be likely to total a 
significant sum.  As above these payments will be included in a full funding 
application to AWM although it is expected that private sector funds and part of the 
capital receipts from sale of Herefordshire Council land in the ESG area will also be 
utilised in the funding of redevelopment promoted by ESG. 

Risk Management 

Given the lengthy timescales associated with the CPO process, it is considered that the pre-
action steps to be able to commence such process needs to commence as soon as 
possible. 

As mentioned in paragraphs 4 and 5 above, it is predicted that a number of CPOs will need 
to be sought.  This would thereby restrict the impact of a failure to obtain a CPO to each 
specific area, as opposed to the entire ESG.  

In addition to internal resources from the Council’s Legal Department, it is intended that the 
law firm Pinsent Masons provide the Council (and AWM and ESG Herefordshire Limited as 
appropriate) with specialist CPO advice. 

Alternative Options 

To only pursue acquisition of the land, properties and rights within the ESG by agreement.  
However it is considered unlikely that acquisitions by agreement for all land, properties and 
rights within the ESG will be possible within a reasonable timescale for delivery of the 
regeneration scheme.  Therefore, this option would be likely to result in an undeliverable 
scheme within a reasonable timescale.   

323



Consultees 

• The Council and/or ESG will enter into consultation with all affected landowners 
regarding the Masterplanning which would underpin the CPOs.  Statutory 
consultations will also be held as part of the planning process for the relevant 
planning applications. 

• Kevin O’Keefe – Legal Practice Manager 

• Alison Hext – Lead Valuer and Estates Surveyor 

• Jonathan Bretherton – ESG Herefordshire Ltd 

• Richard Ford – Pinsent Masons 

Appendices 

Annex 1 – Map showing ESG Boundary 

Annex 2 - Diagram of statutory CPO process 

Background Papers 

None 

324



 

325



326



Appendix 2 

POTENTIAL EDGAR STREET GRID COMPULSORY 
PURCHASE ORDERS 

Diagram of Compulsory Purchase - Process 
 

 

327



328



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Alan McLaughlin, Head of Legal and Democratic Services on (01432) 260200 
  

RCommServsScrutiny2Cabinet1701070.doc  

CALL IN OF DECISION TO RELOCATE HEREFORD 
LIVESTOCK MARKET 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY:RURAL REGENERATION & STRATEGY 

CABINET 18TH JANUARY, 2007 

 
URGENT ITEM: THIS MEETING OF CABINET IS THE FINAL OPPORTUNITY 
AVAILABLE TO CONSIDER THE ISSUE BEFORE THE MEETING OF COUNCIL ON 9TH 
FEBRUARY, 2007. 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To consider the recommendations made by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee in 
relation to the call in of the Key Decision to relocate Hereford Livestock Market. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision but some of the recommendations outlined in the report, if 
accepted, may lead to Key Decisions in the future. 

Recommendation  

THAT the recommendations of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
considering the relocation of the livestock market are considered for adoption. 

The Recommendations of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee are, that: 

(a) the Griffiths Site (Site 5) be considered the best site of the final six sites 
considered as the new location for Hereford Livestock Market; 

(b) road improvements be carried out at Stretton Sugwas on roads leading to the 
A438 Brecon Road; 

(c) all potential highway problems be assessed and remedied before the new market 
opens including designated HGV routes and adequate signage; 

(d) the possibility of increasing the rent paid by Hereford Market Auctioneers should 
be investigated; 

(e) local residents and Members should be involved in pre-planning consultation. 

(f) high quality buildings be constructed on the new site; 

(g) appropriate landscaping of the new market site take place; and 



(h) appropriate transport links from the new site to Hereford City Centre be put in 
place. 

Reasons 

Following the call-in of the decision made by Cabinet at its meeting on 21st December 2006 
the Community Services Scrutiny Committee has made eight recommendations which now 
need to be considered for adoption by Cabinet. 

Considerations 

1. In accordance with Standing Order 7.3.1 and the Scrutiny Committee Rules set out at 
Appendix 2 of the Constitution, Cabinet’s decision on 21st December, 2006 was called 
in for consideration by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee. 

2. To this end the Community Services Scrutiny Committee met on 8th January 2007 and 
15th January, 2007 to consider the call in. 

3. Further details regarding the call in can be found in the attached report and appendices. 

4. An evidence pack containing letters, reports and notes of the Committee meeting on 8th 
January, 2007 has been submitted to Cabinet Members separately and is available to 
other Members and the public on request. 

Alternative Options 

Cabinet could choose to not adopt any of the Scrutiny Committee’s recommendations. 

Consultees 

As outlined in the attached Scrutiny Committee report. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 -  Report by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee 

Background Papers 

None identified. 



 APPENDIX 1 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Councillor Chris Chappell, Chairman, Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 01432 260201 

 

 
RChappell2CabinetMarketCallin1707070.doc  

REPORT ON THE CALL IN OF CABINET DECISION TO 
RELOCATE THE LIVESTOCK MARKET  

Report By: Chairman of the Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Wards Affected 

 Countywide 

Purpose 

1. To inform Cabinet of the recommendations of the Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee following the Call-in of the Key Decision to relocate Hereford Livestock 
Market. 

Financial Implications 

2. There are potential financial implications dependant on which of the Committee’s 
recommendations are accepted by Cabinet. 

Background 

3. In accordance with Standing Order 7.3.1 and the Scrutiny Committee Rules set out at 
Appendix 2 of the Constitution, Cabinet’s decision on 21st December, 2006 in 
relation to the relocation of Hereford Livestock Market (Ref: 2006.CAB.101) was  
called in for consideration by the Community Services Scrutiny Committee. 

4. The stated reasons for the call-in were: 

• To seek confirmation that full and final consultation has taken place and 
that the public have had every opportunity to have their say. 

• To ensure that every alternative site has been examined and that the 
chosen option is the best solution. 

• To ensure that the site is economically viable for a market. 

• To ensure that the site represents value for money for the Council. 

 

5. To this end the Committee invited comments from members of the public and invited 
a number of witnesses to its meeting on 8th January 2007. 

6. The Committee’s witnesses were: 

Kevin O’Keefe – Legal Practice Manager 
Cllr J.C. Mayson – Cabinet Member Rural Regeneration & Strategy 
Cllr R.J. Phillips – Leader of Herefordshire Council 
Cllr T.M. James – Chairman, Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Cllr Mrs P.A. Andrews – Vice-Chairman, Strategic Monitoring Committee 



 APPENDIX 1 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Councillor Chris Chappell, Chairman, Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 01432 260201 

 

 
RChappell2CabinetMarketCallin1707070.doc  

Cllr R.I. Matthews – Leader of the Independent Group and Credenhill Ward 
Mr Owen Whittall – Farmer, Moccas, Herefordshire 
Mr Andrew Lloyd – Farmer, Clyro, Herefordshire 
Mr James Verdin – Country Landowners and Business Association Member 
Mr R. Grainger – Brightwells Auctioneers 
Dr. David Nicholson – Forward Planning Manager 
Mr Colin Birks – Property Services Manager 
Mr Ross Garbutt – Project Manager – Amey 
Mr Rob Wood – Contracts Manager – Amey 

7. The Committee also received and circulated correspondence from: 

Paul and Mary Hilder (two letters) 
Nikky Eyles 
Celia Davies on behalf of Burghill Parish Council 
Mrs Morawiecka 
Kit Byatt 
Gary Woodman – Chamber of Commerce 

8. Copies of the correspondence received by the Committee have been circulated to 
Members of Cabinet separately and are available to other Members and the public 
on request. 

10. A summary of the evidence heard by the Committee at its meeting on 8th January 
2007 has been sent separately to all Members of Cabinet.  The meeting was 
attended by approximately 40 members of the public.  The Committee then 
adjourned. 

11. The Committee reconvened at 12.30 p.m. in private session to consider the financial 
aspects of the relocation.  Once the finances had been examined the Committee 
again adjourned. 

12. At 2.00 p.m. on 15th January 2007 the Committee reconvened in public and debated 
the evidence which it had heard over the previous two parts of its meeting. 
Approximately 20 members of the public were in attendance. 

13. Following the Review of the evidence the Committee felt that full and final 
consultation had taken place and unanimously agreed, on the basis of the evidence 
presented to it, the recommendations outlined below. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT  (a) The Griffiths Site (Site 5) be considered the best site of the final six sites 
considered as the new location for Hereford Livestock Market; 

(b) Road improvements be carried out at Stretton Sugwas on roads leading to 
the A438 Brecon Road; 

(c) All potential highway problems be assessed and remedied before the new 
market opens including designated HGV routes and adequate signage; 

(d) The possibility of increasing the rent paid by Hereford Market Auctioneers 
should be investigated; 



 APPENDIX 1 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Councillor Chris Chappell, Chairman, Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 01432 260201 

 

 
RChappell2CabinetMarketCallin1707070.doc  

(e) Local residents and Members should be involved in pre-planning 
consultation. 

(f) High quality buildings be constructed on the new site; 

(g) Appropriate landscaping of the new market site take place; 

and; 

(h) Appropriate transport links from the new site to Hereford City Centre be put 
in place. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None Identified 





AGENDA ITEM 14

329

Document is Restricted



332



333

Document is Restricted



334



335

Document is Restricted



336



337

Document is Restricted



338



AGENDA ITEM 15

339

Document is Restricted



342



343

Document is Restricted



344


	Agenda
	
	FIRE-BROCK

	3 MANAGING PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
	action plan 28 12 06

	4 FINANCIAL STRATEGY UPDATE
	SMC Financial Strategy Update Report

	5 DRAFT ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN 2007-08
	AOP 07-08 master draft 08 Jan 07

	6 INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT
	Appendix A (1) - Flagged Indicators (November)
	Appendix A(2) - Templates
	Appendix A(3) - LPSA2G and LAA
	Appendix B(1) - Overall Improvement Plan (Exception Report) November
	Appendix B(2) - Overall Improvement Plan (Exception Report) November
	Appendix C - Revenue Budget Monitoring Report (November)
	Appendix D - Capital Programme Monitoring Report (November)
	Appendix E - Risk Monitoring Report (November)

	7 ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN: OVERVIEW ISSUES REPORT
	8 PAY AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2005-08
	9 CARE MATTERS: TRANSFORMING THE LIVES OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN CARE
	180107 - Appendix 1 Care Matters Executive Summary
	Care Matters App 2
	Care Matters App 3

	10 HOMELESSNESS UPDATE
	11 HEREFORDSHIRE UNITARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (UDP)
	Inspector's_Recommendations_responses_to_Proposed_Modifications
	Modifications_responses_to_Proposed_Modifications

	12 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
	Sustainability strategy 291206

	13 POTENTIAL EDGAR STREET GRID COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDERS
	ESG CPO Map priority one areas
	CPO Process Diagram Append 2

	CALL IN OF DECISION TO RELOCATE HEREFORD LIVESTOCK MARKET
	R~Chappell 2 Cabinet Market Call in 17.07.07

	14 EDGAR STREET GRID
	ESG map retail quarter boundary
	Retail Quarter - Annex 2 Table 1
	Retail Quarter - Annex 2 Table 2

	15 THE COUNCIL'S INVESTMENT IN THE MAYLORDS SHOPPING CENTRE
	Maylords Appendix 1


